Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology 136 Series Editor: T. Scheper

Andreas Vilcinskas Editor

Yellow Biotechnology II

Insect Biotechnology in Plant Protection and Industry



136 Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology

Series editor

T. Scheper, Hannover, Germany

Editorial Board

S. Belkin, Jerusalem, Israel
P. M. Doran, Hawthorn, Australia
I. Endo, Saitama, Japan
M. B. Gu, Seoul, Korea
W.-S. Hu, Minneapolis MN, USA
B. Mattiasson, Lund, Sweden
J. Nielsen, Gothenburg, Sweden
G. Stephanopoulos, Cambridge MA, USA
R. Ulber, Kaiserslautern, Germany
A.-P. Zeng, Hamburg-Harburg, Germany
J.-J. Zhong, Shanghai, China
W. Zhou, Framingham, MA, USA

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/10

Aims and Scope

This book series reviews current trends in modern biotechnology and biochemical engineering. Its aim is to cover all aspects of these interdisciplinary disciplines, where knowledge, methods and expertise are required from chemistry, biochemistry, microbiology, molecular biology, chemical engineering and computer science.

Volumes are organized topically and provide a comprehensive discussion of developments in the field over the past 3–5 years. The series also discusses new discoveries and applications. Special volumes are dedicated to selected topics which focus on new biotechnological products and new processes for their synthesis and purification.

In general, volumes are edited by well-known guest editors. The series editor and publisher will, however, always be pleased to receive suggestions and supplementary information. Manuscripts are accepted in English.

In references, Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology is abbreviated as Adv. Biochem. Engin./Biotechnol. and cited as a journal. Andreas Vilcinskas Editor

Yellow Biotechnology II

Insect Biotechnology in Plant Protection and Industry

With contributions by

Nicole Mika · Holger Zorn · Martin Rühl Hans Merzendorfer · Rainer Fischer Raluca Ostafe · Richard M. Twyman Damir Druzinec · Denise Salzig · Alexander Brix Matthias Kraume · Andreas Vilcinskas Christian Kollewe · Peter Czermak · Matthias Schott Christoph Wehrenfennig · Tina Gasch Marc F. Schetelig · Alfred M. Handler Kenneth E. Narva · Blair D. Siegfried Nicholas P. Storer · Eileen Knorr · Linda Bingsohn Michael R. Kanost · Torsten Will



Editor Andreas Vilcinskas Bioresources Project Group Fraunhofer Institute for Molecular Biology Giessen Germany

 ISSN
 0724-6145
 ISSN
 1616-8542
 (electronic)

 ISBN
 978-3-642-39901-5
 ISBN
 978-3-642-39902-2
 (eBook)

 DOI
 10.1007/978-3-642-39902-2
 Springer Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London
 001
 001

Library of Congress Control Number: 2013948660

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

"Yellow Biotechnology" has been introduced an alternative term for insect biotechnology, which is an emerging field in applied entomology. As a complement to Part I, which focuses on the use of insects in drug discovery and preclinical research, Part II considers the applications of insect biotechnology in industrial and food biotechnology, and in modern approaches that allow the sustainable protection of plants.

Industrial (white) biotechnology concerns the biotransformation of raw materials into potentially useful industrial products, predominantly by using microbes and/or enzymes. The industrial and food biotechnology toolbox is now expanding to include novel insect-derived enzymes, such as chitinases and cellulases. The first three chapters of this volume, therefore, cover the use of insect enzymes in food biotechnology and for the conversion of biomass. The deployment of insect enzymes in these fields requires platforms for the large-scale production of recombinant insect proteins. "Optimization of Insect Cell-Based Protein Production Processes:Online Monitoring, Expression Systems, Scale Up", therefore, discusses recent developments in the optimization of heterologous production systems based on insect cells.

Insect biotechnology has been defined as the use of biotechnology to develop insects (or their molecules, cells, organs or associated microorganisms) into products and services for specific applications in medicine, plant protection and industry. "Insect Antenna-Based Biosensors for In Situ Detection of Volatiles" provides an intriguing example of applications involving isolated insect organs, namely the use of individual antennae to develop novel biosensors for the in situ detection of volatiles. Such biosensors can now be used to optimize the application of pheromones in plant protection strategies, and are also being developed for the sensitive detection of drugs and explosives at airports.

Insects that feed on crops or stored products are still the most important competitors for human nutrition, and insects that transmit infectious diseases such as malaria threaten human health on a global scale. Insect biotechnology therefore seeks to explore novel and sustainable strategies to control pest and vector insects, including the development of transgenic plants expressing defense proteins or metabolites, RNAi-based approaches and the sterile male technique. The last four chapters of Part II provide insight into the most recent developments in these areas.

The authors of this volume are members or associates of the first German research program on Insect Biotechnology. The research is funded by the Hessen State Ministry of Higher Education, Research and the Arts via the excellence program LOEWE, is hosted by the Justus-Liebig University of Giessen, and is coordinated by the editor of this book. The generous funding under this program allowed a new department to be established within the Fraunhofer Institute for Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology, focusing on the application of insect biotechnology in projects that are jointly supported by industrial partners such as Dow AgroSciences. The latter contributed to this volume with a chapter discussing transgenic approaches for the control of the western corn rootworm. The growing academic and industrial interest in the biotechnology of insects motivated the editor of this volume to assemble the first treatise on Yellow Biotechnology, which was published in the Springer book series *Advances in Biochemical Engineering and Biotechnology*. Part II now takes the reader further by investigating selected frontiers of insect biotechnology in the fields of industry and plant protection.

Autumn 2013

Andreas Vilcinskas

Contents

Insect-Derived Enzymes: A Treasure for Industrial Biotechnology and Food Biotechnology Nicole Mika, Holger Zorn and Martin Rühl	1
Insect-Derived Chitinases	19
Cellulases from Insects	51
Optimization of Insect Cell-Based Protein Production Processes: Online Monitoring, Expression Systems, Scale Up Damir Druzinec, Denise Salzig, Alexander Brix, Matthias Kraume, Andreas Vilcinskas, Christian Kollewe and Peter Czermak	65
Insect Antenna-Based Biosensors for In Situ Detection of Volatiles Matthias Schott, Christoph Wehrenfennig, Tina Gasch and Andreas Vilcinskas	101
Y-Linked Markers for Improved Population Control of the Tephritid Fruit Fly Pest, Anastrepha suspensa Marc F. Schetelig and Alfred M. Handler	123
Transgenic Approaches to Western Corn Rootworm Control Kenneth E. Narva, Blair D. Siegfried and Nicholas P. Storer	135

Tribolium castaneum as a Model for High-Throughput	
RNAi Screening	163
Eileen Knorr, Linda Bingsohn, Michael R. Kanost	
and Andreas Vilcinskas	
Aphid-Proof Plants: Biotechnology-Based Approaches	
for Aphid Control.	179
Torsten Will and Andreas Vilcinskas	
Index	205

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 1–17 DOI: 10.1007/10_2013_204 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Published Online: 25 July 2013

Insect-Derived Enzymes: A Treasure for Industrial Biotechnology and Food Biotechnology

Nicole Mika, Holger Zorn and Martin Rühl

Abstract Insects are the most diverse group of organisms on earth, colonizing almost every ecological niche of the planet. To survive in various and sometimes extreme habitats, insects have established diverse biological and chemical systems. Core components of these systems are enzymes that enable the insects to feed on diverse nutrient sources. The enzymes are produced by either the insects themselves (homologous) or by symbiotic organisms located in the insects' bodies or in their nests (heterologous). The use of these insect-associated enzymes for applications in the fields of food biotechnology and industrial (white) biotechnology is gaining more and more interest. Prominent examples of insect-derived enzymes include peptidases, amylases, lipases, and β -D-glucosidases. Highly potent peptidases for the degradation of gluten, a storage protein that can cause intestinal disorders, may be received from grain pests. Several insects, such as bark and ambrosia beetles and termites, are able to feed on wood. In the field of white biotechnology, their cellulolytic enzyme systems of mainly endo-1,4- β -D-glucanases and β -D-glucosidases can be employed for saccharification of the most prominent polymer on earthcellulose.Keyword · Gluten · beetles · grain pests · cellulose.

Keywords Beetles · Gluten · Grain pests · Hydrolases

Contents

1	Enzy	mes in Food Biotechnology	2
2	Insec	ts as a Source for Novel Enzymes	2
	2.1	Grain Pests	3
	2.2	Gluten-Degrading Enzymes	4
	2.3	Further Insect-Derived Enzymes for Food Biotechnology	6
3	Insec	t Enzymes for Industrial Biotechnology	8
	3.1	Enzymes for the Degradation of Plant Polymers	8
	3.2	Wood Pests	9
Re	ferend	es	14

N. Mika · H. Zorn (🖂) · M. Rühl

Institute of Food Chemistry and Food Biotechnology, Justus Liebig University Giessen, Heinrich-Buff-Ring 58, 35392 Giessen, Germany e-mail: Holger.Zorn@lcb.Chemie.uni-giessen.de

1 Enzymes in Food Biotechnology

Enzymes are indispensable tools for the production of several traditional food products as well as for the synthesis of food additives, vitamins, and flavor compounds. Without the action of enzymes, the production of cheese, bread, wine, or beer would be unthinkable. Enzymes play a crucial role in the conservation of food, the elimination of possible toxic compounds or antinutritive factors, and the improvement of the texture and processing qualities.

Due to the technical improvements in food production, the increasing importance of convenience food, the increasing number of people suffering from food intolerances, and the steady rise of food allergies, the search for enzymes with novel biochemical properties or improved process characteristics is a highly dynamic field of research.

An enormous demand for industrial enzymes arises from the increasing need for an efficient use of natural resources. According to a recent study of the food and agriculture organisation (FAO) of the United Nations, only about two thirds of the food produced worldwide is consumed by humans. One third, about 1.3 billion tons per annum, is lost during agricultural production, on the way to the consumer, or when discarded by the consumers. Per capita, these postharvest losses amount to approximately 300 kg annually [1]. Novel and improved enzymes will help to overcome this unsatisfying situation.

Until now, the enzymes employed in food production have either been derived from microorganisms such as fungi and bacteria or are of plant or mammal origin. Novel enzymes, such as those from insects or insect-associated microorganisms, are highly demanded by the food industry to reduce food incompatibilities such as celiac disease or to eliminate potential antinutritive factors. A variety of insects offer a broad range of yet unknown opportunities to improve processes in food manufacturing.

2 Insects as a Source for Novel Enzymes

Insects are the most diverse taxonomic animal class on earth, colonizing almost every ecological niche of the planet. To survive in various and sometimes extreme habitats, insects have established diverse biological and chemical systems, such as the production of defense molecules [2, 3], stabilizing proteins [4], or lytic enzymes [5]. In some cases, they also harbor symbiotic microorganisms, which are used as digestive helpers, fodder, or both [[6, 7], see below]. This is possible due to the special metabolic systems or exogenous enzymes of the associated organisms.



Fig. 1 Examples of grain pests: S. granaries (a), R. dominica (b), O. surinamensis (c), and larvae and adult beetle of T. castaneum (d)

2.1 Grain Pests

Coleoptera (beetles) represent the largest biodiversity of all creatures [8]. Grain pests in particular are globally distributed. With a short life cycle of only 3–4 weeks, many grain pests are easy to maintain in the laboratory. Because the grain pests rely on the same food sources as humans, their strategies to digest seed proteins may be copied, such as for the production of gluten-free food.

The group of grain pests includes the wheat weevil *Sitophilus granarius*, the lesser grain borer *Rhizopertha dominica*, the sawtoothed grain beetle *Oryzaephilus surinamensis*, the lesser mealworm *Alphitobius diaperinus*, and the red flour beetle *Tribolium castaneum* (Fig. 1).

Grain pests produce various hydrolases, including gylcosidases and peptidases, for the degradation of carbohydrates and storage proteins, respectively, to meet their demand for carbon and nitrogen. α -Amylase activity has been detected in many different grain pests, such as in the moth *Helicoverpa armigera* [9], the sunn pest *Eurygaster integriceps* [10], and in the well-studied flour beetle *T. castaneum* [11]. In addition, various exo- and endo-peptidases have been discovered in numerous insects feeding on cereals: trypsin and chymotrypsin type peptidases in *Plodia interpunctella* [12], a cysteine peptidase in *Tenebrio molitor* [13], and



Fig. 2 Adult beetle (a, d), larva (b, d) and nymph (c, d) of T. molitor

serine peptidases in *Prostephanus truncates* [14]. One of the best characterized grain pests is the yellow mealworm, *T. molitor* (Fig. 2).

2.2 Gluten-Degrading Enzymes

Celiac disease is an intestinal disorder caused by an uncontrolled immune response on wheat gluten and similar proteins, such as oat, rye, and barley. Typical symptoms of celiac disease include diarrhea, malnutrition, and growth disturbances. Because about 1 % of the worldwide population is suffering from celiac disease [15] and only 100 mg of gluten may cause massive problems to affected individuals [16], gluten-degrading enzymes play an important role in the food industry.

Often, celiac disease is diagnosed in early infancy as a result of the first intake of cereal products. Therefore, almost every baby food manufacturer offers a gluten-free assortment. Adults with celiac disease have to eliminate products such as bread, noodles, cake, and beer from their diets and have to stick to a strict nutrition plan. Although adults can adjust their food to gluten-free products themselves, the range of available products for babies is rather limited. Hence, the production of gluten-free baby food plays an important role in the food industry.

Grain pest	Casein	Gluten	Rice Protein
Alphitobius diapernius	+	+	n.d.
Oryzaephilus surinamensis	+	+	+
Rhizopertha dominica	+	+	n.d.
Sitophilus granaries	n.d.	n.d.	+
Tenebrio molitor	+	+	+
Tribolium castaneum	-	-	+

 Table 1 Insects' ability to hydrolyze food proteins in zymograms

+ positive, - negative, n.d. not determined

Possibilities to degrade peptides relevant to celiac disease have been shown in a number of studies. The hydrolysis of celiac disease-associated proteins with enzymes from the ascomycete *Aspergillus niger* [17] and from germinated cereals [18] have been discussed. Although a partial hydrolysis of the target peptides was achieved, more effective and specific peptidases are needed [18]. An obvious conclusion is to focus on insects, such as grain pests, whose source of food are storage proteins of cereal grains. The major compounds of these storage proteins are prolamins, which cover about 50 % of the total seed protein. They contain 30–50 % glutamine and 10–30 % proline residues [19].

In recent studies, enzyme extracts of the grain pests A. diapernius, S. granaries, T. castaneum, T. molitor, O. surinamensis and R. dominica were tested for their capability to hydrolyze casein, gluten, bovine serum albumin, and rice protein.

Except for *T. castaneum*, all of the tested grain pests were able to hydrolyze the substrates in zymograms (Table 1). The highest peptidase activity was determined for *O. surinamensis*, followed by *R. dominica* and *T. molitor*.

To localize the peptidase activities, the insects' ability to hydrolyze the food proteins was compared between deveined and complete beetles. The peptidase activities of the complete beetles were significantly higher compared to those of the deveined beetles as determined by the azocasein assay. On the other hand, the deveined insect samples showed obvious clearing zones in the zymograms as well (Fig. 3). Possibly, the deveined samples still contained traces of gut. Therefore, we conclude that the majority of gluten-degrading enzymes are localized in the insects' gastrointestinal system.

T. molitor is one of the best-examined grain pests. Therefore, the digestive peptidases of *T. molitor* were among the first insect peptidases studied [20, 21].

The digestion of storage proteins in larvae of *T. molitor* occurs in the midgut. Studies by Vinokurov et al. [13] and Elpedina and Goptar [21] revealed a sharp pH gradient from 5.6 in the anterior midgut (AM) to 7.9 in the posterior midgut (PM), and the digestive enzymes are arranged to their pH optima in the AM or PM. According to their pH optima, cysteine peptidases and glycosidases are mostly found in the AM, whereas serine peptidases are preferably found in the PM.

In studies by Goptar et al. [22], three post-glutamine cleaving cysteine peptidases were isolated from the yellow mealworm's midgut. The predominance of cysteine peptidases over serine peptidases, especially in coleopteran larvae, is probably due to an adaptation of the insects to cereals that are rich in naturally



Fig. 3 Comparison of enzyme extracts obtained from develed (1, 3) and complete beetles (2, 4) of *O. surinamensis* (1, 2) and of *R. dominica* (3, 4). Zymograms contain rice protein (a) and gluten (b)

occurring inhibitors of serine peptidases [23]. Another explanation goes back to the need of the larvae to digest seed storage proteins rich in glutamine. Hence, specified enzymes to cleave peptide bonds at the glutamine carboxyl group are necessary [22].

A similar arrangement of digestive enzymes was found in the *Tenebroid*-related insects *T. castaneum* and *Tribolium confusum*. A pH range from 5.6–6.0 in the AM to 7.0–7.5 in the PM was determined in the larvae [24]. Approximately 80 % of the total peptidase activity was localized in the AM, whereas the residual 20 % was localized in the PM. The dominating peptidases in *T. castaneum* and *T. confusum* showed approximately 97 % homology to the cysteine peptidases of *T. molitor*.

Konarev et al. [25] purified and characterized a glutenin-specific serine peptidase (GHP) with a molecular weight of about 28 kDa, which belongs to the peptidase-family S1. GHP is specific for the peptide bond between the glutamine and glycine residues in adjacent hexapeptide and nonapeptide motifs, whereas the glutamine-glycine bond was not cleaved within the hexapeptide. This specific property could be used in food processing or for an enzyme therapy.

In summary, several studies focused on insect-derived enzymes for gluten degradation, and various enzymes have been characterized. Insect-derived enzymes with the ability to degrade gluten have a high potential to find future applications in the food industry. Nevertheless, none of these enzymes has made its way to commercialization so far. For that reason, further studies that focus on novel insect-derived enzymes are of special interest.

2.3 Further Insect-Derived Enzymes for Food Biotechnology

2.3.1 Amylases

Amylases, especially α -amylases (EC. 3.2.1.1), belong to the most important digestive enzymes. They occur *inter alia* in human saliva and in the small intestine. Breaking down oligosaccharides of 6–7 glucose units from starch, they may

be compared to endopeptidases. After further incubation, these oligosaccharides can be further hydrolyzed to the disaccharides maltose or isomaltose, or in a final step to glucose.

Apart from α -amylases, β -, gluco- and iso-amylases (EC 3.2.1.2, 3.2.1.3 and 3.2.1.68) are involved in the degradation of starch and glycogen. By cutting maltose from the nonreducing end of a chain, β -amylases are acting as exo-glucosidases. With the ability to hydrolyze α -1 \rightarrow 6-bonds, isoamylases debranch starch and glycogen.

Currently, amylases are typically obtained from mold fungi or bacteria. They are employed for such purposes as the degradation of starch in wort, the manufacturing of bakery products, and the production of glucose and further sugar specialties.

In the literature, many studies about amylases isolated from insects or insectassociated species can be found. Mehrabadi et al. [26], for example, determined and characterized the α -amylase activity of various grain pests, such as *S. granarius* and *R. dominica*. They showed that the α -amylase activity has been adapted to the acid physiological environment present in larval midguts [27]. Further amylases were described by Saadati Bezdi et al. [28]. They characterized the enzymatic system of salivary glands of the sunn pest *E. integriceps* and identified two α -amylase.

2.3.2 Lipases

Lipases likewise represent an important class of insect-derived enzymes. In the food industry, lipases are used for such purposes as the formation of flavors during the production of cheese and the partial hydrolysis of milk fat during the manufacturing of milk chocolate. Another application is the industrial trans-esterification of oil to yield tailor-made triglycerides. Different from the catalytic hydrogenation, the formation of (E)-configured fatty acids is avoided in the enzymatic process. By now, lipases are obtained preferably from microorganisms such as the yeast Candida lipolytica. However, a number of studies have already revealed the potential of lipases from insects. Grillo et al. [29] investigated the role of a midgut triacylglycerol-lipase in the lipid metabolism of the hemiptera *Rhodnius prolixus*. The release of free fatty acids catalyzed by this lipase was most efficient between pH 7.0–7.5, and the lipase activity was increased in the presence of salts such as NaCl or CaCl₂. Maximum lipase activity was obtained at a NaCl concentration of 0.75 M and a Ca²⁺ concentration of 1.0 M. This characteristic could be useful for special applications in the food industry for which high salt concentrations and/or neutral pH values are needed.

One more enzyme category is widely used in the food industry. Shen et al. [30] isolated and sequenced a pectin methylesterase from the gut of the rice weevil, *Sitophilus oryzae*. In the food industry, pectinolytic enzymes are used for such purposes as the purification and the increase of yields of fruit and vegetable juices.

Pectinases are mostly obtained from fermentation with fungi, but insect-derived pectinolytic enzymes could become an interesting alternative for the food industry.

3 Insect Enzymes for Industrial Biotechnology

Industrial biotechnology, also known as white biotechnology, uses either enzymes or microorganisms to improve already-existing industrial processes or to develop new products and processes demanded by the market. Most of these processes are bulk applications for which large amounts of educts are needed [31]. The availability of the fossil materials gas and oil, which are currently used as educts, is limited. Thus, renewable resources have to be made accessible.

The most important renewable resources are plant polymers, particularly lignocelluloses. Lignocellulose represents the main compound of woody plants, with an estimated annual production of around 200 billion tons [32]. The release of fermentable sugars from lignocelluloses (e.g. wood and straw) for the production of diverse chemicals such as ethanol, butanol, or organic acids is one of the main research areas in white biotechnology. The scale-up of successful pilot experiments to industrial applications is performed in so-called biorefineries (e.g. sun-liquid; http://www.bmbf.de/de/17786.php). One of the most important steps towards valuable products from lignocellulose is the initial attack of the complex and cross-linked polymer. For this purpose, oxidative and hydrolytic enzymes are needed.

3.1 Enzymes for the Degradation of Plant Polymers

The most abundant biopolymer on earth is cellulose. It is located in the cell walls of herbaceous plants and in wooden plants together with hemicellulose and lignin. In nature, lignocellulose is mainly degraded by filamentous fungi. They have an efficient oxidative enzymatic system capable of degradation of the complete lignocellulosic polymer into consumable nitrogen and carbon sources [33, 34]. To date, most of the enzymes used for industrial biotechnology are of fungal or bacterial origin. Peroxidases, such as lignin peroxidases (EC 1.11.1.14), Mndependent peroxidases (EC 1.11.1.13), versatile peroxidases (EC 1.11.1.13), dyedecolourizing peroxidases (EC 1.11.1.x), and laccases (EC 1.10.3.2), together with supporting enzymes, are able to oxidize and degrade lignin, whereas hydrolytic enzymes are secreted to break down cellulose and hemicelluloses. Cellulases including endo-1,4- β -D-glucanase (EC 3.2.1.4) and exo-1,4- β -D-glucanases (EC 3.2.1.91, EC 3.2.1.176) convert cellulose into di- and oligosaccharides, which in turn are hydrolyzed by β -D-glucosidases (EC 3.2.1.21) into monomeric glucose units. Hemicellulases, such as xylanases and mannanases, hydrolyze the hemicellulosic polymers into its monomeric subunits xylose, mannose, galactose, rhamnose, arabinose, and glucose. Environmental degradation of lignocelluloses by higher fungi is an efficient but highly tedious process. Wood-feeding insects (cf. below) depend on significantly faster metabolic processes. This raises much hope that the biochemical characteristics, especially the catalytic properties of insect enzymes, may speed up the unzipping of lignocelluloses in future biorefinery concepts.

3.2 Wood Pests

Several insects, such as bark and ambrosia beetles and termites, are able to feed on wood and thus are called xylophagous insects. Although they have been known as wood pests for centuries, their digestive systems still largely remain to be elucidated. In particular, the enzymatic apparatus needed for the oxidation of lignin and the hydrolysis of cellulose is only marginally understood. One reason might be the diverse sources of the key enzymes, which may be produced either by gut-inhabiting microorganisms [35], by symbiotic fungi cultivated by the insects [6], or by the insects themselves as endogenous enzymes [36]. Nevertheless, in recent years many efforts have been made to understand the lignocellulolytic system of the insects and the participation of their symbionts [7, 37, 38].

3.2.1 Hydrolytic Enzymes

Only recently, transcriptome studies revealed insights into active cellulase genes of insects [39–43]. Most prominent cellulases are endo-1,4- β -D-glucanases and β -D-glucosidases [44]. Several of these cellulases have been expressed in heterologous hosts and are biochemically characterized. An endo-1,4- β -D-glucanase from the lower termite Reticulitermes flavipes was expressed heterologously in a baculovirus expression system. The enzyme showed optimal activity against carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) at pH 6.5-7.5 and 50-60 °C [45]. A recombinant β -glucosidase derived from the same organism exhibited the highest activity against cellobiose at neutral pH and demonstrated good stability up to temperatures of 40 °C. The enzyme's activity against laminaribiose (O- β -D-glucopyranosyl-1,3-D-glucose) was significantly lower [46]. Another β -glucosidase from the termite Neotermis koshunensis showed slightly higher activity against laminaribiose than against cellobiose, with an optimal temperature of 50 °C and an optimal pH of 5.0 [47]. The β -glucosidase of the higher termite Nasutitermes takasagoensis, expressed heterologously in Pichia pastoris, exhibited similar activities against cellobiose and laminaribiose, but it reached its maximum activity at 65 °C and pH 5.5 [48]. Most of the β -glucosidases were characterized by pH optima in the slightly acidic pH range of 5.0-6.0 (Table 2), although the pH in the termite gut varies between pH 6 and 10 [49, 50].

Some β -glucosidases from termites maintain their activity in the presence of high glucose concentrations, which is required for the saccharification of cellulose. The β -glucosidase of *N. takasagoensis* retained 50 % of its activity when incubated

					5.0
Organism	pH _{opt}	Topt	Km	V _{max}	Reference
		[°C]			
Termites					
Coptotermes formosanus	5.6-6.2	49	n.d.	n.d.	[51]
Macrotermes barneyi	5.0	50	n.d.	n.d.	[52]
Nasutitermes takasagoensis	5.5	65	n.d.	n.d.	[48]
Neotermis koshunensis	5.0	50	3.8 mM	$220 \ \mu\text{mol} \ \text{min}^{-1} \ \text{mg}^{-1}$	[47]
Neotermis koshunensis	5.0	50	0.77 mM ^a	$16 \ \mu mol \ min^{-1} \ mg^{-1a}$	[53]
Reticulitermes flavipes	7.0	n.d.	$1.44 \pm 0.14 \text{ mM}$	$\begin{array}{c} 638.0 \pm 39.0 \; \mu mol \; min^{-1} \\ mg^{-1} \end{array}$	[46]
Beetles					
Bombyx mori	6.0	35	n.d.	n.d.	[54]
Rhynchophorus palmarum	5.0	50	0.31 mM	not given	[55]

Table 2 Insect derived β -glucosidases

^a using p-nitrophenyl- β -D-glucopyranoside as a substrate, n.d. not determined

with 0.5 M glucose for 30 min [48]. The *Coptotermes formosanus* β -glucosidase retained approximately 90 % at 0.5 M glucose and 70 % at 1.0 M after 30 min [51]. The β -glucosidase of the termite *N. koshunensis* even showed a slight increase in its activity up to a glucose concentration of approximately 0.6 M [53]. Data on characterized beetle β -glucosidases are less prominent, but the so-far characterized β -glucosidases showed similar pH optima compared to the termite β -glucosidases (Table 2). Furthermore, the analyses of the transcriptomes of several beetles revealed the presence of cellulases [36, 40, 56], which should be characterized to evaluate their potential as future industrial biocatalysts.

Proteomic approaches disclosed the presence of hydrolytic enzymes in the Asian longhorned beetle *Anoplophora glabripennis*, such as β -glucosidases and carboxylesterases, which were identified by zymograms and subsequently sequenced by LC-electrospray-tandem mass spectrometry [57]. In this study, no β -1,4-D-endoglucanases could be identified, although the zymogram with incorporated CMC showed active bands. A similar approach was successfully applied for lignocellulose degrading enzymes isolated from the *A. glabripennis* symbiont *Fusarium solani* [58].

Further β -1,4-D-endoglucanases were cloned from the mulberry longhorn beetle *Apriona germari* [59, 60] and from the yellow-spotted longhorn beetle *Psacotea hilaris* [61]. The β -1,4-D-endoglucanases from *A. germari* and *P. hilaris* showed pH optima between 5.5 and 6.0. Termite β -1,4-D-endoglucanases showed similar characteristics, except for *R. flavipes*, which had an optimal pH of around 6.5–7.5 [45]. A much higher optimal pH of > 8.0 was observed for the β -1,4-D-endoglucanases of the red flour beetle *T. castaneum* [62]. Generally, the



 β -1,4-D-endoglucanases found in insects can be divided into three glycoside hydrolase families (GHF) comprising specific patterns with different active side residues: GHF5—glutamic acid (E); GHF9—histidine (H), aspartic acid (D) and E; GHF45—D (Fig. 4).

Fig. 4 Alignment of amino acid sequences of various insect β -endoglucanases. All endo-1.4- β p-glucanases comprised a signal peptide (dashed line) as analyzed by Signal P 4.1 [63]. Boxed sequences refer to glycoside hydrolase families 5, 9 (signature 1 and 2) and 45 (www.cazy.org). Arrows mark active side residues. Achi-Anoplophora chinensis (AFN89566); Ager-Apriona germari (AAU44973, AAR22385, AAX18655); Cfor-Coptotermes formosanus (ADB12483); Dvir—Diabrotica virgifera virgifera (JQ755253); Mdar—Mastotermes darwiniensis (CAD54728); Ntak—Nasutitermes takasagoensis (BAA33708); Oalb—Oncideres albomarginata chamela (ADI24131, ADI24132); Pcoc—Phaedon cochleariae (O97401); Phil—Psacothea hilaris (BAB86867); Rfla-Reticulitermes flavipes (AAU20853), Tcas-Tribolium castaneum (EFA05721); Temm-Teleogryllus emma (ABV32557). The integrated table classifies the orders [Isoptera (black), Orthoptera (dark grey), Coleoptera (light grey)] and the families [Ch-Chrysomelidae, Cr-Cerambycidae, Gr-Gryllidae, Ma-Mastotermidae, Tm-Termitidae, Tn-Tenebrionidae, Rh-Rhinotermitidae1

The phylogenetic analysis of aligned amino acid sequences of selected β -1,4-Dendoglucanases of termites and beetles shows an interesting pattern (Fig. 5). Three main clades reflect the classification of the β -1,4-D-endoglucanases in the different GHFs. All termite enzymes and the enzyme derived from the cricket *Teleogryllus* emma cluster together and comprise the GHF9 pattern (Fig. 4, black boxes GHF9-1 and GHF9-2, Fig. 5). All beetle (Coleoptera) enzymes except for that from T. castaneum, which is more related to the termite/cricket branch and also shows the GHF9 pattern, divide into two clades that belong to either GHF5 or to GHF45 (Fig. 5). Remarkably, the GHF5 β -1,4-D-endoglucanase of the white spotted longhorn beetle Anoplophora chinensis (synonym: Anoplophora malasiaca) shows activity not only on CMC but also on microcrystalline cellulose with comparable activities in the range of the well-known β -1,4-D-exoglucanase CBHI of Trichoderma reesei [64]. Probably more of these bifunctional β -glucanases are present in beetles, which helps to explain how these insects degrade cellulose containing substrates. Additionally, these bifunctional β -glucanases might help in enhancing the parallel saccharification of crystalline and amorphous cellulose.

In addition to the endogenous cellulolytic enzymes of beetles and termites, several studies focus on the hydrolytic activities of ants and their microbial community. De Fine Licht and colleagues [65] analyzed extracellular cellulolytic enzyme activities in ant-fungal gardens. Apart from cellulolytic activity, they determined peptidolytic and pectinolytic activity. Pectin-degrading enzymes, such as pectinases, pectin lyases and pectin esterases, represent a major class of enzymes present in fungal gardens and in ant fecal pellets [66, 67]. In a recent study, the decomposition of polysaccharides from plant cell walls was analyzed in fungal colonies of the leaf-cutting ant *Acromyrmex echinatior* [66]. In particular, pectin and hemicelluloses of the primary cell wall (xyloglycans) were degraded in the fungal garden, whereas cellulose remained more or less intact. These findings are in good agreement with data obtained by Rønhede et al. [67], who found four different pectin lyase isoforms and two pectin esterases in pure cultures of the fungal symbionts of *A. echinatior* and *Atta colombica*. In addition, they also detected CMC activity.



Fig. 5 Phylogenetic tree of aligned endo-1,4- β -D-glucanase deduced protein sequences calculated in the program MEGA by the neighbor-joining method using p-distance as an estimation model and pairwise deletion of the gaps. Bootstrapping was carried out with 500 replications. For species name abbreviations, see Fig. 4

3.2.2 Oxidative Enzymes

In a study performed by Geib et al. [37] the Asian longhorned beetle *A. glabripennis* and the Pacific dampwood termite *Zootermopsis angusticollis* were fed on oak or pine wood, respectively. Both insects could alter the chemical and physicochemical characteristics of hard- and softwood lignin dramatically. The authors observed side-chain oxidation, hydroxylation, and demethylation of the lignin monomers guaiacol and syringol. Surprisingly, the modification of the lignin occurred within hours, while moving through the insects' digestive system [37]. In a more recent study, the ascomycete *Fusarium solani*, isolated from larvae of *A. glabripennis*, was tested for its lignocellulolytic activities. Scully et al. [58] revealed manganese-independent peroxidase and laccase activity as well as cellulolytic and xylanase activities. In addition, multidimensional protein identification by LC–LC-MALDI-TOF–TOF analyses revealed the presence of supporting enzymes, such as esterases and hydrogen peroxide-producing enzymes [58].

In a study on the metagenome of the termite *Nasutitermes corniger* hindgut, no genes encoding lignolytic enzymes could be detected in this anaerobic microorganism community [68]. Most likely, lignin-degrading peroxidases (LiP, MnP, VP, or DyP) are produced by symbiotic organisms and—not like cellulolytic enzymes—by the insects themselves. On the other hand, laccases, which are also most prominent in filamentous fungi, do occur in insects [69, 70]. In insects, they are essential for the oxidation of catechols into quinones, which then undergo polymerisation with proteins to form the insect cuticle [69].

The knockdown of a laccase belonging to the "cuticular laccase group" (after Coy et al. [71]) in the pine sawyer *Monochamus alternatus* resulted in a thinner cuticle and a higher mortality of the insect [72]. Comparable results were also obtained for several stinkbugs [73]. In addition, laccases are also present in the gut system of insects, such as in the termite *R. flavipes*. Two laccases were identified, heterologously expressed, and characterized. Both laccases comprise all laccase-specific copper-binding sides (T1, T2, and T3) but showed no activity against the general laccase substrates ABTS and syringaldazine. Both laccases showed an increase in activity when hydrogen peroxide was added, revealing a peroxide-dependent phenol oxidase activity [71]. The potential applications of laccases are broad [74]. They may be employed for the production of middle-density fiber boards [75], for decolorization of dyes [76], or the clarification of juices [77]. Laccases originating from insect gut systems seem to have new properties compared to the fungal laccases [73]. In addition, laccases involved in sclerotization of the insect cuticle might find applications in the production of new polymers.

References

- 1. Gustavsson L, Eriksson L, Sathre R (2011) Costs and CO₂ benefits of recovering, refining and transporting logging residues for fossil fuel replacement. Appl Energy 88:192–197
- Gross J, Schumacher K, Schmidtberg H et al (2008) Protected by fumigants: beetle perfumes in antimicrobial defense. J Chem Ecol 34:179–188
- 3. Schlipalius DI, Valmas N, Tuck AG et al. (2012) A core metabolic enzyme mediates resistance to phosphine gas. Science (Washington, DC, U. S.) 338:807–810
- Bale JS (2002) Insects and low temperatures: from molecular biology to distributions and abundance. Philos T Roy Soc B 357:849–862
- 5. Landureau JC, Jolles P (1970) Lytic enzyme produced in vitro by insect cells: lysozyme or chitinase. Nature 225:968–969
- 6. Currie CR (2001) A community of ants, fungi, and bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 55:357-380
- 7. Scharf ME, Karl ZJ, Sethi A et al (2011) Multiple levels of synergistic collaboration in termite lignocellulose digestion. PLoS One 6:e21709
- Cannings RA, Scudder GGE (2005) The beetles (Coleoptera of British Columbia). The insect families of British Columbia. http://www.geog.ubc.ca/biodiversity/efauna/Insectsof BritishColumbia.html. Accessed 12 Dec 2012
- 9. Kotkar HM, Sarate PJ, Tamhane VA et al (2009) Responses of midgut amylases of *Helicoverpa armigera* to feeding on various host plants. J Insect Physiol 55:663–670
- Kazzazi M, Bandani AR, Hosseinkhani S (2005) Biochemical characterization of alphaamylase of the sunn pest, *Eurygaster integriceps*. Entomol Sci 8:371–377
- Applebaum SW, Konijn AM (1965) The utilization of starch by larvae of the flour beetle, *Tribolium castaneum*. J Nutr 85:275–282
- 12. Oppert B, Walters P, Zuercher M (2006) Digestive proteinases of the larger black flour beetle, *Cynaeus angustus* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). Bull Entomol Res 96:167–172
- Vinokurov K, Elpidina E, Oppert B et al (2006) Fractionation of digestive proteinases from *Tenebrio molitor* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) larvae and role in protein digestion. Comp Biochem Phys B 145:138–146
- 14. Castro-Guillén JL, Mendiola-Olaya E, García-Gasca T et al (2012) Partial characterization of serine peptidases in larvae of *Prostephanus truncatus* (Horn) (Coleoptera: Bostrichidae), reveals insensitive peptidases to some plant peptidase inhibitors. J Stored Prod Res 50:28–35

- 15. Green P, Cellier C (2007) Celiac disease. N Engl J Med 357:1731-1743
- 16. Catassi C, Rossini M, Ratsch IM et al (1993) Dose dependent effects of protracted ingestion of small amounts of gliadin in coeliac disease children: a clinical and jejunal morphometric study. Gut 34:1515–1519
- 17. Edens L, Dekker P, van der Hoeven R et al (2005) Extracellular prolyl endoprotease from Aspergillus niger and Its use in the debittering of protein hydrolysates. J Agric Food Chem 53:7950–7957
- Ge
 ßendorfer B, Hartmann G, Wieser H et al (2011) Determination of celiac disease-specific peptidase activity of germinated cereals. Eur Food Res Technol 232:205–209
- Shewry PR (2002) Cereal seed storage proteins: structures, properties and role in grain utilization. J Exp Bot 53:947–958
- Applebaum SW, Birk Y, Harpaz I et al (1964) Comparative studies on proteolytic enzymes of *Tenebrio molitor*. Comp Biochem Physiol 11:85–103
- 21. Elpidina E, Goptar I (2007) Digestive peptidases in *Tenebrio molitor* and possibility of use to treat celiac disease. Entomol Res 37:139–147
- 22. Goptar I, Semashko T, Danilenko S et al (2012) Cysteine digestive peptidases function as post-glutamine cleaving enzymes in tenebrionid stored-product pests. Comp Biochem Phys B 161:148–154
- Terra WR, Cristofoletti PT (1996) Midgut proteinases in three divergent species of Coleoptera. Comp Biochem Physiol 113:725–730
- 24. Vinokurov K, Elpidina E, Zhuzhikov D et al (2009) Digestive proteolysis organization in two closely related Tenebrionid beetles: red flour beetle (*Tribolium castaneum*) and confused flour beetle (*Tribolium confusum*). Arch Insect Biochem Physiol 70:254–279
- 25. Konarev AV, Beaudoin F, Marsh J et al (2011) Characterization of a glutenin-specific serine proteinase of sunn bug *Eurygaster integricepts* put. J Agric Food Chem 59:2462–2470
- 26. Mehrabadi M, Bandini AR, Saadati F et al (2011) α-amylase activity of stored products insects and its inhibition by medicinal plant extracts. J Agric Sci Technol 13:1173–1182
- Murdock LL, Brookhart G, Dunn PE et al (1987) Cysteine digestive proteinases in Coleoptera. Comp Biochem Phys B 87:783–787
- 28. Saadati Bezdi M, Fatshbaf Pourabad R, Toorchi M et al (2012) Protein patterns in the salivary gland of the sunn pest, *Eurygaster integriceps* (Put.) (Hemiptera: Scutelleridae). Türk Entomol Derg 36:215–223
- Grillo LA, Majerowicz D, Gondim KC (2007) Lipid metabolism in *Rhodnius prolixus* (Hemiptera: Reduviidae): Role of a midgut triacylglycerol-lipase. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 37:579–588
- 30. Shen Z, Pappan K, Mutti NS et al (2005) Pectinmethylesterase from the rice weevil, *Sitophilus oryzae*: cDNA isolation and sequencing, genetic origin, and expression of the recombinant enzyme. J Insect Sci 5:21
- Busch R, Hirth T, Liese A et al (2006) The utilization of renewable resources in German industrial production. Biotechnol J 1:770–776
- Zhang YP (2008) Reviving the carbohydrate economy via multi-product lignocellulose biorefineries. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 35:367–375
- Hatakka A (1994) Lignin modifying enzymes from selected white-rot fungi—production and role in lignin degradation. FEMS Microbiol Rev 13:125–135
- 34. Liers C, Arnstadt T, Ullrich R et al (2011) Patterns of lignin degradation and oxidative enzyme secretion by different wood- and litter-colonizing basidiomycetes and ascomycetes grown on beech-wood. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 78:91–102
- 35. Morrison M, Pope PB, Denman SE et al (2009) Plant biomass degradation by gut microbiomes: more of the same or something new? Curr Opin Biotechnol 20:358–363
- 36. Pauchet Y, Wilkinson P, Chauhan R et al (2010) Diversity of beetle genes encoding novel plant cell wall degrading enzymes. PLoS One 5:e15635
- Geib SM, Filley TR, Hatcher PG et al (2008) Lignin degradation in wood-feeding insects. PNAS 105:12932–12937

- Tokuda G, Watanabe H, Lo N (2007) Does correlation of cellulase gene expression and cellulolytic activity in the gut of termite suggest synergistic collaboration of cellulases? Gene 401:131–134
- 39. Tartar A, Wheeler MM et al. (2009) Parallel metatranscriptome analyses of host and symbiont gene expression in the gut of the termite *Reticulitermes flavipes*. Biotechnol Biofuels 2:25
- 40. Pauchet Y, Wilkinson P, van Munster M et al (2009) Pyrosequencing of the midgut transcriptome of the poplar leaf beetle *Chrysomela tremulae* reveals new gene families in Coleoptera. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 39:403–413
- DiGuistini S, Wang Y, Liao NY et al (2011) Genome and transcriptome analyses of the mountain pine beetle-fungal symbiont *Grosmannia clavigera*, a lodgepole pine pathogen. PNAS 108:2504–2509
- 42. King AJ, Cragg SM, Li Y et al (2010) Molecular insight into lignocellulose digestion by a marine isopod in the absence of gut microbes. PNAS 107:5345–5350
- 43. Zhang D, Lax AR, Bland JM et al (2011) Characterization of a new endogenous endo- β -1,4glucanase of Formosan subterranean termite (*Coptotermes formosanus*). Insect Biochem Mol Biol 41:211–218
- 44. Watanabe H, Tokuda G (2010) Cellulolytic Systems in Insects. Annu Rev Entomol 55:609–632
- 45. Zhou X, Kovaleva ES, Wu-Scharf D et al (2010) Production and characterization of a recombinant beta-1,4-endoglucanase (glycohydrolase family 9) from the termite *Reticulitermes flavipes*. Arch Insect Biochem Physiol 74:147–162
- 46. Scharf ME, Kovaleva ES, Jadhao S et al (2010) Functional and translational analyses of a beta-glucosidase gene (glycosyl hydrolase family 1) isolated from the gut of the lower termite *Reticulitermes flavipes*. Insect Biochem Mol 40:611–620
- 47. Ni J, Tokuda G, Takehara M et al (2007) Heterologous expression and enzymatic characterization of β -glucosidase from the drywood-eating termite, *Neotermes koshunensis*. Appl Entomol Zool 42:457–463
- 48. Uchima CA, Tokuda G, Watanabe H et al (2012) Heterologous expression in *Pichia pastoris* and characterization of an endogenous thermostable and high-glucose-tolerant-glucosidase from the termite *Nasutitermes takasagoensis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:4288–4293
- 49. Brune A, Emerson D, Breznak JA (1995) The termite gut microflora as an oxygen sink: microelectrode determination of oxygen and pH gradients in guts of lower and higher termites. Appl Environ Microbiol 61:2681–2687
- 50. Kohler T, Dietrich C, Scheffrahn RH et al (2012) High-resolution analysis of gut environment and bacterial microbiota reveals functional compartmentation of the gut in wood-feeding higher termites (*Nasutitermes* spp.). Appl Environ Microbiol 78:4691–4701
- 51. Zhang D, Allen AB, Lax AR (2012) Functional analyses of the digestive β-glucosidase of formosan subterranean termites (*Coptotermes formosanus*). J Insect Physiol 58:205–210
- 52. Wu Y, Chi S, Yun C et al (2012) Molecular cloning and characterization of an endogenous digestive β -glucosidase from the midgut of the fungus-growing termite *Macrotermes barneyi*. Insect Mol Biol 21:604–614
- 53. Uchima CA, Tokuda G, Watanabe H et al (2011) Heterologous expression and characterization of a glucose-stimulated β -glucosidase from the termite *Neotermes koshunensis* in *Aspergillus oryzae*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 89:1761–1771
- 54. Byeon GM, Lee KS, Gui ZZ et al (2005) A digestive β -glucosidase from the silkworm, *Bombyx mori*: cDNA cloning, expression and enzymatic characterization. Comp Biochem Phys B 141:418–427
- 55. Yapi DYA, Gnakri D, Niamke SL et al (2009) Purification and biochemical characterization of a specific β -glucosidase from the digestive fluid of larvae of the palm weevil, *Rhynchophorus palmarum*. J Insect Sci 9:1–13
- 56. Eigenheer AL, Keeling CI, Young S et al (2003) Comparison of gene representation in midguts from two phytophagous insects, *Bombyx mori* and *Ips pini*, using expressed sequence tags. Gene 316:127–136

- 57. Geib SM, Tien M, Hoover K (2010) Identification of proteins involved in lignocellulose degradation using in gel zymogram analysis combined with mass spectroscopy-based peptide analysis of gut proteins from larval Asian longhorned beetles, *Anoplophora glabripennis*. Insect Sci 17:253–264
- 58. Scully ED, Hoover K, Carlson J et al (2012) Proteomic analysis of Fusarium solani isolated from the Asian longhorned beetle Anoplophora glabripennis. PLoS One 7:e32990
- Lee SJ, Kim SR, Yoon HJ et al (2004) cDNA cloning, expression, and enzymatic activity of a cellulase from the mulberry longicorn beetle, *Apriona germari*. Comp Biochem Phys B 139:107–116
- 60. Lee SJ, Lee KS, Kim SR et al (2005) A novel cellulase gene from the mulberry longicorn beetle, *Apriona germari*: gene structure, expression, and enzymatic activity. Comp Biochem Phys B 140:551–560
- Sugimura M, Watanabe H, Lo N et al (2003) Purification, characterization, cDNA cloning and nucleotide sequencing of a cellulase from the yellow-spotted longicorn beetle, *Psacothea hilaris*. Eur J Biochem 270:3455–3460
- Willis JD, Oppert B, Oppert C et al (2011) Identification, cloning, and expression of a GHF9 cellulase from *Tribolium castaneum* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). J Insect Physiol 57:300–306
- Petersen TN, Brunak S, von Heijne G et al (2011) SignalP 4.0: discriminating signal peptides from transmembrane regions. Nat Methods 8:785–786
- 64. Chang C, Wu CP, Lu S et al (2012) A novel exo-cellulase from white spotted longhorn beetle (*Anoplophora malasiaca*). Insect Biochem Mol Biol 42:629–636
- 65. De Fine Licht HH, Schiøtt M, Mueller UG et al (2010) Evolutionary transitions in enzyme activity of ant fungus gardens. Evol 64:2055–2069
- 66. Moller IE, de Fine Licht HH, Harholt J et al (2011) The dynamics of plant cell-wall polysaccharide decomposition in leaf-cutting ant fungus gardens. PLoS One 6:e17506
- 67. Rønhede S, Boomsma JJ, Rosendahl S (2004) Fungal enzymes transferred by leaf-cutting ants in their fungus gardens. Mycol Res 108:101–106
- 68. Warnecke F, Luginbühl P, Ivanova N et al (2007) Metagenomic and functional analysis of hindgut microbiota of a wood-feeding higher termite. Nature 450:560–565
- 69. Liers C, Ullrich R, Steffen KT et al (2006) Mineralization of 14C-labelled synthetic lignin and extracellular enzyme activities of the wood-colonizing ascomycetes *Xylaria hypoxylon* and *Xylaria polymorpha*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 69:573–579
- Sugumaran M (2002) Comparative biochemistry of eumelanogenesis and the protective roles of phenoloxidase and melanin in insects. Pigm Cell Res 15:2–9
- Coy M, Salem T, Denton J et al (2010) Phenol-oxidizing laccases from the termite gut. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 40:723–732
- 72. Niu B, Shen W, Liu Y et al (2008) Cloning and RNAi-mediated functional characterization of MaLac2 of the pine sawyer, *Monochamus alternatus*. Insect Mol Biol 17:303–312
- 73. Futahashi R, Tanaka K, Matsuura Y et al (2011) Laccase2 is required for cuticular pigmentation in stinkbugs. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 41:191–196
- 74. Xu F (2005) Applications of oxidoreductases: recent progress. Ind Biotechnol 1:38-50
- 75. Euring M, Rühl M, Ritter N et al (2011) Laccase mediator systems for eco-friendly production of medium-density fiberboard (MDF) on a pilot scale: Physicochemical analysis of the reaction mechanism. Biotechnol J 6:1253–1261
- Jensen RG (1983) Detection and determination of lipase (acylglycerol hydrolase) activity from various sources. Lipids 18:650–657
- Osma JF, Toca-Herrera JL, Rodríguez-Couto S (2010) Uses of laccases in the food industry. Enzyme Res 2010:1–8

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 19–50 DOI: 10.1007/10_2013_207 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Published Online: 9 June 2013

Insect-Derived Chitinases

Hans Merzendorfer

Abstract Insect chitinases belong to family 18 of the glycoside hydrolase superfamily (GH18) and comprise endo-splitting enzymes that retain the anomeric β -(1,4) configuration of the cleavage products. However, some of them have lost their catalytic activity but retained the chitin binding activity and/or possess imaginal disc growth factor activity. In all sequenced insect genomes, multiple genes encode chitinases, which are differentially expressed during development and in various insect tissues. Some of them have nonredundant functions and are essential for growth and development. A characteristic property is their multidomain architecture, which comprises varying numbers of catalytic and chitin-binding domains that are connected by glycosylated serine/threonine linker regions. Based on sequence similarities and domain organization, they have been classified into eight different groups. Insect chitinases have gained increasing interest for use in the biological control of parasites, fungi, and insect pests, and some enzymes have properties that make them highly attractive for biotechnological applications.

Keywords Biopesticides • Carbohydrate binding module 14 • CBM14 • Chitin binding domain • Family 18 glycoside hydrolase • GH18 domain • Insect chitinase • Pest control

Abbreviations

Ac	Acetyl
CBM14	Carbohydrate binding module 14
GH18	Glycoside hydrolase family 18
20HE	20-hydroxyecdysone
IDGF	Imaginal disc growth factor
IPM	Integrated pest management
PM	Peritrophic matrix
STL	Serine/threonine-rich linker

H. Merzendorfer (🖂)

Department of Biology/Chemistry, University of Osnabrück, 49069 Osnabrück, Germany e-mail: merzendorfer@biologie.uni-osnabrueck.de

Contents

1	Intro	duction	20		
2	Molecular Properties of Insect Chitinases				
	2.1	Domain Architecture of Insect Chitinases	22		
	2.2	The Catalytic GH18 Domain	26		
	2.3	The Chitin-Binding CBM14 Domain	27		
	2.4	The Serine/Threonine-Rich Linker Region	27		
	2.5	Enzymatic Properties of Insect Chitinases	28		
	2.6	Insect Chitinase Gene Expression During Development	29		
	2.7	Functions of Chitinases in Insects	30		
3	Chitinase Inhibitors in Human Health and Pest Control				
	3.1	Pseudosugars, Cyclic Peptides, and Purine Derivatives	32		
	3.2	Antibodies to Chitinases Block Parasite Transmission	35		
4	Reco	ombinant Chitinases in Pest Control	35		
	4.1	Chitinases Enhance Virulence of Baculoviral Biopesticides	35		
	4.2	Chitinases Increase Insecticidal Activities of Biopesticides	37		
	4.3	Insect Chitinases as Biopesticides	- 38		
5	Chitinase Transgenes in Crop Protection				
	5.1	Transgenic Plants Expressing Chitinases	39		
	5.2	Insect Chitinases as Target Genes for RNAi	41		
6	Con	clusions	42		
Re	feren	ces	43		

1 Introduction

Chitin is a β -(1,4)-linked polymer of *N*-aceytylglucosamine moieties, which is synthesized by a membrane-integral β -glycosyltransferase (chitin synthase; E.C. 2.4.1.16). It is secreted into the extracellular space, where it assembles into microfibrils [1]. Chitin is considered to be one of the most abundant macromolecules in the biosphere. The chitin microfibrils serve as structural scaffolds in cell walls, cuticles, shells, and intestinal peritrophic matrices (PMs). The capacity for chitin production is found in a vast variety of taxonomic groups including algae, fungi, protists, sponges, rotifers, nematodes, arthropods, cuttlefish, brachiopods, and mollusks (Table 1). Less known is the presence of chitin in tunicates and a few bony fishes. However, it seems that the ability to produce chitin has been lost at the root of the deuterostome lineage.

Chitin is particularly present in marine ecosystems because oceanic crustaceans produce most of its biomass (mainly pelagic zooplankton such as krill, which appears in gigantic swarms). In contrast to cellulose, whose biomass has been exploited since the early days of human history, chitin has remained an unused biomass resource for a long time. However, this has changed in recent years because it was recognized that chitin and its derivatives have unique physicochemical properties that allow a broad spectrum of technical applications [14]. More than 10,000 tons of chitin are extracted every year from crab and shrimp shells, which end up as waste in the seafood industry. Most of the chitin produced

Organism	Localization	Biological function	Ref.
α-Protobacteria (Rhizobiales)	Extracellular space	Signaling molecules involved in nodulation of leguminous plants	
Protozoa	Cyst wall	Physical and chemical resistance	[3]
Porifera	Sponge skeleton	Mechanical stabilization	[4, 5]
Fungi	Cell wall Yeast bud neck Spore wall Septa	Turgor resistance Stabilization of cell division zone Physical and chemical resistance separation of mother and daughter cells	
Nematodes	Pharynx Egg shell	Mechanical breakdown of food Physical and chemical resistance	[8]
Arthropods	Epidermal cuticles Shells Tracheal cuticle Peritrophic matrix Egg shells	Exoskeletal functions Protective functions Tracheal structure and development Mechanical protection, digestion, anti-infectious barrier Physical and chemical resistance, oogenesis	[1, 63]
Bivalves	Shell	Shell and nacre formation	[9]
Gastropods	Snail-shell, radula Peritrophic matrix	Shell formation, grazing Multiple protective functions	[10]
Cephalopods	Squid pen Cuttlefish bone Stomach cuticle	Endoskeleton Protective lining	[11]
Tunicates	Integument (test) Peritrophic matrix	Reinforcement Multiple protective functions	[12]
Teleost fish	Fin cuticle	Reinforcement	[13]

Table 1 Localization and function of chitinous structures in various organisms

worldwide is used to obtain glucosamine and various oligosaccharides by acidic hydrolysis. Alkaline hydrolysis results in progressive deacetylation of chitin chains, eventually giving raise to chitosan, a polymer of β -(1,4)-linked glucosamines, which is a more soluble polymer. Chitosan is relatively nontoxic, has antimicrobial properties, and is a cationic polymer at acidic or neutral pH. Accordingly, it has manifold applications in industry. Chitosan-based materials are used as a preservative and dietary supplement in food industry, as a flocculation agent and for the adsorption of heavy metal ions in water treatment, and as antiseptic wound dressings and drug carriers in the pharmaceutical industry. Moreover, chitosan is subject of biopolymer research because the primary amino and the secondary hydroxyl groups are easy to modify. Many chitosan derivatives have been synthesized with the aim of developing intelligent biopolymers to fulfill specific functions. In contrast to cellulose, chitin is less stable in nature due to efficient decomposition. Accordingly, ancient chitin fossils are rare in contrast to cellulose fossils [15]. Biodegradation is mainly accomplished by hydrolytic enzymes called chitinases, which are found in a wide spectrum of organisms including viruses, archaea and eubacteria, protozoa, fungi, plants, and animals, independently of whether or not these organisms are capable of chitin synthesis.

In chitinolytic bacteria that do not synthesize chitin or chitooligomers themselves, chitinases are produced in the course of nutrition, enabling them to use chitinous material as a carbon and nitrogen source. Specifically, species of the genus *Streptomyces* transform insoluble chitin into soluble, metabolizable compounds by means of different chitinolytic enzymes and chitin-binding proteins that mediate adherence to chitinous substrates [16]. In plants, chitinases are thought to be involved in the defense against fungal pathogens, but some chitinase-like proteins lack antifungal activities and seem to play roles during development [17]. In carnivorous plants, they have been detected in the pitcher fluid where they appear to be involved in inducing the trap digesting machinery, in the defense against pathogens, and in chitin decomposition [18, 19]. In chitin-less mammals, chitinases and chitinase-like proteins have been shown to modulate immune responses (reviewed recently by [20]). In all chitin-producing organisms, however, chitinolytic enzymes are essential for maintaining normal lifecycle functions, such as cell division and sporulation in fungi or morphogenesis and metamorphosis in arthropods [21].

Chitinases from various sources have been attracting interest for biotechnological applications in the chemical and pharmaceutical industry because they can convert chitinous material from natural sources (such as crab shells) into usable components. Recombinant insect-derived chitinases may serve as powerful enzymes in such catalytic systems. In addition, chitinases and their inhibitors possess high potential as fungicides for the treatment of mycoses in animal and humans, therapeutic compounds against parasites, and biopesticides for the control of insect pests. This review focuses on insect-derived chitinases and discusses their potential in insect biotechnology (referred to as *yellow biotechnology* in this book).

2 Molecular Properties of Insect Chitinases

Biodegradation of chitin is accomplished by different types of enzymes that include chitinases (EC 3.2.1.14) and β -*N*-acetylhexosaminidases (EC 3.2.1.52), with the latter enzymes acting on chitooligosaccharides that were generated by chitinases cleaving longer chitin chains. Chitinases have been classified into two families of glycoside hydrolases, GH18 and GH19 (http://www.cazy.org; [22]). Although GH18 chitinases are widely distributed in all kingdoms, including insects, GH19 chitinases are restricted to plants, except for a few enzymes reported from viruses, bacteria, nematodes, and arachnids. GH18 and GH19 chitinases show only limited sequence similarities and differ in their catalytic mechanisms. GH18 chitinases and chitinase-like proteins are frequently endo-splitting enzymes but also contain catalytically inactive proteins such as imaginal disc growth factors (IDGFs), stabilin-1 interacting chitinase-like proteins (SI-CLPs), endo- β -*N*-acetylglucosaminidases (ENGases) and chitolectins [23]. The GH18 chitinases perform substrate-assisted catalysis involving a oxazolinium ion intermediate state [24]. This reaction results in the retention of the β -configuration at the anomeric carbon of the cleavage product. In contrast, GH19 chitinases operate by an acidic catalytic mechanism through an oxocarbenium glycosyl-enzyme intermediate, resulting in the inversion of the anomeric carbon atom (i.e., α -anomeric configuration). The soluble products of the reaction catalyzed by chitinases are small chitooligosaccharides (predominantely chitobiose and chitotriose), which become substrates for exo-splitting β -N-acetylhexosaminidases (family GH20) and remove terminal nonreducing GlcNAc residues. GH18 and GH20 chitinioyltic enzymes frequently act in concert to facilitate chitin degradation.

2.1 Domain Architecture of Insect Chitinases

In insects, chitinases belong exclusively to family GH18 and exhibit mostly endosplitting activity. They are presumably present in all insect orders. GH18 proteins have been reported in various dipteran, leipidoperan, coleopteran, hymenopteran, and hemipteran species, where they primarily function in remodeling chitinous structures, innate immunity, and development (see below). They exhibit a modular architecture composed of catalytic domains (GH18 domains), cysteine-rich chitinbinding domains (CBM14 or peritrophin A domains) and serine/threonine-rich linker domains (STL).

Insect chitinases have been particularly diversified during evolution, giving rise to eight different phylogenetic groups, which differ in their primary structures and domain architectures (Table 2, [25]). This classification was mainly based on genome-derived amino acid sequences and domain architectures for GH18 protein from the malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae*, the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster*, and the red flour beetle *Tribolium castaneum*. However, it has to be noted that a more recent study on GH18 proteins encoded in the genome of the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum* has revised this classification to some extent; this phylogenetic analysis, which included GH18 sequences from more insect species, did not well support groups IV, VI, and VII [26]. This finding is also reflected by the low bootstrap values at the corresponding branches in a phylogenetic tree of GH18 proteins from *A. gambiae*, the honey bee *Apis mellifera*, the silkmoth *Bombyx mori*, *D. melanogaster*, and *T. castaneum* (Fig. 1). Nevertheless, the old classification is used in this review article because most of the functional studies refer to this classification.

Group I chitinases are composed of a signal peptide, and one each of the GH18, STL and CBM14 domains. Interestingly, group I chitinase genes have expanded specifically in mosquitoes by gene duplication events [27]. Group II chitinases are significantly larger than group I chitinases because they are composed of a signal peptide followed by 4–5 GH18, multiple STL, and 4–7 CBM14 domains. Except for dipteran species, which have only 4 GH18 and 4 CBM14 domains, these domains are typically arranged as follows: GH18-CBM14-GH18-(CBM14)₃-(GH18)₂-CBM14-GH18. By contrast, dipteran group II chitinases are arranged like this: GH18-(CBM14)₃-(GH18)₂-CBM14-GH18. Some of the GH18 domains

Group	SP ^a /TMH	GH18	CBM14	STL
I	SP	1	1	1
II	SP	4–5	4–7	Multiple
III	TMH	2	1	0
IV	SP	1	0 (1)	0
V	SP	1 ^b	0	0
VI	SP	1	1	1 ^c
VII	SP	1	0	1
VIII	TMH	1	0	0

 Table 2 Domain architecture of group I-VIII insect chitinases

^a SP, N-terminal signal peptide; TMH, N-terminal transmembrane helix; GH18, catalytic domain similar to family 18 glycoside hydrolases; CBM14, chitin-binding domain belonging to family 14 of carbohydrate-binding modules; STL, serine/threonine-rich linker

^b GH18 domain catalytically inactive

^c Very large C-terminal serine/threonine-rich region

(in particular the second GH18 domain) appear to be catalytically inactive because a critical glutamate, which acts as a proton donor in the reaction cycle, is replaced by a nonacidic amino acid [28]. Group III chitinases are typically made up of a single N-terminal transmembrane helix (TMH), two adjacent GH18 domains, and one C-terminal CBM14 domain. From sequence alignments, it was concluded that the catalytic GH18 domains may have different functions and/or origins. The prediction of an N-terminal TMH region suggests that group III chitinases are membrane anchored. This assumption has been supported by analyzing Hi-5 cells expressing TcCHT7 from T. castaneum. The enzyme was apparently anchored by the TMH to the surface of the insect cells with the catalytic GH18 domains facing the extracellular space, as revealed by their ability to hydrolyze chitin without lysing the cells [29]. Group IV chitinases constitute a highly divergent group. They are usually encoded by multiple genes in a single insect species. Group IV chitinases are composed of a N-terminal signal peptide followed by a GH18 domain. Many of these chitinases (but not all) lack a CBM14 domain. Specifically, T. castaneum group IV chitinase genes have expanded in two separate monophyletic clades that consist of five and nine genes [26]. Group V chitinases always lack CBM14 domains, but possess an N-terminal signal peptide and a GH18 domain, which exhibits amino acid substitutions known to abrogate catalytic activity [30]. This group includes the imaginal disk growth factors (IDGFs), which are required for the proliferation, polarization, and motility of imaginal disc cells [31]. Group VI chitinases are similar to Group I chitinases. However, the Cterminal serine/threonine-rich region, which seems to be heavily glycosylated, largely extends the molecular mass of this protein. Group VII chitinases in turn resemble group IV chitinases in overall structure, but phylogenetic analysis revealed that this group is an outlier of group II chitinases. They have an Nterminal signal peptide and a GH18 domain, but they are devoid of a CBM14 domain. Group VIII chitinases have a GH18 domain but lack a signal peptide and a CBM14 domain. Like in group III chitinases, to which they are phylogenetically

Group



Fig. 1 Phylogenetic tree for various GH18 chitinases and chitinase-like proteins. The maximum likelihood tree was calculated on the basis of a ClustalW alignment (Blosum62) of amino acid sequences for chitinases and chitinase-like proteins. The scale bar indicates an evolutionary distance of 0.5 amino acid substitutions per site. Bootstrap values are given in percentages at the internodes. Different groups of GH18 chitinases are indicated by colored shadings. Am, *Apis mellifera*; Ag, *Anopheles gambiae*; Bm, *Bombyx mori*; Dm, *Drosophila melanogaster*; Tc, *Tribolium castaneum*. Accession numbers are given after the species abbreviation



Fig. 2 Homology-based models of the GH18 and the CBM14 domains of a group I chitinase from *Anopheles gambiae* (XP_001237469.3). The positions of catalytic site residues of the GH18 domain and conserved cysteines of the CBM14 domain are indicated with red colors. The serine/ threonine rich region linking the GH18 and CBM14 domains has not been modeled and is not included. The (α/β) 8 barrel (TIM barrel) is depicted in the center of the GH18 domain

most closely related, the GH18 domain is preceded by an *N*-terminal TMH. This suggests that these chitinases are also membrane-bound.

2.2 The Catalytic GH18 Domain

The crystal structures for several bacterial, fungal, plant, and mammalian GH18 chitinases have been determined [32-35]. The structural hallmark of the GH18 domain is a (β/α) 8 barrel (TIM barrel) fold, which is also illustrated in the center of a homology-based structural model for the group I chitinase from the malaria vector A. gambiae (Fig. 2). Some of the loops extending from the TIM barrel are thought to form a narrow but long substrate-binding cleft, which allows binding of at least five sugar units. In comparison, plant GH19 have a shorter and wider substrate binding site, which is predicted to allow binding of only three sugar units [36]. So far, only one crystal structure of an insect GH18 protein has been determined. Specifically, the structure of the imaginal disk growth factor (IDGF2) from D. melanogaster has been solved at a resolution of 1.3 Å [37]. IDGF2 has a classical TIM barrel of GH18 chitinases, however, with two prominent insertions. One insertion is highly conserved in group V chitinases (see below), and resides between the β -4 strand and the α -4 helix, a surface region that is exposed to the solvent. The other localizes between the β -7 strand and the α -7 helix and forms an additional $\alpha + \beta$ domain, which is present in all insect chitinases, although it is highly variable in sequence. Although the first insertion has been associated with proteolytic degradation, the second insertion may determine the cleavage modus of insect chitinases (whether they are endo- or exosplitting or processive enzymes). IDGF2 is catalytically inactive because amino acid substitutions in the conserved GH18 domain appear to preclude chitin hydrolysis [38]. This is particularly due to the exchange of the catalytic glutamate by a glutamine, which abolishes hydrolytic activity in chitinases (see below).

The GH18 domain comprises four signature sequences, which are highly conserved in insect chitinases: motifs I-IV reside in the β -strand 3, 4, 6, and 8, respectively, and have the consensus sequences K(F/V)M(V/L/I)AVGGW, FDG(L/F)DLDWE(Y/F)P, M(S/T)YDL(R/H)G, and GAM(T/V)WA(I/L)D [25]. Site-directed mutagenesis performed with a recombinant group I chitinase from Manduca sexta has established the roles of three acidic amino acids in motif II (D142, D144, and E146, underlined above). The corresponding amino acids D145, D147, and E149 are also shown in the structural model for the group I chitinase of A. gambiae (Fig. 2). Although none of these amino acids were required for chitin binding in *M. sexta*, they were more or less critical for catalysis [28]. The glutamate E146 was most important for catalytic activity; its substitution by glutamine or even by the negatively charged aspartate led to a complete loss of enzymatic activity. This finding suggests that E146 acts as an acid/base catalyst in this reaction. The aspartates D142 and D144 are less critical; they seem to function in determining the pKa values of the other two residues and stabilizing the transition state, respectively. Similar to D142, tryptophan W145 within motif II appears to be necessary for optimal enzyme activity but is not required for chitin binding [39].

2.3 The Chitin-Binding CBM14 Domain

The CBM14 modules of chitinases are widely distributed chitin-binding domains, which are also found in insect PM proteins (PMPs) and cuticle proteins analogous to peritrophins (CPAPs) [40]. The chitin-binding function of the CBM14 has been shown in several cases [41]. The only structure available for an invertebrate CBM14 motif is that for tachycitin, a 73-residue polypeptide with antimicrobial activity from hemocytes of the horseshoe crab (Tachypleus tridentatus). Nuclear magnetic resonance spectrometry revealed that the polypeptide consists of an Nterminal part made of a three-stranded β -sheet and C-terminal part made of a twostranded β -sheet following a short helical turn [41]. Five disulfide bridges formed between 10 cysteines stabilize this β -sandwich structure. Some of the β -sheets form a hydrophobic binding pocket, which involves conserved polar and hydrophobic amino acid residues [42]. In contrast, insect CBM14 domains have only six conserved cysteines, presumably forming three disulfide bridges. The characteristic spacing between these cysteines is CX₁₃₋₂₀CX₅CX₉₋₁₉CX₁₀₋₁₄CX₄₋₁₄C [40, 43]. Figure 2 shows a structural model of the CBM14 domain from a group I chitinase of A. gambiae, highlighting these conserved cysteines. The CBM14 domain is thought to enhance the affinity of the chitinase for its polymeric insoluble substrate, so that these enzymes are more effective on chitin than on chitooligosaccharides [44].

2.4 The Serine/Threonine-Rich Linker Region

The GH18 and CBM14 domains are frequently but not always connected by serine/threonine-rich linker regions (STL), which are presumably modified by mucin-type O-glycosylation. This may affect protein stability, particularly in protease-rich environments, such as the molting fluid or the gut lumen, where insect chitinases frequently are operating [44]. The first step of the mucin-type O-glycosylation is catalyzed by a polypeptide *N*-acetylgalactosaminyl transferase (GalNAc transferase). This enzyme transfers the sugar moiety from UDP-GalNAc to the serine and/or threonine residues of the acceptor polypeptide. Interestingly, GalNAc-transferases are absent in plants but present in insects, such as *D. melanogaster*, where specific isoforms appear to have unique functions in particular tissues, including epithelia known to synthesize and secrete chitinases [45]. The STL region is predicted to be an unfolded polypeptide. Because it is therefore not possible to model the structure of this region, the GH18 and CBM14 of the *A. gambiae* chitinase domains were drawn separately in Fig. 2.

2.5 Enzymatic Properties of Insect Chitinases

In a comprehensive enzymatic study, Zhu et al. compared the properties of group I, IV, or V chitinases from T. castaneum, D. melanogaster, and M. sexta. They expressed the chitinases in Hi5 cells in insect cells using a baculoviral system and purified them by Ni-NTA or DEAE-Sepharose chromatography [38]. Subsequently, the enzymatic and chitin-binding properties were compared. Except for group V proteins, which comprise the group V IDGFs, all chitinases exhibited chitinolytic activities. However, the enzymes from different groups differed with respect to their ability to bind chitin, immunological cross-reactivity, kinetic properties, pH dependency of activity, and their preference for oligomeric or polymeric substrates. Group I chitinases cleaved both polymeric and oligomeric substrates, whereas group IV chitinases exhibited no and only little chitinolytic activity for oligomeric substrates. The tested group I chitinases showed two optima at approximately pH 6 and 9, whereas group IV chitinase either had only a single optimum at pH 6 or were highly active over a broad pH range from pH 4 to 9. All tested chitinases and chitinase-like proteins, including the group V IDGFs, bound tightly to colloidal chitin.

All catalytically active insect GH18 chitinases studied so far have been shown to be endo-splitting enzymes that cleave chitin or chitooligosaccharides comprising at least three sugar moieties. The recombinant 65-kDa chitinase from *Bombyx mori* preferentially cleaves the β -(1,4) glycosidic linkage of GlcNAc oligosaccharides after the second position from the nonreducing end, retaining the β -anomeric configuration of the product [46]. In contrast, the chitinase from *Autographa californica* multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus (AcMNPV), which may
have a bacterial origin but is expressed in virus-infected insect cells, exhibits both endo- and exo-splitting activities [47]. However, as in the case of insect chitinases, cleavage of olilgosaccharides occurs at the linkage between the second and third sugar moiety from the nonreducing end [48]. The catalytic mechanism of insect chitinases has not been explained in detail, but it is likely that—like other noninsect GH18 chitinases—they act through substrate-assisted catalysis involving an oxazolinium intermediate state, as described above.

Besides their chitinolytic activity, many bacterial, fungal, plant, and mammalian GH18 chitinase possess transglycosylation activity, which allows the formation of new glycosidic bonds between donor and acceptor saccharides. In retaining glycoside hydrolases, the transglycosylation reaction occurs through a doubledisplacement mechanism using another acceptor molecule (carbohydrate or an alcohol) instead of water [49]. This type of reaction leads to the interconversion of oligosaccharides of different compositions and lengths. Oligosaccharides of specific compositions and length, however, are attracting increasing interest in the food and pharmaceutical industries due to their potential use as therapeutics, prebiotics, or in plant protection [50–53]. Therefore, transglycosylation is considered to have a high potential in generating defined oligosaccharides because their chemical synthesis is highly challenging. The development of methods for enzymatic synthesis of oligosaccharides may include insect-derived GH 18 chitinases because it is likely that many of these enzymes exhibit transglycosylation activity.

2.6 Insect Chitinase Gene Expression During Development

In insects, chitinase encoding genes are differentially expressed during development, and the expression of some genes is restricted to certain tissues. The expression profiles have been determined in detail by reverse-transcription and qualitative polymerase chain reaction for *T. castaneum*, *A. gambiae*, and *A. pisum* [26, 54, 55].

In *T. castaneum*, the genome harbors in total 22 genes encoding chitinases and chitinase-like proteins [55]. The group I, II, III, and V genes (*TcCHT5*, *TcCHT10*, *TcCHT7*, and *TcIDGF2/4*, respectively) were found to be expressed throughout all stages of development. Transcripts for the group VI gene *TcCHT6* were detected in all stages except for adults, and transcripts for the group VII gene *TcCHT2* were found in all stages except for embryos and adults. The group VII gene *TcCHT11* was found to be expressed in all but penultimate instar larvae. Transcripts for all 14 group IV genes (*TcCHT4*, -8, -9, -12 to -22) were detectable in the feeding stages (larvae and adults). However, expression of two of these genes (*TcCHT4* and *TcCHT16*) was also found at lower levels in pharate pupal and pupal stages. Moreover, the group IV genes (except for *TcCHT4*) were found to be expressed exclusively in the larval midgut, and gene expression varied in different gut

regions. The latter finding suggests that group IV chitinases act on the chitin network of the PM and/or dietary components.

Overall, there are similarities and differences between the expression profiles of *T. castaneum and A. gambiae*, the latter of which has 20 chitinase genes [54]. Expression of group I, II, III, and V genes (AgCHT5-1 to-5, AgCHT10, AgCHT7 and AgIDGF2/4, respectively) was detectable in all developmental stages at various levels, from embryos (except for AgCHT10) to adults. The two IDGF genes (AgIDGF2 and -4) were constitutively expressed at higher levels. The expression of the eight group IV genes of *A. gambiae* (AgCHT4, -8, -9, -12, -13, -16, -23, -24) showed various levels of expression in the different developmental stages tested. Notably, the group IV chitinases AgCHT12, AgCHT13 and AgCHT23 were almost exclusively expressed in the larval stages, whereas AgCHT8 was expressed in pupae and adults. All group IV genes were detected in the gut, either in the foregut (AgCHT4, -12, -16, -23), midgut (AgCHT9, -13, -16, -23), or hindgut (AgCHT9, -16, -23), except for AgCHT24, which was not tested for its expression in the gut. The group VII gene was also found to be specifically expressed in the AgCHT4 in the foregut.

In A. pisum, the expression of ApCHT2 (group IV), -3 (group VI), -4 (group III), and -8 (unclassified) was found to be highly upregulated in embryonic tissues [26], and that of two distinct chitinase-like genes, ApCHT6 (group IV) and Ap-ENGase (ENGase), was significantly higher in the midgut than in other tissues (classification according to [25]).

Upregulation of the expression of chitinase-encoding genes involves transcriptional control mechanisms mediated by molting hormones. The injection of 20-hydroxyecdysone (20HE) into ligated larvae of *M. sexta* and *B. mori* stimulates the activity of chitinases in the integument [56, 57]. This increase in chitinolytic activity correlates with raised transcript levels that have been measured for group I chitinase genes from *M. sexta* following 20HE injection [58]. The 20HE-induced increase of transcript levels was suppressed when fenoxycarb, a juvenile hormone mimic, was topically applied. Similar results have been reported for chitinases from the silkworm *B. mori* [59], the spruce budworm *Choristoneura fumiferana* [60], the mealworm beetle *Tenebrio molitor* [61], and even from crustaceans such as the Chinese shrimp *Fenneropenaeus chinensis* [62]. Thus, 20HE-dependent control of chitinase gene expression and chitinolytic activity appears to be widely distributed among insects and possibly also other arthropods. Whether gene activities of chitinase-encoding genes are directly or indirectly controlled has not been elucidated yet.

2.7 Functions of Chitinases in Insects

The finding that gene expression of chitinases and chitinase-like proteins varies between different developmental stages and tissues indicates that chitinases have distinct functions. This conclusion was supported by an exciting study in *T*.

castaneum using systemic RNA interference to systematically knockdown transcripts for group I (*TcCHT5*), II (*TcCHT10*), III (*TcCHT7*), IV (*TcCHT8*, -14, -16), V (*TcIDGF2* and -4), VI (*TcCHT6*), and VII (*TcCHT2*) chitinase or chitinase-like protein encoding genes [55]. Injection of dsRNA specific for *TcCHT5* resulted in molting defects and death only during pupal-adult molting, whereas that for *TcCHT10* caused arrest at all larval–larval, larval–pupal, and pupal–adult moltings as well as defects in egg hatching. When penultimate instar larvae were injected with dsRNA specific for *TcCHT7*, they completed larval–larval and larval–pupal molts, but the pupae failed to contract their abdomens and to fully expand their elytra. Injection of dsRNA for *TcIDGF4* into penultimate or last instar larvae resulted in death of the insects during adult eclosion. The injection of dsRNAs for the genes *TcCHT2*, *TcCHT6*, *TcCHT8*, *TcCHT14*, *TcCHT16*, and *TcIDGF2* failed to result in observable phenotypes.

Chitinase and chitinase-like proteins are thought to have important functions during the growth and development of insects [21, 25]. During molting, they assist in the degradation of inner parts of the chitinous endocuticle, a process required to shed off the old cuticle (exuvia). In the intestinal tract, they have important roles in digestion of chitin-containing food (including exuvia, which is frequently eaten after molting) and in the turnover of the chitin-containing PM, which lines the midgut epithelium. It protects the midgut epithelium from abrasive particles, divides the gut lumen into distinct digestive compartments, and acts as an anti-infectious barrier [63]. In addition, chitinase-like proteins promote cell proliferation and have functions in the innate immune system. From the expression profiles and the RNAi studies, several important conclusions on the functions of chitinases in insects can be drawn.

Group I–II chitinases act in the degradation of the endocuticle during molting with activities that have different effects on larval–larval, larval–pupal, and pupal–adult molts. Partially, these chitinases may have redundant functions. They are secreted into the molting fluid, which is known to contain proetolytic and chitinolytic activities, and degrade the inner parts of the old cuticle to allow molting [64]. Interestingly, the chitinases appear not to be excluded from the newly synthesized cuticle by an impermeable layer (also called cuticulin or envelope) as previously assumed, because a recent study performed in *T. castaneum* provided evidence that the new cuticle is protected from chitinolytic activity by a cuticle-organizing protein named after the *Drosophila* mutant Knickkopf [65].

Group III chitinases differ from group I and II chitinases in that they are anchored to the plasma membrane by an *N*-terminal transmembrane helix. They appear not to be required for molting but for processes that occur immediately after pupation such as abdominal contraction and the extension of wings and elytra. How they accomplish these function is not known.

Group IV chitinases appear to have functions in the intestinal system because they are only expressed in different parts of the gut. This suggests that they are involved in the degradation of chitinous material either assimilated with food or as part of the PM. Some of these gut-specific chitinases may also have immune functions. For example, the group IV chitinase GmCHT1 from the tsetse fly *Glossina morsitans morsitans* contains a GH18 domain and a CBM14 domain but lacks an STL region. The *GmChT1* gene is expressed in the fat body and in the milk glands of pregnant female flies. The tsetse flies undergo viviparous reproduction and the chitinase becomes transmitted to the larvae by feeding of a milk-like substance secreted in the mother's uterus. Once taken up by the larvae, it may have immunological function in the larval gut, protecting against fungal pathogens [66].

Groups V chitinase-like proteins (IDGFs) are predominantly expressed in embryonic yolk cells and fat body; they may act as chitolectins binding to cell surface receptors. They have been shown to promote cell lineages derived from *Drosophila* imaginal discs in cooperation with insulin-like growth factor [31]. In hemocyte and fat body cell lines derived from the cabbage armyworm, *Mamestra brassicae*, however, they stimulated cell proliferation independently from the presence of insulin-like peptides [67]. Next to their function in cell proliferation, some IDGFs also have immune functions. In *A. gambiae* two group V proteins, AgBr1 and AgBr2 are secreted into the hemolymph after challenging the mosquitoes by bacterial infections. AgBr1 and AgBr2 are proteolytically processed after exposure to bacteria or peptidoglycans, as reported for some other IDGFs [68]. Finally, honeybee salivary glands secrete IDGF4 into the royal jelly and honey. This finding implies that IDGF4 might affect growth, physiology, or even behavior of other bees in the hive [69]. In contrast to group I–V chitinases, the functions of group VI–VIII chitinases have not been addressed so far.

3 Chitinase Inhibitors in Human Health and Pest Control

3.1 Pseudosugars, Cyclic Peptides, and Purine Derivatives

Inhibitors of GH18 chitinases demonstrate significant biological activities against insect pests, fungi, and protozoan/nematodal parasites, as they interfere with essential physiological functions. Among the most potent natural inhibitors of chitinases are allosamidin, argifin, and argadin [70]. Allosamidin is one of the best characterized inhibitors. It was isolated from Streptomyces species and exhibits an inhibitory activity against GH18 chitinases, while being inactive on GH19 chitinases. It is a pseudosugar (pseudotrisaccharide) consisting of two units Nacetyl-D-allosamine and one unit of an aminocyclitol derivative (Fig. 3). Allosamidin is thought to specifically block the transition state of GH18 chitinases. The compound has been shown to inhibit chitinases from various insects, including the silk moth B. mori, the nonbiting midge Chironomus tentans, and the green peach aphid Myzus persicae [71-73]. When applied to larvae of B. mori, Leucania separata (common armyworm), Tineola bisselliella (webbing cloth moth), or Lucilia cuprina (Australian sheep blowfly), it inhibited larval to pupal molt [74, 75]. Feeding Phlebotomus papatasi sandflies, a vector for the Leishmania parasite, with allosamidin supplemented blood led to a thickening of the PM from the



Fig. 3 Chemical structures of GH18 chitinase inhibitors. The depicted inhibitor structures include the pseudotrisaccharide allosamidin, the cyclopentapeptides argadin and argifin, the small cylic peptide CI-4, and the purine-derivate C2-dicaffeine. Chemical structures were obtained from the Binding database and visualized with ACD ChemSketch 8.0

midgut. It also prevented early parasite mortality seen in infected flies, suggesting an important role of the PM as an anti-infectious barrier [76].

Similar results were obtained when allosamidin-supplemented blood was fed to female yellow fever mosquitoes [77]. This treatment resulted in the formation of an atypical thick PM, whereas the addition of exogenous chitinase completely blocked PM formation. Most notably, allosamidin inhibits the transmission of the *Plasmodium* ookinetes by blocking the parasite's chitinase, which facilitates penetration of the mosquito's PM [78, 79]. Although allosamidin has evidently a high potential as an active ingredient of antiparasite drugs and insecticides, its total

synthesis is complex and expensive, thus currently preventing its use in parasite and pest control regimes [70]. The synthesis of allosamidin analogs provided insights into the structural requirements for chitinase inhibition. Blattner et al. evaluated different allosamidin analogues to provide insights into structureactivity relationships [75, 80]. For a chitinase from Chironomus tentans, the removal of a single N-acetylallosamine residue did not impair inhibitory activity and glucosamine can be exchanged against allosamine without any negative effect [80]. Similar results were obtained when testing the insecticidal activity for *Tin*eola bisselliella and Lucilia cupring larvae [75]. The authors came to the important conclusion that the β -(1,4) linkage between the sugar or pseudosugar moieties is necessary for chitinase inhibition and insecticidal activity. Thus, β -(1,4)-gluco disaccharides are attractive candidate molecules for chitinase inhibition. Based on these findings, Dusssouy et al. reported that GlcNAc- β -(1,4)Glc disaccharides containing 2-O-acetyl and/or 6-sulfate groups are highly potent inhibitors of insect chitinase activity and that they have strong aphidicidal activities when tested on hemipteran Myzus persicae [81]. However, the latter effects could not be explained exclusively on the basis of chitinase inhibition.

Argifin and argadin are an alternative class of GH18 chitinase inhibitors. Their chemistry is not based on sugars, and their synthesis is less challenging. These molecules are cyclopentapeptides (Fig. 3), which were isolated from mycelia of Gliocladium and Clonostachys species, respectively [82, 83]. It has to be noted, however, that the taxonomic classification of these fungi is uncertain and needs to be reassessed using appropriate DNA markers [84]. Both inhibitors mimic the interactions of GH18 chitinases with chitooligosaccharides and interact with side chains D142, E144, and Y214 in the active site required for catalytic activity [85]. Argadin more strongly inhibits GH18 chitinases than allosamidin does, whereas argifin exhibits weaker inhibition due to structural differences between the two peptide backbones. The detailed structural information available for these types of inhibitors allowed identification of a tiny nine-atom active fragment of argifin, which is a micromolar inhibitor of GH18 chitinase from Aspergillus fumigatus [86]. Another peptide-based inhibitor is the small cyclic peptide CI-4 (cyclo (L-Arg-D-Pro)) (Fig. 3), which in contrast to the cyclopentapeptides blocks chitinase activity by structurally mimicking the reaction intermediate [87]. It was first isolated from the marine *Pseudomonas* species [88]. A screening of a compound library of 880 drug molecules identified recently three xanthine derivatives, theophylline, caffeine, and pentoxifylline as moderate inhibitors of bacterial, fungal, and human family 18 chitinases [89]. Moreover, a fragment-based, computer-aided approach to screen commercially available chemical structures allowed these investigators to identify a xanthine-derivative (C2-dicaffeine) as GH18 chitinase inhibitor that acts in the low micromolar range [90]. Some of the latter chitinase inhibitors may also be active on insect-derived enzymes.

3.2 Antibodies to Chitinases Block Parasite Transmission

Malaria is one of the most important parasitic diseases, affecting hundreds of millions of humans per year, with at least 1 million deaths. The parasite is transmitted by female A. gambiae mosquitos that inject infectious sporozoites while taking a blood meal. Before the mosquitoes can transmit the parasite, they have to get infected themselves by ingesting male and female gametocytes from a blood meal of a malaria-infected person. After mating, the resulting zygote elongates into the invasive motile form, which is called ookinete. The ookinete must penetrate the PM before it can invade the midgut epithelium to reach the hemolymph site, where it eventually develops into sporozoite-forming oocysts [91]. The ookinete produces a GH18 chitinase that facilitates traversal of the chitin-containing PM [92]. Both the targeted disruption of the *Plasmodium* chitinase-encoding genes and the inhibition of its chitinolytic activity by allosamidin led to a significant reduction of infectivity in A. gambiae mosquitos [78, 79, 93]. Because the Plasmodium chitinase is a potential target for blocking malaria transmission, the idea of developing antibodies to neutralize chitinase activity emanated. A monoclonal antibody (1C3-MAb) was generated against the recombinant P. falciparum chitinase PfCHT1. The 1C3-MAb indeed inhibited PfCHT1 activity and significantly reduced the infectivity of the P. falciparum parasite in mosquitoes [94, 95]. A recombinant single-chain antibody (scFv) derived from 1C3-MAb hybridoma cells also significantly reduced P. gallinaceum parasite transmission to mosquitoes by inhibiting the orthologous PgCHT2 enzyme [96]. The fact that the recombinant 1C3-MAb recognizes PfCHT1 as well as PgCHT2 allows using the avian parasite P. gallinaceum as a model system for elucidating the role of chitinases for invasion of the midgut epithelium. More importantly, however, transgenic strains of Anopheles stephensi expressing two scFvs directed to the parasite chitinase did not show the development of sporozoites after challenging them with P. falciparum [97]. The expression of a dual scFv transgene can completely block parasite development without affecting the mosquito's fitness. Interestingly, antibodies to microfilarial chitinases from Brugia malayi, a nematode which causes lymphatic filariasis in humans, also block parasite transmission [98].

4 Recombinant Chitinases in Pest Control

4.1 Chitinases Enhance Virulence of Baculoviral Biopesticides

Chemical pest management strategies may cause contaminations with toxic compounds that have problematic effects on the environment and eventually affect animal and human health. In addition, the extensive use of pesticides generates resistances that render many of the widely used insecticidal compounds ineffective. Therefore, alternate concepts of integrated pest management (IPM) have been

developed, including nonchemical strategies to control insects. A major objective of IPM is applying different methods to produce synergistic effects [99]. Pest populations are not controlled by attempting eradication but rather by reducing the number of pests to levels that do not cause economic damage. The methods that are combined in IPM strategies include environmentally safe and selective chemical pesticides, use of crop cultivars with pest resistance, intelligent cultivation practices, physical methods, natural biopesticides, and biocontrol with natural predators, parasites, and microbial organisms and agents.

Baculoviruses have been recognized as efficient biopesticides for the control of lepidopteran insect species in agriculture and forestry. The majority of baculoviruses used as biopesticides belong to the group of nucleopolyhedroviruses (NPV; α -baculoviruses); some are granuloviruses (GV; β -baculoviruses). These viruses exhibit high species-specificity and lack negative impact on plants, mammals, birds, fish, or even on nontarget insects. This is especially desirable when beneficial insects need to be protected or when an ecologically sensitive area is being treated. However, the narrow host range of baculoviruses and their slow working mode limit their use in pest control to some extent. Baculoviruses encode proteases and chitinases, which specifically degrade the protective PM in the midgut of infected insects; this presumably increases virulence and infectivity and mediates liquefaction of the integument. For instance, the Mamestra configurata (bertha armyworm) NPV (McNPV-A) encodes a metalloprotease enhancin, which evidently degrades PM proteins [100]. Chitinases are encoded by many baculoviral genomes, including those of the Autographa californica multicapsid NPV (Ac-MNPV) [101], Spodoptera litura multicapsid NPVs (SIMNPVs) [102], Helicoverpa armigera singlecapsid NPV (HaSNPV) [103], Antheraea pernyi NPV (ApNPV) [104], Epiphyas postvittana NPV (EpNPV) [105], Orgyia pseudotsugata multicapsid NPV (OpMNPV) [106], Bombyx mori NPV (BmNPV) [107] and the Cryptophlebia leucotreta granulovirus (ClCV) [108]. The function of the Ac-MNPV chitinase ChiA has been extensively studied, both in vitro and in vivo. The viral ChiA was expressed in Sf9 cells and purified using a pepstatin-aminohexyl Sepharose column [48]. Careful analyses of enzyme activity and cleavage products revealed that the mode of action was similar to that of chitinase A from the enterobacterium Serratia marcescens (SmChiA). It hydrolyzed the second β -(1,4) glycosidic bond from the non-reducing end of chitooligosaccharide substrates and acted also on solid β -chitin in a processive mechanism.

The viral chitinase seems to promote liquefaction of the larvae, a process that is usually observed in the late period of a baculoviral infection and involves partial degradation of the integument by proteolytic and chitinolytic activities. The processive working mode of ChiA may be especially advantageous for liquefaction. In AcMNPV-infected larvae of *Trichoplusia ni*, liquefaction depends, next to ChiA, on the baculoviral endoprotease cathepsin (v-Cath) [47], which physically interacts with the viral ChiA before being released from infected cells [109]. Site-directed mutagenesis of the ChiA active site residues D311 and E315 in the recombinant baculovirus caused a reduction in chitinolytic activity and an attenuated liquefaction of host larvae, indicating that ChiA is an important virulence factor of baculoviruses

[110]. Interestingly, ChiA contains a C-terminal KDEL motif retaining the protein in the endoplasmic reticulum [111]. When the nucleotide sequence encoding the KDEL motif was deleted in the viral chitinase gene, and subsequently *T. ni* cells were infected with the recombinant virus, the chitinase localized at the plasma membrane and was secreted into the supernatant of the culture medium. Consistently, the biological activity was enhanced in *T. ni* larvae infected with the recombinant virus encoding a KDEL-deficient chitinase version [112]. Why ChiA is retained in the endoplasmic reticulum to some extent is unknown, but it may attenuate liquefaction until enough polyhedra have been produced to embed the virions. The observed interaction of ChiA with v-Cath may be required for coordinating proteolytic and chitinolytic activities for liquefaction [109].

The potential of the ChiA chitinase as a biopesticide has been further explored by Rao et al. [113]. The *ChiA* gene was expressed in *Escherichia coli* cells and purified by affinity chromatography. When isolated peritrophic matrices from *B. mori* larvae were incubated with increasing amounts of the recombinant chitinase, a dose-dependent increase in PM permeability and number and size of PM perforations was observed. Feeding of the recombinant chitinase to *B. mori* larvae resulted in 100 % mortality at high doses, whereas lesser doses reduced larval growth. This finding implies that optimization of the baculoviral genome to increase chitinase expression by using alternate promoters may provide a powerful means for the development of environmentally safe biopesticides [114]. As insect chitinases have been optimized during evolution to degrade cuticle and peritrophic matrices, the insecticidal activities of baculoviruses may be improved by generating recombinant viruses encoding an insect chitinase with desired properties. One example supporting this hypothesis will be discussed in Sect. 4.3.

4.2 Chitinases Increase Insecticidal Activities of Biopesticides

Among the most successful biopesticides are the δ -endotoxins (Cry toxins) produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis*. After their release from spore crystals in the midgut, they bind to their specific receptors at the apical membrane of midgut epithelial cells and damage the membrane by pore formation, so that the cells eventually lyse [115]. Before the Cry toxins can interact with the apical membranes, they have to pass the chitin-containing PM, which forms a physical barrier. It was suggested that chitinases increase the larvicidal effects by perforating the PM, improving the accessibility of the Cry toxin to the epithelial membrane. An obvious idea was to coapply Cry toxins and chitinases, which indeed increased the insecticidal effect of *B. thuringiensis* on *Choristoneura fumiferana* larvae [116]. Also, the co-application of *B. thuringiensis* spore crystal suspension together with chitinolytic bacteria yielded significant synergistic insecticidal effects against *Spodoptera littoralis* larvae [117]. It was also shown that the addition of *Serratia marcescens* chitinase protein preparations to Cry toxin preparations caused synergistic toxic effects in *Spodoptera littoralis* larvae [118]. More recently, recombinant plasmids containing the cry1Ac gene from *B. thuringiensis* and chitinase-encoding genes from tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) were generated to transform acrystalliferous *B. thuringiensis*. The transformed bacteria exhibited significant chitinase activity, and when the insecticidal activity of the transformed bacteria was evaluated using *Helicoverpa armigera* larvae, it was more than tenfold higher compared to the bacteria that produced only the Cry toxin [119]. Even fusion proteins composed of a chitinase and Cry1Ac expressed by *B. thuringiensis* strains have been shown to increase slightly toxicity in *Ephestia kuehniella* larvae in comparison to wild-type strains [120].

Similar approaches have been undertaken to increase the insect virulence of entomopathogenic fungi that are used in biocontrol of insect pests. The genome of the entomopathogenic fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae* encodes several chitinases. One of these chitinases, chitinase 2 (Chi2), is involved in the pathogenicity of this fungus. Strains that overexpress Chi2 showed higher efficiency to kill its host, the cotton stainer bug *Dysdercus peruvianus*, whereas strains defective in the gene encoding Chi2 decreased infectivity of the fungus [121]. Likewise, a transgenic *Trichoderma konigii* strain expressing the chitinase 42 from *Metarhizium anisopliae* showed insecticidal activity against the Asian corn borer, *Ostrinia furnacalis* and the silkworm *B. mori* [122]. More recently, Araújo et al. showed that feeding of a bacterial chitinase disrupts the PM and reduces fecundity of female sandflies (*Lutzomyia longipalpis*), which are important vectors of visceral leishmaniasis [123]. Again, it is tempting to speculate that the use of group IV insect chitinases that are expressed in the midgut might increase the synergistic effects of Cry toxins or the insect virulence of entomopathogenic fungi.

4.3 Insect Chitinases as Biopesticides

To date, only a few studies have been reported that directly used insect-derived chitinases as biopesticides for the control of pests. Gopalakrishnan et al. have constructed a recombinant AcMNPV baculovirus expressing a group I chitinase from *M. sexta* under the control of the polyhedrin promoter [124]. When the fourth instar larvae of M. sexta or Spodoptera frugiperda were injected with the recombinant virus, the chitinase was detectable in large amounts in the hemolymph. Liquefaction of infected S. frugiperda larvae occurred significantly earlier than when the insects were infected with a wild-type virus, indicating increased insecticidal activity. Similarly, a recombinant AcMNPV expressing a group III chitinase from the hard tick Haemaphysalis longicornis showed bioacaricidal effects against ticks when topically applied [125]. A mixture of recombinant virus and the purified recombinant protein was found to be more efficient in killing the ticks than the recombinant virus and pure chitinase alone. Mice that were immunized with the recombinant purified chitinase from H. longicornis developed a specific protective anti-tick immune response affecting tick molting [126]. These findings suggest that recombinant chitinases may be efficient antigens for vaccination to biologically control ticks. Similar strategies may be helpful also to develop chitinase-based vaccines that block the transmission of leishmaniasis by sandflies [127, 128]. Interestingly, even the purified recombinant chitinase has insecticidal effects. Fitches et al. produced a recombinant chitinase from the tomato moth, *Lacanobia olerace* in the yeast, *Pichia pastoris*, and injected it into *L. oleracea* larvae [129]. They observed 100 % mortality already at a comparable low dose and a reduction in cuticle thickness when injected prior to molting. When fed orally, larval growth and food consumption were reduced.

Insect-derived chitinases may become also important for bioprocessing industries that, for instance, produce chitooligosaccharides with defined chemical properties. They have been expressed in different heterologous systems and purified in reasonable amounts. However, biotechnological processes will require cost-efficient large-scale production of highly active preparations. Most of the studies expressing insect chitinases so far used *E. coli* strains [102, 130–132] or insect cells [38, 39, 133]. Because insect chitinases may likely exhibit eukaryotic posttranslational modifications that improve folding and activity, cost-efficient eukaryotic cells such as the yeast *Pichia pastoris* could be the right expression system of choice to produce a high yield of stable and highly active preparations of genetically optimized enzymes for bioprocessing applications.

5 Chitinase Transgenes in Crop Protection

5.1 Transgenic Plants Expressing Chitinases

Because of the nematocidal, fungicidal and insecticidal properties of chitinases, transgenic plants were generated that heterologously express GH18 and GH19 chitinases from various baculoviral, bacterial, and insect sources to increase plant resistance [25, 134–137]. The high potential for transgenic plants expressing chitinases for use in plant protection against herbivorous insects has been established. The first study that evaluated insect resistance of transgenic plants expressing an insect chitinase was published in 1998. In this study, a transgenic tobacco was generated producing a group I chitinase from *M. sexta* [138, 139]. Although expression levels appeared to be generally low and the recombinant chitinase was truncated, larvae of the tobacco budworm Heliothis virescens were impaired in their growth when feeding on the leaves of the transgenic tobacco. Moreover, the larvae showed a higher mortality and caused less feeding damage compared to larvae fed on control plants. However, no effects on growth and mortality were observed for *M. sexta* larvae. This result may be explained by the greater thickness of the PM in the case of M. sexta larvae, indicating that susceptibilities to toxic chitinases may vary among different insect species. However, when the leaves of transgenic tobacco were sprayed with a formula containing a sublethal dose of Cry toxins from B. thuringiensis, a synergistic insecticidal effect was observed in *H. virescence* larvae, as well as *M. sexta* larvae. The *M. sexta* chitinase was also expressed in transgenic cotton, which reportedly conferred insect resistance in the field. The chitinase was detectable in leaf tissues using antibodies developed to the recombinant enzyme [132].

To increase toxic effects on feeding insects, the gene encoding a scorpion insect toxin from *Buthus martensii* (BmkIT) was expressed in combination with the *M. sexta* chitinase in transgenic *Brassica napus* [140]. Some of the obtained transgenic plants showed high expression levels for both chitinase and scorpion toxin, and conferred significant resistance to the diamondback moth, *Plutella maculipenis*. Synergistic effects for the chitinase and the scorpion insect toxin have not been tested in this study; hence, it is not clear to what extent the chitinase contributes to the carmine spider mite (*Tetranychus cinnabarius*), McCarthy et al. generated a transgenic line of *Caprica papaya* expressing the *M. sexta* chitinase [141]. The transgenic papaya line showed increased tolerance to the spider mites under field conditions.

Likewise, chitinases from baculoviral sources have been used to generate transgenic plants. Although Shi et al. observed no insecticidal effects when H. virescens larvae were fed on transgenic tobacco leaf tissue expressing the baculoviral chitinase ChiA from AcMNPV, they reported significant tolerance against the fungal pathogen Alternaria alternata [142]. In contrast, Corrado et al. showed that transgenic tobacco plants expressing an active ChiA protein from AcMNPV are significantly protected against fungal pathogens (Botrytis cinerea and Alternaria alternate) and lepidopteran larvae (B. mori). However, they observed no insecticidal effects on aphid *M. persicae* populations [143]. As indicated by the latter two examples, the use of transgenic plants expressing chitinases has to be discussed carefully, particularly also because probiotic effects on insect pests have been reported in transgenic plants expressing chitinases. For instance, transgenic potatoes expressing a chitinase from the coleopteran pest Phaedon cochleariae revealed slightly positive effects on population growth of the aphid M. persicae [144]. Because aphids do not form a PM, they may be considered as nontarget insects for transgenic plants expressing baculoviral or insect chitinases.

Although some of the results obtained with transgenic plants expressing insect chitinases are inconsistent, it seems plausible that chitinase-mediated resistance can be improved by considering some of the recent insights on the different biochemical properties and physiological functions of chitinases. For example, so far only group I insect chitinases have been used for the construction of transgenic plants. However, these enzymes are located in the integument, where they have important function during molting. The primary target of plant-expressed chitinases, however, may be considered the PM in the midgut (in contrast to the chitinases acting systemically during a baculoviral infection). Therefore, it seems promising to use group IV chitinases as transgenes, which evidently are expressed

in the insect gut and hence may have higher chitinolytic activities due to evolutionary adaptations to this proteolytic environment. These adaptations may include resistance to proteolysis, distinctive pH optima, and different working modes that allow degradation of chitinous substrates which differ in the type of chitin and associated proteins.

Finally, it has to be noted that some of the observed insecticidal effects may be mediated by the stimulation of general defense mechanisms triggered by the exogenous chitinase rather than by direct chitinolytic action of the transgene. In addition, legal restrictions and problems with public acceptance of transgenic plants in some countries may raise concerns.

5.2 Insect Chitinases as Target Genes for RNAi

Using RNA interference as a powerful tool to investigate gene functions, a few studies revealed vital functions for chitinases for growth and development of insects. Zhu et al. reported lethal effects for the injection of the group I chitinase TcCHT5, the group II chitinase TcCHT10, and the group V IDGF protein TcIDGF4, whereas the injection of dsRNA for the group III chitinase TcCHT7 resulted in severe wing and elytral abnormalities [55]. Similar results were obtained when dsRNA specific for a group I and a group IV chitinase from the beet armyworm Spodoptera exigua was injected into pupae of this lepidopteran pest [145]. The injection of dsRNA specific for either chitinase led to a significant reduction in survival rates. Although the injection of dsRNA specific for the group I chitinase led to molting defects, that for the group IV chitinase prevented adult eclosion. Using a feeding-based RNAi approach, Khajuria et al. were successful in reducing transcript levels for a group IV chitinase in the European corn borer, Ostrinia nubilalis, which is predominantly detected in midgut of wild-type larvae [146]. In response to RNAi-mediated knock-down of transcript levels, the chitin content in the PM was slightly increased and larval growth was significantly impaired compared with control larvae. These findings indicate that the examined group IV chitinase is required for proper PM formation. If this function is disturbed, growth and development of the O. nubilalis larvae are negatively affected. As documented by the latter example, the knockdown of transcripts was accomplished by feeding dsRNA to larval pests. This approach raises the possibility of directly spraying stabilized dsRNA formulation on host plants to silence the expression of vital genes in herbivorous insect pests. However, the stability of the dsRNA as well as the cost efficiency in synthesizing such dsRNA-based insecticides may be problematic. The expression of corresponding dsRNAs in transgenic plants, however, may be more promising, as this approach has been shown to provide protection against various pests [147].



Fig. 4 Potential use of insect chitinases as biopesticides and targets for RNA interference, inhibitor- and antibody-based strategies of pest control

6 Conclusions

During the past decades, knowledge about the structure and function of insect GH18 chitinases has significantly increased. Next to the insights gained into their phylogenetic relationships, regulation, and working modes, significant progress has been made in understanding their distinctive physiological roles within different insect tissues. It became evident that chitinases are involved in a variety of physiological processes including molting, digestion, cell proliferation, and immune responses. Because of the inhibitory effects on the growth and development of fungi, parasites, and insects, chitinases from predominantly noninsect sources have been established as biopesticides and transgenes in crop protection, and as antigens for vaccination programs in animal and human health. Insect chitinases, however, may be considered as a largely unexploited resource for various applications in insect biotechnology due to their biochemical diversity resulting from evolutionary adaptations (Fig. 4). Improved understanding of their structure and biochemistry will accelerate their usage in biotechnological processes. Applications will include also recombinant insect chitinases that are expressed in heterologous systems and genetically optimized for bioprocessing industries.

Acknowledgments I thank Dr. Subbaratnam Muthukrishnan and Marco Kelkenberg for critical reading and editing of this manuscript. This work was supported by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (Me2210/2-2).

References

- 1. Merzendorfer H (2006) Insect chitin synthases: a review. J Comp Physiol B 176:1-15
- Esseling JJ, Emons AMC (2004) Dissection of Nod factor signalling in legumes: cell biology, mutants and pharmacological approaches. J Microscopy 214:104–113
- 3. Das S, Van Dellen K, Bulik D, Magnelli P, Cui J, Head J, Robbins PW, Samuelson J (2006) The cyst wall of *Entamoeba invadens* contains chitosan (deacetylated chitin). Mol Biochem Parasitol 148:86–92
- Ehrlich H, Krautter M, Hanke T, Simon P, Knieb C, Heinemann S, Worch H (2007) First evidence of the presence of chitin in skeletons of marine sponges. Part II. Glass sponges (Hexactinellida: Porifera). J Exp Zool B 308:473–483
- Ehrlich H, Maldonado M, Spindler KD, Eckert C, Hanke T, Born R, Goebel C, Simon P, Heinemann S, Worch H (2007) First evidence of chitin as a component of the skeletal fibers of marine sponges. Part I. Verongidae (Demospongia: Porifera). J Exp Zool B 308:347–356
- Ruiz-Herrera J, Ortiz-Castellanos L (2010) Analysis of the phylogenetic relationships and evolution of the cell walls from yeasts and fungi. FEMS Yeast Res 10:225–243
- 7. Roncero C (2002) The genetic complexity of chitin synthesis in fungi. Curr Genet 41:367–378
- Zhang Y, Foster JM, Nelson LS, Ma D, Carlow CKS (2005) The chitin synthase genes *chs-1* and *chs-2* are essential for *C. elegans* development and responsible for chitin deposition in the eggshell and pharynx, respectively. Dev Biol 285:330–339
- Weiss IM, Schonitzer V, Eichner N, Sumper M (2006) The chitin synthase involved in marine bivalve mollusk shell formation contains a myosin domain. FEBS Lett 580:1846–1852
- Peters W, Latka I (1986) Electron microscopic localization of chitin using colloidal gold labelled with wheat germ agglutinin. Histochem 84:155–160
- 11. Hunt S, El Sherief A (1990) A periodic structure in the 'pen' chitin of the squid *Loligo* vulgaris. Tissue Cell 22:191–197
- 12. Anno K, Otsuka K, Seno N (1974) A chitin sulfate-like polysaccharide from the test of the tunicate *Halocynthia roretzi*. Biochim Biophys Acta 362:215–219
- 13. Wagner GP, Lo J, Laine R, Almeder M (1993) Chitin in the epidermal cuticle of a vertebrate (*Paralipophrys trigloides*, Blenniidae, Teleostei). Exp 49:317–319
- 14. Hirano S (1996) Chitin biotechnology applications. Biotech Ann Rev 2:237-258
- 15. Muzzarelli RA (1999) Native, industrial and fossil chitins. Exs 87:1-6
- Schrempf H (2001) Recognition and degradation of chitin by streptomycetes. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 79:285–289
- 17. Kasprzewska A (2003) Plant chitinases—regulation and function. Cell Mol Biol Lett 8:809–824
- Rottloff S, Stieber R, Maischak H, Turini FG, Heubl G, Mithofer A (2011) Functional characterization of a class III acid endochitinase from the traps of the carnivorous pitcher plant genus, *Nepenthes*. J Exp Bot 62:4639–4647
- Eilenberg H, Pnini-Cohen S, Schuster S, Movtchan A, Zilberstein A (2006) Isolation and characterization of chitinase genes from pitchers of the carnivorous plant *Nepenthes khasiana*. J Exp Bot 57:2775–2784
- 20. Lee CG, Da Silva CA, Dela Cruz CS, Ahangari F, Ma B, Kang M-J, He C-H, Takyar S, Elias JA (2011) Role of chitin and chitinase/chitinase-like proteins in inflammation, tissue remodeling, and injury. Ann Rev Physiol 73:479–501
- Merzendorfer H, Zimoch L (2003) Chitin metabolism in insects: structure, function and regulation of chitin synthases and chitinases. J Exp Biol 206:4393–4412
- 22. Cantarel BL, Coutinho PM, Rancurel C, Bernard T, Lombard V, Henrissat B (2009) The Carbohydrate-Active EnZymes database (CAZy): an expert resource for glycogenomics. Nucleic Acids Res 37:D233–D238

- 23. Funkhouser JD, Aronson NN Jr (2007) Chitinase family GH18: evolutionary insights from the genomic history of a diverse protein family. BMC Evol Biol 7:96
- 24. Brameld KA, Shrader WD, Imperiali B, Goddard WA (1998) Substrate assistance in the mechanism of family 18 chitinases: theoretical studies of potential intermediates and inhibitors. J Mol Biol 280:913–923
- Arakane Y, Muthukrishnan S (2010) Insect chitinase and chitinase-like proteins. Cell Mol Life Sci 67:201–216
- 26. Nakabachi A, Shigenobu S, Miyagishima S (2010) Chitinase-like proteins encoded in the genome of the pea aphid, *Acyrthosiphon pisum*. Insect Mol Biol 19:175–185
- 27. Zhang J, Zhang X, Arakane Y, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ, Ma E, Zhu KY (2011) Identification and characterization of a novel chitinase-like gene cluster (AgCht5) possibly derived from tandem duplications in the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 41:521–528
- 28. Lu Y, Zen KC, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ (2002) Site-directed mutagenesis and functional analysis of active site acidic amino acid residues D142, D144 and E146 in *Manduca sexta* (tobacco hornworm) chitinase. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 32:1369–1382
- Noh MY, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ, Beeman RW, Arakane Y (2011) Why a membraneanchored chitinase (CHT7) in *Tribolium*? Entomol Res 41:298
- 30. Zhu Q, Arakane Y, Beeman RW, Kramer KJ, Muthukrishnan S (2008) Characterization of recombinant chitinase-like proteins of *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Tribolium castaneum*. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 38:467–477
- 31. Kawamura K, Shibata T, Saget O, Peel D, Bryant PJ (1999) A new family of growth factors produced by the fat body and active on *Drosophila* imaginal disc cells. Development 126:211–219
- 32. Terwisscha van Scheltinga AC, Kalk KH, Beintema JJ, Dijkstra BW (1994) Crystal structures of hevamine, a plant defence protein with chitinase and lysozyme activity, and its complex with an inhibitor. Structure 2:1181–1189
- Hart PJ, Pfluger HD, Monzingo AF, Hollis T, Robertus JD (1995) The refined crystal structure of an endochitinase from *Hordeum vulgare* L. seeds at 1.8 A resolution. J Mol Biol 248:402–413
- 34. Perrakis A, Tews I, Dauter Z, Oppenheim AB, Chet I, Wilson KS, Vorgias CE (1994) Crystal structure of a bacterial chitinase at 2.3 A resolution. Structure 2:1169–1180
- 35. Rao FV, Houston DR, Boot RG, Aerts JM, Sakuda S, Van Aalten DM (2003) Crystal structures of allosamidin derivatives in complex with human macrophage chitinase. J Biol Chem 14:20110–20116
- 36. Ubhayasekera W, Rawat R, Ho S, Wiweger M, Von Arnold S, Chye M-L, Mowbray S (2009) The first crystal structures of a family 19 class IV chitinase: the enzyme from Norway spruce. Plant Mol Biol 71:277–289
- Varela PF, Llera AS, Mariuzza RA, Tormo J (2002) Crystal structure of imaginal disc growth factor-2. A member of a new family of growth-promoting glycoproteins from *Drosophila melanogaster*. J Biol Chem 277:13229–13236
- Zhu Q, Arakane Y, Beeman RW, Kramer KJ, Muthukrishnan S (2008) Characterization of recombinant chitinase-like proteins of *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Tribolium castaneum*. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 38:467–477
- 39. Huang X, Zhang H, Zen KC, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ (2000) Homology modeling of the insect chitinase catalytic domain—oligosaccharide complex and the role of a putative active site tryptophan in catalysis. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 30:107–117
- 40. Jasrapuria S, Arakane Y, Osman G, Kramer KJ, Beeman RW, Muthukrishnan S (2010) Genes encoding proteins with peritrophin A-type chitin-binding domains in *Tribolium castaneum* are grouped into three distinct families based on phylogeny, expression and function. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 40:214–227
- Suetake T, Tsuda S, Kawabata S, Miura K, Iwanaga S, Hikichi K, Nitta K, Kawano K (2000) Chitin-binding proteins in invertebrates and plants comprise a common chitinbinding structural motif. J Biol Chem 275:17929–17932

- 42. Asensio JL, Canada FJ, Bruix M, Gonzalez C, Khiar N, Rodriguez-Romero A, Jimenez-Barbero J (1998) NMR investigations of protein-carbohydrate interactions: refined threedimensional structure of the complex between hevein and methyl beta-chitobioside. Glycobiol 8:569–577
- Tellam RL, Wijffels G, Willadsen P (1999) Peritrophic matrix proteins. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 29:87–101
- 44. Arakane Y, Zhu Q, Matsumiya M, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ (2003) Properties of catalytic, linker and chitin-binding domains of insect chitinase. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 33:631–648
- 45. Tran DT, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Tian E, Earl LA, Ten Hagen KG (2012) Multiple members of the UDP-GalNAc: polypeptide *N*-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase family are essential for viability in *Drosophila*. J Biol Chem 287:5243–5252
- 46. Abdel-Banat BM, Zhou W, Karasuda S, Koga D (2002) Analysis of hydrolytic activity of a 65-kDa chitinase from the silkworm, *Bombyx mori*. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 66:1119–1122
- 47. Hawtin RE, Zarkowska T, Arnold K, Thomas CJ, Gooday GW, King LA, Kuzio JA, Possee RD (1997) Liquefaction of *Autographa californica* nucleopolyhedrovirus-infected insects is dependent on the integrity of virus-encoded chitinase and cathepsin genes. Virology 238:243–253
- 48. Fukamizo T, Sato H, Mizuhara M, Ohnuma T, Gotoh T, Hiwatashi K, Takahashi S (2011) Chitinase from *Autographa californica* multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus: rapid purification from *Sf*-9 medium and mode of action. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 75:1763–1769
- 49. Ly HD, Withers SG (1999) Mutagenesis of glycosidases. Annu Rev Biochem 68:487-522
- Lee H-W, Park Y-S, Jung J-S, Shin W-S (2002) Chitosan oligosaccharides, dp 2–8, have prebiotic effect on the *Bifidobacterium bifidium* and *Lactobacillus* sp. Anaerobe 8:319–324
- Shen K-T, Chen M-H, Chan H-Y, Jeng J-H, Wang Y-J (2009) Inhibitory effects of chitooligosaccharides on tumor growth and metastasis. Food Chem Toxicol 47:1864–1871
- Donnelly LE, Barnes PJ (2004) Acidic mammalian chitinase—a potential target for asthma therapy. Trends Pharmacol Sci 25:509–511
- 53. dos Santos ALW, El Gueddari NE, Trombotto Sp, Moerschbacher BM (2008) Partially acetylated chitosan oligo- and polymers induce an oxidative burst in suspension cultured cells of the gymnosperm *Araucaria angustifolia*. Biomacromol 9:3411–3415
- 54. Zhang J, Zhang X, Arakane Y, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ, Ma E, Zhu KY (2011) Comparative genomic analysis of chitinase and chitinase-like genes in the African malaria mosquito (*Anopheles gambiae*). PLoS One 6:e19899
- 55. Zhu Q, Arakane Y, Beeman RW, Kramer KJ, Muthukrishnan S (2008) Functional specialization among insect chitinase family genes revealed by RNA interference. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:6650–6655
- 56. Fukamizo T, Kramer KJ (1987) Effect of 20-hydroxyecdysone on chitinase and β -*N*-acetylglucosaminidase during the larval-pupal transformation of *Manduca sexta* (L.). Insect Biochem 17:547–550
- 57. Koga D, Funakoshi T, Fujimoto H, Kuwano E, Eto M, Ide A (1991) Effects of 20hydroxyecdysone and KK-42 on chitinase and β -N-acetylglucosaminidase during the larvalpupal transformation of *Bombyx mori*. Insect Biochem 21:277–284
- 58. Kramer KJ, Corpuz L, Choi HK, Muthukrishnan S (1993) Sequence of a cDNA and expression of the gene encoding epidermal and gut chitinases of *Manduca sexta*. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 23:691–701
- 59. Takahashi M, Kiuchi M, Kamimura M (2002) A new chitinase-related gene, *BmChiR1*, is induced in the *Bombyx mori* anterior silk gland at molt and metamorphosis by ecdysteroid. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 32:147–151
- 60. Zheng YP, Retnakaran A, Krell PJ, Arif BM, Primavera M, Feng QL (2003) Temporal, spatial and induced expression of chitinase in the spruce budworm, *Choristoneura fumiferana*. J Insect Physiol 49:241–247

- 61. Royer V, Fraichard S, Bouhin H (2002) A novel putative insect chitinase with multiple catalytic domains: hormonal regulation during metamorphosis. Biochem J 366:921–928
- 62. Priya TA, Li F, Zhang J, Wang B, Zhao C, Xiang J (2009) Molecular characterization and effect of RNA interference of retinoid X receptor (RXR) on E75 and chitinase gene expression in Chinese shrimp *Fenneropenaeus chinensis*. Comp Biochem Physiol B 153:121–129
- Hegedus D, Erlandson M, Gillott C, Toprak U (2009) New insights into peritrophic matrix synthesis, architecture, and function. Annu Rev Entomol 54:285–302
- 64. Samuels R, Reynolds SE (1993) Moulting fluid enzymes of the tobacco hornworm, *Manduca sexta*: timing of proteolytic and chitinolytic activity in relation to pre-ecdysial development. Arch Insect Biochem Physiol 24:33–44
- 65. Chaudhari SS, Arakane Y, Specht CA, Moussian B, Boyle DL, Park Y, Kramer KJ, Beeman RW, Muthukrishnan S (2011) Knickkopf protein protects and organizes chitin in the newly synthesized insect exoskeleton. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:17028–17033
- 66. Yan J, Cheng Q, Narashimhan S, Li CB, Aksoy S (2002) Cloning and functional expression of a fat body-specific chitinase cDNA from the tsetse fly, *Glossina morsitans* morsitans. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 32:979–989
- 67. Zhang J, Iwai S, Tsugehara T, Takeda M (2006) MbIDGF, a novel member of the imaginal disc growth factor family in *Mamestra brassicae*, stimulates cell proliferation in two lepidopteran cell lines without insulin. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 36:536–546
- Shi L, Paskewitz SM (2004) Identification and molecular characterization of two immuneresponsive chitinase-like proteins from *Anopheles gambiae*. Insect Mol Biol 13:387–398
- 69. Fujita T, Kozuka-Hata H, Uno Y, Nishikori K, Morioka M, Oyama M, Kubo T (2010) Functional analysis of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.) salivary system using proteomics. Biochem Biophys Res Comm 397:740–744
- Andersen OA, Dixon MJ, Eggleston IM, van Aalten DM (2005) Natural product family 18 chitinase inhibitors. Nat Prod Rep 22:563–579
- Sakuda S, Isogai A, Matsumoto S, Suzuki A (1987) Search for microbial insect growth regulators. II. Allosamidin, a novel insect chitinase inhibitor. J Antibiot 40:296–300
- Blattner R, Furneaux RH, Lynch GP (1996) Synthesis of allosamidin analogues. Carbohydr Res 294:29–39
- 73. Francis F, Saguez J, Cherqui A, Vandermoten S, Vincent C, Versali M-F, Dommès J, De Pauw E, Giordanengo P, Haubruge E (2012) Purification and characterisation of a 31-kDa chitinase from the *Myzus persicae* aphid: a target for hemiptera biocontrol. Appl Biochem Biotech 166:1291–1300
- 74. Koga D, Isogai A, Sakuda S, Matsumoto S, Suzuki A (1987) Specific inhibition of *Bombyx mori* chitinase by allosamidin. Agric Biol Chem 51:471–476
- Blattner R, Gerard PJ, Spindler-Barth M (1997) Synthesis and biological activity of allosamidin and allosamidin analogues. Pestic Sci 50:312–318
- Pimenta PF, Modi GB, Pereira ST, Shahabuddin M, Sacks DL (1997) A novel role for the peritrophic matrix in protecting *Leishmania* from the hydrolytic activities of the sand fly midgut. Parasitol 115:359–369
- 77. Filho BPD, Lemos FJA, Secundino NFC, Páscoa V, Pereira ST, Pimenta PFP (2002) Presence of chitinase and beta-*N*-acetylglucosaminidase in the *Aedes aegypti*: a chitinolytic system involving peritrophic matrix formation and degradation. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 32:1723–1729
- Shahabuddin M, Toyoshima T, Aikawa M, Kaslow DC (1993) Transmission-blocking activity of a chitinase inhibitor and activation of malarial parasite chitinase by mosquito protease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:4266–4270
- 79. Tsai YL, Hayward RE, Langer RC, Fidock DA, Vinetz JM (2001) Disruption of *Plasmodium falciparum* chitinase markedly impairs parasite invasion of mosquito midgut. Infect Immun 69:4048–4054
- Spindler-Barth M, Blattner R, Vorgias CE, Spindler KD (1998) Inhibition of two family 18 chitinases by various allosamidin derivatives. Pestic Sci 52:47–52

- 81. Dussouy C, Bultel L, Saguez J, Cherqui A, Khelifa M, Grand E, Giordanengo P, Kovensky J (2012) Strong aphicidal activity of GlcNAc($\beta 1 \rightarrow 4$)Glc disaccharides: synthesis, physiological effects, and chitinase inhibition. Chemistry 18:10021–10028
- 82. Arai N, Shiomi K, Yamaguchi Y, Masuma R, Iwai Y, Turberg A, Kolbl H, Omura S (2000) Argadin, a new chitinase inhibitor, produced by Clonostachys sp. FO-7314. Chem Pharm Bull 48:1442–1446
- Omura S, Arai N, Yamaguchi Y, Masuma R, Iwai Y, Namikoshi M, Turberg A, Kolbl H, Shiomi K (2000) Argifin, a new chitinase inhibitor, produced by *Gliocladium* sp. FTD-0668. I. Taxonomy, fermentation, and biological activities. J Antibiot 53:603–608
- Hartl L, Zach S, Seidl-Seiboth V (2012) Fungal chitinases: diversity, mechanistic properties and biotechnological potential. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93:533–543
- Houston DR, Shiomi K, Arai N, Omura S, Peter MG, Turberg A, Synstad B, Eijsink VG, van Aalten DM (2002) High-resolution structures of a chitinase complexed with natural product cyclopentapeptide inhibitors: mimicry of carbohydrate substrate. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:9127–9132
- Rush CL, Schuttelkopf AW, Hurtado-Guerrero R, Blair DE, Ibrahim AF, Desvergnes S, Eggleston IM, van Aalten DM (2010) Natural product-guided discovery of a fungal chitinase inhibitor. Chem Biol 17:1275–1281
- Houston DR, Eggleston I, Synstad B, Eijsink VG, van Aalten DM (2002) The cyclic dipeptide CI-4 [cyclo-(l-Arg-d-Pro)] inhibits family 18 chitinases by structural mimicry of a reaction intermediate. Biochem J 368:23–27
- Izumida H, Imamura N, Sano H (1996) A novel chitinase inhibitor from a marine bacterium, Pseudomonas sp. J Antibiot 49:76–80
- Rao FV, Andersen OA, Vora KA, Demartino JA, van Aalten DM (2005) Methylxanthine drugs are chitinase inhibitors: investigation of inhibition and binding modes. Chem Biol 12:973–980
- Schuttelkopf AW, Andersen OA, Rao FV, Allwood M, Lloyd C, Eggleston IM, van Aalten DM (2006) Screening-based discovery and structural dissection of a novel family 18 chitinase inhibitor. J Biol Chem 281:27278–27285
- 91. Shahabuddin M (1998) *Plasmodium* ookinete development in the mosquito midgut: a case of reciprocal manipulation. Parasitol 116:S83–S93
- 92. Langer RC, Vinetz JM (2001) *Plasmodium* ookinete-secreted chitinase and parasite penetration of the mosquito peritrophic matrix. Trends Parasitol 17:269–272
- 93. Dessens JT, Mendoza J, Claudianos C, Vinetz JM, Khater E, Hassard S, Ranawaka GR, Sinden RE (2001) Knockout of the rodent malaria parasite chitinase pbCHT1 reduces infectivity to mosquitoes. Infection and immunity 69:4041–4047
- 94. Langer RC, Li F, Popov V, Kurosky A, Vinetz JM (2002) Monoclonal antibody against the *Plasmodium falciparum* chitinase, PfCHT1, recognizes a malaria transmission-blocking epitope in *Plasmodium gallinaceum* ookinetes unrelated to the chitinase PgCHT1. Infect Immun 70:1581–1590
- 95. Li F, Templeton TJ, Popov V, Comer JE, Tsuboi T, Torii M, Vinetz JM (2004) *Plasmodium* ookinete-secreted proteins secreted through a common micronemal pathway are targets of blocking malaria transmission. J Biol Chem 279:26635–26644
- 96. Li F, Patra KP, Vinetz JM (2005) An anti-Chitinase malaria transmission-blocking singlechain antibody as an effector molecule for creating a *Plasmodium falciparum*-refractory mosquito. J Infect Dis 192:878–887
- 97. Isaacs AT, Jasinskiene N, Tretiakov M, Thiery I, Zettor A, Bourgouin C, James AA (2012) Transgenic Anopheles stephensi coexpressing single-chain antibodies resist Plasmodium falciparum development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:E1922–E1930
- Fuhrman JA, Lane WS, Smith RF, Piessens WF, Perler FB (1992) Transmission-blocking antibodies recognize microfilarial chitinase in brugian lymphatic filariasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:1548–1552

- 99. Chandler D, Bailey AS, Tatchell GM, Davidson G, Greaves J, Grant WP (2011) The development, regulation and use of biopesticides for integrated pest management. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 366:1987–1998
- 100. Toprak U, Harris S, Baldwin D, Theilmann D, Gillott C, Hegedus DD, Erlandson MA (2012) Role of enhancin in *Mamestra configurata* nucleopolyhedrovirus virulence: selective degradation of host peritrophic matrix proteins. J Gen Virol 93:744–753
- 101. Hawtin RE, Arnold K, Ayres MD, Zanotto PM, Howard SC, Gooday GW, Chappell LH, Kitts PA, King LA, Possee RD (1995) Identification and preliminary characterization of a chitinase gene in the *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus genome. Virology 212:673–685
- 102. Shinoda T, Kobayashi J, Matsui M, Chinzei Y (2001) Cloning and functional expression of a chitinase cDNA from the common cutworm, *Spodoptera litura*, using a recombinant baculovirus lacking the virus-encoded chitinase gene. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 31:521–532
- 103. Zhang CX, Wu JC (2001) Genome structure and the *p10* gene of the *Helicoverpa armigera* Nucleopolyhedrovirus. Acta Biochim Biophys Sinica 33:179–184
- 104. Huang YJ, Kobayashi J, Yoshimura T (2002) Genome mapping and gene analysis of Antheraea pernyi nucleopolyhedrovirus for improvement of baculovirus expression vector system. J Biosci Bioeng 93:183–191
- 105. Young VL, Simpson RM, Ward VK (2005) Characterization of an exochitinase from *Epiphyas postvittana* nucleopolyhedrovirus (family Baculoviridae). J Gen Virol 86:3253–3261
- 106. Ahrens CH, Russell RLQ, Funk CJ, Evans JT, Harwood SH, Rohrmann GF (1997) The sequence of the Orgyia pseudotsugata multinucleocapsid nuclear polyhedrosis virus genome. Virology 229:381–399
- 107. Gomi S, Majima K, Maeda S (1999) Sequence analysis of the genome of *Bombyx mori* nucleopolyhedrovirus. J Gen Virol 80:1323–1337
- Lange M, Jehle JA (2003) The genome of the Cryptophlebia leucotreta granulovirus. Virology 317:220–236
- 109. Hodgson JJ, Arif BM, Krell PJ (2011) Interaction of *Autographa californica* multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus cathepsin protease progenitor (proV-CATH) with insect baculovirus chitinase as a mechanism for proV-CATH cellular retention. J Virol 85:3918–3929
- 110. Thomas CJ, Gooday GW, King LA, Possee RD (2000) Mutagenesis of the active site coding region of the Autographa californica nucleopolyhedrovirus chiA gene. J Gen Virol 81:1403–1411
- 111. Thomas CJ, Brown HL, Hawes CR, Lee BY, Min MK, King LA, Possee RD (1998) Localization of a baculovirus-induced chitinase in the insect cell endoplasmic reticulum. J Virol 72:10207–10212
- 112. Saville GP, Patmanidi AL, Possee RD, King LA (2004) Deletion of the *Autographa californica* nucleopolyhedrovirus chitinase KDEL motif and in vitro and in vivo analysis of the modified virus. J Gen Virol 85:821–831
- 113. Rao R, Fiandra L, Giordana B, de Eguileor M, Congiu T, Burlini N, Arciello S, Corrado G, Pennacchio F (2004) AcMNPV ChiA protein disrupts the peritrophic membrane and alters midgut physiology of *Bombyx mori* larvae. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 34:1205–1213
- 114. Hodgson JJ, Arif BM, Krell PJ (2007) Reprogramming the *chiA* expression profile of *Autographa californica* multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus. J Gen Virol 88:2479–2487
- 115. Sanahuja G, Banakar R, Twyman RM, Capell T, Christou P (2011) Bacillus thuringiensis: a century of research, development and commercial applications. Plant Biotechnol J 9:283–300
- 116. Smirnoff WA (1977) Confirmation experimentales du potentiel du complexe *Bacillus thuringiensis* chitinase pour la repression de la tordeuse des bourgeons de espirette *Choristoneura fuminerana*. Can Entomol 109:351–358
- 117. Sneh B, Schuster S, Gross S (1983) Improvement of the insecticidal activity of *Bacillus* thuringiensis var. entomocidus on larvae of *Spodoptera littoralis* (Lepidoptera, Noctuidae)

by addition of chitinolytic bacteria, a phagostimulant and a UV-protectant. Z Angew Entomol 96:77-83

- 118. Regev A, Keller M, Strizhov N, Sneh B, Prudovsky E, Chet I, Ginzberg I, Koncz-Kalman Z, Koncz C, Schell J, Zilberstein A (1996) Synergistic activity of a *Bacillus thuringiensis* delta-endotoxin and a bacterial endochitinase against *Spodoptera littoralis* larvae. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:3581–3586
- 119. Ding X, Luo Z, Xia L, Gao B, Sun Y, Zhang Y (2008) Improving the insecticidal activity by expression of a recombinant *cry1Ac* gene with chitinase-encoding gene in acrystalliferous *Bacillus thuringiensis*. Curr Microbiol 56:442–446
- 120. Driss F, Rouis S, Azzouz H, Tounsi S, Zouari N, Jaoua S (2011) Integration of a recombinant chitinase into *Bacillus thuringiensis* parasporal insecticidal crystal. Curr Microbiol 62:281–288
- 121. Boldo JT, Junges A, do Amaral KB, Staats CC, Vainstein MH, Schrank A (2009) Endochitinase CHI2 of the biocontrol fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae* affects its virulence toward the cotton stainer bug *Dysdercus peruvianus*. Curr Genet 55:551–560
- 122. Li YY, Tang J, Fu KH, Gao SG, Wu Q, Chen J (2012) Construction of transgenic *Trichoderma koningi* with chit42 of *Metarhizium anisopliae* and analysis of its activity against the Asian corn borer. J Environm Sci Health B 47:622–630
- 123. Araujo AP, Telleria EL, Dutra Jda M, Julio RM, Traub-Cseko YM (2012) Disruption of the peritrophic matrix by exogenous chitinase feeding reduces fecundity in *Lutzomyia longipalpis* females. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 107:543–545
- 124. Gopalakrishnan B, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ (1995) Baculovirus-mediated expression of a *Manduca sexta* chitinase gene: Properties of the recombinant protein. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 25:255–265
- 125. Assenga SP, You M, Shy CH, Yamagishi J, Sakaguchi T, Zhou J, Kibe MK, Xuan X, Fujisaki K (2006) The use of a recombinant baculovirus expressing a chitinase from the hard tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* and its potential application as a bioacaricide for tick control. Parasitol Res 98:111–118
- 126. You M, Fujisaki K (2009) Vaccination effects of recombinant chitinase protein from the hard tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* (Acari: Ixodidae). J Vet Med Sci 71:709–712
- 127. Coutinho-Abreu IV, Sharma NK, Robles-Murguia M, Ramalho-Ortigao M (2010) Targeting the midgut secreted PpChit1 reduces *Leishmania major* development in its natural vector, the sand fly *Phlebotomus papatasi*. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 4:e901
- 128. Ramalho-Ortigão JM, Traub-Csekö YM (2003) Molecular characterization of Llchit1, a midgut chitinase cDNA from the leishmaniasis vector *Lutzomyia longipalpis*. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 33:279–287
- 129. Fitches E, Wilkinson H, Bell H, Bown DP, Gatehouse JA, Edwards JP (2004) Cloning, expression and functional characterisation of chitinase from larvae of tomato moth (*Lacanobia oleracea*): a demonstration of the insecticidal activity of insect chitinase. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 34:1037–1050
- Paek A, Park H, Jeong S (2012) Molecular cloning and functional expression of chitinaseencoding cDNA from the cabbage moth, *Mamestra brassicae*. Molec Cells 33:439–447
- 131. Pan Y, Chen K, Xia H, Yao Q, Gao L, Lu P, Huojuan He Y, Wang L (2010) Molecular cloning, expression and characterization of BmIDGF gene from *Bombyx mori*. Z Naturforsch C 65:277–283
- 132. Hao C-j, Chai B-f, Wang W, Sun Y, Liang A-h (2005) Polyclonal antibody against Manduca sexta chitinase and detection of chitinase expressed in transgenic cotton. Biotech Lett 27:97–102
- 133. Zhu X, Zhang H, Fukamizo T, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ (2001) Properties of *Manduca* sexta chitinase and its C-terminal deletions. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 31:1221–1230
- 134. Antony Ceasar S, Ignacimuthu S (2012) Genetic engineering of crop plants for fungal resistance: role of antifungal genes. Biotech Lett 34:995–1002

- 135. Liu S, Li H, Sivakumar S, Bonning BC (2006) Virus-derived genes for insect-resistant transgenic plants. In: Bryony C, Bonning KM, Aaron JS (eds) Advances in Virus Research, vol 68. Academic Press, pp 427–457
- 136. Herrera-Estrella A, Chet I (1999) Chitinases in biological control. Exs 87:171-184
- 137. Broadway RM, Gongora C, Kain WC, Sanderson JP, Monroy JA, Bennett KC, Warner JB, Hoffmann MP (1998) Novel chitinolytic enzymes with biological activity against herbivorous insects. J Chem Ecol 24:985–998
- 138. Ding X, Gopalakrishnan B, Johnson LB, White FF, Wang X, Morgan TD, Kramer KJ, Muthukrishnan S (1998) Insect resistance of transgenic tobacco expressing an insect chitinase gene. Transgenic Res 7:77–84
- 139. Wang X, Ding X, Gopalakrishnan B, Morgan TD, Johnson L, White F, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ (1996) Characterization of a 46 kDa insect chitinase from transgenic tobacco. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 26:1055–1064
- 140. Wang J, Chen Z, Du J, Sun Y, Liang A (2005) Novel insect resistance in *Brassica napus* developed by transformation of chitinase and scorpion toxin genes. Plant Cell Rep 24:549–555
- 141. McCafferty H, Moore P, Zhu Y (2006) Improved carica papaya tolerance to carmine spider mite by the expression of *Manduca sexta* chitinase transgene. Transgenic Res 15:337–347
- 142. Shi J, Thomas CJ, King LA, Hawes CR, Possee RD, Edwards ML, Pallett D, Cooper JI (2000) The expression of a baculovirus-derived chitinase gene increased resistance of tobacco cultivars to brown spot (*Alternaria alternata*). Ann Appl Biol 136:1–8
- 143. Corrado G, Arciello S, Fanti P, Fiandra L, Garonna A, Digilio MC, Lorito M, Giordana B, Pennacchio F, Rao R (2008) The chitinase A from the baculovirus AcMNPV enhances resistance to both fungi and herbivorous pests in tobacco. Transgenic Res 17:557–571
- 144. Saguez J, Hainez R, Cherqui A, Van Wuytswinkel O, Jeanpierre H, Lebon G, Noiraud N, Beaujean A, Jouanin L, Laberche JC, Vincent C, Giordanengo P (2005) Unexpected effects of chitinases on the peach-potato aphid (*Myzus persicae* Sulzer) when delivered via transgenic potato plants (*Solanum tuberosum* Linne) and in vitro. Transgenic Res 14:57–67
- 145. Zhang D, Chen J, Yao Q, Pan Z, Zhang W (2012) Functional analysis of two chitinase genes during the pupation and eclosion stages of the beet armyworm *Spodoptera exigua* by RNA interference. Arch Insect Biochem Physiol 79:220–234
- 146. Khajuria C, Buschman LL, Chen M-S, Muthukrishnan S, Zhu KY (2010) A gut-specific chitinase gene essential for regulation of chitin content of peritrophic matrix and growth of *Ostrinia nubilalis* larvae. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 40:621–629
- 147. Price DR, Gatehouse JA (2008) RNAi-mediated crop protection against insects. Trends Biotech 26:393–400

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 51–64 DOI: 10.1007/10_2013_206 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Published Online: 2 June 2013

Cellulases from Insects

Rainer Fischer, Raluca Ostafe and Richard M. Twyman

Abstract Bioethanol is currently produced by the fermentation of sugary and starchy crops, but waste plant biomass is a more abundant source because sugars can be derived directly from cellulose. One of the limiting steps in the biomass-to-ethanol process is the degradation of cellulose to fermentable sugars (saccharification). This currently relies on the use of bacterial and/or fungal cellulases, which tend to have low activity under biorefinery conditions and are easily inhibited. Some insect species feed on plant biomass and can efficiently degrade cellulose to produce glucose as an energy source. Although insects were initially thought to require symbiotic relationships with bacteria and fungi to break down cellulose, several species in the orders Dictyoptera, Orthoptera, and Coleoptera have now been shown to produce their own cellulases in the midgut or salivary glands, and putative cellulase genes have been identified in other orders. Insect cellulases often work in concert with cellulases provided by symbiotic microbiota in the gut to achieve efficient cellulolysis. We discuss the current status of insect cellulases and potential strategies that could be used to find novel enzymes and improve their efficiency.

Keywords Biofuels · Cellulase · Cellulose · Ethanol · Insects · Saccharification

Abbreviations

CMC carboxymethylcellulose GH glycoside hydrolase

Contents

1	Ethanol from Cellulose	52
2	Cellulases	53

R. Fischer (⊠) · R. Ostafe Fraunhofer IME, Aachen, Germany e-mail: fischer@molbiotech.rwth-aachen.de

R. M. Twyman TRM Ltd, York, UK

	2.1 Classification and Activity	- 53
	2.2 Microbial Sources of Cellulase	53
	2.3 Insect Sources of Cellulase	54
3	Evolution of Insect Cellulase Genes	54
4	Screening for Insect Cellulase Genes	57
5	Strategies for the Improvement of Insect Cellulases	58
6	Potential Industrial Applications of Insect Cellulases	59
Re	ferences	61

1 Ethanol from Cellulose

Ethanol is the most widely used biofuel in the world. It is produced mainly using first-generation processes; that is, by the fermentation of sugar and starch derived directly from crops such as wheat, corn, sugar beet, sugar cane, molasses and fruits/vegetables. This generates only a small positive energy yield when the energy input costs are balanced against the energy value of the resulting fuel [1, 2]. However, ethanol can also be produced indirectly from these and other crops by using the waste biomass (e.g., corn stover) if the lignocellulose can also be converted into sugars [3]. Such second-generation biofuels have a large positive energy yield when energy inputs and the energy value of the resulting fuel are balanced. For example, second-generation ethanol from corn stover has 10 times the fossil energy ratio of ethanol derived from corn starch [1, 2].

Cellulosic ethanol can be produced from almost any plant biomass, but favorable sources include wood chips, corn stover, grasses such as switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) and *Miscanthus* spp., garden clippings, and food waste. Lignocellulose as a raw material is thus abundant, widely distributed, often free, and readily replenished and sustainable because plants produce lignocellulose by first converting CO_2 into sugars and then into polymers using the energy from sunlight. However, the production of ethanol from cellulose requires a greater amount of processing than first-generation biofuels fermented directly from starch and sugars. Specifically, the bottlenecks are the reduction of biomass to particles small enough to make enzymatic conversion efficient (i.e., comminution) followed by the conversion of lignocellulose into sugars ready for fermentation (i.e., saccharification) [4]. The tight packing of cellulose fibers makes this an energy-intensive process, although it can be achieved by a combination of mechanical and chemical processing, followed by enzymatic processing using cellulases [5].

Pretreated lignocellulosic materials can be enzymatically hydrolyzed under relatively mild conditions (e.g. 50 °C and pH 5) without the formation of inhibitory byproducts. All major pretreatment methods require an enzymatic hydrolysis step to yield enough sugars for cost-efficient fermentation, and although small-scale operations remain the state of the art, several companies are now exploring the means to scale up from the laboratory to pilot-scale comminution and saccharification processes [6–8].

2 Cellulases

2.1 Classification and Activity

Cellulose is an abundant polymer comprising $\beta(1,4)$ linked D-glucopyranosyl monomers. Enzymes that degrade cellulose by hydrolyzing the β -1,4 linkage joining two glucose molecules are known as cellulases, but there are several distinct types with different activities. Organisms that can use cellulose often produce multiple enzymes with different substrate specificities or cooperate with other organisms producing their own cellulases to break down complex lignocellulosic products such as wood [6].

Cellulases have nonlinear kinetics on polymeric substrates but show Michaelis– Menten kinetics on small soluble substrates [9]. Most cellulases are endocellullases (EC 3.2.1.4), which have an open active site so they can bind and cleave a cellulose molecule at any accessible point along the chain [10]. Endocellulases bind randomly along a cellulose molecule, make a few cleavages and then dissociate from the chain. In contrast, exocellulases (EC 3.2.1.91) are characterized by an active site inside a tunnel and they bind only at one end of a cellulose chain. They remain bound to a cellulose chain, processively cleaving cellobiose residues until they dissociate [11]. There are two types of exocellulases—one that attacks the reducing end of cellulose molecules and one that attacks the nonreducing end [12]. A third class of cellulases, currently known only in bacteria, carries out an initial endocellulytic attack but then processively attacks the nonreducing end to release cellotetraose. Finally, cellobiases/ β -glucosidases (EC 3.2.1.21) hydrolyze the fragments generated by exocellulases and generate individual monosaccharides.

There are at least eleven distinct cellulase families based on sequence and structural homology, and eight different folds are recognized, mirroring the structural diversity of the substrate [13]. Many but not all cellulases have a carbohydrate-binding domain in addition to the catalytic domain, depending on the source organism and its cellulose attack strategy (see below).

2.2 Microbial Sources of Cellulase

Although most enzymes have soluble substrates that diffuse into their active sites, the situation is reversed for cellulases, which must diffuse to their insoluble substrate and pull a polymer chain into the active site to achieve cleavage. Many aerobic microorganisms use the free cellulase mechanism involving the secretion of a set of individual cellulases, which then act synergistically to degrade cellulose [14]. Cellulase synergism can increase the specific activity of appropriate mixtures by up to 15-fold compared to individual cellulases [15].

Many anaerobic microorganisms instead use large multienzyme complexes known as cellulosomes to degrade cellulose [16]. Only a few of the enzymes in

cellulosomes contain a carbohydrate-binding domain, which is instead provided by the scaffold of the cellulosome, helping to bind the entire complex to the substrate. However, a small number of anaerobic cellulolytic thermophillic bacteria, such as *Caldicellulosiruptor* spp., secrete free cellulases with carbohydrate-binding domains and can hydrolyze plant biomass without pretreatment, unlike most other cellulolytic microorganisms [17].

At least two cellulolytic bacteria (the rumen anaerobe *Fibrobacter succinogenes* and the soil aerobe *Cytophaga hutchinsonii*) use neither the free cellulase nor the cellulosome strategy, and the precise cellulolytic mechanism remains unclear [18]. A number of recently discovered fungal genes appear to encode enzymes with weak cellulase activity that stimulate the activity of other cellulases under certain conditions or help to loosen the cellulase substrate to facilitate penetration by conventional cellulases [19].

2.3 Insect Sources of Cellulase

Many xylophagous (wood-eating) insects have symbiotic protozoa and/or bacteria in their digestive system, which assist in the breakdown of cellulose; others are vectors for fungi that grow on wood, allowing the insects to seed their food source with cellulolytic microbes [20]. The first endogenous insect cellulase was discovered in 1998 in the termite *Reticulitermes speratus*, which was shown to retain its ability to feed on wood even when its gut fauna were destroyed [21]. The traditional view that animals cannot produce their own cellulase and must rely on gut microorganisms to hydrolyze cellulose has thus been overturned.

The *Reticulitermes speratus* cellulase (RsEG) encodes an endo- $\beta(1,4)$ -glucanase [21]. Since this discovery, examples of endogenous cellulases have been reported in three different orders of insects: Blattaria (cockroaches and termites) [22–26], Coleoptera (beetles) [27–31], and Orthoptera (crickets) [32]. Insect genome sequencing data have provided additional evidence for putative cellulase genes in Phthiraptera (lice), Hemiptera (aphids), and Hymenoptera (honeybees and wasps) [33]. Thus far, cellulase genes or their homologs have been found in 31 species spanning six orders of insects, and the list is growing rapidly (Table 1).

3 Evolution of Insect Cellulase Genes

Cellulase genes encoding class 9 glycosyl hydrolases (GH9) are distributed in all the insect orders examined thus far (Table 1). The corresponding enzymes differ extensively in structure and sequence from microbial cellulases; it is therefore considered unlikely that they reflect the consequences of horizontal gene transfer. Indeed, it has been proposed that a common ancestor of animals possessed a GH9 cellulase gene because they are widespread among the invertebrates, appear to be

Table 1 List of insect species with pu	tative cellulase genes (updated from [20])			
Order and species	Common name	Family	Cellulase type	Cellulase class
Orthoptera				
Teleogryllus emma Blattaria	Emma field cricket	Gryllidae	Endo- β -1,4-glucanase	GH9
	t - -			
Polyphaga aegyptiaca	Egyptian desert cockroach	Polyphagidae		
Blattella germanica	German cock-roach	Blattellidae		
Panesthia angustipennis spadica	(none)	Blaberidae		
Panesthia cribrata	Australian cockroach	Blaberidae		
Salganea esakii	(none)	Blaberidae		
Periplaneta americana	American cockroach	Blattidae		
Cryptocercus clevelandi	Cockroach	Cryptocercidae		
Mastotermes darwiniensis	Giant northern termite	Mastotermitidae		
Hodotermopsis sjoestedti	Damp wood termite	Termopsidae		GH9
Neotermes koshunensis	(none)	Kalotermditae	Endo-β-1,4-glucanase	
Reticulitermes speratus	Japanese termite	Rhinotermitidae		
Reticulitermes flavipes	Eastern subterranean termite	Rhinotermitidae		
Coptotermes formosanus	Formosan subterranean termite	Rhinotermitidae		
Coptotermes acinaciformis	Australian subterranean termite	Rhinotermitidae		
Odontotermes formosanus	Black-winged subterranean termite	Termitidae		
Nasutitermes takasagoensis	(none)	Termitidae		
Nasutitermes walkeri	(none)	Termitidae		
Sinocapritermes mushae	(none)	Termitidae		
Phthiraptera				
Pediculus humanus humanus	Body louse	Pediculidae	Endo- β -1,4-glucanase	GH9
Hemiptera				
Acyrthosiphon pisum	Pea aphid	Aphididae		GH9
Lygus lineolaris	Tarnished plant bug	Miridae	Endo- β -1,4-glucanase	GH9
				(continued)

Cellulases from Insects

55

Order and species	Common name	Family	Cellulase type	Cellulase class
Coleoptera				
Tribolium castaneum	Red flour beetle	Tenebrionidae		GH9
Apriona germari	Mulberry longhorn beetle	Cerambycidae		GH5 and GH45
Psacothea hilaris	Yellow-spotted longicorn beetle	Cerambycidae	E-1- 0 1 1 -1	GH5
Oncideres albomarginata chamela	Borer beetle	Cerambycidae	Endo-p-1,4-glucanase	GH5 and GH45
Anoplophora malasiaca	White spotted longhorn beetle	Cerambycidae		GH5
Phaedon cochleariae	Mustard beetle	Chrysomelidae		GH45
Hypothenemus hampei	Coffee berry borer	Curculionidae	Endo- β -1,4-xylanase	
Hymenoptera				
Apis mellifera	Honey bee	Apoidae		GH9
Nasonia vitripennis	Jewel wasp	Pteromalidae	Endo-p-1,4-glucanase	GH9

56

monophyletic [34], and share similar intron/exon boundaries [35, 36]. It is therefore also conceivable that a common ancestor of insects possessed a GH9 cellulase gene and that the GH9 gene was vertically transferred to the extant insects.

In contrast, GH5 and GH45 class cellulases have only been found in the Coleoptera [27–31] (Table 1). GH5 and GH45 cellulases have the same substrate specificity as GH9 cellulases but the structures are distinct, suggesting the different classes have arisen by convergent evolution. It is not clear whether the GH5 and GH45 genes were transferred vertically from the common ancestor of insects to the coleopterans or horizontally from more distantly related organisms (GH5 and GH45 cellulase genes are also present in close relatives of arthropods, such as nematodes and mollusks). Further data from sequencing projects will no doubt shed light on the phylogenetic relationships among these sequences.

Cellulase genes are unlikely to be stable in genomes because they have been lost from the genomes of model insects such as *Anopheles gambiae*, *Drosophila melanogaster*, and *Bombyx mori* [33, 37], and probably from many other species [35]. Cellulase genes are also absent from the recently-sequenced genomes of two butterflies, the monarch *Danaus plexippus* and the postman *Heliconius melpomene* [38, 39]. A putative GH9 cellulase gene is present in the genome of the red flour beetle *Tribolium castaneum* [40]. The unstable nature of cellulase genes is likely to frustrate research in this field, and many more insect genomes will need to be sequenced to derive firm conclusions about the evolutionary origins of insect cellulase genes.

A small number of β -glucosidase sequences have also been identified in insects, including noncellulolytic species such as *B. mori* [41] (these are not included in Table 1). The sequences are homologous to GH1 except for a GH3 homolog from the midgut of *Hodotermopsis sjostedti* revealed by transcriptome analysis [42]. The universal occurrence and multiple functions of β -glucosidases in animals suggests that the corresponding genes have probably been conserved during the evolution of insects.

4 Screening for Insect Cellulase Genes

Two major strategies have been used to isolate insect cellulase genes, namely sequence mining and functional assays. Sequence mining is a bioinformatics approach that involves the screening of genomic, transcriptomic, or proteomic data for cellulase signatures, based on sequence and structural homology. With the advent of ultra-high-throughput methods such as next-generation DNA sequencing, transcriptomic analysis based on RNA-seq methods, and proteomics based on the rapid *de novo* sequencing of peptides, the sequence-mining approach provides rapid results from any species of interest. Genomic analysis is advantageous because it can reveal cellulase genes that are not expressed (as well as evolutionary artifacts such as pseudogenes), whereas transcriptomics and proteomics are

advantageous because they allow targeted screening based on conditional expression (e.g., genes induced by feeding on wood). Many putative insect cellulases have been identified in this manner, but it is necessary to ensure that contaminating microbial nucleic acids and proteins do not generate false-positive results and that insect genes and microbial genes can be distinguished (e.g., on the basis of codon bias or promoter structure) [33].

Functional assays may involve the direct screening of gut extracts (preferably a comparison between guts that have been freshly isolated and those purged of natural flora) or the expression-based screening of genes identified by sequence mining. For functional analysis, the choice of substrate is important. Carboxymethylcellulose (CMC) is a soluble form of cellulose that is an excellent substrate for endocellulases and its hydrolysis does not require a carbohydrate-binding domain. Amorphous cellulose, which is produced by concentrated acid treatment of crystalline cellulose, is a good substrate for most cellulases and its hydrolysis is usually not affected by the carbohydrate-binding domain. Crystalline cellulose (Avicel, bacterial cellulose, or filter paper), which is the main form of cellulose in most plant cell walls, requires a carbohydrate-binding domain for effective hydrolysis [43].

5 Strategies for the Improvement of Insect Cellulases

Once cellulase genes have been isolated, several strategies are available to improve their activity using gene shuffling and/or random or directed mutagenesis as a basis for protein engineering. For example, a mutant termite cellulase gene has been expressed in bacteria by shuffling between four orthologous cDNAs [44]. Although many mutagenesis techniques that allow the efficient generation of diversity have been developed, the major bottleneck has been the selection of improved variants because most high-throughput assays select for binding interactions rather than enzyme activity [45–47].

Several cellulase activity assays are available using natural or synthetic substrates as described above, but few of these are suitable for high-throughput screening. Ideally, such assays would generate fluorescent products suitable for fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS), which has an ultra-high-throughput capacity of >10⁷ clones per hour compared to 10^3 – 10^5 clones per hour for microtiter plate assays and 10^4 – 10^6 clones per hour for solid-phase assays [48–51]. Several cellulase assays generate fluorescent products; for example, one detects (1,4)- β -glucanase activity using 4-methylumbelliferyl-3-cellobiose, whereas another is based on the detection of released glucose with Amplex Red by means of a coupled glucose oxidase reaction [52, 53]. However, neither are compatible with FACS because the reaction product is not charged and would diffuse from the emulsion compartments.

To address these challenges, a novel ultra-high-throughput screening assay for cellulase activity has been developed based on FACS and double emulsion technology. In this approach, cellulase activity is detected using a series of coupled Fig. 1 Coupled cellulose assay, which allows the detection of reducing sugars released by any natural or artificial cellulose substrate



enzymes including hexose oxidase, which generates hydrogen peroxide from the reducing sugars released by cellulases in the presence of any natural or artificial substrate (Fig. 1). In the first description of this assay, a 12-fold enrichment of positive (cellulose-expressing) cells in cellulase reference libraries was achieved after a single sorting round [54].

6 Potential Industrial Applications of Insect Cellulases

Parallels can be drawn between wood-feeding insects and industrial platforms for the production of cellulosic ethanol. Essentially, wood-chewing insects are small-scale processing factories, taking in lignocellulose and producing sugars, albeit then using those sugars for growth and survival rather than for the production of biofuels. Each compartment of the insect gut can be matched to a corresponding industrial process stage, and the efficiency is striking: up to 99 % for cellulose and up to 87 % for hemicellulose [55].

The efficiency of digestion is enhanced by pretreatment that converts biomass into microsize particles. Termite mandibles achieve this by chewing wood into particles smaller than 50 µm in diameter [56, 57]; however, in an industrial process, this must be replaced by mechanical comminution based on progressive chipping, grinding, and/or milling. Thus far, the smallest particles that can be produced mechanically are 0.2–2 mm in diameter. This step is necessary to reduce cellulose crystallinity and make the substrate more accessible to cellulases, but it requires the input of energy that exceeds the energy available in the biomass [58]. In addition to comminution, other energy-consuming pretreatments such as pyrolysis, steam explosion, and ammonia fiber explosion may be needed to weaken and remove lignin and the hemicellulose matrix covering cellulose fibers [58]. There are no counterparts to these steps in termites because the particle size is smaller, and this is sufficient to achieve the necessary weakening. Current biomass degradation pipelines do not use purified cellulase, which would be too expensive. Instead, they use crude extracts of cellulolytic fungi, such as *Trichoderma reesei* (the main source of commercial-grade cellulase), *T. viride*, and *Aspergillus niger* [59]. These extracts contain multiple cellulases with different specificities, allowing synergic activity between the dominant cellobio-hydrolases and the less abundant endo- $\beta(1,4)$ glucanases to ensure the efficient digestion of insoluble cellulose [60, 61]. In termites, cellobiohydrolases, multi-domain cellulases with carbohydrate-binding domains, hemicellulases, and lignin-degrading enzymes are not involved in the initial digestion of cellulose in the midgut, possibly because the mastication process produces such fine particles that such enzymes are unnecessary, or alternatively because symbiotic microbial cellobiohydrolases may fulfill the necessary functions [62].

Another bottleneck in the industrial conversion of cellulose into sugars is the need for cellulases to act at a liquid–solid interface due to the solid nature of the substrate. This limits the effective concentration of cellulase (regardless of the absolute concentration in solution) and makes it dependent on the accessible surface area of the substrate [63]. The number of enzyme molecules acting on the liquid–solid interface is directly affected by the enzyme concentration in the liquid phase, so the volume of the liquid phase should be reduced to ensure that the surface of the substrate is saturated. The small volume of the gut in wood-feeding insects (estimated to be 10–20 nl [64]) combined with the large substrate surface area (due to the small particle size following mastication [56, 57]) goes a long way to explain the extraordinary efficiency of cellulose digestion by insect cellulases. Indeed, one estimate of cellulase activity in the wood-feeding species *C. formosanus* is 10^3-10^4 µmol of reducing sugar min⁻¹ ml⁻¹ using CMC as the substrate [65].

Comprehensive transcriptome analysis in termites and their symbiotic microbes has led to the emergence of a concept described as the digestome [66], which can be regarded as a metagenomic principle, albeit restricted to the insect digestive system [62]. However, the metagenomic data remain theoretical and such studies now need to be backed up by the isolation of the corresponding proteins, their structural and functional analysis, their localization in the insect digestive system, and their linkage into cooperating cellulase complexes to determine how the highly efficient process of cellulose digestion is regulated in woodfeeding insects. This can be achieved by harnessing the power of a new generation of ultra-highthroughput FACS-based assays for cellulase activity [54], which can also be used to identify more efficient variants generated by molecular evolution. Such improved enzymes must then be combined with optimized industrial processes to fully realize the benefits of second-generation biofuels.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the Hessian Ministry of Science and Art through funding for the collaborative research projects granted under the LOEWE program "Insect Biotechnology" and by the Excellence Cluster "Tailor-made Fuels from Biomass," which is funded through the Excellence Initiative by the German federal and state governments to promote science and research at German universities.

References

- Farrell AE, Plevin RJ, Turner BT, Jones AD, O'Hare M, Kammen DM (2006) Ethanol can contribute to energy and environmental goals. Science 311:506–508
- 2. Hammerschlag R (2006) Ethanol's energy return on investment: a survey of the literature 1999-present. Environ Sci Technol 40:1744–1750
- 3. Jordan DB, Bowman MJ, Braker JD, Dien BS, Hector RE, Lee CC, Mertens JA, Wagschal K (2012) Plant cell walls to ethanol. Biochem J 442:241–252
- 4. Himmel ME (2008) Biomass recalcitrance: deconstructing the plant cell wall for bioenergy. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford
- 5. Gusakov AV (2011) Alternatives to *Trichoderma reesei* in biofuel production. Trends Biotechnol 29:419–425
- Wilson DB (2011) Microbial diversity in cellulose hydrolysis. Curr Opin Microbiol 14:259–263
- Gomez LD, Steele-King CG, McQueen-Mason SJ (2008) Sustainable liquid biofuels from biomass: the writing's on the walls. New Phytol 178:473–485
- la Grange DC, den Haan R, van Zyl WH (2010) Engineering cellulolytic ability into bioprocessing organisms. Appl Environ Microbiol 87:1195–1208
- 9. Zhang S, Wolfgang D, Wilson DB (1999) Substrate heterogeneity causes the non-linear kinetics of insoluble cellulose hydrolysis. Biotechnol Bieng 66:35–41
- Spezio M, Wilson DB, Karplus PA (1993) Crystal structure of the catalytic domain of a thermophilic endocellulase. Biochemistry 32:9906–9916
- 11. Rouvinen J, Bergfors T, Teeri T, Knowles JK, Jones TA (1990) Three dimensional structure of cellobiohydrolase II from *Trichoderma reesei*. Science 249:380–386
- Barr BK, Hsieh Y-L, Ganem B, Wilson DB (1996) Identification of two functionally different classes of exocellulases. Biochemistry 35:586–592
- Cantarel BL, Coutinho PM, Rancurel C, Bernard T, Lombard V, Henrissat B (2009) The Carbohydrate-Active EnZymes database (CAZy): an expert resource for glycogenomics. Nucleic Acids Res 37(Database issue): D233–D238. http://www.cazy.org/Glycoside-Hydrolases.html
- Wilson DB (2008) Aerobic microbial cellulase systems. In: Himmel ME (ed) Biomass recalcitrance: deconstructing the plant cell wall for bioenergy. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, pp 374–392
- Irwin DC, Spezio M, Walker LP, Wilson DB (1993) Activity studies of eight purified cellulases: specificity, synergism, and binding domain effects. Biotechnol Bioeng 42:1002–1013
- Ding SY, Xu Q, Crowley M, Zeng Y, Nimlos M, Lamed R, Bayer EA, Himmel M (2008) A biophysical perspective on the cellulosome: new opportunities for biomass conversion. Curr Opin Biotechnol 19:218–227
- Blumer-Schuette SE, Lewis DL, Kelly RM (2010) Phylogenetic, microbiological, and glycoside hydrolase diversities within the extremely thermophilic, plant biomass-degrading genus Caldicellulosiruptor. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:8084–8092
- Qi M, Jun HS, Forsberg CW (2007) Characterization and synergistic interactions of Fibrobacter succinogenes glycoside hydrolases. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:6098–6105
- Harris PV, Welner D, McFarland KC, Re E, Navarro Poulsen JC, Brown K, Salbo R, Ding H, Vlasenko E, Merino S (2010) Stimulation of lignocellulosic biomass hydrolysis by proteins of glycoside hydrolase family 61: structure and function of a large, enigmatic family. Biochemistry 49:3305–3316
- 20. Watanabe H, Tokuda G (2010) Cellulolytic systems in insects. Annu Rev Entomol 55:609-632
- 21. Watanabe H, Noda H, Tokuda G, Lo N (1998) A cellulase gene of termite origin. Nature 394:330–331

- 22. Lo N, Tokuda G, Watanabe H, Rose H, Slaytor M et al (2000) Evidence from multiple gene sequences indicates that termites evolved from wood-feeding cockroaches. Curr Biol 10:801–804
- Nakashima K, Watanabe H, Saitoh H, Tokuda G, Azuma JI (2002) Dual cellulose-digesting system of the wood-feeding termite, *Coptotermes formosanus* Shiraki. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 32:777–784
- 24. Scharf ME, Wu-Scharf D, Pittendrigh BR, Bennett GW (2003) Caste- and developmentassociated gene expression in a lower termite. Genome Biol 4:R62
- 25. Tokuda G, Lo N, Watanabe H, Arakawa G, Matsumoto T, Noda H (2004) Major alteration of the expression site of endogenous cellulases in members of an apical termite lineage. Mol Ecol 13:3219–3228
- Tokuda G, Lo N, Watanabe H, Slaytor M, Matsumoto T, Noda H (1999) Metazoan cellulase genes from termites: intron/exon structures and sites of expression. Biochim Biophys Acta 1447:146–159
- 27. Lee SJ, Kim SR, Yoon HJ, Kim I, Lee KS et al (2004) cDNA cloning, expression, and enzymatic activity of a cellulase from the mulberry longicorn beetle, *Apriona germari*. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 139:107–116
- Sugimura M, Watanabe H, Lo N, Saito H (2003) Purification, characterization, cDNA cloning and nucleotide sequencing of a cellulase from the yellow-spotted longicorn beetle, *Psacothea hilaris*. Eur J Biochem 270:3455–3460
- 29. Wei YD, Lee KS, Gui ZZ, Yoon HJ, Kim I et al (2006) Molecular cloning, expression, and enzymatic activity of a novel endogenous cellulase from the mulberry longicorn beetle, *Apriona germari*. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 145:220–229
- 30. Wei YD, Lee KS, Gui ZZ, Yoon HJ, Kim I et al (2006) N-linked glycosylation of a beetle (*Apriona germari*) cellulase Ag-EGase II is necessary for enzymatic activity. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 36:435–441
- Wei YD, Lee SJ, Lee KS, Gui ZZ, Yoon HJ et al (2005) N-glycosylation is necessary for enzymatic activity of a beetle (*Apriona germari*) cellulase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 329:331–336
- 32. Kim N, Choo YM, Lee KS, Hong SJ, Seol KY et al (2008) Molecular cloning and characterization of a glycosyl hydrolase family 9 cellulase distributed throughout the digestive tract of the cricket *Teleogryllus emma*. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 150:368–376
- 33. Kunieda T, Fujiyuki T, Kucharski R, Foret S, Ament SA et al (2006) Carbohydrate metabolism genes and pathways in insects: insights from the honey bee genome. Insect Mol Biol 15:563–576
- Davison A, Blaxter M (2005) Ancient origin of glycosyl hydrolase family 9 cellulase genes. Mol Biol Evol 22:1273–1284
- 35. Lo N, Watanabe H, Sugimura M (2003) Evidence for the presence of a cellulase gene in the last common ancestor of bilaterian animals. Proc R Soc London Sci Ser B 270(Suppl 1):S69–72
- Suzuki K-I, Ojima T, Nishita K (2003) Purification and cDNA cloning of a cellulase from abalone *Haliotis discus hannai*. Eur J Biochem 270:771–778
- 37. The International Silkworm Genome Consortium (2008) The genome of a lepidopteran model insect, the silkworm *Bombyx mori*. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 38(1036–45):8
- Dasmahapatra KK, Walters JR, Briscoe AD, Davey JW, Whibley A, Nadeau NJ, Zimin AV, Hughes DS, Ferguson LC, Martin SH et al (2012) Butterfly genome reveals promiscuous exchange of mimicry adaptations among species. Nature 487:94–98
- Zhan S, Merlin C, Boore JL, Reppert SM (2011) The monarch butterfly genome yields insights into long-distance migration. Cell 147(5):1171–1185
- Willis JD, Oppert B, Oppert C, Klingeman WE, Jurat-Fuentes JL (2011) Identification, cloning, and expression of a GHF9 cellulase from *Tribolium castaneum* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). J Insect Physiol 57(2):300–306

- 41. Byeon GM, Lee KS, Gui ZZ, Kim I, Kang PD et al (2005) A digestive beta-glucosidase from the silk-worm, *Bombyx mori*: cDNA cloning, expression and enzymatic characterization. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 141:418–427
- 42. Yuki M, Moriya S, Inoue T, Kudo T (2008) Transcriptome analysis of the digestive organs of *Hodotermopsis sjostedti*, a lower termite that hosts mutualistic microorganisms in its hindgut. Zool Sci 25:401–406
- 43. Bhat MK, Bhat S (1997) Cellulose degrading enzymes and their potential industrial applications. Biotechnol Adv 1997(15):583-620
- 44. Ni J, Takehara M, Watanabe H (2005) Heterologous overexpression of a mutant termite cellulase gene in *Escherichia coli* by DNA shuffling of four orthologous parental cDNAs. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 69:1711–1720
- 45. Fields S, Song O (1989) A novel genetic system to detect protein–protein interactions. Nature 340:245–246
- 46. Georgiou G (2000) Analysis of large libraries of protein mutants using flow cytometry. Adv Protein Chem 55:293–315
- 47. Roberts RW (1999) Totally in vitro protein selection using mRNA-protein fusions and ribosome display. Curr Opin Chem Biol 3:268–273
- Cohen N, Abramov S, Dror Y, Freeman A (2001) In vitro enzyme evolution: the screening challenge of isolating the one in a million. Trends Biotechnol 19:507–510
- 49. Lin H, Cornish VW (2002) Screening and selection methods for large-scale analysis of protein function. Angewandte Chemie 41:4402–4425
- 50. Olsen M, Iverson B, Georgiou G (2000) High-throughput screening of enzyme libraries. Current Opin Biotechnol 11:331–337
- 51. Aharoni A, Amitai G, Bernath K, Magdassi S, Tawfik DS (2005) High-throughput screening of enzyme libraries: thiolactonases evolved by fluorescence-activated sorting of single cells in emulsion compartments. Chem Biol 12:1281–1289
- 52. Dashtban M, Maki M, Leung KT, Mao C, Qin W (2010) Cellulase activities in biomass conversion: measurement methods and comparison. Critical Rev Biotechnol 30:302–309
- 53. Boschker HT, Cappenberg TE, Using ASM (1994) A sensitive method using 4-methylumbelliferyl- β -cellobiose as a substrate to measure (1,4)- β -glucanase activity in sediments. Appl Env Microbiol 60:3592–3596
- 54. Ostafe R, Prodanovic R, Commandeur U, Fischer R (2012) Flow cytometry-based ultra-highthroughput screening assay for cellulase activity. Anal Biochem 2012 (published online ahead of print)
- 55. Ohkuma M (2003) Termite symbiotic systems: efficient bio-recycling of lignocellulose. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 61:1–9
- 56. Itakura S, Ueshima K, Tanaka H, Enoki A (1995) Degradation of wood components by subterranean termite, *Coptotermes formosanus* Shiraki. Mokuzai Gakkaishi 41:580–586
- 57. Yoshimura T, Tsunoda K, Takahashi M (1996) Degradation of wood in the digestive tract of a higher termite, *Nasutitermes takasagoensis* (Shiraki) (Isoptera: Termitidae). Mokuzai Gakkaishi 42:1250–1257
- Kumar P, Barrett DM, Delwiche MJ, Stroeve P (2009) Methods for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for efficient hydrolysis and biofuel production. Ind Eng Chem Res 48:3713–3729
- 59. Nieves RA, Ehrman CI, Adney WS, Elander RT, Himmel ME (1998) Technical communication: survey and analysis of commercial cellulase preparations suitable for biomass conversion to ethanol. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 14:301–304
- Gusakov AV, Salanovich TN, Antonov AI, Ustinov BB, Okunev ON et al (2007) Design of highly efficient cellulase mixtures for enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose. Biotechnol Bioeng 97:1028–1038
- 61. Teeri TT (1997) Crystalline cellulose degradation: new insight into the function of cellobiohydrolases. Trends Biotechnol 15:160–167

- Warnecke F, Luginbuhl P, Ivanova N, Ghassemian M, Richardson TH et al (2007) Metagenomic and functional analysis of hindgut microbiota of a wood-feeding higher termite. Nature 450:560–565
- 63. Jeoh T, Ishizawa CI, Davis MF, Himmel ME, Adney WS, Johnson DK (2007) Cellulase digestibility of pretreated biomass is limited by cellulose accessibility. Biotechnol Bioeng 122:112–122
- 64. Takematsu Y (1998) Comparative morphology of the gut of termite genera from Japan. Bull Inst Trop Agr Kyushu Univ 21:3-41
- 65. Tokuda G, Lo N, Watanabe H, Arakawa G, Matsumoto T, Noda H (2004) Major alteration of the expression site of endogenous cellulases in members of an apical termite lineage. Mol Ecol 13:3219–3228
- Scharf ME (2008) Termite digestomes as sources for novel lignocellulases. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefining 2:540–552
Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 65–100 DOI: 10.1007/10_2013_205 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Published Online: 31 August 2013

Optimization of Insect Cell Based Protein Production Processes - Online Monitoring, Expression Systems, Scale Up

Damir Druzinec, Denise Salzig, Alexander Brix, Matthias Kraume, Andreas Vilcinskas, Christian Kollewe and Peter Czermak

Abstract Due to the increasing use of insect cell based expression systems in research and industrial recombinant protein production, the development of efficient and reproducible production processes remains a challenging task. In this context, the application of online monitoring techniques is intended to ensure high and reproducible product qualities already during the early phases of process development. In the following chapter, the most common transient and stable insect cell based expression systems are briefly introduced. Novel applications of insect cell based expression systems for the production of insect derived antimicrobial peptides/proteins (AMPs) are discussed using the example of *G. mellonella* derived gloverin. Suitable in situ sensor techniques for insect cell culture monitoring in disposable and common bioreactor systems are outlined with respect to optical and capacitive sensor concepts. Since scale up of production processes is one of the most critical steps in process development, a conclusive overview is given about scale up aspects for industrial insect cell culture processes.

A. Brix Boehringer Ingelheim Vetmedica Inc, St. Joseph, Missouri, USA

M. Kraume Department of Chemical Engineering, University of Technology Berlin, Berlin, Germany

A. Vilcinskas · C. Kollewe Fraunhofer Institute of Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology, Giessen, Germany

P. Czermak (🖂)

P. Czermak

D. Druzinec · D. Salzig · P. Czermak

Institute of Bioprocess Engineering and Pharmaceutical Technology, University of Applied Sciences Mittelhessen, Giessen, Germany

Department of Chemical Engineering, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS, USA e-mail: peter.czermak@kmub.thm.de; pczermak@k-state.edu

Faculty of Biology and Chemistry, Justus-Liebig-University of Giessen, Giessen, Germany

Keywords BEVS \cdot Drosophila S2 \cdot FBRM \cdot Gloverin \cdot In situ monitoring \cdot Scale up

Contents

Intro	oduction	66
Reco	ombinant Protein Production in Insect Cells	67
2.1	Common Insect Cell Lines for Recombinant Protein Production	67
2.2	Expression Systems for Insect Cells	69
2.3	Comparison of the BEVS with Stable Insect Expression Systems	70
2.4	Application of Insect Cell Based Expression Systems for the Production	
	of Insect Derived Antimicrobial Peptides/Proteins (AMPs)	71
Onli	ne Monitoring	74
3.1	In Situ Analysis and its Requirements	75
3.2	Infrared Spectroscopy	- 76
3.3	Fluorometry	77
3.4	Raman Spectroscopy	- 79
3.5	Optical Chemosensors for O ₂ , pH and CO ₂ Determination	- 79
3.6	In Situ Microscopy	81
3.7	Focused Beam Reflectance Measurement (FBRM)	84
3.8	Dielectric Spectroscopy	86
Scal	e Up of Industrial Insect Cell Culture Processes	88
4.1	The Baculovirus Expression Vector System for Commercial	
	Vaccine Production	88
4.2	Process Scale Up and Implications for Processes Utilizing the Baculovirus	
	Expression Vector System	88
4.3	Single-Use Systems in Baculovirus Expression Vector System Processes	91
Con	clusions	92
feren	ces	93
	Intro Recc 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 Onli 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 Scal- 4.1 4.2 4.3 Cono ference	Introduction Recombinant Protein Production in Insect Cells 2.1 Common Insect Cell Lines for Recombinant Protein Production 2.2 Expression Systems for Insect Cells 2.3 Comparison of the BEVS with Stable Insect Expression Systems 2.4 Application of Insect Cell Based Expression Systems for the Production of Insect Derived Antimicrobial Peptides/Proteins (AMPs) Online Monitoring

1 Introduction

Over the last decades, insect cells were more and more established for recombinant protein production. Insect expression systems were thereby used for both, basic research and large-scale commercial applications. One key factor for their popularity is their ability to produce large quantities of posttranslational modified eukaryotic proteins in a relatively short time period. A relatively new field of application is the production of insect derived antimicrobial peptides/proteins (AMPs), which are intended as novel therapeutics in medical applications. Further, the handling of insect cells is quite easy compared to mammalian cells which also produce functional posttranslational modified recombinant proteins. This means that insect cells grow in suspension at 28 °C, are tolerant to osmolality and no carbon dioxide is needed for their cultivation [1]. The simplicity of insect cell cultivation makes them very attractive for recombinant protein production.

To exploit the maximum potential of insect cell cultivation, the production process has to be well controlled and monitored. With regard to PAT for pharmaceutical processes it became more and more important to ensure product quality by design and during the entire process. In this context, many online tools have been investigated. Some of them are still routinely used in industrial processes. Beyond the standard parameters temperature, pH and oxygen, the key parameters which have to be monitored are the viable insect cell biomass, the metabolic activity and product quantity.

Scale up of well-established processes to industrial scales is the final challenge for the production of recombinant proteins in insect cells. Therefore the specific cultivation parameters should be kept constant. Geometric similarity of the cultivation vessels in small and large scale eases the scale up procedure. Nowadays simulation tools as CFD help a lot in the understanding and scale up of processes even at different cultivation setups in small and large scales. Scale up of insect cell production is relatively rewarding since insect cells usually grow in suspension. The main point in scale up is to guarantee homogeneity to ensure sufficient access to nutrients.

In the following chapter the main insect cell expression systems are introduced. Issues related to the application of insect cell expression systems for the production of *G. mellonella* derived gloverin, as an example for insect derived AMPs, are discussed. Modern online monitoring tools are presented and valued for their application in insect cell processes. Finally, scale up considerations for BEVS based production systems are reflected.

2 Recombinant Protein Production in Insect Cells

The possibilities to produce recombinant proteins in insect cells are manifold. A multiplicity of expression systems, cell lines and vectors are available. Nevertheless the majority in industrial production uses the baculovirus expression system with great success. Recently stable expression systems became prominent for insect cells as well. Compared to mammalian cells or bacteria, the insect cells combine the advantages of relatively short production times and the ability to produce complex post-translational modified proteins.

2.1 Common Insect Cell Lines for Recombinant Protein Production

Insect cell culture began with the establishment of an insect cell line from the pupal ovarian tissue of the moth *Antheraea eucalypti* in 1962 [2]. In the meanwhile over 500 insect cell lines from several species and tissue sources have been established. These cells are widely used in research. However, the number of cell lines used and engineered for recombinant protein production in routine industrial



Fig. 1 Major differences between human, mammalian and insect glycosylation pattern

processes is relatively low [3]. In the following, only the most common insect cell lines utilized for recombinant protein production are introduced.

2.1.1 Spodoptera frugiperda Derived Cells

Sf9 and Sf21 cell lines are traditional cell lines originally isolated from the pupal ovarian tissue of the fall armyworm, *Spodoptera frugiperda* [4, 5]. The Sf9 cell line is thereby a clonal isolate of IPLBSF21-AE (Sf21 cells) [4]. Both cell lines are spherical with some granular appearance, whereas Sf9 cells are more regular in size. Reported doubling times for Sf21 and Sf9 cells vary between 26–30 h and 24–31 h, respectively [6]. Both cells grow well in monolayer and suspension and are adaptable to serum- and protein-free medium. They are both suitable for viral transfection, resulting in high virus stocks and expression of recombinant proteins. In some cases Sf21 cells may express more protein than Sf9 cells [7].

Functionality of proteins is often dependent on the right glycosylation pattern. Glycosylation in insect cells is different and less complex compared to mammalian cells. In general N-glycans of insect cell proteins mainly contain high mannose or trimannose structures which are truncated and unsialylated (Fig. 1). This paucimannose-type is very ordinary for invertebrates. In contrast O-linked glycosylation of insects is similar to mammalian cells [8].

To guarantee full functionality of recombinant insect-produced proteins, a special cell line was developed (SfSWT-1). These cells are transgenic Sf9 cells that have been engineered to produce recombinant proteins with terminally sialylated N-glycans like those found in mammalian systems [9]. Their doubling time and growth characteristics are identical to Sf9 cells except for the fact that serum is required for cell cultivation.

2.1.2 Drosophila melanogaster Derived Cells

The most common used *Drosophila melanogaster* cell line is the Schneider 2 cell line, usually abbreviated as S2 cells. These cells have been derived from a primary culture of late stage (20–24 h) *D. melanogaster* embryos [10]. The cell phenotype has many characteristics of cells from a macrophage-like linage. The cells are spherical in shape and possess a granular cytoplasm. Similar to the *S. frugiperda* derived cell lines, S2 cells can grow as loose, semi-adherent monolayer in tissue flasks or suspension culture in dynamic systems, with doubling times around 24 h. Optimum temperature is 28 °C and CO₂ is not required for pH regulation during cultivation. Cultivation in serum-free and even protein-free medium is possible for these cells. Beside S2 cells, other *D. melanogaster* cell lines such as S3 cells and a few derivatives of the Kc cell line were used for recombinant protein production [11].

2.1.3 Other Cells

The High Five or Tn5B1-4 cell line has been established from the ovarian cells of the cabbage looper, *Trichoplusia ni* [12]. A characteristic of this cell line is a population doubling time of less than 24 h. The cells grow in adherent culture, but form irregular monolayers. Suspension culture and serum-free cultivation is possible. Compared to Sf9 cells, High five cells provide 5–10 fold higher secreted recombinant protein expression [13]. However, this high productivity may be more evident in low passage cells [12].

2.2 Expression Systems for Insect Cells

Insect cells can express recombinant proteins via transient and stable expression. In the case of insect cells, transient expression mostly means lytic expression where cells were infected with a lytic recombinant virus carrying the gene of interest. Stable expression in insect cells is similar to the stable expression in mammalian cells, with an insertion of the expression vector followed by a selection and screening of high producer clones. The following section focuses on the introduction of the most prominent insect cell expression systems.

2.2.1 Baculovirus Expression Vector System (BEVS)

Many types of viruses can infect insect cells. The most common ones belong to the family of *Baculoviridae*. The BEVS used today are based on the *Autographa* californica multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus (*AcMNPV*) which mainly infects *Lepidoptera* derived insect cells. Therefore, this type of virus is mainly used in

combination with Sf- or Hi-5 cells. The expression of recombinant proteins in the BEVS is under control of a very late viral promoter, often the strong polyhedrin promoter [14] or the p10 promoter [15]. The p10 promoter has been shown to be activated earlier in the infection time course than the polyhedrin promoter, which results in an earlier initiation of the expression of some recombinant proteins. Several systems use the BEVS in order to express the foreign gene under control of an immediate-early promoter (IE), which is active in uninfected cells as well as infected cells during the early infection phase. These systems have shown to be superior for the expression of eukaryotic secretory glycoproteins with high activity [16].

An elegant way to create recombinant Baculoviruses (BV's) is the bacmid technology. A bacmid is a shuttle vector between *Escherichia coli* and BV's. It replicates in *E. coli* and generates the recombinant viral DNA via site-specific transposition. After that, insect cells are transfected by the bacmid in order to produce the recombinant BV's [17]. The advantage of this method is the short development time necessary to generate the recombinant viruses. In addition, helper viruses are not required. BV's are not harmful to humans and due to the late expression also cytotoxic proteins can be produced. Disadvantages of the BEVS are the lysis of cells following infection as well as the proteolysis of recombinant proteins. Furthermore, the infection is an extra process step which often results in difficulties in reproducibility and process stability dependent on the quality of the virus stock. The heterogeneity of the infection affects the glycosylation pattern as well. Perfusion mode can be hardly performed with this system [18].

2.2.2 Stable Expression System

Virus infected cells have a finite life span. Therefore, untreated cells need to be infected in order to produce a fresh batch of recombinant protein. To overcome this limitation, non-lytic expression systems have been developed for insect cells as well. The stable expression system of insect cells is similar to that of mammalian cells. An expression vector carrying the gene of interest is stable integrated in the insect genome. The expression and secretion of the recombinant proteins requires no lysis of the cells. Traditionally, S2 cells were used with this type of expression system, but also for Sf- and Hi-5 cells stable expression systems are available. A wide variety of vectors allows the expression of recombinant proteins in S2 cells. For induced expression, a vector with the metallothionein promoter is used. Thereby the expression of the recombinant protein is induced with copper sulfate [19]. Constitutive expression of recombinant proteins in S2 cells is often from the actin 5 promoter [20]. More global stable expression systems for insect cells use the baculovirus-derived immediate-early OpIE promoters. These promoters originally derived from the Baculovirus Orgyia pseudotsugata multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus (OpMNPV) allow constitutive recombinant protein expression in a variety of cells types. These include Sf9, Sf21, Hi-5, S2, Kc and Lymantria dispar as well as mosquito cell lines. Both OpIE promoters (OpIE1 and OpIE2) provide relatively high levels of recombinant protein expression. Nevertheless, the OpIE2 promoter has been shown to be up to 10-fold stronger than the OpIE1 promoter [21].

The stable expression system has several advantages. It allows a homogenous glycolysation profile of the recombinant protein and guarantees a higher reproducibility and process stability. Almost every cultivation mode can be used for protein production with this expression system. Due to the missing cell lysis during recombinant protein production, the contamination with host cell proteins is very low. This is superior for protein purification and avoids proteolysis of the target protein. The main disadvantage of this system is its time intensity compared to the BEVS, since the establishment of stable cell lines is a time consuming venture [18].

2.3 Comparison of the BEVS with Stable Insect Expression Systems

Several studies compared the BEVS with stable insect expression systems. Expression of two different proteins (extracellular vascular cell adhesion protein [VCAM], trans-membrane dopamine D4 receptor) was compared with the Baculovirus/Sf9 system and stable transfected Drosophila S2 cells. VCAM was produced in both systems in similar amounts and appeared identical within the framework of the performed analytics. D4 was also expressed similarly in both systems [22]. The expression of several antibody fragments was evaluated in the BEVS and in stable transfected S2 cells. Reported maximum concentrations of the recombinant antibody fragments were 9 mg/L in the BEVS and 0.4 mg/L in S2 cells [23]. Production of recombinant human IL-7 in the BEVS and stable transfected Sf cells revealed in 10 times higher expression levels for the BEVS [24]. Up to now the investigations on recombinant protein production do not show BEVS being superior to the stable insect expression systems. It strongly depends on the protein which is intended to be produced. For the choice of the best expression system not only the quantity of the recombinant protein is crucial, but also its activity which results from the right post-translational modifications.

2.4 Application of Insect Cell Based Expression Systems for the Production of Insect Derived Antimicrobial Peptides/Proteins (AMPs)

The use of insect cell based expression systems for the production of recombinant insect derived peptides/proteins is a relatively new field and emerged more and more as an attractive alternative to other commonly utilized expression systems. Especially for the production of insect derived proteins with a potential antimicrobial or antifungal activity, the insect cell based production systems can be a promising tool in order to provide satisfactory product yields and the specific



Fig. 2 Exemplary production process for *Gm*Glv-GFP in a 3 L bioreactor system using the BEVS with Sf21 insect cells, TOI $\sim 3 \times 10^6$ cells mL⁻¹, MOI = 0.1, cultivation temperature: 28 °C, dissolved oxygen concentration (dO₂): 40 % of air saturation, utilized medium: Sf-900 II SFM, the biomass signal is based on permittivity measurements via dielectric spectroscopy (see Sect. 3.8), viable cell densities were determined via trypan blue exclusion method

glycosylation patterns. The increasing demand for new AMPs is even more emphasized due to the increasing number of human pathogens showing resistance against available antibiotics. AMPs as novel anti-infective therapeutics could be an alternative to fight multiresistant bacteria strains. The lepidopteran model host G. mellonella has recently been reported as an attractive source for various AMPs such as gloverin, cecropin or the insect metalloproteinase inhibitor (IMPI) [25]. Gloverins are glycine-rich and heat stable basic proteins which primarily exhibit activity against gram-negative bacteria such as E. coli. [26-29]. However, also activity against gram-positive bacteria or fungi has been reported in the literature [30, 31]. The BEVS based expression of a *G. mellonella* derived gloverin, which has been fused to a green fluorescent protein for better protein detection (GmGlv-GFP), represents a good example on how the protein itself might influence the production process. Figure 2 depicts an exemplary production of GmGlv-GFP in a 3 L stirred tank bioreactor. Once the uninfected Sf21 insect cell culture has been diluted to approximately 3×10^6 cells mL⁻¹ at 48 h cultivation time and simultaneously infected with the recombinant baculovirus at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.1, the cell density and permittivity based biomass (see Sect. 3.8) revealed the typical time course of a secondary infection dependent kinetic. The strong increase in biomass signal within the first 24 h post infection includes the typical swelling of Sf cells following baculovirus infection as well as cell growth.



Fig. 3 Time courses for the standardized viable cell densities of BEVS-based production processes for *Gm*Glv-GFP and GFP in a 3 L bioreactor system, insect cell system: Sf21, baculovirus vector: AcMNPV, MOI = 0.1, TOI = $1 - 3 \times 10^6$ cells mL⁻¹, dissolved oxygen concentration (dO₂): 40 % of air saturation, utilized medium: Sf-900 II SFM, viable cell densities were determined via trypan blue exclusion method

After approximately 72 h cultivation time the biomass signal and cell density decreased as a result of cell lysis. A comparison of the cell death kinetic during *Gm*Glv-GFP production with the time course of cell death during expression of only GFP reveals a much faster dying of the cells for the *Gm*Glv-GFP production process (Fig. 3). For both baculovirus based production processes the same cell system (Sf21), the same virus (AcMNPV) as well as the same 3 L bioreactor system have been utilized.

Obviously the baculovirus induced GmGlv-GFP production in Sf21 insect cells leads to distinctive cell stress, which finally results in a faster dying of the culture. Moreover, Moreno-Habel et al. [32] recently found that *Trichoplusia ni* derived gloverin (*Tn*Glv) leads to inactivation of budded baculoviruses (AcMNPV) by disrupting the viral envelop. An inactivation of budded baculoviruses affects infection kinetics and could lead to falsified infection doses as well as increased process variability. This finally can affect product titers. Typical product concentrations observed for *Gm*Glv-GFP produced in the BEVS range from 5 to 20 mg/L, which is quite low when compared to the theoretical productivity of the system. Gloverin as an example shows that the production of insect derived molecules in insect cells can be very challenging. On the one side the production of these molecules in insect cells is a logical consequence as it is very likely to produce an active molecule with 100 % correct folding and modifications. On the other side it is possible that the recombinant molecule influences the production system either in a positive or, as observed for gloverin, in a negative manner. In this special case it has to be evaluated if gloverin only influences the baculovirus and sufficient product yields can be reached with the *Drosophila* S2 System, which works independent from viruses.

3 Online Monitoring

Modern bioprocesses demand for high efficiency, productivity and reproducibility in order to reduce costs and to ensure a satisfactory final product quality already during the ongoing production process. For that purpose, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) launched the process analytical technology (PAT) initiative which is intended to achieve these goals by implementing modern process monitoring tools for critical process parameters during all stages of the production processes. Particularly in cell culture processes, small changes of critical parameters such as temperature, hydrodynamic conditions, pH, nutrient supply or dissolved oxygen concentration can lead to alternations in cell metabolism and finally influence product yield and quality [33]. Moreover, from the industrial point of view low process efficiencies and productivities can even result in unprofitability of processes [34]. Biopharmaceutical manufacturing processes still suffer from performances far below their theoretical potential since improvement is a time and cost consuming venture once the existing process has been approved by the regulatory authorities. Thus, real-time process monitoring of critical process parameters can allow for product definition already during the manufacturing process in order to avoid losses of production batches due to quality issues [35, 36]. Additionally, there is a growing need for bioprocess monitoring in disposable bioreactors which has been driven by the increasing demand for single use technologies in the biopharmaceutical industry [37]. Up to now, the connectivity of PATdevices to disposable bioreactors is one of the major drawbacks [38].

In modern bioprocesses, monitoring of various parameters such as temperature, pH or dissolved oxygen concentration via common electrodes is already well established. However, there is still a strong demand for monitoring various other parameters of interest e.g. medium components, product concentration as well as cell density and viability, which allow a deeper understanding and insight into manufacturing processes [39]. Despite the increasing demand for a high and consistent product quality in the biopharmaceutical industry and the high potential for process improvement, available in situ monitoring techniques have been rarely established for insect cell culture processes. Due to the similarity of insect cell systems to other eukaryotic production systems, this contribution also includes application examples for various other animal as well as mammalian cell culture processes. Related in situ sensor concepts for the most common optical and capacitive monitoring techniques are introduced as well as their potential in monitoring cell culture processes and, if applicable, insect cell processes.

3.1 In Situ Analysis and its Requirements

Bioprocesses are usually sampled in order to gain information about parameters that may have a significant impact on culture performance. This finally facilitates a fundamental understanding and allows for process control in order to reach effective processing [38]. For instance, the concentrations of key substrates and, with respect to BV infected insect cell cultures, the time of infection (TOI) and time of harvest (TOH) are well known to influence product yield [40]. Gaining information about these parameters usually requires sampling from the bioreactor for offline analysis. However, major drawbacks of this approach are the time delay between sampling and analysis as well as the risk of contaminations [39]. In order to avoid these concerns, an in situ monitoring system can be applied to facilitate real time measurement directly in the bioreactor or in a bypass [41]. Bypass configurations are particularly applied in systems where, for instance, gas bubbles in the bioreactor would interfere the measurement signal [38]. However, for bypass-measurements it needs to be considered that within the bypass changes in state of the medium e.g. temperature, dissolved oxygen concentration, can cause falsified results when compared to measurements performed directly in the bioreactor [34]. Another possibility is to utilize the sensors externally (ex situ). In this case, a sterile sample removal system forwards the medium directly to the sensor (on line) [38, 42]. Since in situ sensors are placed directly in the sterile environment of the bioreactor, they have to fulfill special requirements. In situ sensors need to be autoclavable and should provide a stable and reliable signal over an extended period of time. This is especially the case when in situ sensors are applied for cell culture monitoring purposes since these processes are usually conducted over several days. A calibration previously performed has to be stable even after a sterilization cycle. Alternatively, there should be an option to calibrate the sensor after sterilization without sacrificing sterility of the system [38]. Moreover, disposable in situ sensors for single-use applications have to fulfill additional requirements. These sensors should be cheap enough to ensure economic efficiency, however, a long life time is not necessary. Technologies that could be mentioned in this context are semiconductor devices such as pH-ionsensitive field-effect transistors (IS-FETs). These devices, for instance, can be installed directly into the cultivation medium to facilitate pH, temperature and dissolved oxygen analysis. Alternatively, it is possible to use non-disposable optical sensors in combination with transparent observation windows. So far, continuous sterile sampling devices for single-use applications which facilitate on line analysis via ex situ measurements are not commercially available [42]. Generally, the choice of which process analytical technology is necessary to monitor and control the bioprocess is also dependent on the employed biological system. While prokaryotic systems provide a fast increase in cell density, which comes along with a fast metabolic activity, eukaryotic systems only exhibit slower growth rates and, consequently, a slower metabolic activity. Therefore, eukaryotic cultures require a lower recording frequency and analysis time for the sensor signal compared to prokaryotic systems [34, 38].

3.2 Infrared Spectroscopy

Spectroscopic methods such as the near infrared (NIR) spectroscopy and mid infrared (MIR) spectroscopy offer the advantage of monitoring various critical process parameters simultaneously. The function principle is based on the absorbance of energy and the resulting molecular vibrations and rotations once the related molecules have been excited at specific wavelengths. This energy absorption is finally identified and provides information about the molecules of interest [43]. The spectral signatures of organic molecules are thereby classified into three categories based on specific spectroscopic wave number ranges: far infrared (10–200 cm⁻¹), MIR (200–4,000 cm⁻¹), and NIR (4,000–13,000 cm⁻¹). Compared to the NIR signal, the MIR signal provides more defined peaks in the absorption spectra which facilitates a better assignment of molecules [39]. Especially the "fingerprint region" $(500-1,500 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ in the MIR spectra allows for very specific identification of organic molecules since this region exhibits the most specific absorption patterns [38]. However, the applicability of this technique is limited due to the strong infrared absorption of water below wave numbers of 4.000 cm^{-1} . NIR spectroscopy has been reported to be a suitable tool for monitoring of substrates and products in biotechnology [38, 44]. Hydrogen bonds which exhibit distinctive stretch vibrations between 3,600-2,400 cm⁻¹ allow for the detection of molecules that contain hydrogen bound to a heteroatom. Further potential analytes are proteins with their N-H bonds as well as O-H bonds of alcohols and C–H bonds of aliphates and aromates [39]. The possibility of utilizing IR spectroscopy for in situ applications in bioprocess monitoring was facilitated by the development of attenuated total reflectance (ATR) probes. A description of the measuring principle of ATR-IR spectroscopy is given by Lindner et al. [42]. Despite the fact that ATR-IR probes are commercially available, an application of the ATR-IR technology to disposable reactor systems remains a cost intensive venture since the expensive ATR crystals would have to be replaced after each cultivation process [42]. Furthermore, signal interpretation of multidimensional IR spectroscopic data is not straightforward and requires chemometric techniques. These techniques usually include data reduction via principal component analysis (PCA) as well as the development of calibration models via multivariate regression methods such as principal component regression (PCR) or partial least square regression (PLS). Also artificial neural networks (ANN) can be applied, especially when the correlation between the spectral data and target variables exhibit distinctive non linearity [36]. Various authors utilized IR spectroscopic techniques in cell culture applications. The most applications of NIR and MIR spectroscopy have been performed to monitor glucose, lactate as well as glutamine and ammonia in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cell culture processes [45-47]. Beside



Fig. 4 Electromagnetic wavelength spectrum and the corresponding wave length ranges for various optical and spectroscopic sensor techniques (Beutel et al. [38]; with kind permission from Springer Science and Business Media)

glucose, lactate and ammonia, Henriques et al. [48] also employed NIR spectroscopy to determine cell density in mammalian cell culture processes for monoclonal antibody production. Sellick et al. [49] simultaneously predicted glucose, lactate as well as monoclonal antibody concentrations in supernatants of CHO and murine myeloma (NS0) cell cultures via fourier-transform (FT)-MIR spectroscopy. An application of NIR spectroscopy for in situ monitoring of glucose and lactate during bioreactor cultures of adherent Vero cells attached to microcarriers is reported by Petiot et al. [50]. Only Riley et al. [51] applied off-line NIR spectroscopy to monitor the glucose and glutamine concentrations during growth of Sf-9 insect cells cultivated in Sf-900 II serum-free media. Despite the complexity of the culture media, glutamine and glucose concentrations could be predicted with standard errors of 0.51 and 1.46 mM, respectively, indicating the feasibility of IR-spectroscopic techniques in monitoring insect cell culture processes (Fig. 4).

3.3 Fluorometry

Direct measurement of fluorescence in an in situ application represents a promising tool for bioprocess optimization since various biologically active substances such as amino acids, enzymes, cofactors and vitamins exhibit fluorescent activity when excited at specific wave lengths. First applications of fluorometry for monitoring purposes was limited to only one pair of excitation and emission wavelength, and thus, to a single fluorophore [36]. In these applications, the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide NADH and its phosphorylated form NADPH has been the fluorophore of choice since the intracellular NAD(P)H concentrations could be utilized to estimate biomass concentrations [52]. However, major drawbacks of this technology are the dependency of the fluorescence signal to environmental conditions such as pH or temperature as well as the possibility for overlapping signals caused by the presence of other medium components fluorescing at the same wavelengths as the component of interest [34, 36, 53]. Further concerns that have been described to decrease fluorescence yield are inner filter effects, cascade effects and quenching phenomena [36, 54, 55]. Therefore, multivariate chemometric techniques are necessary to enable reliable data interpretation. In contrast to the single wavelength fluorometers, 2D fluorometers allow the detection of multiple fluorophores at once. The principle is based on the application of various excitation and emission wavelengths resulting in a complete fluorescence spectrum [34, 36, 38]. However, fluorometry has only scarcely been applied in monitoring eukaryotic cell culture processes. A possible reason might be the complexity of the culture media. In mammalian culture media, for instance, various fluorescent amino acids need to be provided since mammalian cells are not capable of synthesizing these amino acids on their own [56]. Once these amino acids are incorporated into recombinant or cellular proteins, their fluorescent properties might change. For instance, electrostatic interactions of tryptophan with neighbored charged amino acid residues of e.g. glutamate, lysine or aspartate, can lead to a significant shift in the emission wavelength of tryptophan [57]. This and other phenomena, such as quenching effects, make direct correlations between the growth of mammalian cells and fluorescence signals a difficult task [36]. Anders et al. [58] utilized in situ fluorometry to measure the NAD(P)H dependent culture fluorescence in uninfected and infected Sf-9 insect cell cultures. The fluorescence signal correlated well with the total cell density. A decrease in the fluorescence signal could be detected as a result of the decrease in viable cell density due to nutrient depletion. Comparable experimental results were obtained in serum containing Grace and TC-100 insect cell medium as well as serum free Ex-Cell 401. In mammalian myeloma NSO cell culture, Hisinger et al. [59] demonstrated the use of 2D fluorescence spectroscopy for monitoring the GFP concentration during a GFP production process. Teixeira et al. [56, 60] applied traditional 2D fluorescence spectroscopy as well as synchronous fluorescence spectroscopy for monitoring the production of recombinant glycoprotein IgG1-IL2 and monoclonal antibody IgG4 in Baby Hamster Kidney (BHK) and CHO cell culture processes, respectively. Besides product formation, they also demonstrated the suitability of these techniques for monitoring viable cell densities. Especially the synchronous fluorescence spectroscopy provides the potential for bioprocess monitoring in a real-time context since this technique exhibits improved peak resolution and recording speed [60].

3.4 Raman Spectroscopy

The principle of Raman spectroscopy is based on shifted wavelength scattering of molecules due to inelastic collisions of photons with the molecules once excited with monochromatic light. Bioprocess applications of Raman spectroscopy are feasible since adjustable lasers are available. The technique can be applied for multi-analyte measurements as well as differentiated measurements of certain compounds [61]. Resulting molecular fingerprints are well defined with high chemical specificity even in aqueous systems [62]. Despite these advantageous, Raman spectroscopy has not been extensively utilized for in situ applications in cell culture processes, which might be related to the difficulties arising with the use of this technique. One of the main problems is the considerable fluorescence activity of several biological molecules that might overlay the Raman scattering bonds [60, 61, 63]. This is even more a problem when the fluorescent compounds cannot be eliminated, as is the case for culture broths. A common approach to overcome this issue is the use of wavelengths outside the excitation range of the fluorescing molecules. Another problem arising from the use of charge-coupled device (CCD) detectors, which might exhibit pixel-to-pixel sensitivity, is the appearance of stable variations. Magnitudes of these variations can even exceed magnitudes of the measured signals [38]. Especially in bioprocess applications, bubbles from aeration and biomass can cause light scattering which results in signal attenuation. In this case, internal referencing can be utilized for correction purposes [61]. The high potential of using Raman spectroscopy in monitoring of cell culture processes was successfully demonstrated by Abu-Absi et al. [62]. In this work, Raman spectroscopy was employed to monitor glucose, glutamine, glutamate, lactate, ammonium, as well as the viable and total cell density in 500 L CHO cell culture processes. Chemometric techniques have been applied to the training datasets in order to obtain the required calibration models. Especially the possibility of monitoring the cell viability, which can be calculated from the predicted viable and total cell densities, represents an additional advantage.

3.5 Optical Chemosensors for O_2 , pH and CO_2 Determination

The application of optical chemosensors (optodes) facilitates measurements of parameters not accessible via direct measurements. Measuring principles of these sensors are based on indicators with optical properties such as photoluminescence, reflection and absorption. Available concepts are suitable for common bioreactors as well as disposable systems. The externally placed optical detector unit can be interfaced to the transducer via optical fibers [42]. O₂, CO₂ and pH can be measured in a non-invasive manner from outside the bioreactor via transparent observation window. Expendable sensor patches, containing the immobilized indicator, are thereby placed inside the bioreactors. Alternatively, invasive

measurements are possible via probes immersed in the culture broth and equipped with an optical window and indicator spot at the tip. This set up allows the application of optodes even in stainless steel bioreactors without optical windows. Compared to the classical electrodes, optical chemosensors represent a promising alternative for conventional bioreactors as well as disposable systems and can easily be implemented in cell culture processes. For instance, optical oxygen sensors have been successfully applied for oxygen monitoring in human mesenchymal stem cell cultures in fixed bed bioreactor systems [64–69].

3.5.1 Optical O₂ Sensors

Optical oxygen sensors are based on fluorescence quenching by molecular oxygen [70, 71]. After excitation with light e.g. by a light emitting diode (LED), the lifetime and intensity of a fluorescence signal is proportional to the oxygen concentration present around the dye. Emitted fluorescence light is transmitted via the optical fiber and segregated from the reflected excitation light by a dichroic mirror. Subsequent fluorescence detection is achieved by a photodiode or photomultiplier. Optical oxygen sensors are autoclavable without loss of sensitivity [42]. Compared to conventional Clark electrodes, commercially available O₂ optodes (e.g. available at PreSens, Regensburg, Germany/Ocean Optics Inc., Dunedin, FL, USA) are calibration-free and do not require polarization time or replacement of the electrolyte solution prior to use. A major drawback that needs to be mentioned is the limitation of long-term stability caused by photobleaching [42]. Therefore, the sensor patches need to be replaced on a regular basis.

3.5.2 Optical CO₂ Sensors

CO₂ sensors have been based on potentiometric function principles such as the Severinghouse electrodes [72]. These sensors are equipped with a pH and a reference electrode surrounded by a hydrophobic CO₂ permeable membrane. The electrodes are thereby placed within a carbonate buffer. When CO₂ concentration outside the permeable membrane increases, CO2 molecules diffuse into the carbonate buffer and change the pH value, which finally can be described by the Henderson-Hasselbalch equation. Fiber-optic CO₂ optodes are based on a similar pH-sensing system, where the electrodes are replaced by a pH-sensitive dye [73]. Compared to these classical CO_2 optodes, the development of solid type optical CO₂ sensors, with ion-pairs directly immobilized in the membrane, resulted in faster response times as well as a reduced sensitivity to ionic strength [74]. Determination of CO_2 via optical sensors can either be based on absorbance or fluorescence. Intensity based quantification methods have been the preferred ones since problems associated with the short life time of the fluorescence signal increased the need for sophisticated instrumentation. A method to overcome this drawback is based on the conversion of the intensity signal or the luminescence



Fig. 5 Working principle of optical pH and pO_2 chemosensors (Glindkamp et al. [80]; with kind permission from Springer Science and Business Media)

decay time of a pH-sensitive dye into a long-lifetime signal via resonance energy transfer (RET) [73].

3.5.3 Optical pH Sensors

Measurements of the pH via optical sensors can either be based on absorbance or fluorescence indicator dyes [75]. Today, pH can be measured in a range between pH 1–11 [76]. Also the cross-sensitivity to ionic strength for fluorescence based pH sensors, which has been reported as one of the drawbacks [77], could be reduced by the use of esterified fluorescein derivatives [78]. Covalently bound fluorescent dyes are suitable to decrease the loss of sensitivity due to elution of the dye or temperature treatment during autoclaving [79] (Fig. 5).

3.6 In Situ Microscopy

In situ microscopy (ISM) is a promising tool for bioprocess monitoring in cell culture applications since the technology offers real time information about various parameters such as cell concentration, cell size distribution or cell morphology. The probe is thereby directly immersed in the culture broth. Images taken by the CCD-camera are analyzed by sophisticated image analysis algorithms. Generally, in situ microscopes can be subdivided into two different groups, the incident light microscopes with an optically defined analysis zone and the transmitted light microscopes containing an optically or mechanically defined analysis zone [81, 82]. However, in the studies published so far only the transmitted light in situ microscopes have been applied for cell culture monitoring purposes. A transmitted



Fig. 6 Construction scheme of an in situ microscope developed by Frerichs and Joeris (Höpfner et al. [81]; with kind permission from Springer Science and Business Media)

light in situ microscope that meets the demands for industrial applications was described by Frerichs and Jöris in 2002 [83, 84] (Fig. 6).

In order to allow the adaption to changing process conditions, this microscope contains a mechanical defined variable-volume flow-through sampling zone. The sampling volume can be adjusted by a sampling zone tube which is connected to a movable slide. Beside the sampling zone tube, the microscope also contains two additional tubes, an outer probe tube as well as an inner objective tube. Proper focusing of the image is facilitated by the inner objective tube mounted to a second movable slide. Both slides are connected to a U-shaped profile and can be controlled by two separate stepper motors or micrometer screws. Illumination of the sampling zone via LED provides sufficient light for the visualization of cells by the CCD-camera. Since the reactor segment of the microscope can be separated from the optical segment, the sensor can be sterilized in the autoclave. The microscope has been employed for the monitoring of CHO and BHK cell cultures as well as adherent mouse fibroblast cells (NIH-3T3) on microcarriers [81, 83-86]. In order to recognize cells attached to the surface of microcarriers, the optical density of the microcarriers turned out to be an important parameter. Cytodex 1 microcarriers were found to be suitable for microscopic cell observations and image analysis due to the low optical density of the polydextrin matrix. Especially the reported change in the greyscale distribution between microcarriers without cells and overgrown with cells was assumed to be applicable for an estimation of cell densities [85]. In this context, Rudolph et al. [86] demonstrated the suitability of different greyscale



distributions in order to determine the planting efficiency and level of colonization during cultivation of NIH-3T3 cells on Cytodex 1 microcarriers.

The application of a transmitted light in situ microscope with optically defined sampling zone utilized to monitor BALB/c hybridoma cells was presented by Guez et al. [87]. The microscope described in this study is based on a pulsed illumination of the sampling zone via LED, which is synchronized with the image generation of the CCD-camera. This setup facilitates image generation of moving cells without motion blur. The LED is thereby mounted to an outer tube angularly to an optical quartz window. In order to facilitate proper focusing, the microscope contains a movable inner tube equipped with a 40× magnification objective. Since the microscope does not enclose a defined sample volume mechanically, information about the cell concentration is derived from a virtually defined volume (*depth from focus*—procedure [88]) (Fig. 7).

Beside information regarding cell density, cell size distribution and cell morphology, the development of an in situ dark field microscope also facilitates measurement of the cell viability. The dark field microscope developed by Wei et al. [89, 90] is based on the transmitted light in situ microscope described by Frerichs and Jöris in 2002 [83, 84]. For the purpose of dark field microscopy, the illumination of the original microscope has been modified. The original condenser was replaced by a dark field condenser. The application of Support Vector Machine (SVM) classifiers, which have been trained by a dataset of images with either living or dead cells, facilitates an automated determination of cell densities and viabilities. So far, the technology was only applied for fermentations of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, but also represents a promising method in cell culture applications. Another important point is the applicability of in situ microscopy in disposable systems. Up to know the use of ISM in disposable systems is not examined, but different approaches are already envisioned in the literature [42].



3.7 Focused Beam Reflectance Measurement (FBRM)

The FBRM technology as an in situ monitoring tool for cell culture processes offers the potential to gain real-time information about various important process variables such as cell density, cell size distribution as well as cell morphology. Inside the FBRM system, a laser light generated by a laser diode is passed to the probe assembly via fiber optics. The probe, which can be immersed in the culture broth, contains optical components that transfer the incoming laser light to an eccentrically rotating lens. The rotating lens finally facilitates a constant circular movement of the laser beam (2 m/s) as well as a focusing of the laser light to a small spot. As the laser beam intersects particles passing through the measurement zone, light is backscattered towards the probe. The backscattered light is then collected by the optics and forwarded to a photo diode, where the optical signal gets detected [91] (Fig. 8).

The duration of reflection multiplied by the rotation velocity of the laser beam finally results in a chord length, which considerably depends on the particle size as well as the particle shape. Compared to the rotation velocity of the laser, the velocity of the particles passing through the measurement zone can be neglected. The measurement range is $1-1,000 \mu m$ and the measured particles are sorted into different channels according to measured chord lengths, resulting in a characteristic chord length distribution. Thus, the technique does not deliver the particle size distribution directly. Empirical or theoretical methods are applicable in order to determine the particle sizes from the chord length data [92–94]. Although the probe has already been utilized for offline characterization of microbial [95–98] and plant cell systems [99–101], applications in cell culture processes are not yet reported. The latest version of the G400 FBRM system distributed by Mettler-Toledo is fully autoclavable and therefore allows the integration of this technology



Fig. 9 a Standardized FBRM counts in the range of $10-50 \ \mu\text{m}$ and the corresponding standardized offline cell density for a *Drosophila* S2 insect cell culture process; b Linear correlation between the FBRM counts ($10-50 \ \mu\text{m}$) and the offline total cell density for a *Drosophila* S2 insect cell culture process

even in cell culture processes. As indicated in Fig. 9, the system provides reliable information regarding the exponential growth of *Drosophila* S2 insect cells cultivated in a sparged and agitated 1L bioreactor system. Air bubbles generated by the O-shaped sparger did not interfere with the FBRM cell counts. The measured amount of cell counts per second in the chord length range of 10–50 μ m exhibited a linear correlation with the offline total cell densities and reflected the exponential growth of the cells. Further research needs to be done in order to examine whether this technology can be utilized to follow the changing mean cell diameter after baculoviral infection of insect cells as observed for the *S. frugiperda* derived cell



Fig. 10 a β -dispersion spectra for increasing cell densities with the capacitance ΔC critical frequency f_c , and medium capacitance C_{m} ; b β -dispersion spectra for changing cell sizes, the indicated variation in the critical frequency f_c is valid for a constant biovolume (Cannizzaro et al. [106]; with kind permission from John Wiley and Sons)

lines Sf9 and Sf21. In this case, the change in mean cell diameter would result in a corresponding variation of the mean chord length. As a result, the mean chord length signal could be utilized to evaluate a successful infection of the cells.

3.8 Dielectric Spectroscopy

The so called dielectric or impedance spectroscopy sensors belong to the group of capacitance and conductivity sensors. The technology is based on the passive dielectric properties of e.g. cells in a conducting medium. Beside the surrounding culture medium, the cytoplasm of the cells also contains conductive solutes such as salts and nutrients. Due to the dielectric properties of the lipid-based cell membrane, electrically charged ions accumulate at these cell membranes when an alternating electric field is applied to the cell suspension. In this case, the cell membranes act as small capacitors leading to a buildup of electrical charge (polarization). The measured overall capacitance is thereby dependent on the applied frequency of the alternating electric field, which is usually in the range between 0.1–10 MHz, as well as the cell size and cell concentration. At low electric field frequencies the ions have sufficient time to reach and polarize the cell membranes leading to a high overall capacitance of the cell suspension. With increasing excitation frequencies the polarization and thus the capacitance of the cell membranes decreases. In this case, the ions do not have enough time to move and accumulate at the cell membranes before the electric field changes direction. The observed drop in the measured capacitance from low to high frequencies exhibits a sigmoid shape which is also known as the β -dispersion spectrum [102]. As indicated in Fig. 10, the β -dispersion contains the critical frequency f_C which represents the working point for impedance sensors in the frequency range mentioned above. Since the polarization is dependent on the ability of the cell membranes to stop ion movement, only cells with intact cell membranes are involved in the buildup of the capacitance signal. Thus, dead or leaking cells are not captured by this technology [103]. Additionally, the capacitance signal is reported to be insensitive to gas bubbles and microcarriers facilitating the monitoring of cell culture processes in common sparged as well as fixed bed bioreactors [102, 104, 105]. However, very high volume fractions of non-biomass materials close to the sensor may influence the capacitance signal since the polarizable cells are replaced by non-polarizable materials [102].

The increasing demand for disposable cultivation systems emphasized the development of compatible sensors. Today, several solutions for the application of dielectric spectroscopy in single use bioreactors are available from the manufacturers (Aber Instruments, Aberystwyth, UK and Fogale nanotech, Nimes, France) [42, 107].

Dielectric spectroscopy offers a great potential in monitoring insect cell culture processes, especially the baculovirus related production processes, since the arrest of cell growth after infection as well as the swelling and lysis of infected cells can be monitored in real-time. The first online monitoring of infected and uninfected Sf9 insect cell cultures using dielectric spectroscopy was reported by Zeiser et al. [108]. The obtained results for uninfected insect cells indicated a linear correlation between the relative permittivity and the viable cell density during growth. After synchronous infection with a recombinant baculovirus encoding for β -galactosidase (MOI = 10), which resulted in an arrest of cell growth, the permittivity signal further increased as a result of the increasing cell size. Finally, the signal coincided well with the decrease in cell viability and size during cell lysis in the late infection phase. In order to enhance the β -galactosidase yield, the same work group focused on infection and feeding strategies and demonstrated the use of dielectric spectroscopy for monitoring high cell density cultivations of High-5 [109] as well as Sf9 insect cells [109, 110]. In either case, physiological parameters correlated well with the impedance signal. An observed peak in the CO₂ evolution rate during Sf9 cultivation could be related to a temporary plateau in the relative permittivity signal, reflecting the onset of the release of virus particles into the culture broth. However, this signal plateau has not been detected in the case of lower MOI infections of 0.001. In this case, the missing simultaneous cessation of cell growth resulted in a delay of the CO_2 evolution rates [109]. Furthermore, the results indicated that further optimization and automation of the fed batch processes potentially could be based on the permittivity signal [110]. Negrete et al. [111] employed dielectric spectroscopy in order to analyze and characterize the production of recombinant adeno-associated vectors (rAAV) in a 40 L tank using the baculovirus expression vector system with Sf9 insect cells. The permittivity signal allowed a determination of the infection time since the viable cell density and growth rate of non-infected cells could be monitored in real-time. Moreover, the increase in cell diameter could be correlated to the yield of rAAV as well as the optimum harvest time (TOH). Ansorge et al. [112] monitored infected Sf9 cell cultures and found a good correlation between the permittivity signal and the viable biovolume (determined by Vi-CELL[®]) as well as the total biovolume (determined by CASY[®] 1). After infection, the characteristic (critical) frequency f_C was observed to change according to the changing cell diameter. However, impact of the cell membrane properties on f_C could not be excluded. Besides the monitoring of insect cell cultures, dielectric spectroscopy has been extensively utilized to monitor mammalian cell cultures such as hybridoma, CHO, Vero or HeLA cultures. These applications have already been reviewed by other authors [107, 113] (Table 1).

4 Scale Up of Industrial Insect Cell Culture Processes

4.1 The Baculovirus Expression Vector System for Commercial Vaccine Production

The Baculovirus Expression Vector System (BEVS) is nowadays considered an established and matured manufacturing technology for the commercial production of a wide array of recombinant proteins in an industrial scale, e.g. of virus like particles (VLP) for vaccines [114]. As of mid-2012, a total of five human or veterinary vaccine products based on the BEVS system have been approved. Examples include GSK's CERVARIX[®] (Human Papillomavirus) and Boehringer Ingelheim's CircoFLEX[®] (Porcine Circovirus Type 2). Several other products are already in development and BEVS-based vaccines are considered for more and more diseases, including for the field of emerging diseases. Recent literature provides a good overview over the current state of commercial production utilizing the BEVS [114, 115].

4.2 Process Scale Up and Implications for Processes Utilizing the Baculovirus Expression Vector System

The BEVS production system requires the growth of an insect cell line, preferably in suspension culture, and its infection with a specific recombinant BV carrying the genetic information for the protein of interest. The infection can either be carried out subsequently to cell growth or simultaneously with cell planting into a vessel. For the commercial vaccine production it is crucial to establish an efficient, cost-effective and robust large-scale process to manufacture the required quantities of the protein of interest [115]. Taking the process developed initially in the milliliter or liter scale and scaling it up to industrial production volumes of hundreds or thousands of liters is a challenging procedure. Maintaining the productivity of the small scale process as well as critical process and product quality attributes are the essential goals of the scale up procedure [116–118].

Table 1 Summariz	ed applications of monitoring technique	ss in insect cell cultures	
Cell line	Technology	Application	Reference
Sf9	NIR Spectroscopy	Monitoring of glucose and glutamine in insect cell culture samples (offline)	[51]
Sf9	Fluorometry	In situ monitoring of NAD(P)H dependent culture fluorescence in infected and uninfected cultures; correlation with cell density	[58]
Sf9	Dielectric Spectroscopy	In situ monitoring of infected and uninfected cultures; correlation with viable cell density during growth; signal increase due to increasing cell size after infection	[108]
Sf9; High-5	Dielectric Spectroscopy	In situ monitoring of high cell density cultivations up to 50×10^6 cells/mL; detection of virus release after simultaneous infection	[601]
Sf9	Dielectric Spectroscopy	In situ monitoring of fed-batch processes for β -galactosidase production; increase in permittivity after infection at 14 × 10 ⁶ cells/mL could be attributed to cell size increase	[110]
Sf9	Dielectric Spectroscopy	Characterization of a rAAV production process in a 40L large- scale vessel; permittivity signal allowed a determination of the infection and harvest time	[111]
Sf9	Dielectric Spectroscopy	In situ monitoring of cell cultures during growth; change in critical frequency f _c following infection was assumed due to changes in cell size and membrane properties	[112]

A well developed, optimized and characterized small scale process is essential for a successful scale up [119]. Implementation of strategies like Quality by Design (QbD) or Process Analytical Technology (PAT) and the utilization of high throughput systems help to achieve these goals by increasing the process understanding, monitoring and control. The use of suspension insect cell lines readily facilitates the possibility of large scale processes as required for the commercial production of vaccine proteins and it is probably safe to assume that most commercial BEVS processes are performed in stirred tank reactors (STR). Biological process parameters of importance in the BEVS system are generally considered to include cell density at infection, multiplicity of infection, time of infection and physiological state and age of the cells at the time of infection [115]. But engineering parameters like agitation rate (mixing and shear), dissolved oxygen concentration or pH are also considered to be of significant importance for the process.

Cell culture condition, and therefore eventually the cells physiological state, affects and determines product quantity as well as quality. Scale up of suspension culture systems like the BEVS and its related equipment is performed based on well understood principles of scaling relevant parameters. Often it is based on geometric similarity of the small and large scale vessels [120]. In such a case, one or more specific parameters are then kept constant from the small to the large scale. Literature provides a good overview about the potential criteria for scale up [116]. They include, but are not limited to, power input, impeller tip speed or shear rate, Reynolds Number Re, oxygen transfer coefficient, gas flow rate per unit volume, mixing time and similar. It should be noted that because some of these criteria are partially associated with each other, keeping one of them constant can result in a change of the other parameters during scale up, in turn causing a change in the physical environment the cells experience [121]. Nevertheless, geometric similarity is often not given, for example when transferring or scaling up an established process into production facilities where equipment is already installed or if equipment is designed as multi-purpose equipment. Also, single use systems may not always be of the same geometry as the small scale or the stainless steel STR currently used. In such a case the process and its control need to be modified accordingly. In any case, the equipment used obviously needs to meet the current regulatory as well as process specific requirements. More recently, the application of Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) has also become more popular in the field of bioprocess scale up [116].

Volumetric scalability is considered as one of the key benefits of the BEVS systems, indicating the relative ease with such a system can be scaled up to commercial scales [122, 123]. Several key aspects need to be considered when scaling up a BEVS based process from the laboratory to large scale. Generally speaking, system heterogeneity increases with increasing scale, which has some important implications for the scale up procedure. Sufficient mixing via impellers has to be ensured at the large scale to allow sufficient mass transfer and to avoid major nutrient, oxygen or pH concentration gradients in the culture. Impeller agitation related shear stress has long been thought to be a major issue for (not only) insect cell cultures, but nowadays is not considered a major issue anymore.



Oxygen Sparge, VVM (F)

The use of multiple and supposedly shear sensitive impellers as well as medium additives like Pluronic F68 further helps to reduce the impact of this type of physical damage [118, 124]. Similarly nowadays it should not be a problem anymore to achieve the required oxygen transfer rates to supply the insect culture with sufficient oxygen. But even while the oxygen demand of insect cell cultures is relatively low compared to aerobic bacterial processes, surface aeration is generally not sufficient at the large scale and sparging of air or oxygen is therefore usually required [124, 125]. This leads to the problems of bubble induced cell damage as well as potential foaming issues which require the selection of the correct sparger type as well as gas composition and flow rates. Bubble size is also an important parameter to consider. Smaller bubbles, for example generated by sintered spargers, can cause more cell damage in insect cell cultures than large bubbles [124, 125]. Bubble size also affects CO₂ removal from the culture which can be considered another significant parameter to evaluate during scale up of a BEVS process [126]. Overall, an acceptable equilibrium between the parameters in question has to be found for the specific process and equipment used (see Fig. 11).

4.3 Single-Use Systems in Baculovirus Expression Vector System Processes

In recent years single use systems like the Single-Use Bioreactor (HyClone) or WAVE[®] (GE Healthcare) have been become more and more utilized in the biotech industry in general but also in BEVS processes [127, 128]. Main advantages of single use systems are their reduction in cross contamination potential as well as cleaning costs, increase of flexibility and decrease of the turnaround time. Main disadvantages on the other hand are the risk of leachables or extractables, sometimes insufficient material strength and difficulty of handling, pressure as well as temperature limitations, increased costs of waste disposal and scale limitations [115, 129]. Regardless of the specific system employed, the basic principles for scale up and transfer of a BEVS process into such a system are the same as for the standard stainless steel stirred tank equipment.

5 Conclusions

For the production of biologically active recombinant proteins the insect cell expression system is considered to be a suitable alternative to bacterial or mammalian cells. Compared to bacterial fermentations recombinant protein production in insect cells produce fully post-translational modified proteins. This is also possible with mammalian cells but is much faster and easier to implement with insect cells. BV expression vectors are commonly used in combination with lepidopteran species such as S. frugiperda (Sf9 and its parental line Sf21). However, infection of Sf9 cells by the baculovirus leads to cell lysis and a consequent dying of the culture. Here, the use of stably transfected D. melanogaster S2 cells can be a promising alternative. In contrast to the BV induced protein production in Sf9 cells, S2 cells are not lysed during cultivation facilitating even continuous process modes and protein production at high cell densities. Comparisons of the BEVS with the stable S2 expression system regarding protein yields clearly indicate that neither of the systems can be assumed superior. The amount of protein produced in both systems as well as process performance strongly depends on the properties of the protein itself. This has been further demonstrated using the example of a production process for GmGly-GFP. In order to choose the right expression system, not only protein yields should be considered but also the quality of the proteins resulting from post-translational modifications.

In situ technologies suitable to provide real-time information regarding nutrient consumption, product and metabolite formation, cell morphology, cell size, cell density and even cell viability, result in a deeper understanding of cell culture processes and allow the early detection of potentially unfavorable changes during production processes that might have a negative impact on product formation and quality. Hence, in situ monitoring contributes to meet the "quality by design" (QbD) requirements imposed by the FDA, resulting in a high and consistent product quality in the biopharmaceutical industry. Moreover, in situ monitoring reduces the risk for contaminations caused by common sampling procedures and represents an ideal tool for process control and automation. Despite the increasing demand for monitoring techniques in disposable systems, commercially available solutions which facilitate the connection of optical in situ sensors to disposable reactors are still rare. However, various methods are already described in the literature. Monitoring techniques such as the dielectric spectroscopy, in situ microscopy or FBRM are suitable to provide information on cell responses after

viral infection making these technologies interesting for the optimization of baculovirus related production systems. In this context, interrelations of critical process parameters such as the MOI, TOI and TOH can be evaluated. The high potential of optical monitoring techniques to determine nutrient and metabolite concentrations for optimization purposes in cell culture processes have not been fully exhausted yet. However, due to the fast developments in the area of in situ online monitoring systems driven by the PAT initiative and the increasing demands for high quality biopharmaceuticals, further applications of these technologies can be expected in the near future.

Also in industrial large scale processes, online monitoring techniques are intended to implement QbD strategies by increasing the process understanding and control. The use of suspension insect cell lines enables production processes in common stirred tank reactors. This is beneficial from the industrial point of view since stirred tank reactors can be used as multi-purpose equipment. However, in order to transfer small scale insect cell production processes into production scale, various aspects need to be considered. These aspects include biological parameters as well as engineering parameters. Geometric similarity is often not given especially when equipment is already installed and used as multi-purpose equipment. Moreover, disposable systems may differ significantly from small scale production vessels. In order to maintain culture performance, the process and the belonging process control needs to be modified in a way that regulatory as well as process specific requirements are considered. Finally, these goals can only be achieved by finding a compromise that ensures satisfactory yields of high quality products as well as the implementation of equipment specific requirements.

Up to now process optimization and process understanding for insect cell based processes is still immature. Some process engineering principles can be adopted from bacterial and mammalian fermentations which particularly are intensively investigated since decades. Nevertheless, the biological reaction of the insect cells to process changes cannot be simulated but can only be experimentally determined. Same is true for online monitoring of insect cells where mammalian cell processes can only give suggestions. The transferability of the online monitoring technology to insect cell processes still needs intensive research. Summarizing, insect cell processes still provide room for improvement to further increase the maximum yields of active recombinant proteins.

Acknowledgments The researchers would like to thank the Hessen State Ministry of Higher Education, Research and Arts for the financial support within the Hessen initiative for scientific and economic excellence (LOEWE).

References

 Weber W, Fussenegger M (2009) Insect cell-based recombinant protein production. In: Cell and tissue reaction engineering principles and practice. Springer, Berlin, pp 263–277. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-68182-3_6

- Grace TDC (1962) Establishment of four strains of cells from insect tissues grown in vitro. Nature 195(4843):788–789
- Smagghe G, Goodman C, Stanley D (2009) Insect cell culture and applications to research and pest management. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Animal 45(3):93–105. doi:10.1007/ s11626-009-9181-x
- O'Reilly DR, Miller L, Luckow VA (1994) Baculoviruses; genetic vectors; gene expression; genetics; laboratory manuals. Oxford University Press, New York
- Vaughn J, Goodwin R, Tompkins G, McCawley P (1977) The establishment of two cell lines from the insect spodoptera frugiperda (lepidoptera; noctuidae). In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 13(4):213–217. doi:10.1007/bf02615077
- Wang P, Granados RR, Shuler ML (1992) Studies on serum-free culture of insect cells for virus propagation and recombinant protein production. J Invertebr Pathol 59(1):46–53. doi: 10.1016/0022-2011(92)90110-p
- Hink WF, Thomsen DR, Davidson DJ, Meyer AL, Castellino FJ (1991) Expression of three recombinant proteins using baculovirus vectors in 23 insect cell lines. Biotechnol Prog 7(1):9–14. doi:10.1021/bp00007a002
- Altmann F, Staudacher E, Wilson IH, März L (1999) Insect cells as hosts for the expression of recombinant glycoproteins. Glycoconj J 16(2):109–123. doi:10.1023/a:1026488408951
- Jarvis DL, Kawar ZS, Hollister JR (1998) Engineering N-glycosylation pathways in the baculovirus-insect cell system. Curr Opin Biotechnol 9(5):528–533. doi:10.1016/ s0958-1669(98)80041-4
- Schneider I (1972) Cell lines derived from late embryonic stages of Drosophila melanogaster. J Embryol Exp Morphol 27(2):353–365
- Echalier G, Ohanessian A (1969) Isolation, in tissue culture, of drosophila melangaster cell lines. Comtes rend hebdomadaires des Seances de L'Academie des Sci 268(13):1771–1773
- 12. Tian JX, Li CY, Zheng GL, Li GX, Wang P, Granados RR (2004) A new cell clone derived from trichoplusia ni Tn5B1-4 cells. Insect Sci 11(3):165–171. doi:10.1111/ j.1744-7917.2004.tb00236.x
- Wickham TJ, Davis T, Granados RR, Shuler ML, Wood HA (1992) Screening of insect cell lines for the production of recombinant proteins and infectious virus in the baculovirus expression system. Biotechnol Prog 8(5):391–396. doi:10.1021/bp00017a003
- Luckow VA, Summers MD (1988) Trends in the development of baculovirus expression vectors. Nat Biotech 6(1):47–55
- Vlak JM, Schouten A, Usmany M, Belsham GJ, Klinge-Roode EC, Maule AJ, Van Lent JWM, Zuidema D (1990) Expression of cauliflower mosaic virus gene I using a baculovirus vector based upon the p10 gene and a novel selection method. Virology 179(1):312–320. doi:10.1016/0042-6822(90)90299-7
- Jarvis DL, Weinkauf C, Guarino LA (1996) Immediate-early baculovirus vectors for foreign gene expression in transformed or infected insect cells. Protein Expr Purif 8(2):191–203. doi:10.1006/prep.1996.0092
- 17. Luckow VA, Lee SC, Barry GF, Olins PO (1993) Efficient generation of infectious recombinant baculoviruses by site-specific transposon-mediated insertion of foreign genes into a baculovirus genome propagated in *E. coli*. J virol 67(8):4566–4579
- Dyring C (2011) Optimising the drosophila S2 expression system for production of therapeutic vaccines. Bioprocess J 10(2):28–35
- Bunch TA, Grinblat Y, Goldstein LSB (1988) Characterization and use of the drosophila metallothionein promoter in cultured *drosophila melanogaster* cells. Nucleic acids res 16(3):1043–1061. doi:10.1093/nar/16.3.1043
- Chung YT, Keller EB (1990) Positive and negative regulatory elements mediating transcription from the drosophila melanogaster actin 5C distal promoter. Mol Cell Bio 10(12):6172–6180. doi:10.1128/mcb.10.12.6172
- 21. Pfeifer TA, Hegedus DD, Grigliatti TA, Theilmann DA (1997) Baculovirus immediateearly promoter-mediated expression of the Zeocin TM resistance gene for use as a dominant

selectable marker in dipteran and lepidopteran insect cell lines. Gene 188(2):183–190. doi: 10.1016/s0378-1119(96)00756-1

- 22. Bernard AR, Kost TA, Overton L, Cavegn C, Young J, Bertrand M, Yahia-Cherif Z, Chabert C, Mills A (1994) Recombinant protein expression in a drosophila cell line: comparison with the baculovirus system. Cytotechnology 15(1):139–144. doi:10.1007/ bf00762388
- Verma R, Boleti E, George AJT (1998) Antibody engineering: comparison of bacterial, yeast, insect and mammalian expression systems. J Immunol Methods 216(1–2):165–181. doi:10.1016/s0022-1759(98)00077-5
- 24. Mirzaei M, Xu Y, Elias CB, Prakash S (2009) Nonviral production of human interleukin-7 in spodoptera frugiperda insect cells as a soluble recombinant protein. J Biomed Biot 2009:527. doi:10.1155/2009/637942
- 25. Vilcinskas A (2011) ANTI-infective therapeutics from the lepidopteran model host galleria mellonella. Curr Phar Des 17(13):1240–1245. doi:10.2174/138161211795703799
- 26. Axen A, Carlsson A, Engstrom A, Bennich H (1997) Gloverin, an antibacterial protein from the immune hemolymph of hyalophora pupae. Eur J Biochem 247(2):614–619. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1997.00614.x
- Lundstrom A, Liu G, Kang DW, Berzins K, Steiner H (2002) Trichoplusia ni gloverin, an inducible immune gene encoding an antibacterial insect protein. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 32(7):795–801. doi:10.1016/s0965-1748(01)00162-x
- Mackintosh JA, Gooley AA, Karuso PH, Beattie AJ, Jardine DR, Veal DA (1998) A gloverin-like antibacterial protein is synthesized in helicoverpa armigera following bacterial challenge. Dev Comp Immunol 22(4):387–399. doi:10.1016/s0145-305x(98)00025-1
- Kawaoka S, Katsuma S, Daimon T, Isono R, Omuro N, Mita K, Shimada T (2008) Functional analysis of four gloverin-like genes in the silkworm, bombyx mori. Arch Insect Biochem Physiol 67(2):87–96. doi:10.1002/arch.20223
- Hwang J, Kim Y (2011) RNA interference of an antimicrobial peptide, gloverin, of the beet armyworm, spodoptera exigua, enhances susceptibility to b. *thuringiensis*. J Invertebr Patho 108(3):194–200. doi:10.1016/j.jip.2011.09.003
- Xu X–X, Zhong X, Yi H-Y, Yu X-Q (2012) Manduca sexta gloverin binds microbial components and is active against bacteria and fungi. Dev Comp Immunol 38(2):275–284. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2012.06.012
- 32. Moreno-Habel DA, Biglang-awa IM, Dulce A, Luu DD, Garcia P, Weers PMM, Haas-Stapleton EJ (2012) Inactivation of the budded virus of autographa californica M nucleopolyhedrovirus by gloverin. J Invertebr Pathol 110(1):92–101. doi:10.1016/ j.jip.2012.02.007
- 33. Czermak P, Pörtner R, Brix A (2009) Special engineering aspects. In: Cell and tissue reaction engineering. principles and practice, Springer, Heidelberg, pp 83–172. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-68182-3_4
- Vojinovic V, Cabral JMS, Fonseca LP (2006) Real-time bioprocess monitoring part I: In situ sensors. Sens Actuators B-Chem 114(2):1083–1091. doi:10.1016/j.snb.2005.07.059
- Sommerfeld S, Strube J (2005) Challenges in biotechnology production—generic processes and process optimization for monoclonal antibodies. Chem Eng Process 44(10):1123–1137. doi:10.1016/j.cep.2005.03.006
- Teixeira AP, Oliveira R, Alves PM, Carrondo MJT (2009) Advances in on-line monitoring and control of mammalian cell cultures: supporting the PAT initiative. Biotechnol Adv 27(6):726–732. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2009.05.003
- Eibl R, Löffelholz C, Eibl D (2010) Single-use bioreactors—an overview. In: Single-use technology in biopharmaceutical manufacture. Wiley J & Sons, Inc., pp 33–51, chapter 4, doi:10.1002/9780470909997
- Beutel S, Henkel S (2011) In situ sensor techniques in modern bioprocess monitoring. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 91(6):1493–1505. doi:10.1007/s00253-011-3470-5

- Landgrebe D, Haake C, Hoepfner T, Beutel S, Hitzmann B, Scheper T, Rhiel M, Reardon KF (2010) On-line infrared spectroscopy for bioprocess monitoring. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 88(1):11–22. doi:10.1007/s00253-010-2743-8
- Maranga L, Brazao TF, Carrondo MJT (2003) Virus-like particle production at low multiplicities of infection with the baculovirus insect cell system. Biotechnol Bioeng 84(2):245–253. doi:10.1002/bit.10773
- 41. Lindner P, Endres C, Bluma A, Höpfner T, Glindkamp A, Haake C, Landgrebe D, Riechers D, Baumfalk R, Hitzmann B, Scheper T, Reardon KF (2010) Disposable sensor systems. In: single-use technology in biopharmaceutical manufacture. Wiley, pp 67–81, chapter 6. doi: 10.1002/9780470909997
- Lindner P, Endres C, Bluma A, Höpfner T, Glindkamp A, Haake C, Landgrebe D, Riechers D, Baumfalk R, Hitzmann B, Scheper T, Reardon KF (2011) Disposable sensor systems. In: Eibl R, Eibl D (eds) Single-use technology in biopharmaceutical manufacture. Wiley, Hoboken, pp 67–81. doi:10.1002/9780470909997, ch6
- 43. Stuart BH (2004) Infrared spectroscopy: fundamentals and applications. Wiley,
- Haake C, Landgrebe D, Scheper T, Rhiel M, Rhiel M (2009) Online-infrarotspektroskopie in der bioprozessanalytik. Chem Ing Tech 81(9):1385–1396. doi:10.1002/cite.200900042
- 45. Roychoudhury P, O'Kennedy R, McNeil B, Harvey LM (2007) Multiplexing fibre optic near infrared (NIR) spectroscopy as an emerging technology to monitor industrial bioprocesses. Anal Chim Acta 590(1):110–117. doi:10.1016/j.aca.2007.03.011
- 46. Arnold SA, Crowley J, Woods N, Harvey LM, McNeill B (2003) In-situ near infrared spectroscopy to monitor key analytes in mammalian cell cultivation. Biotechnol Bioeng 84(1):13–19. doi:10.1002/bit.10738
- 47. Rhiel M, Ducommun P, Bolzonella I, Marison I, von Stockar U (2002) Real-time in situ monitoring of freely suspended and immobilized cell cultures based on mid-infrared spectroscopic measurements. Biotechnol Bioeng 77(2):174–185. doi:10.1002/bit.10134
- Henriques JG, Buziol S, Stocker E, Voogd A, Menezes JC (2009) Monitoring mammalian cell cultivations for monoclonal antibody production using near-infrared spectroscopy. Optical Sens Syst Biotechnol 116:73–97. doi:10.1007/10_2009_11
- Sellick CA, Hansen R, Jarvis RM, Maqsood AR, Stephens GM, Dickson AJ, Goodacre R (2010) Rapid monitoring of recombinant antibody production by mammalian cell cultures using Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy and chemometrics. Biotechnol Bioeng 106(3):432–442. doi:10.1002/bit.22707
- Petiot E, Bernard-Moulin P, Magadoux T, Geny C, Pinton H, Marc A (2010) In situ quantification of microcarrier animal cell cultures using near-infrared spectroscopy. Process Biochem 45(11):1832–1836. doi:10.1016/j.procbio.2010.08.010
- 51. Riley MR, Rhiel M, Zhou XJ, Arnold MA, Murhammer DW (1997) Simultaneous measurement of glucose and glutamine in insect cell culture media by near infrared spectroscopy. Biotechnol Bioeng 55(1):11–15. doi:10.1002/(sici)1097-0290 (19970705)55:1(11:aid-bit2)3.0.co;2-#
- 52. Zabriskie DW, Humphrey AE (1978) Estimation of fermentation biomass concentration by measuring culture fluorescence. Appl Environ Microbiol 35(2):337–343
- Li JK, Humphrey AE (1991) Use of fluorometry for monitoring and control of a bioreactor. Biotechnol Bioeng 37(11):1043–1049. doi:10.1002/bit.260371109
- Konstantinov KB, Dhurjati P, Van Dyk T, Majarian W, Larossa R (1993) Real-time compensation of the inner filter effect in high-density bioluminescent cultures. Biotechnol Bioeng 42(10):1190–1198. doi:10.1002/bit.260421009
- 55. Srinivas SP, Mutharasan R (1987) Inner filter effects and their interferences in the interpretation of culture fluorescence. Biotechnol Bioeng 30(6):769–774. doi:10.1002/ bit.260300609
- Teixeira AP, Portugal CAM, Carinhas N, Dias JML, Crespo JP, Alves PM, Carrondo MJT, Oliveira R (2009) In situ 2D fluorometry and chemometric monitoring of mammalian cell cultures. Biotechnol Bioeng 102(4):1098–1106. doi:10.1002/bit.22125

- Vivian JT, Callis PR (2001) Mechanisms of tryptophan fluorescence shifts in proteins. Biophys J 80(5):2093–2109
- Anders K-D, Akhnoukh R, Scheper T, Kretzmer G (1992) Messung der Kulturfluoreszenz zur Überwachung und Charakterisierung von Insektenzellkultivierungen in Bioreaktoren. Chem Ing Tech 64(6):572–573. doi:10.1002/cite.330640625
- Hisiger S, Jolicoeur M (2005) A multiwavelength fluorescence probe: Is one probe capable for on-line monitoring of recombinant protein production and biomass activity? J Biotechnol 117(4):325–336. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2005.03.004
- Teixeira AP, Duarte TM, Carrondo MJT, Alves PM (2011) Synchronous fluorescence spectroscopy as a novel tool to enable pat applications in bioprocesses. Biotechnol Bioeng 108(8):1852–1861. doi:10.1002/bit.23131
- Becker T, Hitzmann B, Muffler K, Poertner R, Reardon KF, Stahl F, Ulber R (2007) Future aspects of bioprocess monitoring. In: Ulber RSD (ed) White biotechnology. Advances in biochemical engineering-biotechnology, vol 105, pp 249–293, doi:10.1007/10_2006_036
- Abu-Absi NR, Kenty BM, Cuellar ME, Borys MC, Sakhamuri S, Strachan DJ, Hausladen MC, Li ZJ (2011) Real time monitoring of multiple parameters in mammalian cell culture bioreactors using an in-line Raman spectroscopy probe. Biotechnol Bioeng 108(5): 1215–1221. doi:10.1002/bit.23023
- 63. Ulber R, Frerichs JG, Beutel S (2003) Optical sensor systems for bioprocess monitoring. Anal Bioanal Chem 376(3):342–348. doi:10.1007/s00216-003-1930-1
- 64. Weber C, Pohl S, Portner R, Wallrapp C, Kassem M, Geigle P, Czermak P (2007) Cultivation and differentiation of encapsulated hMSC-TERT in a disposable small-scale syringe-like fixed bed reactor. Open Biomed Eng J 1:64–70. doi:10.2174/ 187412070701016407
- 65. Weber C, Freimark D, Portner R, Pino-Grace P, Pohl S, Wallrapp C, Geigle P, Czermak P (2010) Expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells in a fixed-bed bioreactor system based on non-porous glass carrier–part A: inoculation, cultivation, and cell harvest procedures. Int J Artif Organs 33(8):512–525
- 66. Weber C, Freimark D, Portner R, Pino-Grace P, Pohl S, Wallrapp C, Geigle P, Czermak P (2010) Expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells in a fixed-bed bioreactor system based on non-porous glass carrier—Part B: modeling and scale up of the system. Int J Artif Organs 33(11):782–795
- 67. Freimark D, Pino-Grace P, Pohl S, Weber C, Wallrapp C, Geigle P, Portner R, Czermak P (2010) Use of encapsulated stem cells to overcome the bottleneck of cell availability for cell therapy approaches. Transfus Med Hemother 37(2):66–73. doi:10.1159/000285777
- Weber C, Pohl S, Poertner R, Pino-Grace P, Freimark D, Wallrapp C, Geigle P, Czermak P (2010) Production process for stem cell based therapeutic implants: expansion of the production cell line and cultivation of encapsulated cells. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 123:143–162. doi:10.1007/10_2009_25
- Weber C (2010) Festbettbasierte Kultivierungsverfahren f
 ür die Herstellung zelltherapeutischer Implantate. Ausgabe 278 von Fortschrittberichte VDI/17: Biotechnik, Medizintechnik. VDI-Verlag
- Köneke R, Comte A, Jurgens H, Kohls O, Lam H, Scheper T (1998) Faseroptische Sauerstoffsensoren f
 ür Biotechnologie Umwelt- und Lebensmitteltechnik. Chem Ing Tech 70(12):1611–1617. doi:10.1002/cite.330701224
- 71. Kohls O, Scheper T (2000) Setup of a fiber optical oxygen multisensor-system and its applications in biotechnology. Sens Actuators B 70(1–3):121–130. doi:10.1016/s0925-4005(00)00581-5
- 72. Severinghaus JW, Bradley AF (1958) Electrodes for blood pO2 and pCO2 determination. J Appl Physiol 13(3):515–520
- Cajlakovic M, Bizzarri A, Ribitsch V (2006) Luminescence lifetime-based carbon dioxide optical sensor for clinical applications. Anal Chim Acta 573:57–64. doi:10.1016/ j.aca.2006.05.085

- Weigl BH, Wolfbeis OS (1995) Sensitivity studies on optical carbon dioxide sensors based on ion pairing. Sens Actuators, B 28(2):151–156. doi:10.1016/0925-4005(95)80041-7
- Edmonds TE, Flatters NJ, Jones CF, Miller JN (1988) Determination of pH with acid-base indicators: implications for optical fibre probes. Talanta 35(2):103–107. doi:10.1016/ 0039-9140(88)80046-8
- 76. Li CY, Zhang XB, Han ZX, Akermark B, Sun LC, Shen GL, Yu RQ (2006) A wide pH range optical sensing system based on a sol-gel encapsulated amino-functionalised corrole. Analyst 131(3):388–393. doi:10.1039/b514510d
- 77. Dremel BAA, Schmid RD (1992) Optische Sensoren für die Bioprozeß-Kontrolle. Chem Ing Tech 64(6):510–517. doi:10.1002/cite.330640607
- Tan W, Shi Z-R, Kopelman R (1992) Development of submicron chemical fiber optic sensors. Anal Chem 64:2985–2990
- 79. Kermis HR, Kostov Y, Rao G (2003) Rapid method for the preparation of a robust optical pH sensor. Analyst 128(9):1181–1186. doi:10.1039/b304902g
- Glindkamp A, Riechers D, Rehbock C, Hitzmann B, Scheper T, Reardon KF (2010) Sensors in disposable bioreactors status and trends. Advances Biochem Eng biotechnol 115:145–169
- Hoepfner T, Bluma A, Rudolph G, Lindner P, Scheper T (2010) A review of non-invasive optical-based image analysis systems for continuous bioprocess monitoring. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 33(2):247–256. doi:10.1007/s00449-009-0319-8
- Bluma A, Hoepfner T, Lindner P, Rehbock C, Beutel S, Riechers D, Hitzmann B, Scheper T (2010) In-situ imaging sensors for bioprocess monitoring: state of the art. Anal Bioanal Chem 398(6):2429–2438. doi:10.1007/s00216-010-4181-y
- Frerichs JG, Joeris K, Konstantinov K, Scheper T (2002) Use of an in situ microscope for on-line observation of animal cell cultures. Chem Ing Tech 74(11):1629–1633. doi: 10.1002/1522-2640(20021115)74:11<1629:aid-cite1629>3.0.co;2-7
- Joeris K, Frerichs JG, Konstantinov K, Scheper T (2002) In-situ microscopy: Online process monitoring of mammalian cell cultures. Cytotechnology 38(1–2):129–134. doi:10.1023/ a:1021170502775
- 85. Anton F, Burzlaff A, Kasper C, Brueckerhoff T, Scheper T (2007) Preliminary study towards the use of in situ microscopy for the online analysis of microcarrier cultivations. Eng Life Sci 7(1):91–96. doi:10.1002/elsc.200620172
- Rudolph G, Lindner P, Gierse A, Bluma A, Martinez G, Hitzmann B, Scheper T (2008) Online monitoring of microcarrier based fibroblast cultivations with in situ microscopy. Biotechnol Bioeng 99(1):136–145. doi:10.1002/bit.21523
- Guez JS, Cassar JP, Wartelle F, Dhulster P, Suhr H (2004) Real time in situ microscopy for animal cell-concentration monitoring during high density culture in bioreactor. J Biotechnol 111(3):335–343. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2004.04.028
- Suhr H, Wehnert G, Schneider K, Bittner C, Scholz T, Geissler P, Jahne B, Scheper T (1995) In situ Microscopy for online characterisation of cell-populations in bioreactors, including cell-concentration measurements by depth from focus. Biotechnol Bioeng 47(1):106–116. doi:10.1002/bit.260470113
- Wei N, You J, Friehs K, Flaschel E, Nattkemper TW (2007) An in situ probe for on-line monitoring of cell density and viability on the basis of dark field microscopy in conjunction with image processing and supervised machine learning. Biotechnol Bioeng 97(6): 1489–1500. doi:10.1002/bit.21368
- Wei N, You J, Friehs K, Flaschel E, Nattkemper TW (2007) In situ dark field microscopy for on-line monitoring of yeast cultures. Biotechnol Lett 29(3):373–378. doi:10.1007/ s10529-006-9245-x
- Sparks RG, Dobbs CL (1993) The use of laser backscatter instumentation for the online measurement of the particle-size distribution of emulsions. Part Part Syst Charact 10:279–289
- 92. Barrett P, Glennon B (1999) In-line FBRM monitoring of particle size in dilute agitated suspensions. Part Part Syst Charact 16(5):207–211. doi:10.1002/(sici)1521-4117(199910)1 6:5<207:aid-ppsc207>3.0.co;2-u

- 93. Tadayyon A, Rohani S (1998) Determination of particle size distribution by par-tec (R) 100: modeling and experimental results. Part Part Syst Charact 15(3):127–135. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1521-4117(199817)15:3<127:aid-ppsc127>3.0.co;2-b
- 94. Heath AR, Fawell PD, Bahri PA, Swift JD (2002) Estimating average particle size by focused beam reflectance measurement (FBRM). Part Part Syst Charact 19(2):84–95. doi: 10.1002/1521-4117(200205)19:2<84:aid-ppsc84>3.0.co;2-1
- Pearson AP, Glennon B, Kieran PM (2003) Comparison of morphological characteristics of Streptomyces natalensis by image analysis and focused beam reflectance measurement. Biotechnol Prog 19(4):1342–1347. doi:10.1021/bp025734p
- 96. Pearson AP, Glennon B, Kieran PM (2004) Monitoring of cell growth using the focused beam reflectance method. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 79(10):1142–1147. doi: 10.1002/jctb.1105
- Ge XM, Zhao XQ, Bai FW (2005) Online monitoring and characterization of flocculating yeast cell flocs during continuous ethanol fermentation. Biotechnol Bioeng 90(5):523–531. doi:10.1002/bit.20391
- Grimm LH, Kelly S, Hengstler J, Gobel A, Krull R, Hempel DC (2004) Kinetic studies on the aggregation of aspergillus niger conidia. Biotechnol Bioeng 87(2):213–218. doi: 10.1002/bit.20130
- 99. McDonald KA, Jackman AP, Hurst S (2001) Characterization of plant suspension cultures using the focused beam reflectance technique. Biotechnol Lett 23(4):317–324. doi: 10.1023/a:1005646826204
- 100. Jeffers P, Raposo S, Lima-Costa ME, Connolly P, Glennon B, Kieran PM (2003) Focussed beam reflectance measurement (FBRM) monitoring of particle size and morphology in suspension cultures of morinda citrifolia and centaurea calcitrapa. Biotechnol Lett 25(23):2023–2028. doi:10.1023/B:BILE.0000004396.97796.0c
- 101. Uduman N, Qi Y, Danquah MK, Hoadley AFA (2010) Marine microalgae flocculation and focused beam reflectance measurement. Chem Eng J 162(3):935–940. doi:10.1016/ j.cej.2010.06.046
- 102. Davey CL, Davey HM, Kell DB, Todd RW (1993) Introduction to the dielectric estimation of cellular biomass in real time, with special emphasis on measurements at high volume fractions. Anal Chim Acta 279(1):155–161. doi:10.1016/0003-2670(93)85078-X
- 103. Stoicheva NG, Davey CL, Markx GH, Kell DB (1989) Dielectric spectroscopy: a rapid method for the determination of solvent biocompatibility during biotransformations. Biocatal Biotransform 2(4):245–255. doi:8992034
- 104. Degouys V, Cerckel I, Garcia A, Harfield J, Dubois D, Fabry L, Miller AOA (1993) Dielectric spectroscopy of mammalian cells. Cytotechnology 13(3):195–202. doi: 10.1007/bf00749815
- 105. Justice C, Leber J, Freimark D, Pino Grace P, Kraume M, Czermak P (2011) Online- and offline- monitoring of stem cell expansion on microcarrier. Cytotechnology 63 (4):325-335. doi:10.1007/s10616-011-9359-4
- 106. Cannizzaro C, Gugerli R, Marison I, von Stockar U (2003) On-line biomass monitoring of CHO perfusion culture with scanning dielectric spectroscopy. Biotechnol Bioeng 84(5):597–610. doi:10.1002/bit.10809
- 107. Justice C, Brix A, Freimark D, Kraume M, Pfromm P, Eichenmueller B, Czermak P (2011) Process control in cell culture technology using dielectric spectroscopy. Biotechnol Adv 29(4):391–401. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.03.002
- 108. Zeiser A, Bedard C, Voyer R, Jardin B, Tom R, Kamen AA (1999) On-line monitoring of the progress of infection in Sf-9 insect cell cultures using relative permittivity measurements. Biotechnol Bioeng 63(1):122–126. doi:10.1002/(sici)1097-0290(19990405) 63:1<122:aid-bit13>3.0.co;2-i
- 109. Zeiser A, Elias CB, Voyer R, Jardin B, Kamen AA (2000) On-line monitoring of physiological parameters of insect cell cultures during the growth and infection process. Biotechnol Prog 16(5):803–808. doi:10.1021/bp000092w

- 110. Elias CB, Zeiser A, Bedard C, Kamen AA (2000) Enhanced growth of Sf-9 cells to a maximum density of 5.2 × 10(7) cells per mL and production of beta-galactosidase at high cell density by fed batch culture. Biotechnol Bioeng 68(4):381–388. doi:10.1002/(sici) 1097-0290(20000520)68:4<381::aid-bit3>3.0.co;2-d
- 111. Negrete A, Esteban G, Kotin RM (2007) Process optimization of large-scale production of recombinant adeno-associated vectors using dielectric spectroscopy. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 76(4):761–772. doi:10.1007/s00253-007-1030-9
- 112. Ansorge S, Esteban G, Schmid G (2007) On-line monitoring of infected Sf-9 insect cell cultures by scanning permittivity measurements and comparison with off-line biovolume measurements. Cytotechnology 55(2–3):115–124. doi:10.1007/s10616-007-9093-0
- 113. Carvell JP, Dowd JE (2006) On-line measurements and control of viable cell density in cell culture manufacturing processes using radio-frequency impedance. Cytotechnology 50(1–3):35–48. doi:10.1007/s10616-005-3974-x
- 114. Cox MMJ (2012) Recombinant protein vaccines produced in insect cells. Vaccine 30(10):1759. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.01.016
- Vicente T, Roldao A, Peixoto C, Carrondo MJT, Alves PM (2011) Large-scale production and purification of VLP-based vaccines. J Invertebr Pathol 107:S42. doi:10.1016/ j.jip.2011.05.004
- 116. Schmidt FR (2005) Optimization and scale up of industrial fermentation processes. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 68(4):425. doi:10.1007/s00253-005-0003-0
- 117. Shen CF, Lanthier S, Jacob D, Montes J, Beath A, Beresford A, Kamen A (2012) Process optimization and scale up for production of rabies vaccine live adenovirus vector (AdRG1.3). Vaccine 30(2), doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.10.095
- 118. Chu L, Robinson DK (2001) Industrial choices for protein production by large-scale cell culture. Curr Opin Biotechnol 12(2):180. doi:10.1016/s0958-1669(00)00197-x
- 119. Feng S-Z, Jiao P-R, Qi W-B, Fan H-Y, Liao M (2011) Development and strategies of cellculture technology for influenza vaccine. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 89(4):893. doi: 10.1007/s00253-010-2973-9
- 120. Catapano G, Czermak P, Eibl R, Eibl D, Pörtner R (2009) Bioreactor design and scale up. In: Cell and tissue reaction engineering: Principles and Practice. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 173–259, doi:10.1007/978-3-540-68182-3_5
- 121. Shuler ML, Kargi F (2001) Bioprocess engineering: Basic concepts, vol 2. Prentice Hall
- 122. Kotin RM (2011) Large-scale recombinant adeno-associated virus production. Hum Mol Genet 20(R1):R2. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddr141
- 123. Kost TA, Condreay JP, Jarvis DL (2005) Baculovirus as versatile vectors for protein expression in insect and mammalian cells. Nat Biotechnol 23(5):567. doi:10.1038/nbt1095
- 124. Nienow AW (2006) Reactor engineering in large scale animal cell culture. Cytotechnology 50(1–3):9. doi:10.1007/s10616-006-9005-8
- 125. Marks DM (2003) Equipment design considerations for large scale cell culture. Cytotechnology 42(1):21. doi:10.1023/a:1026103405618
- 126. Ikonomou L, Schneider YJ, Agathos SN (2003) Insect cell culture for industrial production of recombinant proteins. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 62(1):1. doi:10.1007/s00253-003-1223-9
- 127. Weber W, Weber E, Geisse S, Memmert K (2002) Optimisation of protein expression and establishment of the wave bioreactor for baculovirus/insect cell culture. Cytotechnology 38(1–2):77. doi:10.1023/a:1021102015070
- 128. Singh V (1999) Disposable bioreactor for cell culture using wave-induced agitation. Cytotechnology 30(1-3):149. doi:10.1023/a:1008025016272
- 129. Eibl R, Kaiser S, Lombriser R, Eibl D (2010) Disposable bioreactors: the current state-ofthe-art and recommended applications in biotechnology. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 86(1):41. doi:10.1007/s00253-009-2422-9
Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 101–122 DOI: 10.1007/10_2013_210 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Published Online: 12 June 2013

Insect Antenna-Based Biosensors for In Situ Detection of Volatiles

Matthias Schott, Christoph Wehrenfennig, Tina Gasch and Andreas Vilcinskas

Abstract Insect antennae are among the most sensitive and selective chemicalsensing organs in the animal kingdom. Insects can perceive picograms of specific volatile organic compounds per cubic meter of air in milliseconds, which is far below the detection thresholds of current analytical devices. These exceptional sensing abilities have many uses in the context of insect biotechnology. Living specimens or parts of them, such as isolated antennae or individual proteins, can serve as biosensors in the field. As volatiles occur in a crude mixture in the environment, knowing which trigger-volatiles are crucial for the insects' perception of specific incidents is of great value. This knowledge promotes the development of selective sensors for applications, such as fire detection. In this chapter, we discuss the different technical procedures for the preparation and use of insectbased biosensors for the detection of organic volatiles, including those based on insect behavior, insect olfactory proteins, and biomimetic sensing units. We also consider the use of these applications in portable devices outside the laboratory under field conditions.

Keywords Biosensor · Electroantennography · GC–MS/EAD · Mobile GC–MS · Needle-trap device · Odorant receptor · VOC detection · VOC quantification

Abbreviations

- EAG Electroantennography
- EAD Electroantennographic detection
- FETs Field-effect transistors
- FID Flame ionization detector

C. Wehrenfennig

Institute of Soil Science and Soil Conservation, Justus-Liebig-University of Giessen, Heinrich-Buff-Ring 26-32, 35392 Giessen, Germany

M. Schott (🖂) · T. Gasch · A. Vilcinskas

Institute of Phytopathology and Applied Zoology, Justus-Liebig-University of Giessen, Heinrich-Buff-Ring 26-32, 39592 Giessen, Germany e-mail: matthias.schott@agrar.uni-giessen.de

GC	Gas-chromatography
MS	Mass-spectrometry
NTD	Needle-trap device
OBPs	Odorant-binding proteins
ORs	Odorant-receptors
POM	Polyoxymethylen
SSRs	Single-sensillum recordings
SPME	Solid-phase microextraction
VOCs	Volatile organic compounds

Contents

Introduction	102
Principles of Insect Volatile Reception	
B Electroantennographic Devices	
3.1 Laboratory Systems	105
3.2 Portable Systems	110
Behavior-Based Biosensors	115
Biosensors based on Insect Odorant Receptors	117
Gas Sensor-Based Biomimetic Approaches	117
Conclusion/Outlook	118
References	
•	Introduction Principles of Insect Volatile Reception Electroantennographic Devices

1 Introduction

The sensitive and specific detection of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) is required in a wide range of technical applications, such as non-invasive diagnostics, process monitoring, quality assurance, detection of taints and off-flavors in the food industry, agricultural and environmental monitoring, and detection of explosives, drugs, and biological warfare agents [1, 2].

Insects are the most diverse taxonomic class in the animal kingdom, and they have evolved specialized sensory organs in their antennae for the detection of volatiles (i.e. semiochemicals, also known as infochemicals) that are used to communicate between individuals, including pheromones for intraspecific communication and allelochemicals for interspecific communication [3]. Insects use self-produced pheromones and environmental volatiles for navigation, communication (including deception), and the identification of nutrient sources. This has been reinforced by communication not only among insects but also across taxonomic kingdoms (e.g. interactions between insects and plants). The production of communication volatiles is an energy-demanding process; thus, the lowest possible

amounts are released to conserve energy and ensure that enemies cannot read the signals. When a signal is detected, a specific perception ensures that energy-consuming false reactions are avoided. The sensory organs of insects have therefore become particularly sensitive and specific, providing an ideal basis for the development of biosensors. Insects can sense odors at detection thresholds that are orders of magnitude lower than the most advanced physical approaches based on gas sensors or gas chromatography (GC)-mass spectrometry (MS) [1]. The olfactory system of insects is so selective that isomers of the same substance can appear as attractants or repellents depending on their spatial configuration [4]. There are several examples of isomer-specific reception in insects; for example, the gypsy moth (*Lymantria dispar*) and the nun moth (*Lymantria monacha*) are attracted by (+)–disparlure, but the gypsy moth is repelled by (–)–disparlure [5, 6].

The number of different perceivable volatiles differs between insect species, depending on their mode of life. On one hand, generalists such as the honeybee (Apis mellifera) are known to feed on many different plants and live for several months in changing environmental conditions. On the other, there are specialists that live for a very short time as imagos and never feed, with mating before death as the only goal. This is the case for specimens of the mayfly genus Ephemeroptera and several moth species. Some of these males not only sense the sex pheromone blend of the female but also volatiles from plants that are ideal mating sites, thus further increasing the likelihood of finding a female. Host plant volatiles can also promote mating behavior (e.g. in the European grapevine moth Lobesia botrana) to ensure that mating is favored at good feeding sites for larvae [7]. The extreme capabilities of insect antennae can be used in several ways, ranging from the use of whole insects to single olfactory proteins as sensors, including "copy nature" strategies in which antennae are used as templates for sensor systems. In each of these methods, the odorant-receptor-ligand interaction must be converted into a readable signal [1].

2 Principles of Insect Volatile Reception

To understand the advantages and disadvantages of different sensing concepts, we must first consider the cellular events involved in volatile detection. Insects have a diverse morphology that extends to their antennae. The distribution of sensilla (organs containing ORs) over the antennal and palp surfaces can be investigated with a light microscope [4], but the variation in the type and form of the sensilla [8] must be analyzed by scanning electron microscopy (Fig. 1). Different sensillum types (e.g. mechanoreceptors, thermoreceptors, hygroreceptors) fulfill specific tasks and occur in diverse contexts. There are also chemoreceptors for tasting (single-pore sensilla) or smelling (multi-pore sensilla). The scanning electron microscope image of the basal part of the sensilla in Fig. 1e shows a perforation covering the entire surface, representing pore tubules that enable volatiles to reach the sensilla lymph (Fig. 1f). Here, odorant binding proteins (OBPs) attach to the



perceivable substance to make hydrophobic volatiles soluble and to protect the

Fig. 1 a *Lobesia botrana* male. b Combined and pseudocolored scanning electron microscopy images of the *L. botrana* antenna. **c**–**e** Magnification of sensilla with pore tubule openings visible on the sensillum surface in **e. f** Sensillum structure, with the receptor neurons consisting of dendrite, soma and axon that reach to the antennal lobe (*after* [4, 8]). For clarity, the supporting trichogen, tormogen and theogen cells are not shown. **g** Volatile reception at the dendrite membrane with the associated proteins and enzymes (*after* [9])

volatiles from odorant-degrading enzymes (Fig. 1g). OBPs that carry a volatile can bind to membrane-bound odorant receptors (ORs) or release the volatile at the receptor surface so the volatile can bind directly to the receptor [9]. In either case, binding initiates a chain reaction that is still incompletely understood [1]. Ultimately, ion channels or ion-channel-like chaperones are opened. If enough odorants are present and therefore several ion channels have opened simultaneously, an action potential is released along the dendrite to the antennal lobe, although the underlying mechanisms again remain elusive [10].

Subsequently, the volatile is released and degraded by a specific odorantdegrading enzyme to prevent further signals being triggered by the same molecule. Most sensilla contain 1–5 different dendrites [8]. Exceptions include the hymenopteran *Sceliphon spirifex*, which has 140 olfactory receptor neurons per sensillum [8, 11]. Moths in particular tend to possess pheromone receptors that recognize only one specific compound, so that even minimal chemical variations elicit no reaction even in high doses at these specific receptors [12]. By contrast, general ORs can also react to several substances as especially reported in flies, and the subsequent perception of single odorants is achieved by pattern recognition, as in *Drosophila melanogaster* [12]. Therefore, the specificity of the devices based on insect reception depends on the species and the target volatiles.

3 Electroantennographic Devices

3.1 Laboratory Systems

3.1.1 Electroantennography (EAG)

The most widely used and established method to measure insect volatile reception is electroantennography (EAG, see Fig. 2), as it was first reported in 1955 by Schneider [13, 14]. In such devices, insect antennae are connected to two electrodes and electrical signals are measured when substances are received. The sum of depolarization events on the dendrite surface (Fig. 1g) generates a nanovoltage that must be filtered and amplified to measure the signal. The electrodes can be connected to the insect tissue via saline solutions (e.g. KOH or Insect Ringer's solution) or gels used for electrocardiograms. They prevent dehydration and rapid healing of the injured insect tissues, therefore enabling the measurement of antennal signals.

EAG measurements are also possible with dissected heads or whole insects, in which case the measurement electrode is connected to the antennal tip and an indifferent electrode to the antennal suture or insect neck [15, 16]. Whole insects must be immobilized to prevent false signals from motor neurons. The placement of the reference electrode is important to prevent the measurement of signals from other nerves. Whole insect measurements are beneficial in species in which the



Fig. 2 Typical electroantennography (EAG) connection and measurement. An isolated insect antenna is inserted into a glass electrode filled with Insect Ringer's solution. The graph shows an EAG recording, with an air puff that contains a test compound presented for one second (as indicated by the *gray bar*). The EAG response features a negative potential that correlates with the sum of all depolarization events in the antennal receptors. The example represents a *Lobesia botrana* male antenna that reacts to an air puff above a filter paper spiked with 100 pg 7,9-docecadienyl acetate diluted in acetone

antennae survive only briefly after isolation. The classic EAG setup also works underwater; for example, antenna from the water beetle *Dytiscus marginalis* are reported as equally sensitive in water and air [17].

In a standard EAG setup, a steady stream of cleaned and humidified air is presented to the insect antenna to achieve a standardized background for the mechanoreceptors, hygroreceptors, and thermoreceptors. One puff of air containing a specific concentration of a test substance is then added for a fixed period of time (up to 1 s). Before each experiment, the blank reaction of the antenna to the clean air puff must be recorded to evaluate the reactions of the sensilla towards electromagnetic fields in the apparatus. However, the responsiveness of the antenna decreases over time. Therefore, to compare the measurements taken from one antenna, reference reactions must be recorded at regular intervals so that values can be normalized afterwards [18, 19]. Several methods are used to feed test substances into the air stream, often involving a defined amount of substance placed on a permeable filter paper, on a rubber septum, or in a drop of paraffin oil [18, 20, 21].

The major drawback of EAG is that purest substances are required for accurate recordings because the reactions of all antennal neurons are measured at the same time. In some cases, it is difficult to obtain a pure or synthetic reference substance. Isomerism must also be considered when interpreting the results.

3.1.2 Coupled Gas Chromatograph-Electroantennographic Detection (GC-EAD)

To circumvent the disadvantages of EAG, it is possible to separate blends of volatiles by GC. When the EAG is used as detection unit after this separation, the apparatus is termed as a coupled gas chromatograph-electroantennographic detector (GC-EAD) [22]. Different chromatographic columns and temperature/ pressure programs allow the separation of almost all types of volatile compounds. The addition of a flame ionization detector (FID) also allows quantitation, and a MS helps to identify the compounds that are separated. FID and EAD devices can be exchanged because both work under atmospheric pressure, but the integration of a mass spectrometer is more difficult because the GC column ends here in a high vacuum. To enable simultaneous measurement of substances eluting from the gas chromatograph, a column coupling combined with makeup gas is required to compensate for pressure differences. The combination of GC and EAG allows active compounds to be separated from mixtures [22], such as the reaction of a L. botrana male antenna to the enrichment of outside air near a pheromone dispenser containing L. botrana female pheromone components as shown in Fig. 3. By analyzing the isomer mixture of Z,E, E,Z, Z,Z and E,E-7,9-dodecadienyl acetate, Arn et al. [22] proved that L. botrana male antenna respond mostly to the E,Zisomer, the main component of the pheromone blend, while showing little response to the Z, E-isomer. In several insect species such as the gypsy moth, the incorrect isomers can even have a negative effect [5, 6].

GC-EAD offers the unique possibility to quantify substances based on the antennal reaction. As the response to the preparation differs from one antenna to another, it is necessary to normalize the data. Provided that the measurement setup ensures constant temperature, air flow, and humidity, the responses are



Fig. 3 Comparison of electroantennographic detection (EAD) and mass spectrometry (MS) responses in a coupled gas chromatography-mass spectrometry/electroantennographic detection (GC-MS/EAD) measurement of a needle-trap device enrichment near a pheromone dispenser in a vineyard. (1) Butylated hydrotoluene (antioxidant added to the pheromone dispensers). (2) 9-dodecenyl acetate (major pheromone component of *Eupoecilia ambiguella*). (3) Two diastereomers of 7,9-dodecadienyl acetate (major pheromone component of *Lobesia botrana*). The *upper trace* displays the EAD response of a *L. botrana* male antenna and the *lower trace* shows the abundance of ions measured by MS [23]



Fig. 4 Dose-response peak areas of *Lobesia botrana* males to 1 μ l injections of (*E*,*Z*)-7,9-dodecadienyl acetate in acetone measured using gas chromatography-electroantennographic detection. *Dark bars* show antennal responses from 1 pg to 1 μ g and *error bars* indicate the standard deviation. *Dark bars* represent the measured peak areas and *light bars* show the reaction after normalization to 0.1 ng/ μ l (adapted from [23])

reproducible because antennae from the same species feature the same calibration slopes [22–24]. Normalization to one specific concentration injected into the GC injector and measured with each antenna ensures the repeatability of measurements with different antennae (Fig. 4).

The most recent development is a chopper-modulated EAD, which promises to lower the detection limit even further. Here, the signal-containing air flow is mixed with clean air at a specific frequency and "chopped" into blocks with and without target volatiles. The reaction of the antenna to the air stream therefore oscillates at the same frequency. A matched band pass filter can then be used so that only the reaction to the target substances is passed while the noise from the other receptors and the electrical device is filtered out. This approach has increased the sensitivity of the used EAD by a factor of 10^4 [25, 26].

3.1.3 Single-Sensillum Recording (SSR)

Recordings with whole antenna or whole insects are not selective for single volatiles and do not reveal which sensilla are responding to each specific substance, but single-sensillum recording (SSR) does provide this information. Here, an extremely narrow glass capillary or tungsten electrode is connected to the tip of a sensillum or inserted in the cuticle near a sensillum pit. The grounding electrode is connected to the cut base of the antenna, the intersegmental membrane, the eye, or abdominal tip to establish contact with the hemolymph [29–31] (Fig. 5). The advantage of this type of measurement is that every depolarization event can be measured as a spike, resulting in highly accurate surveys and specific measurements. However, the amplitude of each signal is lower than the measurement of the summed depolarization events recorded by EAG. Therefore, the whole measurement setup is even



Fig. 5 A single-sensillum connection and two typical single-sensillum recordings (SSRs). **a** The connection of the sensillum tip and the antennal base to glass capillaries filled with Insect Ringer's solution. **b**–**c** Recordings of a *Drosophila melanogaster* ab3-sensillum that comprises two olfactory receptor neurons [27]. The larger cell contains Or22a receptors that respond to ethyl hexanoate (**b**), whereas the smaller cell contains Or85b receptors that respond to 2-heptanone (**c**). In both traces, the cells were presented with 100-ms pulses of 10^{-4} dilutions of each compound in hexanoate, indicated by the *gray box* (for details, see [28]). The SSR response displays greater spike density representing the depolarization events on the respective dendrite surface, in the presence of each specific compound

more susceptible to electromagnetic fields and tremors. For this reason, the SSR apparatus is typically shock proof and mounted in a Faraday cage. In SSR, the preparation is especially challenging, as can be seen from the sensillum size in Fig. 1. Because there are normally only up to five different olfactory receptor neurons in one sensillum, the measurement is much more selective. But the type of sensillum cannot be determined from its shape under a light microscope in most species and classification can be hampered further when the sensilla are housed in a pit [8]. After connecting to a potential target sensillum, testing must be carried out with a pure test substance to exclude mechanoreceptors, thermoreceptors, hygro-receptors, and irrelevant types of chemoreceptors [32]. A GC-SSR coupling is a powerful tool to identify the ORs in one sensillum and the active substances in a multicomponent pheromone mixture [33].

3.2 Portable Systems

3.2.1 Portable EAG

By 1990, several portable EAG systems were under development [34-36], ultimately yielding a commercial device [37]. In situ EAG measurements with portable devices have been reported in vineyards, cotton fields, pea fields, apple orchards, forests, cranberry bogs, and maize plots [38]. In these assemblies, an insect antenna is mounted in a holder chip (Fig. 6a) made from an inert plastic such as poly(methyl methacrylate), also known as Plexiglas or polyoxymethylene (POM). The chip comprises two wells containing Insect Ringer's solution and an electrode. A narrow slit between these wells is bridged by the dissected insect antenna, which is exposed to the volatile-containing air. The chip is mounted in a glass or plastic chamber. In this approach, diverse chips offer the utilization of different antennal morphologies. The chip is beneficial because it resists minor shocks while its portability allows the rapid preparation of antennae away from the instrument. This facilitates the preparation process because conventional EAG devices are not that readily accessible. The researcher—a major source of tremors and electromagnetic fields-can also stay away and minimize the distortion. The volatile-laden air is forced through the measurement chamber and past the antenna by a suction pump (Fig. 6b). The external air must be cleaned by a charcoal filter (for calibration), which can be opened automatically to measure reactions to the volatiles in the air surrounding the device. A chemical reference is also required to calibrate each antenna, allowing the results from individual antennae to be compared and to monitor the decline in antennal response due to aging. The calibration solution has to be a pure chemical substance, which is the focus of the survey, and has to be dissolved in a solvent that does not stimulate an antennal reaction itself. Air puffs are then passed through gas-tight syringes that contain the chemical standard diluted in paraffin [36], in solvent absorbed onto filter paper [39] or in silicone oil [21]. The air puffs are emitted by motor-driven syringes into the airmixing tube that leads to the EAG chamber described above (Fig. 6b). A Pasteur pipette containing filter paper spiked with 1 μ l of calibration solution can also be used for calibration [14, 16]. Air, which is controlled by an electric valve, is puffed through the Pasteur pipette into the mixing tube that leads both clean and calibration air past the antenna. Results of outside measurements can be obtained in a few seconds from the portable EAG device, allowing relative atmospheric pheromone concentrations to be determined [41]. The device is also relatively small, so it can be carried around and placed at different heights to investigate the threedimensional structures of pheromone plumes.

One disadvantage of this device is the reaction of the antenna to nontarget volatiles and environmental changes, such as plant-emitted volatiles or changes in temperature and humidity. Several calibration syringes with standards of nontarget volatiles can be used to blank out the background, saturating the respective olfactory receptor neurons to reduce or eliminate this problem [20]. However,



Fig. 6 a A self-built polyoxymethylene (POM) chip, which holds the antenna, with two wells each containing Insect Ringer's solution and an electrode separated by a slit. A *Nicrophorus vespilloides* antenna is placed in the slit for measurement (Schott et al. unpublished; adapted from [36, 40]). **b** A portable EAG device (adapted from [36]). Air is sucked in through a removable active coal filter (1). The filter is attached during calibration but can be removed for outside measurements. The antenna can be tested and calibrated using a syringe that provides air puffs containing calibration solution (2). The impulses from the antenna must be amplified and converted into a digital signal, which is recorded by a computer (4). The air is forced into the device by a suction pump (5)

every perceivable volatile at the measurement site must be known and available as reference, and the background volatiles may vary with the season [39]. Furthermore, the lifetime of the antenna is reduced because the background volatiles induce action potentials in the corresponding dendrites, thus consuming the limited available energy. Changes in temperature and humidity can also generate false positives/negatives.

Problematic background volatiles can be addressed using EAG-based bioelectronic sensor arrays as described by Myrick et al. [42]. These comprise up to eight antennae from different insect species and sexes, which are used simultaneously. Substances can be identified by pattern recognition and background peaks can be detected if the system is "trained" with specific volatiles. Such arrays require also insect antenna that do not detect the target volatile so that background reactions to environmental changes can be recorded. Mechanoreceptors, thermoreceptors, and hygroreceptors within each antenna will elicit signals when the environmental conditions change. Even so, absolute pheromone concentrations and comparable data are difficult to obtain with a portable EAG device; thus, quantitative measurements cannot be achieved [39].

Vickers et al. [43] developed the first artificial insect-mounted EAG to measure pheromone flux in a wind tunnel during the flight of a moth. A measurement

antenna was mounted between the antennae on the head of a living moth (*Heliothis viricens*), allowing data to be recorded during flight towards a pheromone plume. However, this setup only provides reliable data in a closed environment with constant temperature and humidity.

3.2.2 Portable EAD

To prevent false positives induced by plant volatiles and to quantify target volatiles, it is necessary to separate these substances in the field and shield antennae from outside conditions. Small and portable versions of the GC-EAD, including small helium or hydrogen gas bottles, are used to establish measurements in field. The portable EAD also allows the quantification of volatiles *in situ* and the measurement of absolute concentrations, because the antennal reaction can be compared to standard solutions. Calibration using standard air puffs with a calibration solution is necessary to monitor the ageing of the antenna, so it is possible to obtain several measurements with a single antenna. Under optimal conditions, dissected antennae can operate for up to 10 h, whereas in the field for up to 3 h [23].

Gas chromatography dilutes test substances in the carrier and make-up gases, so the volatiles must be enriched from the outside air for the antenna to respond to low concentrations of volatiles. Dynamic headspace enrichment (e.g. using a needle-trap device [44]) accelerates the enrichment time compared to still air enrichment (e.g. solid-phase microextraction). Accurate quantification requires that the enrichment method does not allow breakthrough (substances escaping the trapping material during enrichment) and achieves optimal recovery (all trapped substances desorb in the GC injector). This can be tested by connecting two enrichment devices in series. If target volatiles are detected in the second device after enrichment, a breakthrough has occurred. Optimal recovery is achieved if no residues can be detected in the enrichment material from the first device after desorption [44]. In portable GC-EAD measurements, the chip that holds the antenna as discussed above offers advantages compared to mounting the antenna in glass capillaries, especially if measurements are taken in windy regions. With the chip, it is possible to adjust the antennae in a sheltered place and transport it to the actual measurement side. During field measurements in vineyards, it was possible to measure the target volatile after 1 h of enrichment with a NTD-GC-MS/EAD (Fig. 7; [23]). Here, the portable GC-MS-EAD also allowed the identification of plant volatiles and the possible determination of their impact.

The major advantage of a portable GC-EAD is the ability to calibrate each antenna by injecting a defined standard solution. Hence, measurements from different antennae can be compared to determine absolute concentrations, even if the measurements take place in different climatic conditions [23].

Figure 8 shows an antennal trace aligned with the corresponding mass spectrum. The antennal trace shows reactions to the perceivable (E,Z)-7,9-dodecadienyl acetate (main component of *L. botrana* pheromone), whereas the MS trace shows reactions to 100 pg/µl but not 10 pg/µl of pheromone solution. This



Fig. 7 Flow chart (*left*) and scheme (*right*) of a portable hyphenated needle-trap device, gas chromatograph, mass spectrometer, and electroantennographic detector (NTD-GC-MS-EAD) [23]. During the enrichment step, the volatiles are trapped in the narrow sorbent in the hollow needle and are then desorbed in the GC injector. The volatiles are separated in the GC column and split by makeup gas between MS and mixing tube. Two Pasteur pipettes—one of which contains a filter paper spiked with a standard solution—are inserted into the mixing tube for monitoring the ageing of the antenna by the monitoring valve. See Fig. 8 for an exemplary measurement

experiment proved that *L. botrana* antennae are 100-fold more sensitive than the quadrupole mass-spectrometer in selected ion monitoring mode, as the antenna can respond to 1 pg/µl (*E*,*Z*)-7,9–dodecadienylacetate (Fig. 4). The disadvantages of this setup are the relatively high costs and the long enrichment time compared to the portable EAG. However, this method comprises a 100-fold lower detection limit as conventional GC-MS measurements and gives the opportunity to compare concentrations of pheromones in different fields and climates [23].

3.2.3 Portable Single-Sensillum Recording

In 1993, Van der Pers and Minks developed a sensitive apparatus to obtain rapid and specific measurements in the field, allowing real pheromone clouds and sudden fluctuations in pheromone plumes to be monitored [45]. The challenge of a portable single-sensillum recording apparatus lies in the in-field preparation, because of the sensillum's miniscule size and the preparation of the tip, which sometimes has to be cut off [29]. A portable device must be small and rugged. Four micromanipulators need to be positioned accurately in one place: two holding



Fig. 8 Comparison of mass spectrometry (MS) and electroantennographic detection (EAD) responses to a pheromone standard eluting from the gas chromatography (GC). The EAD equipped with a *Lobesia botrana* antenna reacts to 1 μ l of the pheromone standard (*E*,*Z*)-7,9-dodecadienyl acetate in acetone at concentrations of 100 pg/ μ l (*upper chart*) and 10 pg/ μ l (*lower chart*). The quadrupole MS operated in the most sensitive mode (selected ion monitoring) at m/ z 67 (the base peak of 7,9-dodecadienyl acetate) shows a reaction only in the presence of 100 pg/ μ l in the *upper graph*. The *gray spikes* at the *bottom* of the graphs indicate the opening of the monitoring valve (Fig. 7) for one second each time and result in a peak trace to allow normalization for antennal aging [23]

micro knives to cut off the sensillum tip, one to hold the antenna and the reference electrode, and one for the measurement electrode. A mixing-tube must be positioned at the end at the same spot to apply reference air puffs for the control of the preparation. A microthermistor air speed controller must be placed as near to the probe as possible [45]. Finally, the antenna inside the measurement device must be observable with a microscope, allowing the sensillum connection to be completed. Van der Pers and Minks used *Aegeriamyo paeformis*, whose sensilla are easy to manipulate, although the practical use of portable SSR systems is far from realization [46]. The preparation of a delicate single-sensillum measurement is time consuming and depends on a degree of luck. Therefore, portable single-sensillum devices are currently suitable only in wind tunnels [46].

3.2.4 Miniaturized EAG Systems

Simpler, smaller, and lighter insect-based biological sensors can be developed by combining insect antennae with field-effect transistors (FETs) to produce miniscule measuring devices known as BioFETs. Schöning et al. [47] developed a chip

in which whole beetles or their dissected antennae could be used as sensors. Miniaturized transducers were utilized to convert electrochemical impulses into readable electronic signals on a single chip. All filtering and amplification was accomplished on the same chip, so the system is less sensitive to electromagnetic fields because the electronic conducting paths, which respond to these interferences, are as small as possible. It was possible to obtain dose–response curves with the Colorado potato beetle (*Leptinotarsa decemlineata*) towards in the presence of Z-3-hexen-1-ol [47]. Because this assembly is a miniaturized EAG, it suffers from the same problems that occur in large devices, such as responses to nontarget volatiles. Furthermore, it is not easy to adapt the system to different insect morphologies without rebuilding the device because chip size, amplifier, or filter values may need to be readjusted.

4 Behavior-Based Biosensors

Each of the measurement concepts described previously is sensitive, fragile, and requires specially-trained personnel to handle insects or dissect antennae, thus reducing its widespread use. To address these issues whose devices have been developed that are based on the sensitivity and selectivity of the insects whose behavior that can be conditioned to a stimulus. Trained insects can also be collected and loaded into a holder [48], training apparatus [49], and measurement device [50] without the assistance of an entomologist. Living insects can distinguish among reactions from single olfactory receptor neurons because the olfactory nerves are directly connected to the antennal lobe. This overcomes all of the problems associated with measuring the sum of electrical impulses using whole insects or dissected parts in EAG measurements. The insects can also be released after the experiment.

Classical reward-based first-order conditioning (as defined by Carew and Sahley [51]) has been described in several insect species, including the honeybee Apis mellifera [52], the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster [53, 54], the tobacco budworm Heliothis virescens [55] and its parasite the braconid wasp Microplitis croceipes [56], the African cotton leafworm Spodoptera littoralis [57], the American cockroach *Periplaneta americana* [58], and the seven-spotted ladybird Coccinella septempunctata [59]. Target substances can be associated with measurable behavior. Initially, an entomologist is needed to show that an insect species can explicitly sense a target volatile using EAG, GC-EAD, and behavioral tests. It is advantageous for conditioning if the volatile alone triggers no behavior in nature. The trainable behavior of the honeybee Apis mellifera is the proboscis extension reflex [60], which can also be exploited in other insect species. Honeybees extend their proboscis in the presence of sugar; this can be used as unconditioned stimulus (Fig. 9a). The perceivable volatile (conditioned stimulus) is then puffed onto the antenna shortly before exposure to sugar (Fig. 9b). After training, honeybees can reliably remember a conditioned stimulus for at least 48 h



Fig. 9 Conditioning of the proboscis extension reflex in the honeybee *Apis mellifera*. **a** A captured bee in a glass holder with no reaction to the target volatile. **b** The conditioning process involving the presentation of sugar solution as an unconditioned stimulus and a target volatile as a conditioned stimulus. **c** Reaction to the conditioned stimulus without sugar reward

(Fig. 9c), with 80 % of the conditioned response retained even after only three training steps and no subsequent reward [61].

In a bee sniffing measurement setup, which resembles a handheld vacuum cleaner, trained and untrained bees are exposed at the same time to an airstream [50]. If all bees show the proboscis extension reflex, the volatile has a natural origin that would lead the bee to a natural nectar source, such as a flower. If only the trained bees respond, the trained volatile is present in the airstream. Parasitic wasps have been used to detect conditioned stimuli in a setup called "wasp hound" [62]. Here, the measurement setup is even simpler. The wasps can be trained to react to a specific odor by walking to the odor source. The measurement device consists of a small cylinder containing the wasps, with a webcam and a sucking fan on the top and a small hole in the bottom, covered by a sieve to prevent a wasp escape. If no odor is present, the wasps walk freely in the cylinder. If a target volatile is present, the wasps aggregate in front of the opening, which results in a darker measurement chamber. The brightness of the chamber or the position of the wasps can be tracked by the webcam and recorded by a computer [63].

Both apparatuses are inexpensive compared to sniffer dogs and analytical devices [64]. They are particularly useful in cases that are too dangerous for mammals, such as scenarios with toxic chemicals, unstable structures, or explosives [65]. The selected insects must be easy to rear and the training should be

automatable. One drawback is that this detection method can be inaccurate if the target volatiles are masked by a natural unconditioned stimulus.

5 Biosensors based on Insect Odorant Receptors

The drawbacks of the systems described previously can be avoided by using insect ORs and related proteins directly on a sensor layer. The first step is the "deorphaning" of insect odorant-reception genes by identifying particular receptorligand pairs [1]. Much progress has been made with vertebrates, but deorphaning in invertebrates is still in its infancy [1]. When a receptor gene is identified, the second step is to express the receptor in modified cell cultures (e.g. bacteria [66], yeast [67], insect cells [68] or *Xenopus* oocytes [69]). Finally, the protein—ligand interaction must be connected to read out using signal transducing techniques based on one of the following concepts [1]:

- 1. Light-based approaches: measurement of ligand binding by changes in surface plasmon resonance, using luminescence or absorbance.
- 2. Resonance-based approaches: measurement of ligand binding by changes in the mass that alters the frequency of a constantly-vibrating surface.
- 3. Approaches based on changes in electrical current or resistance when ligand binding induces a cascade that results in a change of ion concentration.

As discussed previously, the reception of volatiles by insect antennae occurs in a liquid environment, which must be replicated when proteins are used as sensors. The complex events taking place on the membrane of odorant-perceiving dendrites must also be unraveled (Fig. 1g). If the odorant-binding proteins and receptors are used in isolation, the sensor surface can be reactivated by the same ligand molecule over and over again due to the lack of the corresponding odorant-degrading enzyme. These challenges must be addressed in the future before reliable portable systems based on insect odorant receptors can be developed.

6 Gas Sensor-Based Biomimetic Approaches

In contrast to the genetic approaches described above, biomimetic sensors are based on the knowledge of particular volatiles perceived by insects. These volatiles are highly specific for certain events to prevent false-positive signals and energy-wasting behavior (e.g. males following an irrelevant volatile plume, reducing their mating opportunities). The knowledge of specific volatiles perceived by insects can therefore be used to develop sensors for specialized applications; for example, fire detection devices for a sensor grid that monitors the volatiles released by a forest in summer require knowledge of which volatiles from burning wood are unique indicators of forest fires to distinguish false signals by cigarettes or barbecues. Ciccioli et al. [70] reported more than 200 diverse volatiles emitted from burning pine wood, including alkanes, alkenes, cycloalkanes, cycloalkenes, dienes, trienes, monocyclic and bicyclic arenes, isoprenoids, halogen-containing compounds, alcohols, aldehydes, furans, pyrans, acid esters, and phenols. Some of these compounds are not specific to forests, but Schütz et al. [71] reported that antenna from the beetle *Melanophila acuminata*, which lays eggs on freshly-burned *Pinus sylvestris* trees, can sense six of the reported volatiles, namely α -pinene, carene, 2-methoxy-phenol (guaiacol), and 2-methoxy-4-methylphenol (creosol), as well as two additional volatiles not reported by Ciccioli et al. [70], namely 4-acetyl-guaiacol (apocynin) and vanillin. Therefore, fire detection devices for woods with a high density of pine trees should be tuned to those substances. Several gas sensors with different sensing parameters can be used to develop an array of semi-conductive gas sensors adapted to detect a unique profile for each substance [72, 73].

Gas sensors can be used to establish a robust system for other biological applications. For example, the difficult task of quantifying pheromone levels in cultivation areas protected by mating-disruption strategies could be achieved using a sensor array [74, 75]. Pattern recognition and training of the sensor array is necessary, and such robust devices are not yet sensitive or selective enough for field use.

7 Conclusion/Outlook

The utilization of insect olfactory reception in the field is already possible in various ways. In particular, portable EAG and GC-EAD devices allow the measurement of volatiles *in situ*. Instruments based on insect behavior can also be used to measure low concentrations of volatiles, but none of these approaches is suitable for all applications. Measurement speed, accuracy, and sensitivity differ from method to method, and robust field systems are not yet available. Therefore, artificial sensor systems are under development. Most of the systems described in this chapter are used to unravel the secrets of insect odorant reception, including cell-based approaches that yield hundreds of publications each year. The versatility and low cost of trained-insect devices will enhance their commercial development.

The accumulation of data about the insect brain, including the neuronal connectivity in the antennal lobe, will lead to new approaches that exploit insect perception. Minegishi et al. [76] developed an insect-machine hybrid in which the head of a silkworm moth *Bombyx mori* male is connected to an interface that steers a small car-like robot via its motor neurons towards a pheromone source. Kanzaki et al. [77] developed a computer model of insect antennal lobe connectivity that mimics pheromone source-finding behavior; they tested their model on a small robot equipped with two *B. mori* antennae as sensors, allowing them to locate a pheromone source in a wind tunnel. Greater understanding of the neuronal connections that regulate insect behavior and learning will facilitate powerful pattern recognition models that will enhance multisensory devices.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to acknowledge project funding provided by the Hessian Ministry of Science and Art via the LOEWE research focus "AmbiProbe" and the LOEWE research focus "Insect Biotechnology," which included a generous grant to A.V. We thank Merid Negash Getahun and Dr. Shannon Olsson for their support with the SSR measurements. The authors are indebted to Dr. Richard M. Twyman for the careful editing of the manuscript.

References

- 1. Glatz R, Bailey-Hill K (2011) Mimicking nature's noses: from receptor deorphaning to olfactory biosensing. Prog Neurobiol 93(2):270–296
- Ridgway K, Lalljie SPD, Smith RM (2010) Analysis of food taints and off-flavours: a review. Food Addit Contam A 27(2):146–168
- 3. Schulz S (2010) The chemistry of pheromones and other semiochemicals I. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg
- 4. Leal WS (2005) Pheromone reception. Top Curr Chem 240:1-36
- 5. Todd JL, Baker TC (1999) Function of peripheral olfactory organs. In: Hansson BS (ed) Insect olfaction. Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 67–96
- Miller JR, Mori K, Roelofs WL (1977) Gypsy Moth (Lepidoptera-Lymantriidae) field trapping and electroantennogram studies with pheromone enantiomers. J Insect Physiol 23(11–1):1447–1453
- Von Arx M, Schmidt-Busser D, Guerin PM (2011) Host plant volatiles induce oriented flight behaviour in male European grapevine moths Lobesia botrana. J Insect Physiol 57(10):1323–1331
- Keil TA (1999) Morphology and development of the peripheral olfactory organs. In: Hansson BS (ed) Insect olfaction. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 5–47
- 9. Rützler M, Zwiebel LJ (2005) Molecular biology of insect olfaction: recent progress and conceptual models. J Comp Physiol A 191(9):777–790
- Stengl M, Ziegelberger G, Boekhoff I, Krieger J (1999) Perireceptor events and transduction mechanisms in insect olfaction. In: Hansson BS (ed) Insect olfaction. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 49–66
- 11. Martini R (1986) Fine-structure and development of the large Sensilla Basiconica on the Antennae of Sphecid Wasps. Tissue Cell 18(1):143–151
- 12. Leal WS (2013) Odorant reception in insects: roles of receptors, binding proteins, and degrading enzymes. Annu Rev Entomol 58:373–391
- Schneider D (1955) Mikro-Elektroden registrieren die elektrischen Impulse einzelner Sinnesnervenzellen der Antenne des Seidenspinners *Bombyx mori* L. Industrie-Elektronik 5:3–7
- 14. Schneider D, Block BC, Boeckh J, Preisner E (1967) Die Reaktion der männlichen Seidenspinner auf Bombykol und seine Isomeren: Elektroantennogramm und Verhalten. Z Vergleich Physiol 54:192–209
- Schütz S, Weissbecker B, Hummel HE (1996) Biosensor for volatiles released by damaged plants. Biosens Bioelectron 11(4):427–433
- 16. Malo EA, Renou M, Guerrero A (2000) Analytical studies of *Spodoptera littoralis* sex pheromone components by electroantennography and coupled gas chromatography—electroantennographic detection. Talanta 52(3):525–532

- Behrend K (1971) Olfaction under water and in air by water beetle *Dytiscus marginalis* L. Z Vergl Physiol 75(1):108–122
- Roelofs WL (1984) Electroantennogram assays: rapid and convenient screening procedures for pheromones. In: Hummel H, Miller T (ed) Techniques in pheromone research. Springer, New York, pp. 131–159
- Ockenfels P, Van der Pers J (2004) Electroantennography a practical introduction. Syntech, Kirchzarten. http://www.syntech.nl/manuals/EAGpract.pdf. Accessed 08 Nov 2012
- Karg G, Suckling DM, Bradley SJ (1997) Defining interaction between electroantennogram responses of *Epiphyas postvittana* (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) to pheromone and other volatiles. J Insect Physiol 43(2):179–187
- Koch UT, Carde AM, Carde RT (2002) Calibration of an EAG system to measure airborne concentration of pheromone formulated for mating disruption of the pink bollworm moth, *Pectinophora gossypiella* (Saunders) (Lep., Gelechiidae). J Appl Entomol 126(7–8):431–435
- 22. Arn H, Stadler E, Rauscher S (1975) The electroantennagraphic detector—a selective and sensitive tool in gas chromatographic analysis of insect pheromones. Z Naturforsch C 30(6):722–725
- 23. Schott M, Wehrenfennig C, Gasch T, Düring RA, Vilcinskas A (2013) A Portable GC-MS with an Electro-Antennographic-Detector for Most Sensitive In Situ Measurements of Volatiles. Submitted, under revision
- 24. Struble DL, Arn H (1984) Combined gas chromatography and electroantennogram recording of insect olfactory responses. In: Hummel H, Miller T (ed) Techniques in pheromone research. Springer, New York, pp. 161–178
- Myrick AJ, Baker TC (2012) Chopper-stabilized gas chromatography-electroantennography: Part I. Background, signal processing and example. Biosens Bioelectron 31(1):197–204
- Myrick AJ, Baker TC (2012) Chopper-modulated locked in amplified gas chromatography electroantennography Part II: Signal processing and performance comparisons. Ieee Sens J 12(10):2974–2983
- 27. Getahun MN, Olsson SB (2012) Max Planck Institute for Chemical Ecology—Department of Evolutionary Neuroethology; personal communication
- Getahun MN, Wicher D, Hansson BS, Olsson SB (2012) Temporal response dynamics of Drosophila olfactory sensory neurons depends on receptor type and response polarity. Front Cell Neurosci 6:54
- 29. Den Otter CJ (1977) Single sensillum responses in the male moth *Adoxophyes orana* (F.v.R.) to female sex pheromone components and their geometrical isomers. J Comp Physiol 121(2):205–222
- Van der Pers JNC, Den Otter CJ (1978) Single cell responses from olfactory receptors of small ermine moths to sex-attractants. J Insect Physiol 24(4):337–343
- 31. Rebora M, Salerno G, Piersanti S, Dell'Otto A, Gaino E (2012) Olfaction in dragonflies: electrophysiological evidence. J Insect Physiol 58(2):270–277
- Bogner F, Boppre M (1989) Single cell recordings reveal hydroxydanaidal as the volatile compound attracting insects to pyrrolizidine alkaloids. Entomol Exp Appl 50(2):171–184
- Wadhams LJ (1982) Coupled gas-chromatography—single cell recording—a new technique for use in the analysis of insect pheromones. Z Naturforsch C 37(10):947–952
- 34. Baker TC, Haynes KF (1989) Field and laboratory electroantennographic measurements of pheromone plume structure correlated with oriental fruit moth behavior. Physiol Entomol 14(1):1–12
- 35. Milli R, De Kramer JJ (1989) An EAG detector for field pheromone measurements. In: Elmer R, Singer W (ed) Dynamics and plasticity in neuronal systems: proceedings of the 17th Göttingen neurobiology conference. Thieme, Stuttgart
- 36. Sauer AE, Karg G, Koch UT, Dekramer JJ, Milli R (1992) A portable EAG system for the measurement of pheromone concentrations in the field. Chem Senses 17(5):543–553
- 37. Van der Pers JNC, Minks AK (1998) A portable electroantennogram sensor for routine measurements of pheromone concentrations in greenhouses. Entomol Exp Appl 87(2):209–215

- Koch UT, Ascherl M, Weber M (2002) Field EAG measurements of sprayable pheromone for mating disruption of *Sesamia nonagrioides*. IOBC wprs Bulletin 25:85–94
- Rumbo ER, Suckling DM, Karg G (1995) Measurement of airborne pheromone concentrations using electroantennograms—interactions between environmental volatiles and pheromone. J Insect Physiol 41(6):465–471
- Färbert P, Koch U, Färbert A, Staten R (1997) Measuring pheromone concentrations in cotton fields with the EAG method. In: Cardé R, Minks A, (ed) Insect pheromone research. Springer, US, pp 347–358
- 41. Thorpe KW, Van der Pers J, Leonard DS, Sellers P, Mastro VC, Webb RE, Reardon RC (2007) Electroantennogram measurements of atmospheric pheromone concentration after aerial and ground application of gypsy moth mating disruptants. J Appl Entomol 131(2):146–152
- 42. Myrick AJ, Park KC, Hetling JR, Baker TC (2008) Real-time odor discrimination using a bioelectronic sensor array based on the insect electroantennogram. Bioinspiration & Biomimetics 3:046006
- 43. Vickers NJ, Christensen TA, Baker TC, Hildebrand JG (2001) Odour-plume dynamics influence the brain's olfactory code. Nature 410(6827):466–470
- 44. Lord HL, Zhan WQ, Pawliszyn J (2010) Fundamentals and applications of needle trap devices: a critical review. Analytica chimica acta 677(1):3–18
- 45. Van der Pers JNC, Minks AK (1997) Measuring pheromone dispersion in the field with the single sensillum recording technique. In: Cardé R, Minks A (ed) Insect pheromone research, Springer, US, pp 359–371
- 46. Minks A, Visser H, Dickens D (2006) Jan van der Pers-Obituary. Entomol Exp Appl 121(2):189-190
- 47. Schöning MJ, Schütz S, Schroth P, Weissbecker B, Steffen A, Kordoš P, Hummel HE, Luth H (1998) A BioFET on the basis of intact insect antennae. Sensor Actuat B-Chem 47(1-3):235-238
- 48. Durnford A, Briens M, Haite M, Grant D, Westley D, Cherry K, Howard T (2011) Insect loading system. I Limited
- 49. Briens M (2011) Insect conditioning system. I Limited
- 50. Davis PJ, Wadhams L, Bayliss JS (2007) Detection of odors using insects. I Limited
- Carew TJ, Sahley CL (1986) Invertebrate learning and memory—from behavior to molecules. Annu Rev Neurosci 9:435–487
- Bitterman ME, Menzel R, Fietz A, Schäfer S (1983) Classical-conditioning of proboscis extension in honeybees (*Apis-Mellifera*). J Comp Psychol 97(2):107–119
- Quinn WG, Harris WA, Benzer S (1974) Conditioned behavior in *Drosophila-melanogaster*. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 71(3):708–712
- 54. Chabaud MA, Devaud JM, Pham-Delegue MH, Preat T, Kaiser L (2006) Olfactory conditioning of proboscis activity in *Drosophila melanogaster*. J Comp Physiol A Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol 192(12):1335–1348
- 55. Hartlieb E (1996) Olfactory conditioning in the moth *Heliothis virescens*. Naturwissenschaften 83(2):87–88
- Lewis WJ, Takasu K (1990) Use of learned odors by a parasitic wasp in accordance with host and food-needs. Nature 348(6302):635–636
- 57. Fan RJ, Hansson BS (2001) Olfactory discrimination conditioning in the moth *Spodoptera littoralis*. Physiol Behav 72(1–2):159–165
- Lent DD, Kwon HW (2004) Antennal movements reveal associative learning in the American cockroach *Periplaneta americana*. J Exp Biol 207(2):369–375
- 59. Glinwood R, Ahmed E, Qvarfordt E, Ninkovic V (2011) Olfactory learning of plant genotypes by a polyphagous insect predator. Oecologia 166(3):637–647
- 60. Kuwabara M (1957) Bildung des bedingten Reflexes vom Pavlov Typus bei der Honigbiene *Apis mellifera*. J Fac Sci Hokkaido Univ Zool 13:458–464

- 61. Stollhoff N, Menzel R, Eisenhardt D (2005) Spontaneous recovery from extinction depends on the reconsolidation of the acquisition memory in an appetitive learning paradigm in the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). J Neurosci 25(18):4485–4492
- 62. Rains GC, Utley SL, Lewis WJ (2006) Behavioral monitoring of trained insects for chemical detection. Biotechnol Progr 22(1):2–8
- 63. Utley SL, Rains GC, Lewis W (2007) Behavioral monitoring of *Microplitis croceipes*, a parasitoid wasp, for detecting target odorants using a computer vision system. T Asabe 50(5):1843–1849
- 64. Rains GC, Tomberlin JK, Kulasiri D (2008) Using insect sniffing devices for detection. Trends Biotechnol 26(6):288–294
- 65. Frederickx C, Verheggen FJ, Haubruge E (2011) Biosensors in forensic sciences. Biotechnol Agron Soc 15(3):449–458
- 66. Kiefer H, Krieger J, Olszewski JD, Von Heijne G, Prestwich GD, Breer H (1996) Expression of an olfactory receptor in *Escherichia coli*: purification, reconstitution, and ligand binding. Biochemistry 35(50):16077–16084
- Radhika V, Proikas-Cezanne T, Jayaraman M, Onesime D, Ha JH, Dhanasekaran DN (2007) Chemical sensing of DNT by engineered olfactory yeast strain. Nat Chem Biol 3(6):325–330
- Matarazzo V, Clot-Faybesse O, Marcet B, Guiraudie-Capraz G, Atanasova B, Devauchelle G, Cerutti M, Etievant P, Ronin C (2005) Functional characterization of two human olfactory receptors expressed in the baculovirus Sf9 insect cell system. Chem Senses 30(3):195–207
- Katada S, Nakagawa T, Kataoka H, Touhara K (2003) Odorant response assays for a heterologously expressed olfactory receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 305(4): 964–969
- Ciccioli P, Brancaleoni E, Frattoni M, Cecinato A, Pinciarelli L (2001) Determination of volatile organic compounds (VOC) emitted from biomass burning of Mediterranean vegetation species by GC-MS. Anal Lett 34(6):937–955
- Schütz S, Weissbecker B, Hummel HE, Apel KH, Schmitz H, Bleckmann H (1999) Insect antenna as a smoke detector. Nature 398(6725):298–299
- Kohl D (2001) Function and applications of gas sensors. J Phys D Appl Phys 34(19):R125– R149
- 73. Kohl D, Heinert L, Bock J, Hofmann T, Schieberle P (2000) Systematic studies on responses of metal-oxide sensor surfaces to straight chain alkanes, alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, acids and esters using the SOMMSA approach. Sensor Actuat B-Chem 70(1–3):43–50
- 74. Negri RM, Bernik DL (2008) Tracking the sex pheromone of codling moth against a background of host volatiles with an electronic nose. Crop Prot 27(10):1295–1302
- Wehrenfennig C, Schott M, Gasch T, Sauerwald T, Düring RA, Vilcinskas A, Kohl CD (2012) Laboratory characterization of metal-oxide sensors intended for *in situ* analyses of pheromones—SOMMSA approach. Phys Status Solidi A 209(5):935–939
- Minegishi R, Takashima A, Kurabayashi D, Kanzaki R (2012) Construction of a brainmachine hybrid system to evaluate adaptability of an insect. Robot Auton Syst 60(5):692–699
- 77. Kanzaki R, Nagasawa S, Shimoyama I (2005) Neural basis of odor-source searching behavior in insect brain systems evaluated with a mobile robot. Chem Senses 30:I285–I286

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 123–133 DOI: 10.1007/10_2013_209 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Published Online: 30 May 2013

Y-Linked Markers for Improved Population Control of the Tephritid Fruit Fly Pest, Anastrepha suspensa

Marc F. Schetelig and Alfred M. Handler

Abstract Insect pest control programs incorporating the sterile insect technique (SIT) rely on the mass production and release of sterilized insects to reduce the wild-type population through infertile matings. Most effective programs release only males to avoid any crop damage caused by female fruit flies or transmission of disease by female mosquitoes. Therefore, the females have to be eliminated, preferably in an early developmental stage, during mass rearing. Different systems and techniques have been created for the sex separation of a few insect species. One of these is the transgenic sex-specific fluorescent protein marking of the insects with automated fluorescent-based sorting of the individuals to achieve sex separation. Here we describe the Y-linked integration of fluorescent markers driven by the widely active Drosophila melanogaster polyubiquitin promoter in the Caribfly, Anastrepha suspensa. Four strains with Y-linked integrations were established with one line expressing the DsRed fluorescent protein marker during embryogenesis. This line now has the possibility for use with automated sex separation in rearing, and the same transgene markers could be used in other insects for similar applications.

Keywords Sexing · Insect pest management · Y chromosome

M. F. Schetelig (🖂)

A. M. Handler

Project group Bio-Ressources, JLU Gießen/Fraunhofer-Institute for Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology (IME), Winchesterstraße 2, Gießen 35394, Germany e-mail: marc.schetelig@agrar.uni-giessen.de

USDA/ARS, Center for Medical, Agricultural and Veterinary Entomology, 1700 SW 23rd Drive, Gainesville, FL 32608, USA

Contents

1	Introduction	
2 Results		
	2.1 Random Integration of Transgenes in A. suspensa	126
	2.2 Molecular Characterization	126
	2.3 Sex Separation of Fluorescent Embryos	128
3	Discussion	128
4	Materials and Methods	129
5	Supplementary data	131
Re	References	

1 Introduction

Integrated pest management (IPM) programs have been used to efficiently control pest species around the world. IPM is a sustainable approach to manage pests by combining biological, cultural, physical, and chemical tools in a way that minimizes economic, health, and environmental risks [1]. An important element of many IPM programs is the sterile insect technique (SIT), which is an environmentally friendly and species-specific program for efficient population control. SIT is an area-wide applied process in which reproductively sterile males are released at overflooding ratios into a wild population of the same species, resulting in preferential mating with wild females in the field that are rendered nonreproductive [2]. For the most effective SIT programs, the species must be mass-reared, sexed early in development (separation of males and females), marked for monitoring, and sterilized by irradiation before release into affected areas. In particular, the production of a male-only population is highly important for large-scale SIT programs because this is most efficient and cost-effective for fruit fly programs [3, 4] and a prerequisite for mosquito programs where adult females are vectors of disease [5, 6]. For most biologically based control release programs, it is highly desirable to have females eliminated early in development to avoid female larval feeding in the mass rearing process [7]. The most commonly used methods are physical, genetic, and transgenic techniques for sex separation.

Physical sexing includes manual sorting using external morphological differences or automated machine sorting based on sex-specific size or color variation. Manual sorting can be labor intensive, but it has been used for sex separation of the tsetse fly, *Glossina austeni*. New knowledge of timing differences between male and female adult emergence has improved sexing and eliminated the need for laborious hand sorting [8, 9]. In the melon fly, *Bactrocera cucurbitae* [10], the mexfly, *Anastrepha ludens* (J.S. Meza, personal comm.), and the medfly, *Ceratitis capitata* [11], strains with sex-specifically colored pupae have been developed. For the melon fly strain, pupae were sexed with high-speed photoelectric sorting machines [12], which could be applied to the other species as well. All physical

sorting techniques have the disadvantage that both sexes must be reared at least through larval stages (and typically to the pupal stage), which increases production costs in mass rearing.

Another option for sexing is the creation of **genetic** sexing strains (GSS) by classical genetic manipulations. In the Mediterranean fruit fly, a GSS has been developed and refined throughout the last 20 years. It is based on two separate components: (i) a *temperature-sensitive lethal* (*tsl*) mutation that is maintained in both sexes as homozygous alleles, and (ii) a Y chromosome translocation that carries the wild-type allele (*tsl*⁺) for the mutation in only the males. In this way, GSS mutant females are eliminated early in development at elevated temperatures, while males survive owing to the Y-linked presence of the wild-type allele [7]. The medfly GSS is currently used in mass rearing to produce up to 4 billion flies per week. The difficulty of transferring such a system to other insects is due to the unpredictable process of isolating *tsl* mutations and the induction of translocations and stabilizing inversions in species that are not genetically well-characterized [7].

In mosquitoes, similar GSSs have been developed since the 1970s based on dominant temperature sensitive (DTS) mutations [13] or insecticide resistance to dieldrin [5, 6]. As with the *tsl* GSS, the mutations could be homozygous in both sexes, while only males carry the rescuing wild-type (WT) allele on the Y chromosome through an induced translocation. However, for dieldrin-dependent GSSs, relatively high semisterility of the males has been problematic for expanding the production capacity, and the waste management of dieldrin-containing solutions and diets in large-scale production is of concern.

Transgenic sexing systems based on lethality systems that are conditionallyrepressed by tetracycline were first developed and tested in *D. melanogaster* [14, 15] and then transferred to medfly and *Bactrocera oleae* [16, 17]. These systems are able to kill a high percentage of females when the lethality system is combined with alternative, sex-specific splicing of the medfly *transformer* intron. However, for these systems, the majority of the female lethality occurs at late larval or early pupal stages, which increases mass rearing costs due to the feeding of female larvae. Recently, transgenic embryonic sexing strains (TESSs) were developed in *Anastrepha suspensa* and *C. capitata* [18, 19]. Both systems are also based on a tetracycline repression system, but they induce lethality during embryogenesis by the use of embryo-specific promoters and proapoptotic lethal effectors. For both species, several TESSs were generated with 100 % early lethality as confirmed in large-scale tests [19].

Another transgenic technology, which could be transferred to other insects, is male-specific marking by fluorescent proteins. Such strains have been developed in mosquitoes and fruit flies by inserting a transgene carrying a fluorescent protein under the control of a testis-specific or constitutive promoters [20–23]. Automated fluorescence sorters (COPAS, Union Biometrica) could then be used to separate male and female larvae. In mosquitoes, this approach was successfully used to create a male-only population for *Anopheles gambiae* [24]. Nevertheless, female larval rearing is still necessary; for fruit flies, late larval stages may be too large for the automated sorting machine. Fluorescent marking of physically smaller

embryos or early larval stages would improve the throughput of the separation system and avoid larval feeding during mass production. To address these limitations, we describe the creation of male-specifically expressed Y-linked transgene integrations in *A. suspensa* and the evaluation of early male-specific fluorescence for separating males and females.

2 Results

2.1 Random Integration of Transgenes in A. suspensa

To generate male-specific fluorescent marked strains, the markers need either to be linked to the Y chromosome or be under the influence of a male-specific promoter/ enhancer. Because there is no site-specific targeting available for A. suspensa to insert markers directly onto the Y chromosome or other preferred male-specific chromosomal loci, three piggyBac vectors (423_attP_PUbEGFP, 437_attP_PUb-DsRed, and 443_attP_PUbEGFP) were integrated into the fly genome by germline transformation. The vectors were integrated into an A. suspensa WT strain, establishing 5 to 10 independent lines each by screening for epifluorescence of the PUb-EGFP or PUb-DsRed.T3 marker. Randomly, 4 out of 20 independent lines expressed the fluorescent markers male-specifically (437_M5A, 437_M7A, 423_M10B, 443 M7m5; Fig. 1). Transgenic males from these lines were backcrossed to WT females to determine Y chromosome transgene linkage of their offspring by epifluorescence screening. All male progeny from the strains 437 M5A, 437 M7A, 423 M10B, and 443 M7m5 expressed the respective fluorescent marker, whereas none of the females exhibited any marker expression. This backcross was repeated with the selected males crossed to WT females and resulted again in 100 % fluorescently marked males. This indicated Y-linkage of the fluorescent marker because an autosomal insertion would not yield expression in all males.

2.2 Molecular Characterization

For each transgene, the integration site flanking sequences were isolated by thermal asymmetric interlaced (TAIL) polymerase chain reaction (PCR), confirming that all were canonical *piggyBac* integrations into genomic TTAA sites. For 437_M5A, the genomic flanking sequences were identified as a microsatellite locus similar to a previously described *A. suspensa* 1-5E microsatellite clone by the BLASTN algorithm using the nr database at NCBI [25], whereas the integration site of 443_M7m5 had similarities to an *A. suspensa mariner* transposase pseudogene (accession number U04466). Interestingly, two of the four integrations, 437_M7A and 423_M10B, occurred independently in the same intron of a



Fig. 1 Male-specifically marked *A. suspensa* strains. All lines show male-specific expression of the PUbDsRed.T3 (**a** and **b**) or the PUbnlsEGFP marker (**c** and **d**). Males and females from each line were observed under brightfield conditions (*left panel*) and epifluorescence microscopy with the respective filter sets, YFP or TxRed (*right panel*)



Fig. 2 Genomic verification of integrations and embryonic fluorescence. **a** Genomic structure of *As*-CG14830 (*A. suspensa* cognate of *D. melanogaster* CG14830) indicating independent *piggyBac* integration events in the lines 423_M10B and 437_M7A. Base pair numbers indicate the isolated region of the *As*-CG14830 gene (see also Supplementary data). **b** PCR on male (*m*) and female (*f*) genomic DNA of 437_M5A and 443_M12m1 targeting the *tTA* and *EGFP* gene, respectively. **c** Embryos from 437_M5A males and females under brightfield conditions (*left panel*) and epifluorescence microscopy with the TxRed filter set (*right panel*)

gene homologous to the male-specifically expressed gene, CG14830, in *D. melanogaster* [26] and a testes developmental protein, *nyd-sp29*, in *Ae. aegypti* (Fig. 2a). The Y-linked integration of the transgene in the strains 437_M5A and 443_M7m5 was further verified by PCR to the isolated flanking regions to female and male genomic DNA (Fig. 2b).

2.3 Sex Separation of Fluorescent Embryos

To perform automated embryonic sorting and avoid larval rearing, detection of embryonic fluorescence is essential. Therefore, embryos and larvae from all Y-linked strains were examined for the earliest visible fluorescence. In 437_M7A, 423_M10B, and 443_M7m5, expression of DsRed or EGFP was not detected until the third instar larval stage. The only strain expressing the DsRed by late embryogenesis (55–64 h after egg laying) and the first larval instar was 437_M5A. A total of 200 embryos from this strain that did (97) or did not (103) express DsRed were then manually selected and maintained on two different larval diet plates. From the DsRed-expressing embryos, 69 survived as male-only adults, whereas 72 adult females enclosed from the nonexpressing embryos. This demonstrated that progeny from the line 437_M5A could be separated during embryogenesis to create a male-only population (Fig. 2c).

3 Discussion

Here we describe the generation of the first Y-linked markers for use in embryonic sex separation in the tephritid pest, *A. suspensa*. Four transgenic strains were established with one expressing a fluorescent protein during embryogenesis. Integrations in *A. suspensa* with male-specific expression patterns thus occurred in 20 % of independent strains generated in this experiment, although this relatively high frequency is likely to differ for other insects and with the use of other transgene vectors. The three different constructs tested in *A. suspensa* were distinct except for *piggyBac* vector sequences and a 220 bp *attP* landing site, so it is unlikely that transgene vector structure was responsible for the generation of the male-specifically expressing lines. Interestingly, two vectors integrated independently into the same intron of a gene having homology to a testes developmental protein gene in *Ae. aegypti*, although testis-specific fluorescence was not detected. At present, it remains to be determined whether male-specific enhancers effect the sex-specific expression of the fluorescent marker.

It is more likely that Y-linkage for the transgene is primarily responsible for the male-specific marker expression. Although a molecular determination for Y-linkage has yet to be determined for either integration (due to a lack of Y-specific sequence data), Y insertions are supported by backcrosses of fluores-cent-marked males to WT females that resulted in only fluorescent male progeny.

Thus, for the first time, a Y-linked embryonic fluorescent expression line, 437_M5A, has been created that can be used to separate male from female embryos to generate a male-only population. In addition, the #437 transgene has an *attP* landing site that can be used to integrate new transgenes specifically on the Y chromosome, providing a reliable mechanism for future male-specific modification of these strains.

The marking of males by fluorescent proteins had been previously achieved in several other insects [20, 22, 27], but fluorescence did not appear before late larval stages, with the exception of one system for the Mediterranean fruit fly [21]. Because feeding larvae increases production costs in large-scale rearing, developing embryonic sexing systems remained a high priority. The strategy of randomly integrating markers driven by the *polyubiquitin* (PUb) promoter onto the Y chromosome is an alternative to physical, genetic, or other transgenic sexing techniques. Such markers have the advantage that they can be easily transferred to new species, whereas other highly efficient embryonic transgenic sexing systems need more adaptation to the host species [18, 19]. Development of Y-linked markers can be typically achieved in a shorter timeframe than generating classical genetic sexing strains [7], but a limiting factor is the need for separation by automated fluorescence sorting machines. Currently, these machines can sort material only up to a certain size, which can be problematic for insects having large embryos or first instar larvae. Recently, sorting fluorescently labeled larvae of An. gambiae by the automated COPAS system has been evaluated [24]. This was highly accurate for both transgene heterozygotes and homozygotes; however, a high-throughput evaluation over several days has yet to be conducted. Presently, the calculated, sortable numbers are not sufficient for SIT programs using 100 millions of males weekly. In the future, further improvements on sorting machines could eliminate this bottleneck, allowing high-throughput separation to be possible for many insect species.

4 Materials and Methods

Insect rearing. An inbred wild-type colony of *Anastrepha suspensa* (Homestead, Florida) was maintained at 25 °C and reared under standard laboratory conditions [28, 29]. All embryonic, larval, and pupal stages of *A. suspensa* were reared at 27 °C and 60 % humidity on a 12 h light:12 h dark cycle.

Cloning. The vector #423 (pXLII_PUbEGFP_f_attP235_SV40-slamA-AstraIntron-slam_hs43-TRE) was created by ligating a *FseI/AscI* cut 5.6 kb *attP235_SV40-slamA-AstraI-slam_hs43-TRE* fragment into *FseI/AscI* cut vector #1419 [30]. The vector #437 (pXLII_attP_PUbDsRedT3_Ccvas-tTA) was generated by ligating the *AscI* fragment *Ccvas-tTA* from M493 to the *AscI* cut vector #1425 [30]. To create M493, the *Ccvas* promoter was *SmaI/XbaI* cut from M429 and ligated into #1215 [31].

The vector 443 (*pBXLII_PUbEGFP_TREhs43-CctraI-Alhid^{Ala2}_loxN-3xP3-FRT-AmCyan_lox2272_loxP_attP235*) was described previously [19].

Germline transformation. Germline transformation experiments were performed by microinjection of the *piggyBac* constructs #423 or #437 (500 ng/µl) together with the *phsp-pBac* transposase helper plasmid (200 ng/µl) into WT A. *suspensa* embryos as described [32]. G1 offspring were selected by EGFP or DsRed epifluorescence using a Leica MZ FLIII microscope and the YFP (ex: 500/ 20; em: 535/30) or TxRed (ex: 560/40; em: 610 LP) filter sets.

Independent homozygous strains were established by single pair inbreeding for successive generations with testing by segregation analysis of transformants outcrossed to WT flies. Transgenic *A. suspensa* lines carrying the #443 *piggyBac* cassette were generated and described earlier as a lethal effector construct [19].

Isolation of transgene integration flanking site sequences. Flanking sequences of #423, #437, and #443 transgene integrations were isolated by TAIL PCR or inverse PCR. TAIL PCR conditions were as described previously [33]. Oligos used for the isolation of the 5' piggyBac vector insertion-site flanking sequences (of 423_M10B, 437_M5A, and 443_M7m5) by TAIL PCR were the degenerate primer AD3 (AGWGNAGWANCAWAGG) and the specific primers L1 P882 (CATTTTGACTCACGCGGTCGTTATAGTTC), L2 P883 (CAGT GACACTTACCGCATTGACAAGCA), and L3 P884 (CGACTGAGATGTC CTAAATGCACAG). Oligos for the 3' piggyBac flanking sequence (of 437 M5A and 443 M7m5) were the degenerate primer AD3 (AGWGNAGWANCAWAGG) and the specific primers R1 P885 (ACCTCGATATACAGACCGATAAA ACACATGC), R2 P886 (GTCAATTTTACGCATGATTATCTTTAACGT), and R3 P887 (CGTACGTCACAATATGATTATCTTTCTAGG). The PCR conditions and the generation of DNA pools for inverse PCR are described in Schetelig and Handler (2012a). The 3' flanking sequences of 423 M10B and 437 M5A were isolated by inverse PCR using *Xho*I-digested genomic DNA and the oligo pairs P144/P830 (CCTCGATATACAGACCGATAAAACAC/CTTTTATCGAATTCC TGCAGC) and P144/P777 (CCTCGATATACAGACCGATAAAACAC/CCGA CATGACACAAGGGGTTG), respectively.

Verification of Y-linked integrations. First, the expression of fluorescent markers in adult flies was used to identify male-specifically marked strains by epifluorescence microscopy. To confirm Y-linked transgene insertions, fluorescent males were subsequently backcrossed to WT *A. suspensa* females for two generations and the number of fluorescent/nonfluorescent progeny assessed. Epifluorescence was also used to assess embryos and larvae from male-specifically expressing lines for the earliest possible stage of marker detection using the YFP or TxRed filter sets.

Secondly, transgene integrations in the lines 437_M5A and 443_M7m5 were molecularly verified by PCR of genomic DNA (PCR conditions: 2 min at 95 °C; 30 cycles of 20 s at 94 °C, 30 s at 59 °C, 20 s at 72 °C). The oligo pairs P756/P757 (GCTGCTTAATGAGGTCGGAATCG/TGGTGCCTATCTAACATCTC AATGG), binding to the *tTA* gene of the transgene #437, and P913/P914 (CAGA ACACCCCCATCGGCGACGGC/TACTTGTACAGCTCGTCCATG), binding to the EGFP marker of #443, were then used on male and female genomic DNA.

Acknowledgments We thank Shelley Olson for excellent technical assistance. Funding is gratefully acknowledged form the USDA-NIFA-Agriculture and Food Research Initiative (AMH) and the Emmy Noether Program SCHE 1833/1 of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (MFS).

5 Supplementary data

Sequence of the A. suspensa CG14830 homolog. TTAA piggyBac integration sites of the plasmids 423 (green) and 437 (red) are indicated. Possible exons predicted by comparison to D. melanogaster CG14830 are marked (orange).

TATATATACATATATTTTATTTTAATTGTTGGAAGACATGGCCGGCGAGGACAATCGCAACCTACTTCGGGTA TTTGCCTTCACCGTTCACAGTTTTCGGATCACAAGTCTTTAGAACTTGCTATTTTCAATCTTATACTTCCA 423 M10B integration GAAATTGGGGTTTTTATACATAATTGCAGCATTTCGTTCATTTTGCTACGCATGGGACATATAGTATATAC GAGTTCGCAATGTCATACGTCGACATGCCGTTAAAATTAAATTTTTTGTATCACCATAAGAATCGTTTTGG CCTTCACACTCCCACGGGTTCAGCCGAACACGATGGAATAATTCACCAGATTGCCACTCCTTTAAAGCATT AGGATTCTGGATATAAACTTCATTCAATGTTCGCTGATTTATGCTGGAAATTTATTGTCGAAAATTAGCCT TTTTTAAAGCTTTTTCCGCCGATGTTACAATTAAAATACTTCTGCTTTGGGATTTTGCACCCAGAATATGA TTCTGAATATCTTAGCTAGAGGAATTTTGTCGAAAGACCAGATGAAAGTGAAGAAAAAAGGCTAAAACACC TCAAAAATGTTCCTTGGAGGCAAAATTTTCCAAAAAATGTTTTATGAAGACGAGCGGAAAAACTGGTGTTG CAGTGTAATAAGAGATTCTCTAAGTTTTGCATAATGGCAGAATAGCAAAAGTATAAGAGCATAGAATTGTA 437 M7A integration CCAACC**TTAA**AATAAACAACGACATTTACATGAGTATGCTGTAGCTATTCTGGCAGTTATTGGATATTTTG TGTGTGTTTTTGTTATGTCATTGCAAGTATTAGAAAACTTTGCAATTCTTGCACCTTGCACAGGTTTTGC AAGACATAGAGAATCCTAATTCGTTGAATATTTATTACAGCATTACAGATAAGATCATATTTTCTGATGAA TTACTGTGCAAAAAATCCGTGTAAAATCAAATCCCTGAGCGACCTTCGTCAGACGAAAATGTGCTGTCAAAAT AAAAACACACCCATATACAAATATGAGATTACATATGATATTGACACAACCAAAGAGAAGCGTTAGACAAA CTTCGTCGATAACAGAACTATTTCTAATTTTCCCCTTGCCCCCGGCCGTCAAAACCGTTGAAAATGTAAAC AAATCCTTTTCACAAACGTTGCCTCACTTGCAGAAATGCCNTGCACATTATGTATAAACAAGAAATTTAAA ACTTTGATAATTAGAATTAACCGAAAAATTTTGAGTTCATCTTTTCACTTCTCATGCGAATTTCGTTTTGG TTCTGTTTATACTATACTATGCTTATGCTTATTTTTCATCCTAGAGAGTTAAAGAGTATTTTAGTAGAGAAGAA AATCGCAAAAAATCTATTCAAGCATGGGAACAACAGTTCTTCGAAAATAATCGTGATATAATTGAAGCAAA ACGTCAGGCCGAATCCGATGCCAGGAAAGAGCTTGAACGGCTTGAGAAGGAGTATTCACTAAATGCCACAC TGAAAACATTTTTTATTGCATATTTCCTTAAGGAATGAACACAAAAATCTTTCATACACAGAACGTATAAA ACATAAATGGGATGAATTGAATTTGAATCGCCAGCTAACTATTTTAATGTCTCGTAAACGTGTTGATGAAG AAAAACTAGAGCGAGAAACTAGACTTGAAAAATATCATTTGTCATATGAGGCAGCAAAGAAACAGTCATTA ATTCGCATCCAGCAGCGTGTGGGGAGAAGAAGTAGCGGCTGTAAGGGCAAGGATACTACCACATGAAAACGT CGATCTTCAACGCATCGATATGATACTTTCATCTGTACAAGTGTTAATGGAGACAGTTGATGATTATAATG ATATTGAGATGGAGTCCAATGAAGTGGTGAACAATTTTGATGCCTTTGCTACTACACT

References

 Klassen W, Curtis CF (2005) History of the Sterile Insect Technique. In: Dyck VA, Hendrichs J, Robinson AS (eds) Sterile insect technique principles and practice in area-wide integrated pest management. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 3–36

- 2. Knipling EF (1955) Possibilities of insect control or eradication through the use of sexually sterile males. J Econ Entomol 48:459–462
- Mcinnis DO, Tam S, Grace C et al (1994) Population suppression and sterility rates induced by variable sex ratio, sterile insect releases of *Ceratitis capitata* (Diptera: Tephritidae) in Hawaii. Ann Entomol Soc Am 87:231–240
- Rendon P, Mcinnis D, Lance D et al (2004) Medfly (Diptera: Tephritidae) genetic sexing: large-scale field comparison of males-only and bisexual sterile fly releases in Guatemala. J Econ Entomol 97:1547–1553
- 5. Baker RH, Sakai RK, Raana K (1981) Genetic sexing for a mosquito sterile-male release. J Hered 72:216–218
- 6. Yamada H, Benedict MQ, Malcolm CA et al (2012) Genetic sex separation of the malaria vector, *Anopheles arabiensis*, by exposing eggs to dieldrin. Malar J 11:208
- Franz G (2005) Genetic sexing strains in Mediterranean fruit fly, an example for other species amenable to large-scale rearing for the sterile insect technique. In: Dyck VA, Hendrichs J, Robinson AS (eds) Sterile insect technique—principles and practice in area-wide integrated pest management. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 427–451
- Opiyo E, Luger D, Nadel D et al (1999) Automation in tsetse mass-rearing process: preliminary observations with *Glossina austeni*. In: Proceedings of animal trypanosomosis: vector and disease control using nuclear techniques. Second FAO/IAEA seminar for Africa, Zanzibar, Tanzania. Backhuys Publishers, Leiden, NL, 27 Nov–1 Dec 1995, p 187–192
- Opiyo E, Luger D, Robinson AS (2000) New systems for the large-scale production of male tsetse flies (Diptera: Glossinidae). In: Tan KH (ed) Proceedings: area-wide control of fruit flies and other insect pests, and the 5th international symposium on fruit flies of economic importance, 28 May–5 June 1998, Penang, Malaysia. Penerbit Universiti Sains Malaysia, Pulau Pinang, Malaysia, p 337–344
- 10. Mcinnis DO, Lim R, Muromoto D et al (2005) Oriental fruit fly: males-only sterile fly releases in Hawaii. In: The 8th exotic fruit fly symposium. Riverside, California, p 34
- 11. Rössler Y (1979) The genetics of the Mediterranean fruit fly: a 'white pupae' mutant. Ann Entomol Soc Am 72:583–585
- 12. Mcinnis D, Leblanc L, Mau R (2007) Melon fly (Diptera: Tephritidae) genetic sexing: all-male sterile fly releases in Hawaii. Proc Hawaiian Entomol Soc 39:105–110
- Baker RH, Sakai RK, Saifuddin UT (1978) Genetic sexing technique for a mosquito sterile male release. Nature 274:253–255
- Heinrich JC, Scott MJ (2000) A repressible female-specific lethal genetic system for making transgenic insect strains suitable for a sterile-release program. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:8229–8232
- Thomas DD, Donnelly CA, Wood RJ et al (2000) Insect population control using a dominant, repressible, lethal genetic system. Science 287:2474–2476
- Ant T, Koukidou M, Rempoulakis P et al (2012) Control of the olive fruit fly using geneticsenhanced sterile insect technique. BMC Biol 10:51
- Fu G, Condon KC, Epton MJ et al (2007) Female-specific insect lethality engineered using alternative splicing. Nat Biotechnol 25:353–357
- Ogaugwu CE, Schetelig MF, Wimmer EA (2013) Transgenic sexing system for *Ceratitis capitata* (Diptera: Tephritidae) based on female-specific embryonic lethality. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 43:1–8
- 19. Schetelig MF, Handler AM (2012) A transgenic embryonic sexing system for *Anastrepha* suspensa (Diptera: Tephritidae). Insect Biochem Mol Biol 42:790–795
- Catteruccia F, Benton JP, Crisanti A (2005) An Anopheles transgenic sexing strain for vector control. Nat Biotechnol 23:1414–1417
- Condon KC, Condon GC, Dafa'alla TH et al (2007) Genetic sexing through the use of Y-linked transgenes. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 37:1168–1176
- 22. Scolari F, Schetelig MF, Bertin S et al (2008) Fluorescent sperm marking to improve the fight against the pest insect *Ceratitis capitata* (Wiedemann; Diptera: Tephritidae). N Biotechnol 25:76–84

- 23. Smith RC, Walter MF, Hice RH et al (2007) Testis-specific expression of the β 2 tubulin promoter of *Aedes aegypti* and its application as a genetic sex-separation marker. Insect Mol Biol 16:61–71
- 24. Marois E, Scali C, Soichot J et al (2012) High-throughput sorting of mosquito larvae for laboratory studies and for future vector control interventions. Malar J 11:302
- 25. Fritz A, Schable N (2004) Microsatellite loci from the Caribbean Fruit Fly, *Anastrepha* suspensa (Diptera: Tephritidae). Mol Ecol 4:443–445
- Graveley BR, Brooks AN, Carlson JW et al (2011) The developmental transcriptome of Drosophila melanogaster. Nature 471:473–479
- 27. Zimowska GJ, Nirmala X, Handler AM (2009) The beta2-tubulin gene from three tephritid fruit fly species and use of its promoter for sperm marking. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 39:508–515
- 28. Roberts DB (1986) Drosophila: a practical approach. IRL Press, Oxford
- 29. Saul SH (1982) Rosy-like mutant of the Mediterranean fruit fly, *Ceratitis capitata* (Diptera: Tephritidae), and its potential for use in a genetic sexing program. Ann Entomol Soc Am 75:480–483
- Schetelig MF, Handler AM (2012) Strategy for enhanced transgenic strain development for embryonic conditional lethality in *Anastrepha suspensa*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109:9348–9353
- Schetelig MF, Caceres C, Zacharopoulou A et al (2009) Conditional embryonic lethality to improve the sterile insect technique in *Ceratitis capitata* (Diptera: Tephritidae). BMC Biology 7:4
- 32. Handler AM, Harrell RA (1999) Germline transformation of *Drosophila melanogaster* with the piggyBac transposon vector. Insect Mol Biol 8:449–457
- 33. Liu YG, Whittier RF (1995) Thermal asymmetric interlaced PCR: automatable amplification and sequencing of insert end fragments from P1 and YAC clones for chromosome walking. Genomics 25:674–681

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 135–162 DOI: 10.1007/10_2013_195 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Published Online: 20 April 2013

Transgenic Approaches to Western Corn Rootworm Control

Kenneth E. Narva, Blair D. Siegfried and Nicholas P. Storer

Abstract The western corn rootworm, *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) is a significant corn pest throughout the United States corn belt. Rootworm larvae feed on corn roots causing yield losses and control expenditures that are estimated to exceed US\$1 billion annually. Traditional management practices to control rootworms such as chemical insecticides or crop rotation have suffered reduced effectiveness due to the development of physiological and behavioral resistance. Transgenic maize expressing insecticidal proteins are very successful in protecting against rootworm damage and preserving corn yield potential. However, the high rate of grower adoption and early reliance on hybrids expressing a single mode of action and low-dose traits threatens the durability of commercialized transgenic rootworm technology for rootworm control and the corresponding insect resistance management practices is included. An overview of potential new modes of action based on insecticidal proteins, and especially RNAi targeting mRNA coding for essential insect proteins is provided.

Keywords Cry toxin • *Diabrotica* • Refuge • Resistance management • RNAi • Thuringiensis • Transgenic maize • Western corn rootworm

Abbreviations

BBMV	Brush border membrane vesicles
Bt	Bacillus thuringiensis
CERA	Center for Environmental Risk Assessment
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
IRM	Insect resistance management
WCR	Western corn rootworm

K. E. Narva (🖂) · N. P. Storer

Dow AgroSciences, 9330 Zionsville Road, Indianapolis, IN 46268, USA e-mail: knarva@dow.com

N. P. Storer e-mail: nstorer@dow.com

B. D. Siegfried Department of Entomology, University of Nebraska, Lincoln, NE 68583, USA e-mail: bsiegfried1@unl.edu

Contents

Introduction	136
1.1 History of Western Corn Rootworm Management Practices	136
1.2 Invasiveness	136
1.3 Adaptation	137
Transgenic Maize Technology Based on Bacillusthuringiensis Cry Proteins	
for Western CornRootworm Control	140
2.1 Overview	140
2.2 Cry Proteins in Registered Transgenic Maize Events	141
Insect Resistance Management	143
3.1 Principles of Bt Maize IRM	143
3.2 Theory of Pyramiding	145
3.3 Limitations of Current Pyramids	147
New Modes of Action for Transgenic Controlof Western Corn Rootworm	148
4.1 Candidate Insecticidal Proteins	148
4.2 RNA Interference	150
Summary, Conclusions, Outlook	153
ferences	153
	Introduction. 1.1 History of Western Corn Rootworm Management Practices 1.2 Invasiveness 1.3 Adaptation Transgenic Maize Technology Based on Bacillusthuringiensis Cry Proteins for Western CornRootworm Control 2.1 Overview 2.2 Cry Proteins in Registered Transgenic Maize Events Insect Resistance Management 3.1 Principles of Bt Maize IRM 3.2 Theory of Pyramiding 3.3 Limitations of Current Pyramids. New Modes of Action for Transgenic Controlof Western Corn Rootworm 4.1 Candidate Insecticidal Proteins 4.2 RNA Interference Summary, Conclusions, Outlook

1 Introduction

1.1 History of Western Corn Rootworm Management Practices

The western corn rootworm (WCR), *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae), is arguably the single most important pest of field corn, *Zea mays* L. [1–3], throughout most of the US corn belt both in terms of crop losses and the use of synthetic insecticides. WCR is a univoltine pest that overwinters in the egg stage [4]. Larvae hatch in late spring to early summer, depending on geographic location and annual weather conditions. Larvae have an obligatory relationship with grasses (Graminae), especially corn, and obtain nourishment and cause the majority of economic damage to corn via root feeding as larvae. A recent economic analysis estimates that costs of control and yield loss associated with WCR damage exceed US\$1 billion annually [1]. Historically, crop rotation to a non-host crop, such as soybean, *Glycine max* (L.), and planting time or postemergence insecticide application in continuous corn have been the primary control methods used against corn rootworms.

The history of WCR as a corn pest has been referred to as "one of remarkable adaptability and invasiveness" [2]. Managing corn rootworm populations to minimize economic loss is extremely difficult, because of its remarkable capacity to evolve resistance to both chemical insecticides [2, 5–9] and cultural control practices such as crop rotation [2, 10]. In addition to being highly adaptable, WCR is a formidable invasive pest. In the second half of the twentieth century, WCR underwent a dramatic range expansion out of the Great Plains, eventually reaching

the East Coast [9, 11]. More recently, it has invaded a significant portion of central and southeastern Europe along with numerous disconnected outbreaks in western Europe [3, 12].

1.2 Invasiveness

The ancestral origin of WCR and the underlying cause of its expansion across the US corn belt remain somewhat speculative. It was first described as a maize pest in Colorado in 1909 [13], and prior to the mid-twentieth century, population densities were low and reports of its presence were scattered and uncommon [9]. Native prairie grasses, which may be the ancestral host of WCR, are likely to have supported low populations prior to widespread corn plantings [14, 15]. By the mid-1940s, both WCR and severely damaged corn had become common in central Nebraska, marking the beginning of its dramatic eastward range expansion. By the mid-1980s, expanding populations of WCR had reached the Atlantic coast from New York to Virginia [16, 17]. The initiation of the range expansion coincides with an increase in continuous corn production that became a common practice after World War II and that was facilitated by the development of irrigation and the introduction of synthetic fertilizers [2, 9]. Continuous corn production without rotation to other crops is believed to be necessary for WCR densities to increase because of the insect's fidelity to corn as a larval host.

Expansion of WCR's range did not stop when it reached the Atlantic Ocean. In 1992, a WCR infestation was detected within a small field of corn near the Belgrade airport [18]. Since its initial detection near Belgrade in 1992 [18], WCR has become established throughout central and southeastern Europe along with numerous disconnected outbreaks in western Europe [12, 19]. A precise source of these invasions is still uncertain; however, Miller et al. [19] concluded that there had been at least three direct introductions into Europe from North America and that there have been additional intra-European introductions from central and southeastern Europe. More recently, Ciosi et al. [20] utilized microsatellite genotyping to identify as many as five independent introduction events from the northern United States into Europe and suggested multiple invasion events highlighting the potential for additional introductions.

1.3 Adaptation

There are numerous examples of WCR adaptation to uniform, large-scale pest management practices including both chemical and cultural control. Prior to the mid-1990s, crop rotation between corn and non-host crops, such as soybean, in much of the eastern corn belt had eliminated the need for rootworm-targeted insecticide applications to first-year corn. However, in areas of Indiana, Illinois,
western Ohio, and southern Wisconsin, a variant of the WCR has circumvented these crop-rotation strategies [10]. Extended egg diapause, which has been documented in the closely related northern corn rootworm, *Diabrotica barberi*, was initially thought to be responsible for first-year corn damage [21]. However, it has been confirmed that this variant disperses from corn fields to feed and oviposit in soybean fields and other non-host crops [22–25], thus increasing the probability that larval progeny from eggs deposited outside corn fields will cause damage to corn planted in those fields in the following year. As a result, both soil and foliar insecticide applications are now being used in an attempt to prevent rootworm damage in first-year corn in these areas. The defining characteristic of the rotation-resistant population of WCR is a broadened ovipositional host range [2]. Tremendous abundance of rootworm adults outside of corn as well as herbivory by adults on soybean foliage are also symptomatic of the problem.

Resistance to chemical insecticides has also been well documented in WCR. Perhaps the most dramatic example of resistance evolution in terms of the affected area and intensity of resistance involves WCR resistance to cyclodiene insecticides. These compounds were commonly used as soil treatments for the control of both western and northern corn rootworms from the late 1940s to early 1960s. Benzene hexachloride [26], aldrin, chlordane [27], and heptachlor [28] were the recommended active ingredients for control of root-feeding larvae during this period. By 1959, almost 1 million kg of aldrin were used as a soil insecticide in Nebraska [29]. Control failures with these compounds were first noted in Nebraska in 1959 [30], and further evaluations in 1960 [31] and 1961 [32] revealed the magnitude and rapid development of the resistance. During 1961, WCR adults were collected from different fields in Nebraska and susceptibility to aldrin and heptachlor was determined by topical application [33, 34]. Differences in susceptibility as high as 1,000-fold were detected among field populations and provided the first direct evidence for resistance evolution in WCR.

After the development of cyclodiene resistance had become widespread, organophosphates and carbamates became commonly used as soil insecticides. In addition, foliar application of these compounds that target adult females to reduce egg laying and economic damage from the subsequent generation [35] had become widely adopted. In some areas of Nebraska, aerially applied microencapsulated methyl-parathion was used almost exclusively [6] over relatively large contiguous areas in consecutive years. Control failures of aerially applied methyl-parathion were first reported in the early 1990s, and resistance to organophosphate and carbamate active ingredients was documented in rootworm adults from a number of Nebraska populations [6]. The distribution of resistant rootworms was initially restricted to areas where adult management had been practiced in excess of 10 years, whereas areas relying on soil insecticides and crop rotation apparently remained susceptible.

These examples highlight not only the remarkable capacity of WCR to evolve resistance to divergent pest management strategies, but also the invasive nature of resistant populations and movement of resistance alleles beyond the areas where resistance was first identified. In the case of cyclodiene resistance, the onset of resistance coincided with the rapid eastward range expansion. This apparent increased invasiveness has been suggested to have resulted from increased fitness and a change in behavior associated with the resistance [5]. Although the exact causes for WCR range expansion are uncertain, it is clear that the source of the invading populations that became established throughout the US corn belt originated in areas where resistance had become widespread (i.e., Nebraska) and that all populations east of the Missouri River have been and continue to be highly resistant to cyclodiene insecticides. Surprisingly, these high resistance levels have persisted in spite of apparently reduced selective pressures since the cyclodienes used as soil insecticides were banned from use in the United States in 1972. However, considerable variation in resistance levels among populations has been reported previously. Ball [29] reported that a significant decline in resistance was noted between 1962 and 1981 among Nebraska populations of WCR and associated this decline with reduced soil residues of the aldrin metabolite, dieldrin, which possesses similar toxic properties [36]. Parimi et al. [7] reported the presence of high levels of resistance in both laboratory-reared and field-collected adult WCR based on topical bioassays with aldrin. Similar to Ball's results [29], considerable variation in resistance levels was detected among populations with a general decline in resistance among Nebraska populations and consistently higher levels of resistance in more eastern populations.

A recent investigation of cyclodiene susceptibility among invasive European populations has revealed that among nine different field populations examined, all were highly resistant to aldrin [12]. No heterogeneity in aldrin resistance was detected in either of the two independent outbreaks identified in Europe. Given the very low rates of mortality observed in this study, the resistance may be considered fixed in the field samples examined. Aldrin resistance is likely to have been introduced independently, at least twice from North America into Europe as there is no evident selection pressure to account for an increase of frequency of aldrin resistance in each of the invasive outbreaks in Europe [12]. The potential for cyclodiene resistance to be useful as a marker for identifying the area of origin for invading European populations has yet to be examined.

Movement of resistance has also been associated with the behavioral variant that allows resistance to crop rotation. Since its first identification in a single county in Illinois in 1986, the rotational-resistant variant of WCR has spread 10–30 km/year depending on the directions of the prevailing storms and winds and now occupies most of Illinois and Indiana, and has been detected as far away as Ontario, Canada [9]. Similar movements of resistance-conferring alleles have been observed with organophosphate resistance in Nebraska. Initial sampling of rootworm susceptibility in 1996 indicated the presence of two distinct resistance areas based on susceptible populations that separate the two regions [37]. However, by 1998, significantly increased resistance levels were observed in areas previously identified as being susceptible [3, 9] and that resistance was detected in areas where selection intensity is likely to have been minimal because adult management was not practiced. Understanding the spread of resistance and movement of resistance alleles is critical to resistance mitigation efforts and is becoming

increasingly important to regulatory decisions regarding new technologies such as transgenic plants that have mandatory resistance management requirements.

2 Transgenic Maize Technology Based on *Bacillus* thuringiensis Cry Proteins for Western Corn Rootworm Control

2.1 Overview

Insecticidal proteins incorporated as transgenic traits in maize hybrids have proven to be effective for providing tolerance to WCR in the field. To date all commercialized maize lines resistant to WCR damage incorporate traits based on the parasporal, crystalline (Cry) proteins derived from the soil bacterium *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt), although other protein classes are being investigated.

Cry toxins comprise a broad range of insecticidal proteins with varying structures and insect specificity [38–41]. Many Cry toxins are comprised of three domains with the following functions: (1) domain I is a bundle of seven alpha helices that are essential for membrane insertion and pore formation; (2) domain II consists of three antiparallel beta sheets, with loops that are involved in receptor binding, and (3) domain III consists of two twisted antiparallel beta sheets arranged in a beta sandwich; domain III is also involved in receptor binding and target insect specificity [38, 42].

In general terms, Cry proteins intoxicate insects by disrupting midgut epithelial tissues following oral ingestion [43]. Cry proteins are often produced as protoxins that are first solubilized in the insect midgut and then proteolytically processed to yield smaller activated polypeptides. The activated Cry proteins then bind to specific receptors on the surface of insect midgut epithelial cells. Receptor binding is followed by assembly of activated Cry proteins into pores that result in colloid osmotic lysis of midgut cells due to an influx of solutes from the midgut lumen. Cell lysis leads to disruption of the midgut epithelium and, ultimately, death of the insect larva.

Cry proteins act on a very specific range of susceptible insects. As a result, Cry protein sequence homology families commonly have a spectrum of insecticidal activity that is orders of magnitude less active to taxa outside the primary specificity range. Because of this specificity, Cry proteins are considered to be an environmentally benign insect control technology relative to traditional neurotoxic insecticides [40, 44].

Transgenic maize events expressing Cry proteins for control of WCR have achieved regulatory approval for cultivation in the United States, Canada, Brazil, and Argentina [45, 46]. Insect resistance traits for WCR were first registered in the United States in 2003 with Monsanto's YieldGard[®] event MON863 rootworm trait. In 2005 Dow AgroSciences introduced the Herculex RW[®] DAS-59122-7

event, followed in 2007 by Syngenta Seeds Agrisure[®] MIR 604 event. Traited Bt technology for control of WCR has achieved rapid adoption in the United States because transgenic maize lines provide superior yield compared to nontransgenic isolines and reduce farmer input costs [47]. The current trend in deployment of Bt technology for corn rootworm control is to combine WCR resistance traits by traditional breeding or molecular stacking to generate corn lines expressing dual modes of action (also known as trait "pyramids"). Corn lines producing insecticidal proteins that target independent receptors within the insect midgut have the potential to protect product durability by delaying the development of resistant insect populations [48]. To date only two major Cry protein classes have been developed for transgenic control of WCR. This situation is stimulating research for new modes of action effective against WCR.

2.2 Cry Proteins in Registered Transgenic Maize Events

2.2.1 Cry3 Toxins

Cry3 toxins are one of only two Cry protein classes registered for transgenic corn products resistant to WCR damage [45]. The Cry3 family of Bt proteins are best known for their insecticidal activity on Coleopteran pests [40]. These proteins are classical three-domain Cry toxins [39, 49, 50]. In certain susceptible insect pests, Cry3Aa1 mode of action involves interactions with protein receptors that include cadherin in *Tenebrio molitor* [51] and metalloprotease in *Leptinotarsa decemlineata* [52]. Consistent with these findings, a cadherin of WCR has been suggested as a possible receptor for Cry3Aa and Cry3Bb [53]. Native Cry3 proteins are relatively ineffective on *Diabrotica* spp. However, modified versions of both Cry3Aa1 and Cry3Bb1 have been developed for effective control of WCR [54–56].

mCry3Aa1

Cry3Aa1 was the first reported Coleopteran-active Bt insecticidal protein [57, 58]. Cry3Aa1 in its native form has been reported as ineffective against *Diabrotica* spp. [57, 59, 60]. To improve Cry3Aa1 activity on WCR, Walters et al. [54] used information on toxin activation to engineer a modified Cry3Aa1 variant designated mCry3A. It was previously known that Cry3Aa1 is processed by insect midgut proteases, or chymotrypsin, in a loop between alpha helix 3 and alpha helix 4 of domain I [61, 62]. A modified Cry3A (mCry3A) was engineered to contain a chymotrypsin/cathespsin G protease site at this location in the protein, resulting in more rapid proteolytic conversion of mCry3A to the activated form of the toxin. As a result, mCry3A exhibited specific binding to WCR midgut brush border membrane vesicles (BBMVs), whereas native mCry3A did not. Together, enhanced toxin cleavage and binding to insect midgut membranes resulted in mCry3A toxicity to WCR larvae that was superior to native Cry3Aa1. Maize event MIR604 expressing mCry3A was registered for cultivation in the United States in 2007 [45].

eCry3.1Ab

Walters et al. [55] again successfully modified Cry3Aa for WCR activity using a second approach based on intermolecular exchange of domain III. The basis for this approach lies in the fact that naturally occurring Cry proteins are known that result from evolutionary exchange of domain III variable regions [63]. The ability to swap domain III regions, or parts of domain III, for improved activity and spectrum had been reported previously [64, 65]. Walters et al. [55] generated a hybrid protein resulting by exchange of the domain III variable region components from a Lepidopteran active toxin, Cry1Ab, with a Cry3A region. The resulting protein, eCry3.1Ab, has higher activity against WCR than Cry3Aa. Another unique attribute of Cry3A.1Ab is that it binds WCR midgut BBMVs at sites independent of those that bind mCry3Aa. The lack of competitive binding between mCry3A and eCry3.1Ab suggests that these proteins might act via independent mechanisms on WCR midguts and are therefore potentially useful in trait pyramids to delay resistance development in WCR populations. Maize event 5307 expressing eCry3.1Ab recently received United States EPA and FDA approvals for use in food and feed (http://www. fda.gov/Food/Biotechnology/Submissions/ ucm304082.htm; http://www.gpo.gov/ fdsys/pkg/FR-2012-08-08/html/2012-19319.htm).

Cry3Bb1

Cry3Bb1 is active on WCR and other Coleopteran pests such as the Colorado potato beetle, *Leptinotarsa decemlineata* [66]. Cry3Bb1 is a three-domain Bt protein with structural similarity to many other Cry proteins [50]. Consistent with the conserved protein structural features, Cry3Bb1 has been demonstrated to function by ion channel formation in planar lipid bilayers [67]. Cry3Bb1 was the first Bt protein trait commercialized for corn rootworm control in transgenic maize event MON863 [45]. Cry3Bb1 as expressed in events MON863 and in a newer event MON88017 is a modified protein with 6 amino acid residue changes compared to the native sequence [56]. Grower adoption of WCR-protected corn has been exceptionally rapid, with approximately 50 % of corn acres being planted with corn hybrids containing WCR traits [47]. Widespread use of the Cry3Bb1 trait, has resulted in reports of field-evolved populations of WCR that are resistant to Cry3Bb1 [68, 69].

2.2.2 Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1

The second major class of Bt toxins developed for transgenic maize lines protected from WCR injury are the binary Bt crystal proteins Cry34Ab1 and Cry35Ab1 (Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1) [45]. Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 function together as oral toxins of WCR larvae [70]. Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 are very different from the Cry3-type proteins described above. Cry34Ab1 is one example of a family of 14 kDa proteins that have no sequence homology beyond the Bt Cry34 group [71]. However, Cry34 proteins do share domain homology with aegerolysin-like proteins [72]. Cry35Ab1 is a member of a family of 44 kDa Bt proteins that share low sequence homology to Bt Cry36Aa1, *Bacillus sphaericus* mosquitocidal binary proteins

BinA and BinB [70], and *B. sphaericus* mosquitocidal binary protein, Cry49Aa1 [73]. It is interesting that Cry49Aa1 functions in combination with a 3-domain protein partner, Cry48Aa1.

As do other Cry proteins, the Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 complex appears to function by disrupting the WCR midgut epithelium [74]. The proteins are also known to form ion channels in artificial lipid membranes [75]. Although the WCR receptors that bind Crv34Ab1/Crv35Ab1 have vet to be identified. Li et al. [76] demonstrated Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 specific binding to WCR BBMV and a lack of competitive binding between Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 and Cry3Aa, Cry6Aa, and Cry8Ba. Lack of competitive binding with the aforementioned single polypeptide Cry toxins, in addition to lack of sequence homology and the binary mode of action for Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1, suggested that Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 can be combined with other Cry protein classes for resistance management. To this end, Crv34Ab1/35Ab1 have been coexpressed and developed for in-plant protection against WCR feeding damage and registered as maize event DAS-59122-7. These proteins have been combined by breeding DAS-59122-7 with maize events carrying Cry3 WCR traits to generate stacked traits for WCR IRM [45]. Further support for the suitability of combining Cry34Ab1/35Ab1 with other Cry protein classes was provided by the observations of Gassmann et al. [68] who demonstrated that field-derived western corn rootworm populations with reduced susceptibility to Cry3Bb1 corn were still effectively controlled by hybrids expressing Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 proteins.

3 Insect Resistance Management

3.1 Principles of Bt Maize IRM

Protecting the durability of insect-protection traits in transgenic crops is a priority for technology developers, regulators, and end users [77]. The first commercialized traits used Bt proteins, such as Cry1Ab, Cry1Ac, and Cry3A that were similar to the active ingredients present in sprayable Bt formulations and were used as organic pesticides to protect a wide range of crops from injury by Lepidopteran pests. Therefore, protecting the durability of Bt proteins under greatly expanded use in transgenic crops was a priority, especially for organic food producers who rely on Bt formulations as one of their few options for insect pest management [78]. Because of their high efficacy, season-long Bt protein expression, and use in large-scale field crops, there is the potential for high levels of selection pressure for resistance [79]. Insect pests can evolve resistance to chemical insecticides under intensive use and there are examples of Bt resistance developing in the field through the use of sprayable formulations [80, 81].

Several options for resistance management for Bt crops were considered from a theoretical standpoint [79]. Production of the active ingredient within plant tissues

enabled more consistent and uniform exposure of the pests to the insecticidal proteins than could be achieved with traditional insecticide applications. The "high dose-refuge" approach provided a good fit for many of the key pest species targeted by the first Bt crops [82]. This approach relies on the Bt protein being produced at a concentration 25 times higher than that needed to kill 99 % of susceptible insects, with the expectation that there would also be high mortality (>95 %) of insects that are heterozygous for resistance alleles [83]. An additional assumption of this strategy is that resistance would be controlled by a major locus with two alleles: the wildtype conferring susceptibility and rare alleles conferring resistance. When coupled with a refuge of unprotected host plants, a low frequency of homozygous-resistant adults emerging from the Bt field mate with homozygous susceptible adults from the refuge field to produce heterozygous offspring. Because of the high dose, their offspring are killed by the Bt crop [79]. Therefore, the resistance allele frequency in the population rises very slowly.

Although the "high dose-refuge" approach can be highly effective in theory, and there is evidence that where properly implemented resistance has been successfully delayed [84], there are limitations to its general applicability [85]. When looking across different proteins, crops, and pests, high dose is the exception rather than the rule. Only for those species that are naturally highly sensitive to Bt proteins, such as Ostrinia nubilalis (European corn borer), Heliothis virescens (tobacco budworm), Pectinophora gossypiella (pink bollworm), and Diatraea saccharalis (sugarcane borer), can the high dose criteria reasonably be met [82]. For other species that are less sensitive to Bt proteins, high dose may not be achievable. Diabrotica species fall in the latter group and Bt maize producing Cry3Bb1, Cry34Ab1/35Ab1, or mCry3A have all been shown to allow measurable survival to adult even though they cause substantial larval mortality and provide high levels of root protection [86–90]. In addition to challenges achieving high dose, assumptions around the genetics of resistance appear not to hold universally. Many cases of resistance to Bt proteins, especially those associated with high levels of resistance, do indeed appear to be monogenic and recessive [91-94], however, others are more complex [95–97]. Diabrotica colonies selected against Bt corn show incomplete resistance, codominance, and may well be polygenic [87, 98, 99]. On the other hand, fitness costs are often associated with field-relevant resistance to Bt proteins [100] which are expected to help delay the onset of field resistance.

Perhaps the biggest challenge for the refuge-based IRM for many pests is reliable implementation of the refuge [101, 102]. In contrast to polyphagous pests for which a range of crop and wild plants can serve as refuge from Bt selection, for western corn rootworm, corn is the primary host plant and other hosts do not allow sufficient survival to adult. Adult dispersal of western corn rootworm is also thought to be limited [9], and neighboring farms may not reliably provide unselected adults that can mate with resistant insects in Bt fields. In these situations, growers must plant a portion of their fields to non-Bt hybrids. Non-Bt refuges represent short-term costs for farmers. From purchasing to planting, growers of Bt corn must consider the hybrid and location of their refuge corn. Because of limited

adult dispersal for corn rootworms, under the terms of the US EPA's registrations of rootworm-protection traits, the refuge must be planted within the same field as the Bt corn or in a neighboring field, limiting a grower's flexibility. By definition and design, refuge corn is vulnerable to root injury by corn rootworm larvae and represents yield and financial risk for growers. With the recent high commodity price of corn, the financial risk is considerable. These logistical and financial drivers limit refuge implementation. Recent data from technology providers [102] indicate that up to 10 % of corn growers fail to plant any refuge and 30–40 % of corn rootworm-protected Bt corn fields do not have an associated refuge within the required distance.

Laboratory selection experiments confirm that repeated exposure of corn rootworm populations across several generations can select for genotypes with greater survival on Bt corn [87, 98, 103] although in each case the laboratory resistance is incomplete. Furthermore, recent reports suggest that field resistance is developing to Cry3Bb1 Bt corn in some locations [68, 69]. Gassmann et al. [68] reported that the progeny of corn rootworm adults collected from Cry3Bb1-expressing corn fields showing unexpected root injury were on average better able to feed and survive longer on Cry3Bb1 corn than were the progeny of rootworm adults collected from non-Bt corn fields. This is consistent with Darwinian expectations ("survival of the fittest") and provides evidence that survival in less-than-high-dose situations can be associated with heritable changes in susceptibility that may be a lead to field resistance. Anecdotal reports suggest that fields that have been planted with corn producing the same Bt protein active against corn rootworm larvae for multiple years are vulnerable to increasing corn rootworm populations and root injury [104].

These concerns are leading technology providers and crop advisors to adjust their recommendations for long-term corn rootworm management to more explicitly include alternative tools such as rotation to corn rootworm non-host crops, soil- and foliar-applied insecticides, switching to Bt corn hybrids that produce a different rootworm-active Bt protein, and the adoption of Bt corn lines that produce more than one rootworm-active protein [104]. The last option, in particular, represents a particularly powerful resistance management tactic. Whereas crop rotation and insecticides are likely to be implemented on both Bt and non-Bt corn fields (to reduce local populations), corn lines with multiple active Bt proteins ("pyramided trait products") against corn rootworm require refuge corn to continue to be planted, so that a portion of the population escapes selection for resistance.

3.2 Theory of Pyramiding

Based on criteria that are expected to make pesticide mixtures with different mode of action more durable than continued use of a single mode of action [105], pyramided Bt traits in crops provide greatly extended durability. In pyramids, each

trait alone can be sufficiently high to provide effective control, and each component can be expressed throughout the larval feeding period of the target pests and in all tissues consumed ensuring continuous exposure. Cross-resistance among Cry proteins is more common and imparts greater levels of resistance among closely related Cry proteins than among more distantly related toxins [80, 96]. Because larvae that are heterozygous for resistance to one of the Bt proteins remain susceptible to the second, the refuge strategy is highly effective even in the absence of a "high dose" of either protein [48]. The presence of a small proportion of susceptible plants, recessive resistance, and redundancy in the mortality factors greatly extend the durability of two traits when pyramided compared with simultaneous or sequential deployment of the two traits individually [106].

Simulation models such as those by Gould [106], Gould et al. [107], Roush [48], Onstad and Meinke [108], Ives et al. [109], and Gryspeirt and Grégoire [110] suggest that pyramids can increase the number of generations until resistance occurs 25- to >100-fold compared with a single trait. Onstad and Meinke [108] showed that resistance evolution in *Diabrotica* is generally delayed by pyramided traits in maize compared with two single traits deployed sequentially. Ives et al. [109] similarly found that pyramided traits which cause low survival of insects heterozygous for resistance alleles can provide hundreds of generations of durability with very small (2–5 % of crop acreage) refuges. Greenhouse studies by Zhao et al. [111] have confirmed the conclusions of simulation models using broccoli lines expressing one or two Bt toxins and *Plutella xylostella* (diamondback moth).

The reduced refuge size associated with the pyramided traits has allowed the adoption of a natural refuge for Bt cotton in the southern United States such that the structured refuge requirement previously in place for single-gene cotton has been removed across most of the US cotton belt [112]. Similarly, planting limits for Bt cotton in Australia have been relaxed for Bollgard II. The US EPA and Canadian Food Inspection Agency, which have oversight of IRM programs for transgenic insecticidal crops in their respective countries, have also reduced the refuge size requirement for pyramided trait products compared with single-trait products in maize. For example, SmartStax[®] maize, which contains pyramided traits against corn borers and corn rootworms, requires a 5 % refuge rather than the 20 % required for single traits in Canada and the US corn belt. Reducing the burden of planting refuges is expected to encourage growers to adopt pyramided trait products in place of single-trait products [113] and improve their compliance with the refuge requirements.

Perhaps the most important change in refuge deployment enabled by the pyramiding insect protection traits and reducing required refuge sizes to 5 % has been the launch and adoption of corn seed products that contain a blend of Bt and non-Bt seed [112, 114]. Blended refuge products overcome one of the key obstacles to effective IRM: grower implementation of the refuge requirements. By blending refuge seed with the Bt seed, responsibility for refuge deployment reverts to the seed producer who can ensure not only that the correct refuge percentage is present but also that the refuge hybrid is an appropriate match for the Bt hybrid in terms of agronomic properties and seed quality. In addition, blended refuge products ensure that the refuge seed is planted at the same time as the Bt seed and is planted in the same location, rather than on inferior quality land. Blended refuges also promote mating between susceptible and resistant insects that survive in the field, reducing the potential for spatial separation to promote mating among resistant insects. The main concern raised for blended refuges, which prevented their adoption for single-trait products, is that larval movement among refuge and Bt plants can reduce their effectiveness for IRM. Dispersing larvae may experience a diluted dose of the Bt proteins, potentially increasing the fitness advantage of resistant heterozygous insects over susceptible insects. At the same time, the proportion of unselected insects surviving in the refuge may be reduced. Mallet and Porter [115] and Davis and Onstad [116] showed that these factors can be very important in simulation models.

With pyramids and reduced refuge, these concerns are reduced and become outweighed by the benefits of refuge compliance and adult out-crossing [114]. Because insects would need multiple resistance alleles to overcome the Bt trait, the fitness advantage of heterozygotes derived from feeding in a blended refuge field is reduced. Furthermore, the smaller refuge percentage permitted through pyramiding reduces the proportion of larvae that encounter refuge plants. Finally, the large IRM benefit of pyramids compared with single-trait products means that even reduced effective refuge arising from larval movement provides superior durability.

3.3 Limitations of Current Pyramids

Pyramiding for resistance management is most effective if neither protein is simultaneously deployed as a single trait [117] and field resistance to each of the insecticidal proteins has not already developed. For corn rootworm-active Bt corn products today, each of the components of pyramids currently commercially available (Cry3Bb1, Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1, mCry3A) was first available as a single rootworm-protection trait product. Today, single-trait versions are still produced and selection for resistance in fields where these are grown is expected to lead more rapidly to resistance development than in fields where pyramided products are grown. Furthermore, indications that field resistance is already developing in some fields to Cry3Bb1 [68] suggest that pyramids that include this protein may not be as durable as intended in affected fields. If such resistance also provides cross-resistance to related proteins (e.g., mCry3Aa), pyramids that include both proteins may also be weakened. Finally, all of the pyramids currently available include Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1, leading to concerns about the durability of this protein [118].

Experience and models suggest that continued reliance on a narrow range of active ingredients, although preferable to a single active ingredient, will in time result in reduced efficacy and economic damage. Finding additional or replacement rootworm-active ingredients is an emerging priority, with an emphasis on novel modes of action for which cross-resistance with the existing proteins is unlikely.

Including one or more active ingredients that reduce or eliminate adult emergence may provide the greatest benefits by greatly reducing the potential survival of insects that are completely or incompletely resistant to other active ingredients.

4 New Modes of Action for Transgenic Control of Western Corn Rootworm

4.1 Candidate Insecticidal Proteins

In addition to Cry3 and Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 proteins commercialized for WCR control, several classes of insectidal proteins derived from *B. thuringiensis* have been reported to be active against WCR. Candidate Bt toxins with activity on WCR include members classified as Cry, Cyt (cytolitic), and Vip (vegetative insecticidal protein) [41]. Collectively these proteins comprise a wide range of sequences from distinct homology groups that suggest new modes of action different from Cry3 or Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1. As such, these Bt toxin classes are the subject of intensive research efforts to discover novel candidates for WCR control in transgenic maize.

4.1.1 Cry6Aa1

Cry6Aa1 is a 54 kDa single chain polypeptide with no primary sequence homology compared to three-domain Cry toxins. Cry6Aa1 has dual pesticidal activity against WCR larvae [119, 120] and nematodes including *Meloidogyne* spp. [121, 122]. Cry6Aa does not share WCR brush border membrane binding sites with Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 [76] and is therefore a suitable candidate for insect resistance management strategies that incorporate multiple modes of action.

4.1.2 Cry7 and Cry8 Toxins

Members of Cry7 and Cry 8 classes have been reported to be active on a range of Coleopteran pests [40]. Cry7 and Cry 8 proteins are three-domain toxins based on their primary sequence homology and conserved sequence blocks that are similar to other Cry toxins [38]. Both Cry7 and Cry8 classes contain multiple members with diverse sequences; at least 9 Cry 7 toxins and 24 Cry8 toxins are listed on the Bt nomenclature website [41]. The rich diversity of sequences in the Cry7 and Cry8 classes makes them attractive sources of candidate proteins to screen for activity against WCR. Indeed, a Cry7-type protein designated AXMI-28 [123] and a Cry8B protein [124] have been described as active against WCR. Cry8Ba does not share binding sites with Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1 [76].

4.1.3 Cyt1Ba1 and Cyt2Ca Toxins

Cyt toxins [125] are a subclass of Bt insecticidal crystal proteins that are named for their general cytolytic activity. Two Cyt toxins, Cyt1Ba [126] and Cyt2Ca1 [127] have been reported to kill WCR larvae.

Cyt toxins have a mode of action that is different from Cry toxins. Although Cyt toxin mode of action has not been reported in WCR, information from other insects suggests that Cyt toxins are potential candidates for transgenic expression for WCR control. Three Cyt protein structures have been solved that have a similar overall fold wherein two outer layers of alpha helix hairpins surround a beta sheet [128–130]. Cyt toxins function through interactions with non-saturated membrane lipids including phosphatidylcholine, phosphatidylethanolamine, and sphingomylin [131]. Cyt toxins are proposed to form multimeric pores or exert their insecticidal effect by a less-specific detergent mechanism [132]. Cyt1Aa is well known for synergizing *B. thuringiensis* subspecies *israelensis* (Bti) mosquitocidal Cry toxins, that is, Cry4Aa, Cry4Ba, and Cry11Aa, and overcoming resistance to these toxins in mosquitos [133–135]. Furthermore, Cyt1Aa is toxic to the cottonwood leaf beetle, *Crysomela scripta*, and is able to overcome resistance to Cry3Aa in this pest [136].

4.1.4 Sip1A

Secreted insecticidal protein (Sip1A) is a novel insecticidal protein identified by screening culture supernatants from *B. thuringiensis* strains for activity against Coleopteran pests [137]. The approximate 38 kDa Sip1A protein is active on the larvae of the Colorado potato beetle, southern corn rootworm, and WCR. Sip1A lacks protein sequence homology with Cry toxins but has a low degree of sequence similarity with the 36-kDa mosquitocidal Mtx3 protein of *B. sphaericus* [137]. Mtx3 shares sequence similarity with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* cytotoxin and to *Clostridium perfringens* alpha-toxin [39]. This is at least suggestive that Sip1A might belong to this class of pore-forming toxins.

4.1.5 Vip1 and Vip2

The soluble vegetative insecticidal proteins Vip1Aa and Vip2Aa from *Bacillus cereus* AB78 culture supernatants are arranged in a transcriptional operon and encode proteins of approximately 100 and 52 kDa, respectively. Vip1Aa and Vip2Aa act together as a binary toxin that is highly potent against WCR. Vip1Aa is processed at its N-terminus to an 80-kDa membrane binding protein that functions in a multimeric state to facilitate translocation Vip2Aa to the cytoplasm [138, 139]. Vip2Aa is an ADP-ribosylase with a high degree of sequence and structural similarity to the enzymatic domains of CdtA of *Clostridium difficile* and iota toxin of *Clostridium perfringens* [39, 140]. Vip2 consists of two structurally similar domains of limited sequence identity, with the C-terminal domain having

the enzymatic activity [140]. Given these structural similarities Vip2Aa likely targets actin to block polymerization leading to loss of the actin cytoskeleton and eventual cell death. Vip1Aa is homologous to the CdtB toxin component of *C. difficile*, the Ib component of *C. perfringes* iota toxin and the protective antigen of *B. anthracis*. These proteins bind receptors and translocate lethal factors, suggesting that Vip1Aa might function similarly [39]. The fact that Vip2Aa ribosylates actin could limit the utility of this binary toxin as an option for WCR control.

4.1.6 Bacterial Toxin Complexes (Tcs)

Several genera of insect pathogenic bacteria including *Photorhabdus* [141, 142], *Xenorhabdus* [143], *Serratia* [144], and *Yersinia* [145] produce toxin complex(es) (Tcs) with masses of approximately 1 million Daltons. The insecticidal activity of Tcs has generated interest in their potential use in agriculture as alternatives to Bt [146]. Tcs are characterized by at least three basic types of functional components: TcA, TcB, and TcC. Toxin complex from *P. luminescens* is highly active on *Diabrotica* spp. [147, 148]. Recent work demonstrated that *P. luminescens* TccC proteins are responsible for cell toxicity via ADP-ribosylation of actin and Rho-GTPases [149, 150].

4.2 RNA Interference

First described over 10 years ago in the nematode, *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Rhabditida: Rhabditidae), RNA interference (RNAi) refers to a set of related processes in which small regulatory double-stranded RNAs direct sequence-specific repression of gene expression [151–153]. This pathway has been implicated as a mechanism of defense against invasive nucleic acids from viruses or from mobile genetic elements, and has been conclusively shown to regulate gene expression in virtually all eukaryotic organisms [151, 152, 154, 155]. Widely recognized as one of the premier functional genomics research tools, RNAi has been used extensively in the postgenomics era to assign functions for genes annotated through small (expressed sequencing tags) or large (whole genome) scale sequencing efforts. Both the pharmaceutical and agricultural industries have recognized RNAi as a mechanism to control the expression of target genes for either therapeutic or pest control purposes, resulting in a diversity of potential applications.

In insects, the effectiveness of RNAi has been confirmed in a number of species but varies across different insect taxa and among different tissues [155, 156]. Most of the studies with insects have involved injection of long dsRNA directly in the insect hemocoel to achieve silencing which has become a routine method for assessing gene function. In the western corn rootworm, Alves et al. [157] documented the utility of RNAi in larvae by injecting second and third instars with dsRNA for genes that have previously been shown to exhibit clear RNAi

phenotypes in the Coleopteran model, *Tribolium castaneum* [158, 159]. Injection of dsRNA for the *D. v. virgifera* orthologues of *laccase 2* (*DvvLac2*) and *chitin synthase 2* (*DvvCHS2*) resulted in prevention of postmolt cuticular tanning for *DvvLac2*, and injection of *DvvCHS2*-specific dsRNA reduced chitin levels in midguts. Reduced expression of both *DvvLac2* and *DvvCHS2* was confirmed by RT-PCR and quantitative RT-PCR. These results suggest that RNAi-mediated gene knockdown is systemic in western corn rootworm larvae and provides a basis for utilizing RNAi as a functional genomic tool in rootworms.

The potential for RNAi to assess gene function in *D. v. virgifera* was exploited by Valencia et al. [160] who injected dsRNA for a putative endoglucanase (*DvvEngase1*) that is believed to be involved in cellulose digestion into actively feeding second instars. A dramatic decrease in both *DvvEngase1* transcript abundance and protein expression was reported confirming the knockdown of expression. However, the larvae injected with *DvvEngase1* dsRNA showed only a slight decrease in weight gain and development time relative to control treatments. The authors concluded that suppression of a single cellulase gene by RNAi was insufficient to affect larval development significantly either because of the existence of multiple cellulases or the involvement of gut symbionts that may also facilitate cellulose digestion.

Although injection of dsRNA for functional genomics studies has been successful in a variety of insects including the western corn rootworm, uptake of dsRNA from the gut environment through oral exposure to dsRNA and subsequent down-regulation of essential genes is required in order for RNAi to be effective as a pest management tool [161, 162]. Although insects do not possess an RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) common to plants and some lower invertebrates [161, 163], systemic RNAi through oral administration has been documented in a number of different species representing seven different orders [154]. The mechanism of systemic RNAi in insects is yet to be identified. A second potential obstacle to RNAi as a tool for pest management is the possible degradation of dsRNA in the insect gut [161]. However, the availability of transgenic plants that express dsRNA would provide continuous oral delivery and circumvent possible degradation.

The combination of systemic RNAi by oral exposure to dsRNA and transgenic plants that express dsRNA led to the first report of *in planta* RNAi in corn plants targeting *D. virgifera virgifera* larvae [164]. These authors describe a high-throughput in vivo dietary RNAi system to screen potential target genes for developing transgenic RNAi maize. A total of 14 genes from an initial gene pool of 290 exhibited larval control potential. One of the most effective double-stranded RNAs (dsRNA) targeted a gene encoding *vacuolar ATPase subunit A* (*V-ATPase*), resulting in a rapid suppression of corresponding endogenous mRNA and triggering a specific RNAi response with low concentrations of dsRNA. The authors also described that corn plants expressing dsRNA directed against the *V-ATPase* gene effectively reduced expression in rootworm larvae that fed on these plants and protected the plants from root damage, documenting for the first time the potential for *in planta* RNAi as a possible pest management tool.

Rangasamy and Siegfried [165] designed dsRNA for the same *V-ATPase* described by Baum et al. [164] and documented that oral delivery to adult rootworms could also induce reduced gene expression and protein synthesis and that mortality in the exposed beetles could be achieved within 14 days of exposure. The authors suggest that adults may provide a more effective developmental stage to screen activity of dsRNAs because they are easier to manipulate and can be induced to feed compulsively on an artificial diet by incorporating a natural feeding stimulant. The potential to target both adults and larvae with the same transgenic events may provide increased protection over technologies that target only larvae by minimizing egg deposition and larval damage in the subsequent growing season.

One of the factors that apparently influences RNAi efficiency in insects is the capacity of cells to take up dsRNA from the extracellular environment and spread the effect to neighboring cells [154]. Although the key steps in the process have yet to be confirmed for western corn rootworms, Bolognesi et al. [166] described a sequence of events that resulted in mortality after ingestion of a dsRNA designed from a gene (Snf7) which encodes an essential protein involved in intracellular trafficking. These events involve initial suppression of mRNA in midgut and some spreading to surrounding tissues within 1 day after exposure. By 3 days, suppression in the midgut had stabilized whereas suppression in tissues beyond the midgut continued to increase. By 5 days, DVSNF7 protein levels were significantly and equally reduced in midgut and other tissues equally and the onset of mortality was observed. The authors also reported that the minimum length of dsRNA for biological activity was approximately 60 bp and that 240-bp dsRNA containing a single 21-bp match to the target sequence was efficacious, whereas 21-bp short interfering RNA (siRNAs) were not. In addition, the uptake of dsRNA was dependent on fragment size as uptake of 240-bp dsRNA with a single 21-bp fragment embedded was evident in midgut cells whereas the 21-bp siRNA alone was not, suggesting that the lack of activity of siRNAs may be related to the ability of midgut cells to uptake the shorter fragments. These combined results provide important clues about the mechanisms of RNAi-induced suppression of gene expression and a basis for evaluating the specificity and potential for nontarget effects of RNAi-based control methods.

Given the recent reports of Cry toxin failure in field populations of western corn rootworms [68, 69], there is a clear and pressing need for alternatives to Bt toxins for rootworm management, and the development of *in planta* RNAi has taken on an increased urgency. Documenting efficacy of the technology is ongoing and regulatory considerations for RNAi-based insecticidal traits, such as the development of standardized environmental risk assessment, are still being developed [152, 162]. Considerations of how to evaluate sequence specificity, environmental fate, and exposure of nontarget organisms are still being developed. However, US regulatory agencies such as the Environmental Protection Agency and the Department of Agriculture have provided preliminary assessments [152] suggesting that data requirements for RNAi traits may be reduced based primarily on the lack of a plant-incorporated protectant, such as a protein toxin.

5 Summary, Conclusions, Outlook

The western corn rootworm is likely to continue to be a significant pest of concern in the US corn belt despite a history of control measures that have included chemical pesticides, crop rotation, and, more recently, transgenic maize lines containing WCR resistance traits. Transgenic maize that expresses toxins derived from *B. thuringiensis* has proven to be an effective and convenient means to control WCR and protect maize yield potential while reducing the cost of grower inputs and minimizing the environmental impact relative to traditional crop protection chemistry. This has driven an increase in grower adoption of WCR-trait technology to the extent that field-isolated resistance to the first WCR resistance trait, Cry3Bb1, is threatening the availability and utility of this toxin as well as the pyramided events that combine Cry3Bb with other toxins. WCR resistance to Cry3Bb1 is likely to increase selection pressure on Cry34Ab1/Cry35Ab1, the other commercialized WCR-trait with a truly unique mode of action different from three-domain Bt toxins.

It is clear that a robust IRM plan must be implemented in order to provide longterm durability for WCR trait technology. To be effective, WCR IRM must incorporate integrated pest management practices that include transgenic traits and effective refuge deployment as well as other rootworm management practices such as soil and foliar insecticides and crop rotation to protect trait durability. Refuge compliance will be simplified by the ability to provide the refuge maize lines as blended seeds, a scenario where the trait technology provider, rather than the grower, is responsible for refuge deployment. As discussed herein, combined or pyramided insect resistance traits with different modes of action are inherently more durable than single trait lines. Hence, the need for novel modes of action and WCR traits to enable effective trait pyramids is heightened.

The search for new modes of action includes intensive, genome-scale research for microbial-derived insecticidal proteins, such as Bt and other insect pathogenic microorganisms. The recent success in developing WCR-tolerant plants that express dsRNA targeting essential genes is encouraging and may provide an additional and unique mode of action to partner with existing traits and provide the seed industry with an additional tool for delivering robust IRM trait packages.

References

- 1. Sappington TW, Siegfried BD, Guillemaud T (2006) Coordinated *Diabrotica* genetics research: accelerating progress on an urgent insect pest problem. Am Entomol 52:90–97
- Gray ME, Sappington TW, Miller NJ, Moeser J, Bohn MO (2009) Adaptation and invasiveness of western corn rootworm: intensifying research on a worsening pest. Annu Rev Entomol 54:303–321

- Miller NJ, Guillemaud T, Giordano R, Siegfried BD, Gray ME, Meinke LJ, Sappington TW (2009) Genes, gene flow and adaptation of *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*. Agric Forest Entomol 11:47–60
- Branson TF, Krysan JL (1981) Feeding and oviposition behavior and life cycle strategies for Diabrotica: an evolutionary view with implications for pest management. Environ Entomol 10:826–831
- 5. Metcalf RL (1986) Foreword, pp. vii-xv. In: Krysan JL, Miller TA (eds) Methods for the study of pest *Diabrotica*. Springer, New York
- Meinke LJ, Siegfried BD, Wright RJ, Chandler LD (1998) Adult susceptibility of Nebraska western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) populations to selected insecticides. J Econ Entomol 91:594–600
- Parimi S, Meinke LJ, French BW, Chandler LD, Siegfried BD (2006) Stability and persistence of aldrin and methyl-parathion resistance in western corn rootworm populations (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae). Crop Prot 25:269–274
- Siegfried BD, Meinke LJ, Parimi S, Scharf ME, Nowatzki TJ et al (2004) Monitoring western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) susceptibility to carbaryl and cucurbitacin baits in the area-wide management pilot program. J Econ Entomol 97:1726–1733
- Meinke LJ, Sappington TW, Onstad DW, Guillemaud T, Miller NJ et al (2009) Western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte) population dynamics. Agric Forest Entomol 11:29–46
- Levine E, Spencer JL, Isard SA, Onstad DW, Gray ME (2002) Adaptation of the western corn rootworm, *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) to crop rotation: evolution of a new strain in response to a cultural management practice. Am Entomol 48:94–107
- Metcalf RL (1983) Implication and prognosis of resistance to insecticides. In: Georghiou GP, Sato T (eds) Pest resistance to pesticides. Plenum Press, New York, pp 703–733
- 12. Ciosi M, Toepfer S, Li H, Haye T, Kuhlmann U et al (2009) Are the invading Western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) populations in Europe resistant against insecticides as in the USA? J Entomol Sci. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0418.2008.01363.x
- Gillette CP (1912) Diabrotica virgifera LeC. as a corn root-worm. J Econ Entomol 5:364–366
- 14. Clark TL, Hibbard BE (2004) Comparison of nonmaize hosts to support western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) larval biology. Environ Entomol 33:681–689
- Oyediran IO, Higdon ML, Clark TL, Hibbard BE (2007) Interactions of alternate hosts, postemergence grass control, and rootworm-resistant transgenic corn on western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) damage and adult emergence. J Econ Entomol 100:557–565
- Krysan JL (1986) Introduction: biology, distribution and identification of pest *Diabrotica*. In: Krysan JL, Miller TA (eds) Methods of the study of pest *Diabrotica*. Springer, New York, pp 25–47
- Sutter GR (1999) Western corn rootworm. In: Steffey Kl, Rice ME, All J, Andow DA, Gray ME, Van Duyn JW (eds) Handbook of corn insects. Entomol Soc Am, Lanham, MD, pp 64–65
- Kiss J, Edwards CR, Berger HK, Cate P, Cean M et al (2005) Monitoring of western corn rootworm (Diabrotica virgifera virgifera LeConte) in Europe 1992–2003. In: Vidal S, Kuhlmann U, Edwards CR (eds) Western corn rootworm: ecology and management. CABI Publishing, CAB International, Wallingford, pp 29–39
- 19. Miller NJ, Estoup A, Toepfer S, Bourguet D, Lapchin L et al (2005) Multiple transatlantic introduction of the western corn rootworm. Science 310:992
- Ciosi M, Miller N, Kim KS, Giordano R, Estoup A, Guillemaud T (2008) Invasion of Europe by the western corn rootworm, *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*: multiple transatlantic introductions with various reductions of genetic diversity. Mol Ecol 17:3614–3627

- Levine E, Oloumi-Sadeghi H (1996) Western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) larval injury to corn grown for seed production following soybeans grown for seed production. J Econ Entomol 89:1010–1016
- 22. Sammons AE, Edwards CR, Bledsoe LW, Boeve PJ, Stuart JJ (1997) Behavioral and feeding assays reveal a western corn rootworm variant that is attracted to soybean. Environ Entomol 26:1336–1342
- 23. Isard SA, Levine E, Onstad DW, Spencer JL (1998) Status of the rootworm problem in firstyear corn in Illinois. Poster presentation at the ESA annual meeting, Las Vegas
- 24. Rondon SI, Gray ME (2003) Captures of western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) adults with Pherocon AM and vial traps in four crops in east central Illinois. J Econ Entomol 96:737–747
- Rondon SI, Gray ME (2004) Ovarian development and ovipositional preference of the western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) variant in east central Illinois. J Econ Entomol 97:390–396
- 26. Muma MH, Hill RE, Hixon E (1949) Soil treatments for corn rootworm control. J Econ Entomol 42:822–824
- Ball HJ, Hill RE (1953) You can control corn rootworm. Nebraska Experiment Station Quarterly Winter 1952–53, Nebraska Agricultural Experiment Station, Lincoln
- Ball HJ, Roselle, RE (1954) You can control corn rootworms. University of Nebraska Extension Circular 1567
- Ball HJ (1983) Aldrin and dieldrin residues in Nebraska (USA) soils as related to decreasing LD50 values for the adult western corn rootworm (Diabrotica virgifera),1962–1981. J Environ Sci Health B18:735–744
- Roselle RE, Anderson LW, Simpson GW, Webb MC (1959) Cooperative extension work in entomology. Annual Report for 1959, Lincoln
- 31. Roselle RE, Anderson LW, Simpson RC, Bergman PW (1960) Cooperative extension work in entomology. Annual Report for 1960, Lincoln
- 32. Roselle RE, Anderson LW, Bergman PW (1961) Cooperative extension work in entomology. Annual Report for 1961, Lincoln
- Ball HJ, Weekman GT (1962) Insecticide resistance in the adult western corn rootworm in Nebraska. J Econ Entomol 55:439–441
- Ball HJ, Weekman GT (1963) Differential resistance of corn rootworms to insecticides in Nebraska and adjoining states. J Econ Entomol 56:553–555
- Pruess KP, Witkowski JF, Raun ES (1974) Population suppression of western corn rootworm by adult control with ULV malathion. J Econ Entomol 67:541–545
- 36. Siegfried BD, Mullin CA (1989) Influence of alternative host plant feeding on aldrin susceptibility and detoxification enzymes in western and northern corn rootworms. Pestic Biochem Physiol 35:155–164
- 37. Zhou X, Scharf ME, Parimi S, Meinke LJ, Wright RJ, Chandler LD, Siegfried BD (2002) Diagnostic assays based on esterase-mediated resistance mechanisms in western corn rootworms (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae). J Econ Entomol 95:1261–1266
- Schnepf E, Crickmore N, Van Rie J, Lereclus D, Baum J, Feitelson J, Zeigler DR, Dean DH (1998) *Bacillus thuringiensis* and its pesticidal crystal proteins. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 62:775–806
- de Maagd RA, Bravo A, Berry C, Crickmore N, Schnepf HE (2003) Structure, diversity, and evolution of protein toxins from spore-forming entomopathogenic bacteria. Annu Rev Genet 37:409–433
- van Frankenhuyzen K (2009) Insecticidal activity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* crystal proteins. J Invertebr Path 101:1–16
- Crickmore N, Zeigler DR, Schnepf E, Van Rie J, Lereclus D, Baum J, Bravo A, Dean, DH (2012) *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin nomenclature. http://www.lifesci.sussex.ac.uk/Home/ Neil_Crickmore/Bt/ Accessed 30 Nov 2012
- 42. Bravo A, Gill SS, Soberon M (2007) Mode of action of *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry and Cyt toxins and their potential for insect control. Toxicon 49:423–435

- Vachon V, Laprade R, Schwartz J-L (2012) Current models of the mode of action of Bacillus thuringiensis insecticidal crystal proteins: a critical review. J Invertebr Pathol http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jip.2012.05.001
- Mendelsohn M, Kough J, Vaituzis Z, Matthews K (2003) Are Bt crops safe? Nat. Biotechnol. 21:1003Đ1009
- 45. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2012) Current & previously registered section 3 PIP registrations http://www.epa.gov/pesticides/biopesticides/pips/pip_list.htm
- 46. Devos Y, Meihls LN, Kiss J, Hibbard BE (2012) Resistance evolution to the first generation of genetically modified *Diabrotica*-active Bt-maize events by western corn rootworm: management and monitoring considerations. Transgenic Res. doi:10.1007/s11248-012-9657-4
- Marra MC, Piggott NE, Goodwin BK (2012) The impact of corn rootworm protected biotechnology traits in the United States. AgBioForum 15:217–230
- 48. Roush RT (1998) Two-toxin strategies for management of insecticidal transgenic crops: can pyramiding succeed where pesticide mixtures have not? Phil Trans R Soc Lond B 353:1777–1786
- 49. Li J, Carroll J, Ellar DJ (1991) Crystal structure of insecticidal δ -endotoxin from *Bacillus thuringiensis* at 2.5 Å resolution. Nature 353:815–821
- Galitsky N, Cody V, Wojtczak A, Ghosh D, Luft JR, Pangborn W, English L (2001) Structure of the insecticidal bacterial delta-endotoxin Cry3Bb1 of *Bacillus thuringiensis*. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 57:1101–1109
- 51. Fabrick J, Oppert C, Lorenzen MD, Morris K, Oppert B, Jurat-Fuentes JL (2009) A novel *Tenebrio molitor* cadherin is a functional receptor for *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry3Aa toxin. J Biol Chem 284:18401–18410
- 52. Ochoa-Campuzano C, Real MD, Martínez-Ramírez AC, Bravo A, Rausell C (2007) An ADAM metalloprotease is a Cry3Aa *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 362:437–442
- 53. Park Y, Abdullah MAF, Taylor MD, Rahman K, Adang MJ (2009) Enhancement of *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry3Aa and Cry3Bb toxicities to Coleopteran larvae by a toxinbinding fragment of an insect cadherin. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:3086–3092
- 54. Walters FS, Stacy CM, Lee MK, Palekar N, Chen JS (2008) An engineered chymotrypsin/ cathepsin G site in domain I renders *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry3A active against Western corn rootworm larvae. Appl Environ Microbiol 74:367–374
- 55. Walters FS, deFontes CM, Hart H, Warren GW, Chen JS (2010) Lepidopteran-active variable-region sequence imparts Coleopteran activity in eCry3.1Ab, an engineered *Bacillus thuringiensis* hybrid insecticidal protein. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:3082–3088
- 56. Vaughn T, Cavato T, Brar G, Coombe T, DeGooyer T et al (2005) A method of controlling corn rootworm feeding using a *Bacillus thuringiensis* protein expressed in transgenic maize. Crop Sci 45:931–938
- 57. Herrnstadt C, Gilroy TE, Sobieski DA, Bennett BD, Gaertner FH (1986) Nucleotide sequence and deduced amino acid sequence of a coleopteran-active delta-endotoxin gene from *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. San Diego. Gene 57:37–46
- Sekar V, Thompson DV, Maroney MJ, Bookland RG, Adang MJ (1987) Molecular cloning and characterization of the insecticidal crystal protein gene of *Bacillus thuringiensis* var. *tenebrionis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84:7036–7040
- MacIntosh SC, Stone TB, Sims SR, Hunst PL, Greenplate JT et al (1990) Specificity and efficacy of purified *Bacillus thuringiensis* proteins against agronomically important insects. J Invertebr Pathol 56:258–266
- 60. Slaney AC, Robbins HL, English L (1992) Mode of action of *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin CryIIIA: an analysis of toxicity in *Leptinotarsa decemlineata* (Say) and *Diabrotica* undecempunctata Howardi Barber. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 22:9–18
- Carroll J, Li J, Ellar DJ (1989) Proteolytic processing of a Coleopteran specific-endotoxin produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis* var. *tenebrionis*. Biochem J 261:99–105

- 62. Carroll J, Convents D, Van Damme J, Boets A, Van Rie J, Ellar DJ (1997) Intramolecular proteolytic cleavage of *Bacillus thuringiensis* Cry3A-endotoxin may facilitate its Coleopteran toxicity. J Invertebr Pathol 70:41–49
- 63. de Maagd RA, Bravo A, Crickmore N (2001) How *Bacillus thuringiensis* has evolved specific toxins to colonize the insect world. Trends Genet 17:193–199
- 64. de Maagd RA, Kwa MSG, van der Klei H, Yamamoto T, Schipper B et al (1996) Domain III substitution in *Bacillus thuringiensis* delta endotoxin Cry1A(b) results in superior toxicity for *Spodoptera exigua* and altered membrane protein recognition. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:1537–1543
- 65. de Maagd RA, Weemen-Hendriks M, Stiekema W, Bosch D (2000) Bacillus thuringiensis delta-endotoxin Cry1C domain III can function as a specificity determinant for Spodoptera exigua in different, but not all, Cry1-Cry1C hybrids. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:1559–1563
- 66. Donovan WP, Rupar MJ, Slaney AC, Malvar T, Gawron-Burke MC, Johnson TB (1992) Characterization of two genes encoding *Bacillus thuringiensis* insecticidal crystal proteins toxic to Coleoptera species. Appl Environ Microbiol 58:3921–3927
- 67. Von Tersch MA, Slatin SL, Kulesza CA, English LH (1994) Membrane-permeabilizing activities of *Bacillus thuringiensis* Coleopteran-active toxin CryIIIB2 and CryIIIB2 domain I peptide. Appl Environ Microbiol 60:3711–3717
- Gassmann AJ, Petzold-Maxwell JL, Keweshan RS, Dunbar MW (2011) Field-evolved resistance to Bt maize by western corn rootworm. PLoS ONE 6(7):e22629. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022629
- Gassmann AJ, Petzold-Maxwell JL, Keweshan RS, Dunbar MW (2012) Western corn rootworm and Bt maize: challenges of pest resistance in the field. GM Crops Food 3:235–244
- 70. Ellis TR, Stockhoff BA, Stamp L, Schnepf HE, Schwab GE et al (2002) Novel Bacillus thuringiensis binary insecticidal crystal proteins active on western corn rootworm, Diabrotica virgifera virgifera LeConte. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:1137–1145
- 71. Schnepf HE, Lee S, Dojillo J, Burmeister P, Fencil K, Morera L, Nygaard L, Narva KE, Wolt J (2005) Characterization of Cry34/Cry35 binary insecticidal proteins from diverse *Bacillus thuringiensis* strain collections. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:1765–1774
- Berne S, Lah L, Sepcic K (2009) Aegerolysins: structure, function, and putative biological role. Protein Sci 18:694–706
- 73. Jones GW, Nielsen-Leroux C, Yang Y, Yuan Z, Dumas VF, Monnerat RG, Berry C (2007) A new Cry toxin with a unique two-component dependency from *Bacillus sphaericus*. FASEB J 21:4112–4120
- 74. Moellenbeck DJ, Peters ML, Bing JW, Rouse JR, Higgins LS et al (2001) Insecticidal proteins from *Bacillus thuringiensis* protect corn from corn rootworms. Nat Biotechnol 19:668–672
- 75. Masson L, Schwab G, Mazza A, Brousseau R, Potvin L, Schwartz JL (2004) A novel Bacillus thuringiensis (PS149B1) containing a Cry34/35Ab1 binary toxin specific for the western corn rootworm Diabrotica virgifera virgifera LeConte forms ion channels in lipid membranes. Biochemistry 43:12349–12357
- 76. Li H, Olson M, Lin G, Hey T, Tan S-Y, Narva KE (2012) Bacillus thuringiensis Cry34Ab1/ Cry35Ab1 interactions with Western corn rootworm midgut membrane binding sites. PLoS One accepted
- 77. MacIntosh SC (2010) Managing the risk of insect resistance to transgenic insect control traits: Practical approaches in local environments. Pest Manag Sci 66:100–106
- Mellon M (1998) UCS introduction. In: Mellon M, Rissler J (eds) Now or never: serious new plans to save a natural pest control. Union of Concerned Scientists, Cambridge, pp 1–12
- Gould F (1998) Sustainability of transgenic insecticidal cultivars: Integrating pest genetics and ecology. Annu Rev Entomol 43:701–726
- Tabashnik BE (1994) Evolution of resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis*. Annu Rev Entomol 39:47–79

- 81. Janmaat AF, Myers J (2003) Rapid evolution and the cost of resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis* in greenhouse populations of cabbage loopers, *trichoplusia ni*. Proc R Soc Lond B 270:2263–2270
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2001a) Biopesticides registration action document—*Bacillus thuringiensis* plant-incorporated protectants. http://www.epa.gov/ pesticides/biopesticides/pips/bt_brad.htm
- 83. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2001b) A set of scientific issues being considered by the environmental protection agency regarding: Bt plant-pesticides risk and benefit assessments: Insect resistance management. FIFRA scientific advisory panel report no. 2000–07a
- 84. Huang FN, Andow DA, Buschman LL (2011) Success of the high-dose/refuge resistance management strategy after 15 years of Bt crop use in North America. Entomologia Entomol Exp Appl 140:1–16
- Bates SL, Zhao J-Z, Roush RT, Shelton AM (2005) Insect resistance management in GM crops: past, present and future. Nat Biotechnol 23:57–62
- 86. Storer NP, Babcock JM, Edwards JM (2006) Field measures of western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) mortality caused by Cry34/35Ab1 proteins expressed in maize event 59122 and implications for trait durability. J Econ Entomol 99:1381–1387
- Meihls LN, Higdon ML, Siegfried BD, Miller NJ, Sappington TW (2008) Increased survival of western corn rootworm on transgenic corn within three generations of on-plant greenhouse selection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:19177–19182
- Binning RR, Lefko SA, Millsap AY, Thompson SD, Nowatzki TM (2010) Estimating western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) larval susceptibility to event DAS-59122-7 maize. J Appl Entomol 134:551–561
- Hibbard BE, Clark TL, Ellersieck MR, Meihls LN, El Khishen AA et al (2010) Mortality of western corn rootworm larvae on mir604 transgenic maize roots: field survivorship has no significant impact on survivorship of f1 progeny on mir604. J Econ Entomol 103:2187–2196
- 90. Hibbard BE, Frank DL, Kurtz R, Boudreau E, Ellersieck MR, Odhiambo JF (2011) Mortality impact of Bt transgenic maize roots expressing ecry3.1ab, mCry3A, and ecry3.1ab plus mCry3A on western corn rootworm larvae in the field. J Econ Entomol 104:1584–1591
- Tabashnik BE, Liu Y-B, Dennehy TJ, Sims MA, Sisterson MS, Biggs RW, Carrière Y (2002) Inheritance of resistance to Bt toxin Cry1Ac in a field-derived strain of pink bollworm (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae). J Econ Entomol 95:1018–1026
- 92. Pereira EJG, Lang BA, Storer NP, Siegfried BD (2008) Selection for Cry1F resistance in the European corn borer and cross-resistance to other cry toxins. Entomol Exp Appl 126:115–121
- 93. Storer NP, Babcock JM, Schlenz JM, Meade T, Thompson GD, Bing JW, Huckaba RM (2010) Discovery and characterization of field resistance to Bt maize: *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) in Puerto Rico. J Econ Entomol 103:1031–1038
- 94. Coates BS, Sumerford DV, Lopez MD, Wang HC, Fraser LM et al (2011) A single major QTL controls expression of larval Cry1F resistance trait in *Ostrinia nubilalis* (Lepidoptera: Crambidae) and is independent of midgut receptor genes. Genetica 139:961–972
- Gahan LJ, Gould F, Heckel DG (2001) Identification of a gene associated with bit resistance in *Heliothis virescens*. Science 293:857–860
- 96. Ferré J, Van Rie J (2002) Biochemistry and genetics of insect resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis*. Annu Rev Entomol 47:501–533
- 97. Crespo ALB, Spencer TA, Alves AP, Hellmich RL, Blankenship EE, Magalhaes LC, Siegfried BD (2009) On-plant survival and inheritance of resistance to Cry1Ab toxin from *Bacillus thuringiensis* in a field-derived strain of European corn borer, *Ostrinia nubilalis*. Pest Manag Sci 65:1071–1081
- 98. Lefko SA, Nowatzki TM, Thompson SD, Binning RR, Pascual MA et al (2008) Characterizing laboratory colonies of western corn rootworm (Coleoptera:

Chrysomelidae) selected for survival on maize containing event DAS-59122-7. J Appl Entomol 13:189-204

- Oswald KJ, French BW, Nielson C, Bagley M (2011) Selection for Cry3Bb1 resistance in a genetically diverse population of nondiapausing western corn rootworm (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae). J Econ Entomol 104:1038–1044
- 100. Gassmann AJ, Carrière Y, Tabashnik BE (2009) Fitness costs of insect resistance to Bacillus thuringiensis. Annu Rev Entomol 54:147–163
- 101. Kruger M, Van Rensburg JBJ, Van den Berg J (2009) Perspective on the development of stem borer resistance to Bt maize and refuge compliance at the Vaalharts irrigation scheme in South Africa. Crop Prot 28:684–689
- 102. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2011) Updated EPA review of ABSTC's 2010 corn insect resistance management compliance assurance program. http://www.regulations.gov/ #!documentDetail;D=EPA-HQ-OPP-2011-0922-0010
- 103. Meihls LN, Higdon ML, Ellersieck M, Hibbard BE (2011) Selection for resistance to mCry3A-expressing transgenic corn in western corn rootworm. J Econ Entomol 104:1045–1054
- 104. Porter P, Cullen E, Sappington T, Schaafsma A, Pueppke S, Andow D, Bradshaw J, Buschman L, Cardoza YJ, DiFonzo C, French BW, Gassmann A, Gray ME, Hammond RB, Hibbard B, Krupke CH, Lundgren JG, Ostlie KR, Shields E, Spencer JL, Tooker JF, Youngman R (2012) Comment submitted by Patrick Porter, North Central Coordinating Committee

http://www.regulations.gov/#!documentDetail;D=EPA-HQ-OPP-2011-0922-0013

- 105. Tabashnik BE (1989) Managing resistance with multiple pesticide tactics—theory, evidence, and recommendations. J Econ Entomol 82:1263–1269
- 106. Gould F (1986) Simulation models for predicting durability of insect-resistant germ plasm: a deterministic diploid, two-locus model. Environ Entomol 15:1–10
- 107. Gould F, Cohen MB, Bentur JS, Kennedy GG, Van Duyn J (2006) Impact of small fitness costs on pest adaptation to crop varieties with multiple toxins: a heuristic model. J Econ Entomol 99:2091–2099
- 108. Onstad DW, Meinke LJ (2010) Modeling evolution of *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) to transgenic corn with two insecticidal traits. J Econ Entomol 103:849–860
- Ives AR, Glaum PR, Ziebarth NL, Andow DA (2011) The evolution of resistance to twotoxin pyramid transgenic crops. Ecol Appl 21:503–515
- 110. Gryspeirt A, Grégoire J-C (2012) Effectiveness of the high dose/refuge strategy for managing pest resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) plants expressing one or two toxins. Toxins 4:810–835
- 111. Zhao J-Z, Cao J, Li Y, Collins HL, Roush RT et al (2003) Transgenic plants expressing two Bacillus thuringiensis toxins delay insect resistance evolution. Nat Biotechnol 21:1493–1497
- 112. Storer NP, Thompson GD, Head GP (2012) Application of pyramided traits against Lepidoptera in insect resistance management for Bt crops. GM Crops Food 3
- 113. Marra MC, Piggott NE, Goodwin BK (2009) The anticipated value of SmartStaxTM for US corn growers. AgBioForum 13:1–12
- 114. Carroll MW, Head G, Caprio MA (2012) When and where a seed mix refuge makes sense for managing insect resistance to Bt plants. Crop Prot 38:74–79
- 115. Mallet J, Porter P (1992) Preventing adaptation to insect-resistant crops: are seed mixtures or refugia the best strategy? Proc R Soc Lond B 250:165–169
- 116. Davis PM, Onstad DW (2000) Seed mixtures as a resistance management strategy for European corn borers (Lepidoptera: Crambidae) infesting transgenic corn expressing Cry1Ab protein. J Econ Entomol 93:937–948
- 117. Zhao JZ, Cao J, Collins HL, Bates SL, Roush RT, Earle ED, Shelton AM (2005) Concurrent use of transgenic plants expressing a single and two *Bacillus thuringiensis* genes speeds insect adaptation to pyramided plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:8426–8430

- 118. Tabashnik BE, Gould F (2012) Delaying corn rootworm resistance to Bt corn. J Econ Entomol 105:767–776
- 119. Narva KE, Schwab GE, Bradfisch GA (1993) Novel *Bacillus thuringiensis* gene encoding coleopteran-active toxin. U.S. patent 5,186,934
- 120. Thompson M, Knuth M, Cardineau G (1999) *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxins with improved activity. U.S. patent 5,874,288
- 121. Li XQ, Wei JZ, Tan A, Aroian RV (2007) Resistance to root-knot nematode in tomato roots expressing a nematicidal *Bacillus thuringiensis* crystal protein. Plant Biotechnol J 5:455–464
- 122. Yu Z, Bai P, Bai P, Ye W, Zhang F et al (2008) A novel negative regulatory factor for nematicidal Cry protein gene expression in *Bacillus thuringiensis*. J Microbiol Biotechnol 18:1033–1039
- 123. Carozzi N, Koziel MG, Hargiss T, Duck NB, Kahn TW (2006) AXMI-028 and AXMI-029, family of novel delta-endotoxin genes and methods for their use. International patent application no. WO2006/119457A1
- 124. Abad AR, Duck NB, Feng X, Flanagan RD, Kahn TW, Sims LE (2002) Genes encoding novel proteins with pesticidal activity against coleopterans, international patent application no. WO 02/34774 A2
- 125. Soberon M, Lopez-Diaz JA, Bravo A (2012) Cyt toxins produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis*: a protein fold conserved in several pathogenic microorganisms. Peptides. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2012.05.023
- 126. Payne JM, Narva KE, Uyeda KA, Stalder CJ, Michaels TM (1995) Bacillus thuringiensis isolate PS201T6 toxin. U.S. patent 5,436,002
- 127. Rupar MJ, Donovan WP, Tan Y, Slaney AC (2000) *Bacillus thuringiensis* CryET29 compositions toxic to coleopteran insects and Ctenocephalides spp. U.S. patent 6,093,695
- 128. Li J, Koni PA, Ellar DJ (1996) Structure of the mosquitocidal δ-endotoxin CytB from Bacillus thuringiensis sp. kyushuensis and implications for membrane pore formation. J Mol Biol 257:129–152
- 129. Cohen S, Dym O, Albeck S, Ben-Dov E, Cahan R, Firer M et al (2008) High-resolution crystal structure of activated Cyt2Ba monomer from *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. israelensis. J Mol Biol 380:820–827
- 130. Cohen S, Albeck S, Ben-Dov E, Cahan R, Firer M, Zaritsky A et al (2011) Cyt1Aa toxin: crystal structure reveals implications for its membrane perforating function. J Mol Biol 413:804–814
- 131. Thomas WE, Ellar DJ (1983) Mechanism of action of *Bacillus thuringiensis* var *israelensis* insecticidal delta-endotoxin. FEBS Lett 154:362–368
- 132. Butko P (2003) Cytolytic toxin Cyt1A and its mechanism of membrane damage: data and hypotheses. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:2415–2422
- 133. Crickmore N, Bone EJ, Williams JA, Ellar DJ (1995) Contribution of the individual components of the delta-endotoxin crystal to the mosquitocidal activity of *Bacillus thuringiensis* subsp. *israelensis*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 131:249–254
- 134. Georghiou GP, Wirth MC (1997) Influence of exposure to single versus multiple toxins of Bacillus thuringiensis subsp. israelensis on development of resistance in the mosquito Culex quinquefasciatus (Diptera: Culicidae). Appl Environ Microbiol 63:1011–1095
- 135. Wirth MC, Park H-W, Walton WE, Federici BA (2005) Cyt of *Bacillus thuringiensis* delays evolution of resistance to Cry11A in the mosquito *Culex quinquefasciatus*. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:185–189
- 136. Federici BA, Bauer LS (1998) Cyt1Aa protein of *Bacillus thuringiensis* is toxic to the cottonwood leaf beetle, *Chrysomela scripta*, and suppresses high levels of resistance to Cry3Aa. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:4368–4371
- 137. Donovan WP, Engleman JT, Donovan JC, Baum JA, Bunkers GJ et al (2006) Discovery and characterization of Sip1A: a novel secreted protein from *Bacillus thuringiensis* with activity against coleopteran larvae. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 72:713–771

- 138. Warren GW, Koziel MG, Mullins MA, Nye GJ, Desai N et al (1994) Novel pesticidal proteins and strains, international patent application no. WO 94/21795
- 139. Warren G (1997) Vegetative insecticidal proteins: novel proteins for control of corn pests. In: Carozzi N, Koziel M (eds) Advances in insect control: the role of transgenic plants. Taylor & Francis, London, pp 109–121
- 140. Han S, Craig JA, Putnam C, Carozzi NB, Tainer JA (1999) Evolution and mechanism from structures of an ADP-ribosylating toxin and NAD complex. Nat Struct Biol 6:932–936
- 141. Bowen D, Rocheleau TA, Blackburn M, Andreev O, Golubeva E et al (1998) Insecticidal toxins from the bacterium *photorhabdus luminescens*. Science 280:2129–2132
- 142. ffrench-Constant R, Waterfield N, Daborn P, Joyce S, Bennett H et al (2003) Photorhabdus: towards a functional genomic analysis of a symbiont and pathogen. FEMS Microbiol Rev 26:433–456
- 143. Sergeant M, Jarrett P, Ousley M, Morgan JAW (2003) Interactions of insecticidal toxin gene products from *Xenorhabdus nematophilus* PMFI296. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:3344–3349
- 144. Hurst MR, Glare TR, Jackson TA, Ronson CW (2000) Plasmid-located pathogenicity determinants of *Serratia entomophila*, the causal agent of amber disease of grass grub, show similarity to the insecticidal toxins of *Photorhabdus luminescens*. J Bacteriol 182:5127–5138
- 145. Hinchliffe SJ, Isherwood KE, Stabler RA, Prentice MB, Rakin A et al (2003) Application of DNA microarrays to study the evolutionary genomics of *Yersinia pestis* and *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis*. Genome Res 13:2018–2029
- 146. ffrench-Constant RH, Dowling A, Waterfield NR (2007) Insecticidal toxins from *Photorhabdus* bacteria and their potential use in agriculture. Toxicon 49:436–451
- 147. Guo L, Fatig RO III, Orr GL, Schafer BW, Strickland JA et al (1999) *Photorhabdus luminescens* W-14 insecticidal activity consists of at least two similar but distinct proteins. Purification and characterization of toxin A and toxin B. J Biol Chem 274:9836–9842
- 148. Liu D, Burton S, Glancy T, Li ZS, Hampton R et al (2003) Insect resistance conferred by 283-kDa *Photorhabdus luminescens* protein TcdA in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Nat Biotechnol 21:1222–1228
- 149. Lang AE, Schmidt G, Schlosser A, Hey TD, Larrinua IM et al (2010) *Photorhabdus luminescens* toxins ADP-ribosylate actin and RhoA to force actin clustering. Science 327:1139–1142
- Aktories K, Lang AE, Schwan C, Mannherz HG (2011) Actin as target for modification by bacterial protein toxins. FEBS J 278:4526–4543
- 151. Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC (1998) Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Nature 391:806–811
- 152. Center for Environmental Risk Assessment (2011) Problem formulation for the environmental Risk assessment of RNAi plants, Conference Proceedings. ILSI Research Foundation, Washington D.C
- 153. Yang G, You M, Vasseur L, Zhao Y Liu C (2011) Development of RNAi in insects and RNAi-based pest control, pesticides in the modern world—pests control and pesticides exposure and toxicity assessment. In: Stoytcheva M (ed), ISBN: 978-953-307-457-3, InTech. http://www.intechopen.com/books/pesticides-in-the-modern-world-pests-control-and-

http://www.intechopen.com/books/pesticides-in-the-modern-world-pests-control-andpesticides-exposure-and-toxicity-assessment/development-of-rnai-in-insects-and-rnaibased-pest-control

- 154. Huvenne H, Smagghe G (2010) Mechanisms of dsRNA uptake in insects and potential of RNAi for pest control: A review. J Insect Physiol 56:227–235
- 155. Burand JP, Hunter WB (2012) RNAi: future in insect management. J Invert Pathol doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2011.03.031

- 156. Terenius O, Papanicolaou A, Garbutt JS, Eleftherianos I, Huvenne H et al (2011) RNA interference in Lepidoptera: an overview of successful and unsuccessful studies and implications for experimental design. J Insect Physiol 57:231–245
- 157. Alves AP, Lorenzen MD, Beeman RW, Foster JE Siegfried BD (2010) RNA interference as a method for target-site screening in the western corn rootworm, *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*. J Insect Sci 10:162 available online: insectscience.org/10.162
- 158. Arakane Y, Muthukrishnan S, Beeman RW, Kanost MR, Kramer KJ et al (2005) Laccase 2 is the phenoloxidase gene required for beetle cuticle tanning. Proc Nat Acad Sci 102:11337–11342
- 159. Arakane Y, Muthukrishnan S, Kramer KJ, Specht CA, Tomoyasu Y, Lorenzen MD, Kanost M, Beeman RW et al (2005) The *Tribolium chitin synthase* genes *TcCHS1* and *TcCHS2* are specialized for synthesis of epidermal cuticle and midgut peritrophic matrix. Insect Mol Biol 14:453–463
- 160. Valencia A, Alves AP, Siegfried BD (2012) Molecular cloning and functional characterization of an endogenous endoglucanase belonging to GHF45 from the western corn rootworm, *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*. Gene 513:260–267
- Price DRG, Gatehouse JA (2008) RNAi-mediated crop protection against insects. Trends Biotechnol 26:393–400
- 162. Auer C, Frederick R (2009) Crop improvement using small RNAs; applications and predictive ecological risk assessments. Trends Biotechnol 27:644–651
- 163. Gordon KHJ, Waterhouse PM (2007) RNAi for insect-proof plants. Nature Biotechnol 25:1231–1232
- 164. Baum JA, Bogaert T, Clinton W, Heck GR, Feldmann P et al (2007) Control of coleopteran insect pests through RNA interference. Nature Biotechnol 11:1322–1326
- 165. Rangasamy M, Siegfried BD (2011) Validation of RNA interference in western corn rootworm, *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) adults. Pest Manag Sci 68:587–591
- 166. Bolognesi R, Ramaseshadri P, Anderson J, Bachman P, Clinton W et al (2012) Characterizing the mechanism of action of double-stranded RNA activity against western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera* LeConte). PLoS ONE 7(10):e47534. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047534

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 163–178 DOI: 10.1007/10_2013_208 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Published Online: 9 June 2013

Tribolium castaneum as a Model for High-Throughput RNAi Screening

Eileen Knorr, Linda Bingsohn, Michael R. Kanost and Andreas Vilcinskas

Abstract Coleopteran insects are a highly diverse and successful order, and many beetle species are significant agricultural pests. New biorational strategies for managing populations of beetles and other insect species are needed as pests develop resistance to chemical insecticides and Bt toxins. There is now an opportunity to use genome sequence data to identify genes that are essential for insect growth, development, or survival as new targets for designing control technology. This goal requires a method for high-throughput in vivo screening of thousands of genes to identify candidate genes that, when their expression is disrupted, have a phenotype that may be useful in insect pest control. Tribolium *castaneum*, the red flour beetle, is a model organism that offers considerable advantages for such screening, including ease of rearing in large numbers, a sequenced genome, and a strong, systemic RNAi response for specific depletion of gene transcripts. The RNAi effect in T. castaneum can be elicited in any tissue and any stage by the injection of dsRNA into the hemocoel, and injection of dsRNA into adult females can even be used to identify phenotypes in offspring. A pilot RNAi screen (iBeetle) is underway. Several T. castaneum genes with promising RNAi phenotypes for further development as mechanisms for plant protection have been identified. These include heat shock protein 90, chitin synthase, the segmentation gene hairy, and a matrix metalloprotease. Candidate genes identified in T. castaneum screens can then be tested in agricultural pest species (in which screening is not feasible), to evaluate their effectiveness for use in potential plantbased RNAi control strategies. Delivery of dsRNA expressed by genetically modified crops to the midgut of phytophagous insects is under investigation as a

L. Bingsohn · A. Vilcinskas

Department of Bioresources, Fraunhofer Institute of Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology, Winchester Street 2, 35395 Giessen, Germany

M. R. Kanost Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biophysics, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS 66506, USA

E. Knorr · A. Vilcinskas (🖂)

Institute of Phytopathology and Applied Zoology, Justus-Liebig-University of Giessen, Heinrich-Buff-Ring 26-32, 39592 Giessen, Germany e-mail: Andreas.Vilcinskas@agrar.uni-giessen.de

new tool for very specific protection of plants from insect pest species. The *T. castaneum* screening platform offers a system for discovery of candidate genes with high potential benefit.

Keywords *Tribolium castaneum* · RNAi · Pest control · Target genes · Transgenic plants

Abbreviations

RNAi	RNA interference
dsRNA	double stranded RNA
siRNA	short interfering RNAs
Bt	Bacillus thuringiensis
WCR	Western corn rootworm
RKN	Root knot nematode
HSP90	Heat shock protein
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase

Contents

1	Introduction	164
2	RNA Interference	165
	2.1 The Mechanism of RNAi	166
	2.2 Systemic RNAi	166
3	RNAi-Mediated Plant Protection	
4	Tribolium castaneum	
5	High-Throughput RNAi Screens	
6	Potential RNAi Targets	
7	Transferability From the Model to the Pest	172
8	Conclusion	173
Re	References	

1 Introduction

More than 1 million insect species have been described, among which the Coleoptera (beetles) have enjoyed the greatest evolutionary success. Many are pests in agricultural systems, causing billions of dollars of damage every year. For example, the western corn rootworm (WCR, *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*) is an economically important pest in the United States and an invasive species in Europe (Rice [60]. Beetles cause more than \$1 billion in lost revenue per year in the United States alone [83] and consume up to 20 % of harvested grain products in developing countries [52]. The use of insecticides to control beetles is becoming more challenging and expensive due to the emergence of resistant populations; these chemicals are also responsible for environmental pollution, harmful side effects on nontarget organisms, and a negative impact on human health, including an increased risk of cancer and immune system disorders [14, 102].

Insect pests can also be tackled using genetically modified (GM) crops, which were first grown commercially in 1996 [31]. Transgenic plants producing toxins from the soil bacterium *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) were among the first GM crops to be developed [56]. The toxins are produced by bacteria as protein crystals (Cry) during sporulation, and are advantageous because they are toxic to certain groups of insects but do little or no harm to nontarget insects and vertebrates [16, 45]. The cultivation of Bt crops has led to significant reductions in the use of chemical insecticides [31], but resistant populations have emerged for several lepidopteran pests [8, 36, 39, 75, 77–80, 91] as well as WCR (Gassmann et al. [25]. Furthermore, certain insect pests are not affected by Bt toxins, including aphids, whiteflies, and leafhoppers, resulting in a demand for alternative biological control measures [18, 92].

Sequence-specific gene silencing by RNA interference (RNAi) has recently been suggested as a novel and promising approach for pest control because studies have shown an RNAi effect in insects triggered by feeding on plants containing dsRNA [9, 43]. RNAi occurs in a broad range of organisms including protozoa, invertebrates, vertebrates, fungi, and algae. This evolutionarily conserved process allows the specific targeting of any gene in a species-restricted manner, resulting in interference with growth, development, reproduction, and/or survival. Insect proteins required for these essential processes would make suitable candidates for RNAi-mediated plant protection if the corresponding dsRNA can be expressed in plants. To identify candidate target genes, high-throughput approaches for screening thousands of genes are required, but this may not be feasible in the pest species themselves.

The model organism *Tribolium castaneum* offers, among other advantages, a sequenced genome and a robust and strong RNAi response, which makes it suitable for large-scale RNAi screens. We recommend *T. castaneum* for high-throughput RNAi screens aiming to identify potential target genes in pest species for plant protection.

2 RNA Interference

The first indication for the existence of RNAi was reported by Napoli et al. [49]. Their aim was to produce transgenic petunias with a deeper violet color by enhancing the anthocyanin content of the petals. They transformed petunia plants with a chimeric chalcone synthase gene, encoding the key enzyme in flavonoid biosynthesis. Surprisingly, the overexpression of the chalcone synthase gene

suppressed anthocyanin biosynthesis by reducing chalcone synthase enzyme activity and yielded plants with white petals [49]. RNAi in animals was first observed in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, in which the injection of double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) resulted in the systemic and sequence-specific suppression of gene expression [24, 27]. The subsequent publication of the *C. elegans* genome sequence, rapidly followed by the human and fruit fly (*Drosophila melanogaster*), allowed RNAi to be applied in high-throughput investigations of gene function [15, 86].

2.1 The Mechanism of RNAi

RNAi is an ancient self-defense mechanism against virus infections [69, 94]. It is triggered by aberrant dsRNA, which is produced by the virus during replication and then degraded after recognition by the host cell. As well as its protective role against viruses, RNAi can also regulate transposon mobilization and enrich repetitive DNA to maintain genome integrity [95].

After the discovery of RNAi, intensive research revealed the underlying mechanism. When dsRNA enters the cell, it is recognized by an ATP-dependent ribonuclease known as Dicer, a dsRNA-specific member of the RNaseIII family of endonucleases [11]. Dicer processes the dsRNA into dsRNA fragments 21–23 nucleotides in length with two-base 3' overhangs, known as short interfering RNAs (siRNAs) [11, 20, 105]. One of the two siRNA strands associates with the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), an enzyme complex comprising a number of proteins and RNAs, whereas the other strand is degraded [67, 90]. The siRNA serves as a guide to find the complementary target mRNA, which is cleaved after perfect base pairing with the siRNA [28, 105]. The core nuclease responsible for the cleavage and degradation of the target mRNA is Argonaute [44]. The intracellular process leading to gene silencing by RNAi is shown in Fig. 1.

2.2 Systemic RNAi

The efficiency and longevity of RNAi-mediated silencing differs according to the target species. In *D. melanogaster*, gene silencing induced by RNAi is restricted to the injected tissue, whereas in *C. elegans*, gene silencing induced by RNAi occurs throughout the organism, which is known as a systemic RNAi effect. The mechanism for systemic RNAi in *C. elegans* was clarified after identifying the systemic interference defective genes *sid-1* and *sid-2* [99]. The SID-1 protein is required to import silencing signals, whereas the SID-2 protein is localized in the intestine and is responsible for the exchange of dsRNA between the environment and the body through the midgut. Both genes are required for the success of feeding assays with dsRNA [98]. There is no *sid-1* ortholog in *D. melanogaster*, explaining the lack of

Fig. 1 The RNAi pathway is triggered by dsRNAs, starting with the processing of long dsRNA by the enzyme Dicer into siRNAs. In the following step, siRNAs are unwound, the passenger strand is degraded, and the guide strand binds to RISC. The active RISC is guided by the single stranded siRNA to target mRNA sequences and after perfect base pairing, the corresponding mRNA is degraded



robust systemic RNAi in this species [23, 62]. However, the systemic uptake of dsRNA has been confirmed in several other insects, including *T. castaneum* [15, 17, 40, 50, 86, 89]. Orthologs of SID proteins are not responsible for all cases of systemic RNAi, such as in the migratory locust (*Locusta migratoria*) [38]. Further studies are therefore required to determine the basis of systemic RNAi in these species.

3 RNAi-Mediated Plant Protection

As discussed above, current strategies to reduce the impact of insect pests suffer from numerous disadvantages, including off-target effects, environmental damage, and the emergence of resistant populations [81]. RNAi-mediated pest control is a relatively new strategy, which offers the opportunity to target individual or closely related species selectively, thus protecting nontarget organisms [97]. However, it may also be possible to design dsRNA molecules that target several related pests. Huang et al. [29] silenced the parasitism gene 16D10 in four species of root knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne* spp.) with a single dsRNA, showing the potential to achieve extended-spectrum resistance by targeting conserved sequence blocks.

Although microinjection is a powerful method for the induction of RNAi in animals, it is unsuitable for plant protection in the field. Instead, dsRNA must be delivered to phytophagous insects in a manner compatible with their lifestyle, generally via their diet. The uptake of dsRNA has been achieved using many techniques, including feeding *C*. elegans with bacteria expressing dsRNA [85], expressing dsRNA as an extended hairpin-loop RNA in *D. melanogaster* [33], and soaking embryos in RNA solution [19, 76]. In 2006, Turner and colleagues showed for the first time that RNAi can be triggered in insects (the light brown apple moth *Epiphyas postvittana*) following the oral delivery of dsRNA. Baum et al. [9] then silenced the vacuolar H⁺ATPase in several coleopteran species (including WCR) by the oral administration of dsRNA. Successful RNAi following the oral delivery of dsRNA has now been reported for more than 20 species, including the insect orders Isoptera [110]; Hemiptera [4, 54, 55, 104, 106], Coleoptera [9, 12, 58, 97]; Diptera [37, 93, 97, 108], and Lepidoptera [10, 43, 84, 89, 97].

In the field, sprays containing dsRNA have proven effective for plant protection [107, 109], although spraying is only suitable for the aerial parts of the plant. For root pests, a possible solution would be the enrichment of soil surrounding the roots with dsRNA, as proposed by Artymovich [6]. However, neither method is currently cost effective because large amounts of dsRNA are required.

A suitable alternative is the development of GM crops producing dsRNA. This depends on the uptake of plant-derived dsRNA by insect gut cells and subsequent systemic RNAi effects, if the targeted genes are expressed beyond the gut epithelium [30]. Unfortunately, this mode of delivery may not be suitable for all species. In *Spodoptera litura*, the injection of dsRNA targeting a gut-specific aminopeptidase achieved an RNAi effect, but ingestion did not [57]. It is not possible to predict which dsRNA species can enter gut cells; therefore, each species and target gene must be tested on a case-by-case basis.

Despite these drawbacks, GM crops deploying an RNAi-based protection strategy have been successful against several pests, including nematodes [29, 74, 103], bacteria [21], and viruses [68], reviewed by Simon-Mateo and Garcia [70]. This approach has also been used to develop insect-resistant plants, such as transgenic maize expressing vATPase dsRNA for protection against WCR larvae [9]. Similarly, Mao et al. [43] identified a cytochrome P450 gene (CYP6AE14) from the cotton bollworm (*Helicoverpa armigera*), which is strongly expressed in the midgut and has a role in the detoxification of gossypol. Transgenic tobacco expressing CYP6AE14-specific hairpin RNA reduced the level of CYP6AE14 mRNA, which increased gossypol sensitivity in the larvae and delayed their growth.

One of the main advantages of RNAi-mediated crop protection is the low risk that resistance to the RNAi pathway will emerge because the core components are essential for metabolism and development. However, mutations in the dsRNA uptake machinery (such as the *sid* genes discussed above) is one potential route that could lead to resistance.

4 Tribolium castaneum

The red flour beetle *T. castaneum* (Fig. 2) is a global pest of stored agricultural products. Its use as a model organism began in the 1930s with studies on population ecology and pest control [71–73]. During the last decade, *T. castaneum* has emerged as a genetically tractable model organism for insect evolutionary and developmental biology. *T. castaneum* also has several advantages as a platform for RNAi screens.

T. castaneum has an ancient short-germ mode of embryogenesis, which is a characteristic of more primitive hemimetabolous insects [42, 82]. Another ancestral feature is the development of a larval head and legs, which are not present in *D. melanogaster*. These features make *T. castaneum* a more basal type of insect, and therefore results obtained using this beetle are more likely to broadly represent insects in contrast to *D. melanogaster* [65, 66].

Pest insects are often found seasonally in the field and are difficult to rear in the laboratory. In contrast, *T. castaneum* can be maintained at room temperature on wheat flour supplemented with 5 % yeast; it tolerates crowding as well as inbreeding. The generation time can be adjusted from 3 to 6 weeks based on the rearing temperature. Furthermore, adults experience long reproductive lives with high fecundity, even under laboratory conditions [71].

The robust RNAi effect is systemic in *T. castaneum* and can be elicited in any tissue and any stage by the injection of dsRNA into the body cavity [87]. The induction of RNAi in pupal or adult females causes an RNAi effect in the off-spring, a phenomenon known as parental RNAi [15]. This allows the analysis of gene function in the next generation in the absence of physical effects caused by injection.

The *T. castaneum* genome was sequenced by the *Tribolium* Genome Consortium [88], providing the sequence data that is necessary for high-throughput RNAi screens and that is not available for most insect pests.

5 High-Throughput RNAi Screens

Genome-wide RNAi is a powerful approach because it allows the high-throughput investigation of gene function, which is particularly useful for the identification of genes with previously unknown roles in specific developmental processes or pathways. Potential off-target effects must be considered because some RNAi constructs can inactivate several genes with conserved sequence blocks. Therefore, the dsRNA sequences must be carefully validated to avoid homology with non-target mRNAs.

RNAi screens have been carried out in many different model systems, including the budding yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*), where 4800 genes were analyzed to identify those with an impact on longevity [32], and *D. melanogaster* cell lines, to



Fig. 2 Life cycle of *Tribolium castaneum*. a Egg. b Last-instar larvae (5–9 larval stages). c Prepupae. d Pupae. e Adult

investigate different signaling pathways [13, 22, 64, 96]. Whole-organism RNAi screens have also been carried out in *C. elegans*. For example, Ashrafi et al. [7] performed a genome-wide RNAi analysis and detected 417 fat-regulating genes, whereas Morton et al. [48] used a similar approach to identify 18 RNAi clones that caused embryo lethality.

A pilot RNAi screen (iBeetle) was initiated at the University of Göttingen and Erlangen to analyze the function of every *T. castaneum* gene [41]. This achieved the knockdown of approximately 5,500 of the 16,404 predicted genes within 1 year. The knockdown effect was analyzed in fifth-instar larvae and during embryogenesis by parental RNAi, exploring parameters such as metamorphosis

and fertility. The results are available on the iBeetle-Base (http://ibeetle-base.uni-goettingen.de) as described by Aronstein et al. [5].

6 Potential RNAi Targets

Preferential RNAi targets in pests include genes encoding proteins with essential developmental or metabolic functions. For example, heat-shock protein 90 (HSP90) is a ubiquitous and highly conserved chaperone involved in diverse signaling pathways [61]. Recently, *T. castaneum* HSP90 was shown to play a crucial role in postembryonic development, and silencing was found to be lethal at all developmental stages [35]. Further studies concerning the function of HSP90 have shown that knockdown produces females that are unable to complete oogenesis, suggesting a role during ovarian maturation [101]. Similar results were observed in *D. melanogaster*, in which homozygous *hsp90* mutations are lethal and reduced HSP90 activity causes sterility in females [53, 63]. These findings demonstrate that multifunctional HSP90 is an ideal target gene because RNAi causes pleiotropic effects.

Similarly, the suppression of vacuolar sorting protein Snf7 by feeding WCR larvae with the corresponding dsRNA caused the inhibition of larval growth and was ultimately fatal, suggesting that interference with basic insect cell functions in the field could be useful for plant protection [59].

Transgenerational RNAi provides additional opportunities to address pest infestation in the field by targeting insects prior to hatching. *T. castaneum* embryogenesis has been studied extensively, revealing many potential targets for agricultural pest management. For example, hatching can be prevented by knocking down chitin synthase, which causes the embryos to become twisted and enlarged and therefore unable to escape the egg casing [2]. Furthermore, Arnanda et al. [3] showed that head development can be disrupted by silencing the segmentation gene *hairy*, resulting in headless insects that are unable to feed on plants. Similarly, the matrix metalloproteinase MMP-2 plays a pivotal role in embryonic gut development. Thus, RNAi was lethal because the first-instar larva developed with an aberrant, twisted intestine [34] (Fig. 3).

The success of some insect pests depends on their ability to metabolize toxic phytochemicals that are produced by plants, offering additional targets for RNAi [26, 100]. For example, a cotton bollworm (*Helicoverpa armigera*) cytochrome P450 gene was targeted by producing dsRNA in transgenic plants, thus reducing larval tolerance towards gossypol, the major defense chemical produced by cotton [43].

It is likely that the ingested dsRNA will not spread beyond the gut epithelium in some pest insects, and the selection of targets would be restricted to genes encoding proteins that act in the intestine itself. The selection of suitable targets is therefore facilitated by the availability of transcriptomic data from the gut. In this



Fig. 3 *MMP-2* is a potential target gene because knockdown causes lethal gut defects in the progeny. **a** Autofluorescence of the abdomen from a wild-type neonate larva with a normal S-shaped intestine. **b** Autofluorescence of the abdomen from a first-instar larva subjected to *MMP-2* silencing, showing the twisted hindgut. Scale bars: 100 μ m

context, the recently published gut transcriptome of *T. castaneum* will be beneficial for the selection of candidates for RNAi-mediated pest management [47].

7 Transferability From the Model to the Pest

The successful knockdown of particular target genes by RNAi in model organisms cannot be transferred directly to pests in the field. For example, the knockdown of HSP90 in the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum* has no effect on nymphal stages, which develop normally into adults. However, the birth of nymphs in the next generation is prevented, leading to embryos accumulating within the body cavity and (perhaps as a consequence) a shorter female lifespan (Will et al. in preparation). The knockdown of HSP90 in *T. castaneum* has a more dramatic effect because the protein is essential for normal postembryonic development. Silencing of HSP90 in *T. castaneum* also affected reproduction by disrupting oogenesis, although apparently by a different mechanism than that observed in aphids [101].

Based on the above, it is important to determine any potential effects of RNAimediated crop protection on nontarget organisms, particularly those that predate upon the targeted pest insect. Therefore, aphids that had ingested HSP90-specific dsRNA were fed to a natural predator, the ladybird beetle *Harmonia axyridis*, but there were no apparent off-target effects (T. Will, personal communication).

The optimal conditions for RNAi often vary among species and target genes, and this must be considered when searching for new candidates for crop protection. For example, RNAi against vATPase in the Colorado potato beetle (*Leptinotarsa decemlineata*) is more efficient than RNAi against the orthologous gene in

WCR [9]. Therefore, serial dilution experiments with dsRNA corresponding to each target gene are necessary to determine the efficiency of silencing [46]. Furthermore, sensitivity towards RNAi can differ during development. For example, in *T. castaneum*, the younger developmental stages show more sensitivity towards HSP90 silencing [34].

8 Conclusion

Plant-mediated RNAi is a promising approach for pest management, but highthroughput RNAi screens in pest species can be time-consuming and expensive. *T. castaneum* is a model beetle that is suitable for high-throughput RNAi screens. Therefore, prescreening in this species could help to identify new targets, leading to the identification of candidate genes in pest organisms [51].

Although the impact of gene silencing in *T. castaneum* may not always be transferable to orthologous genes in pest species, there are many examples showing the successful application of this approach resulting in the identification of useful candidate genes for pest control. For example, promising target genes characterized in *T. castaneum* were silenced in WCR causing similar phenotypes and could be used as a starting point for the further development of insect control strategies [1]. These findings show that RNAi-based pest control is a valuable alternative to chemical pesticides, complementing and extending existing field control methods.

References

- Alves AP, Lorenzen MD, Beeman RW, Foster JE, Siegfried BD (2010) RNA interference as a method for target-site screening in the western corn rootworm, Diabrotica virgifera virgifera. J Insect Sci 10:1–16
- Arakane Y, Specht CA, Kramer KJ, Muthukrishnan S, Beeman RW (2008) Chitin synthases are required for survival, fecundity and egg hatch in the red flour beetle, *Tribolium castaneum*. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 38:959–962
- 3. Aranda M, Marques-Souza H, Bayer T, Tautz D (2008) The role of the segmentation gene hairy in *Tribolium*. Dev Genes Evol 218:465–477
- 4. Araujo RN, Santos A, Pinto FS, Gontijo NF, Lehane MJ, Pereira MH (2006) RNA interference of the salivary gland nitrophorin 2 in the triatomine bug *Rhodnius prolixus* (Hemiptera: Reduviidae) by dsRNA ingestion or injection. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 36:683–693
- Aronstein K, Oppert B, Lorenzen MD (2011) RNAi in agriculturally-important arthropods. In: Grabowski P (ed) RNA processing. InTech, Rijeka, pp 157–180
- Artymovich KA (2009) Using RNA interference to increase crop yield and decrease pest damage. MMG 445 Basic Biotechnol eJ 5:7–12
- 7. Ashrafi K, Chang FY, Watts JL, Fraser AG, Kamath RS, Ahringer J, Ruvkun G (2003) Genome-wide RNAi analysis of *Caenorhabditis* elegans fat regulatory genes. Nature 421:268–272
- 8. Bagla P (2010) Hardy cotton-munching pests are latest blow to GM crops. Science 327:1439
- Baum JA, Bogaert T, Clinton W, Heck GR, Feldmann P, Ilagan O, Johnson S, Plaetinck G, Munyikwa T, Pleau M, Vaughn T, Roberts J (2007) Control of coleopteran insect pests through RNA interference. Nat Biotechnol 25:1322–1326
- Bautista MA, Miyata T, Miura K, Tanaka T (2009) RNA interference-mediated knockdown of a cytochrome P450, CYP6BG1, from the diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella, reduces larval resistance to permethrin. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 39:38–46
- 11. Bernstein E, Caudy AA, Hammond SM, Hannon GJ (2001) Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. Nature 409:363–366
- 12. Bolognesi R, Ramaseshadri P, Anderson J, Bachman P, Clinton W, Flannagan R, Ilagan O, Lawrence C, Levine S, Moar W, Mueller G, Tan J, Uffman J, Wiggins E, Heck G, Segers G (2012) Characterizing the mechanism of action of double-stranded RNA activity against western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera LeConte*). PLoS One 7:e47534
- Boutros M, Kiger AA, Armknecht S, Kerr K, Hild M, Koch B, Haas SA, Paro R, Perrimon N, Heidelberg Fly Array Consortium (2004) Cell culture genome-wide RNAi analysis of growth and viability in *Drosophila* cells. Science 303:832–835
- Bravo A, del Rincon-Castro MC, Ibarra JE, Soberon M (2011) Towards a healthy control of insect pests: potential use of microbial insecticides. In: Lopez O, Fernandez-Bolanos JG (eds) Green trends in insect control, vol 11. RSC Green Chemistry Books, Holanda, 266–299
- Bucher G, Scholten J, Klingler M (2002) Parental RNAi in *Tribolium* (Coleoptera). Curr Biol 12:R85–R86
- 16. De Maagd RA, Bravo A, Crickmore N (2001) How *Bacillus thuringiensis* has evolved specific toxins to colonize the insect world. Trends Genet 17:193–199
- 17. Dong Y, Friedrich M (2005) Nymphal RNAi: systemic RNAi mediated gene knockdown in juvenile grasshopper. BMC Biotechnol 5:25
- Dutt U (2007) Mealy bug infestation in Punjab: Bt cotton falls flat. Environment News Service. http://www.countercurrents.org. 21 Aug
- Eaton BA, Fetter RD, Davis GW (2002) Dynactin is necessary for synapse stabilization. Neuron 34:729–741
- Elbashir SM, Martinez J, Patkaniowska A, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T (2001) Functional anatomy of siRNAs for mediating efficient RNAi in *Drosophila* melanogaster embryo lysate. EMBO J 20:6877–6888
- Escobar MA, Civerolo EL, Summerfelt KR, Dandekar AM (2001) RNAi-mediated oncogene silencing confers resistance to crown gall tumorigenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:13437–13442
- 22. Farhan H, Wendeler MW, Mitrovic S, Fava E, Silberberg Y, Sharan R, Zerial M, Hauri HP (2010) MAPK signaling to the early secretory pathway revealed by ki-nase/phosphatase functional screening. J Cell Biol 189:997–1011
- Feinberg EH, Hunter CP (2003) Transport of dsRNA into cells by the transmembrane protein SID-1. Science 301:1545–1547
- 24. Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC (1998) Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Caenorhabditis* elegans. Nature 391:806–811
- 25. Gassmann AJ (2012) Field-evolved resistance to Bt maize by western corn rootworm: predictions from the laboratory and effects in the field. J Invertebr Pathol 110:287–293
- Gatehouse JA (2002) Plant resistance towards insect herbivores: a dynamic interaction. New Phytol 156:145–169
- 27. Guo S, Kemphues KJ (1995) Par-1, a gene required for establishing polarity in *C*. elegans embryos, encodes a putative Ser/Thr kinase that is asymmetrically distributed. Cell 81:611–620
- 28. Hammond SM, Bernstein E, Beach D, Hannon GJ (2000) An RNA-directed nuclease mediates post-transcriptional gene silencing in *Drosophila* cells. Nature 404:293–296

- 29. Huang G, Allen R, Davis EL, Baum TJ, Hussey RS (2006) Engineering broad root-knot resistance in transgenic plants by RNAi silencing of a conserved and essential root-knot nematode parasitism gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:14302–14306
- 30. Huvenne H, Smagghe G (2010) Mechanisms of dsRNA uptake in insects and potential of RNAi for pest control: a review. J Insect Physiol 56:227–235
- James C (2009) Global Status of Commercialized Biotech/GM Crops: 2009 ISAAA Briefs No. 41, International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-Biotech Applications, Ithaca
- 32. Kaeberlein M, Powers RW 3rd, Steffen KK, Westman EA, Hu D, Dang N, Kerr EO, Kirkland KT, Fields S, Kennedy BK (2005) Regulation of yeast replicative life span by TOR and Sch9 in response to nutrients. Science 310:1193–1196
- Kennerdell JR, Carthew RW (2000) Heritable gene silencing in *Drosophila* using doublestranded RNA. Nat Biotechnol 18:896–898
- 34. Knorr E, Schmidtberg H, Vilcinskas A, Altincicek B (2009) MMPs regulate both development and immunity in the *Tribolium* model insect. PLoS One 4:e4751
- 35. Knorr E, Vilcinskas A (2011) Post-embryonic functions of HSP90 in *Tribolium* castaneum include the regulation of compound eye development. Dev Genes Evol 221:357–362
- 36. Kruger M, van Rensburg JBJ, van den Berg J (2009) Perspective on the development of stem borer resistance to Bt maize and refuge compliance at the Vaalharts irrigation scheme in South Africa. Crop Prot 28:684–689
- 37. Li X, Zhang M, Zhang H (2011) RNA interference of four genes in adult *Bactrocera* dorsalis by feeding their dsRNAs. PLoS One 6:e17788
- Luo Y, Wang X, Yu D, Kang L (2012) The SID-1 double-stranded RNA transporter is not required for systemic RNAi in the migratory locust. RNA Biol 9:663–671
- 39. Luttrell RG, Ali I, Allen KC, Young SY III, Szalanski A, Williams K, Lorenz G, Parker CD Jr, Blanco C (2004) Resistance to Bt in Arkansas populations of cotton boll-worm. In: Richter DA (ed) Proceedings of the 2004 beltwide cotton conferences, National Cotton Council of America, San Antonio, TX, Memphis, TN
- Lynch JA, Desplan C (2006) A method for parental RNA interference in the wasp Nasonia vitripennis. Nat Protoc 1:486–494
- Lynch JA, Panfilio KA, da Fonseca RN (2009) As *Tribolium* matures as a model insect, Coleopteran community congregates in cologne. Dev Genes Evol 219:531–533
- 42. Lynch JA, Roth S (2011) The evolution of dorsal-ventral patterning mechanisms in insects. Genes Dev 25:107–118
- 43. Mao YB, Cai WJ, Wang JW, Hong GJ, Tao XY, Wang LJ, Huang YP, Chen XY (2007) Silencing a cotton bollworm P450 monooxygenase gene by plant-mediated RNAi impairs larval tolerance of gossypol. Nat Biotechnol 25:1307–1313
- 44. Martinez J, Patkaniowska A, Urlaub H, Lührmann R, Tuschl T (2002) Single-stranded antisense siRNAs guide target RNA cleavage in RNAi. Cell 110:563–574
- Mendelsohn M, Kough J, Vaituzis Z, Matthews K (2003) Are Bt crops safe? Nat Biotechnol 21:1003–1009
- 46. Miller SC, Miyata K, Brown SJ, Tomoyasu Y (2012) Dissecting systemic RNA interference in the red flour beetle *Tribolium castaneum*: parameters affecting the efficiency of RNAi. PLoS One 7:e47431
- 47. Morris K, Lorenzen MD, Hiromasa Y, Tomich JM, Oppert C, Elpidina EN, Vinokurov K, Jurat-Fuentes JL, Fabrick J, Oppert B (2009) *Tribolium castaneum* larval gut transcriptome and proteome: a resource for the study of the coleopteran gut. J Proteome Res 8:3889–3898
- Morton DG, Hoose WA, Kemphues KJ (2012) A genome-wide RNAi screen for enhancers of par mutants reveals new contributors to early embryonic polarity in *Caenorhabditis* elegans. Genetics 192:929–942
- Napoli C, Lemieux C, Jorgensen R (1990) Introduction of a chimeric chalcone synthase gene into petunia results in reversible co-suppression of homologous genes in trans. Plant Cell 2:279–289

- Newmark PA, Reddien PW, Cebrià F, Sánchez Alvarado A (2003) Ingestion of bacterially expressed double-stranded RNA inhibits gene expression in planarians. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 30(100 Suppl 1):11861–11865
- 51. Noh MY, Beeman RW, Arakane Y (2012) RNAi-based functional genomics in *Tribolium castaneum* and possible application for controlling insect pests. Entomol Res 42:1–10
- Phillips TW, Throne JE (2010) Biorational approaches to managing stored-product insects. Ann Rev Entomol 55:375–397
- 53. Pisa V, Cozzolino M, Gargiulo S, Ottone C, Piccioni F, Monti M, Gigliotti S, Talamo F, Graziani F, Pucci P, Verrotti AC (2009) The molecular chaperone Hsp90 is a component of the cap-binding complex and interacts with the translational re-pressor cup during *Drosophila oogenesis*. Gene 432:67–74
- 54. Pitino M, Coleman AD, Maffei ME, Ridout CJ, Hogenhout SA (2011) Silencing of aphid genes by dsRNA feeding from plants. PLoS One 6:e25709
- Price DR, Gatehouse JA (2008) RNAi-mediated crop protection against insects. Trends Biotechnol 26:393–400
- 56. Qaim M, de Janvry A (2003) Genetically modified crops, corporate pricing strategies, and farmers' adoption: the case of Bt cotton in Argentina. Am J Agr Econ 85:814–828
- 57. Rajagopal R, Sivakumar S, Agrawal N, Malhotra P, Bhatnagar RK (2002) Silencing of midgut aminopeptidase N of Spodoptera litura by double-stranded RNA establishes its role as *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin receptor. Biol Chem 277:46849–46851
- Rangasamy M, Siegfried BD (2012) Validation of RNA interference in western corn rootworm *Diabrotica virgifera virgifera LeConte* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) adults. Pest Manag Sci 68:587–591
- 59. Ramaseshadri P, Segers G, Flannagan R, Wiggins E, Clinton W, Ilagan O, McNulty B, Clark T, Bolognesi R (2013) Physiological and cellular responses caused by RNAi-mediated suppression of Snf7 orthologue in western corn rootworm (*Diabrotica virgifera virgifera*) larvae. PLoS One 8(1):e54270
- 60. Rice ME (2004) Transgenic rootworm corn: assessing potential agronomic, economic, and environmental benefits. Plant Health Prog. doi:10.1094/PHP-2004-0301-01-RV
- 61. Richter K, Buchner J (2001) Hsp90: chaperoning signal transduction. J Cell Physiol 188:281–290
- Roignant JY, Carré C, Mugat B, Szymczak D, Lepesant JA, Antoniewski C (2003) Absence of transitive and systemic pathways allows cell-specific and isoform-specific RNAi in *Drosophila*. RNA 9:299–308
- 63. Rutherford SL, Lindquist S (1998) Hsp90 as a capacitor for morphological evolution. Nature 396:336–342
- 64. Saj A, Arziman Z, Stempfle D, van Belle W, Sauder U, Horn T, Dürrenberger M, Paro R, Boutros M, Merdes G (2010) A combined ex vivo and in vivo RNAi screen for notch regulators in *Drosophila* reveals an extensive notch interaction network. Dev Cell 18:862–876
- 65. Sander K (1975) Pattern specification in the insect embryo. Ciba Found Symp 0:241-263
- Sander K (1976) Specification of the basic body pattern in insect embryogenesis. Adv Insect Physiol 12:125–238
- 67. Schwarz DS, Hutvágner G, Du T, Xu Z, Aronin N, Zamore PD (2003) Asymmetry in the assembly of the RNAi enzyme complex. Cell 115:199–208
- 68. Shimizu T, Yoshii M, Wei T, Hirochika H, Omura T (2009) Silencing by RNAi of the gene for Pns12, a viroplasm matrix protein of rice dwarf virus, results in strong resistance of transgenic rice plants to the virus. Plant Biotechnol J 7:24–32
- 69. Sijen T, Plasterk RH (2003) Transposon silencing in the *Caenorhabditis* elegans germ line by natural RNAi. Nature 426:310–314
- Simón-Mateo C, García JA (2011) Antiviral strategies in plants based on RNA silencing. Biochim Biophys Acta 1809:722–731
- Sokoloff A (1972) The biology of *Tribolium* with special emphasis on genetic aspects 1. Oxford University Press, London

- 72. Sokoloff A (1974) The biology of *Tribolium* with special emphasis on genetic aspects 2. Oxford University Press, London
- 73. Sokoloff A (1977) The biology of *Tribolium* with special emphasis on genetic aspects 3. Oxford University Press, London
- 74. Steeves RM, Todd TC, Essig JS, Trick HN (2006) Transgenic soybeans expressing siRNAs specific to a major sperm protein gene suppress *Heterodera* glycines re-production. Funct Plant Biol 33:991–999
- 75. Storer NP, Babcock JM, Schlenz M, Meade T, Thompson GD, Bing JW, Huckaba RM (2010) Discovery and characterization of field resistance to Bt maize: *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) in Puerto Rico. J Econ Entomol 103:1031–1038
- 76. Tabara H, Grishok A, Mello CC (1998) RNAi in *C. elegans*: soaking in the genome sequence. Science 282:430–431
- Tabashnik BE, Cushing NL, Finson N, Johnson MW (1990) Field development of resistance to *Bacillus thuringiensis* in diamondback moth (*Lepidoptera: Plutellidae*). J Econ Entomol 83:1671–1676
- Tabashnik BE, Gassmann AJ, Crowder DW, Carriere Y (2008) Field evolved resistance to Bt toxins. Nature Biotechnol 26:1074–1076
- 79. Tabashnik BE, Gassmann AJ, Crowder DW, Carriére Y (2008) Insect resistance to Bt crops: evidence versus theory. Nat Biotechnol 26:199–202
- Tabashnik BE, Van Rensburg JB, Carrière Y (2009) Field-evolved insect resistance to Bt crops: definition, theory, and data. J Econ Entomol 102:2011–2025
- Tabashnik BE, Wu K, Wu Y (2012) Early detection of field-evolved resistance to Bt cotton in China: cotton bollworm and pink bollworm. J Invertebr Pathol 110:301–306
- 82. Tautz D (2004) Segmentation. Dev Cell 7:301-312
- Throne JE, Hallman JA, Johnson JA, Follett PA (2003) Post-harvest entomology research in the United States Department of Agriculture-Agricultural Research Service. Pest Manag Sci 59:69–628
- 84. Tian H, Peng H, Yao Q, Chen H, Xie Q, Tang B, Zhang W (2009) Developmental control of a lepidopteran pest *Spodoptera exigua* by ingestion of bacteria express-ing dsRNA of a nonmidgut gene. PLoS One 4:e6225
- 85. Timmons L, Fire A (1998) Specific interference by ingested dsRNA. Nature 395:854
- Tomoyasu Y, Denell RE (2004) Larval RNAi in *Tribolium* (Coleoptera) for analyzing adult development. Dev Genes Evol 214:575–578
- 87. Tomoyasu Y, Miller SC, Tomita S, Schoppmeier M, Grossmann D, Bucher G (2008) Exploring systemic RNA interference in insects: a genome-wide survey for RNAi genes in *Tribolium*. Genome Biol 9:R10
- Tribolium Genome Sequencing Consortium (2008) The genome of the model beetle and pest Tribolium castaneum. Nature 452:949–955
- Turner CT, Davy MW, MacDiarmid RM, Plummer KM, Birch NP, Newcomb RD (2006) RNA interference in the light brown apple moth, *Epiphyas postvittana* (Walker) induced by double-stranded RNA feeding. Insect Mol Biol 15:383–391
- van den Berg A, Mols J, Han J (2008) RISC-target interaction: cleavage and translational suppression. Biochim Biophys Acta 1779:668–677
- 91. van Rensburg JBJ (2007) First report of field resistance by stem borer *Busseola fusca* (Fuller) to Bt-transgenic maize. S Afr J Plant Soil 27:147–151
- 92. Virla EG, Casuso M, Frias EA (2010) A preliminary study on the effects of a transgenic corn event on the non target pest *Dalbulus Maiid* (Hemitera: Cicadeliidae). Crop Prot 29:635–638
- 93. Walshe DP, Lehane SM, Lehane MJ, Haines LR (2009) Prolonged gene knockdown in the tsetse fly *Glossina* by feeding double stranded RNA. Insect Mol Biol 18:11–19
- 94. Wang XH, Aliyari R, Li WX, Li HW, Kim K, Carthew R, Atkinson P, Ding SW (2006) RNA interference directs innate immunity against viruses in adult *Drosophila*. Science 312:452–454

- Waterhouse PM, Wang MB, Lough T (2001) Gene silencing as an adaptive defence against viruses. Nature 411:834–842
- 96. Wendler F, Gillingham AK, Sinka R, Rosa-Ferreira C, Gordon DE, Franch-Marro X, Peden AA, Vincent JP, Munro S (2010) A genome-wide RNA interference screen identifies two novel components of the metazoan secretory pathway. EMBO J 29:304–314
- Whyard S, Singh AD, Wong S (2009) Ingested double-stranded RNAs can act as speciesspecific insecticides. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 39:824–832
- Winston WM, Sutherlin M, Wright AJ, Feinberg EH, Hunter CP (2007) Caenorhabditis elegans SID-2 is required for environmental RNA interference. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:10565–10570
- 99. Winston WM, Molodowitch C, Hunter CP (2002) Systemic RNAi in *C. elegans* requires the putative transmembrane protein SID-1. Science 295:2456–2459
- 100. Wittstock U, Agerbirk N, Stauber EJ, Olsen CE, Hippler M, Mitchell-Olds T, Gershenzon J, Vogel H (2004) Successful herbivore attack due to metabolic diversion of a plant chemical defense. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:4859–4864
- 101. Xu J, Shu J, Zhang Q (2010) Expression of the *Tribolium castaneum* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) hsp83 gene and its relation to oogenesis during ovarian maturation. J Genet Genomics 37:513–522
- 102. Xue XY, MaoYB Tao XY et al (2012) New approaches to agricultural insect pest control based on RNA interference. Adv Insect Physiol 42:73–117
- 103. Yadav BC, Veluthambi K, Subramaniam K (2006) Host-generated double stranded RNA induces RNAi in plant-parasitic nematodes and protects the host from infection. Mol Biochem Parasitol 148:219–222
- 104. Yu N, Christiaens O, Liu J, Niu J, Cappelle K, Caccia S, Huvenne H, Smagghe G (2013) Delivery of dsRNA for RNAi in insects: an overview and future directions. J Insect Sci 20:4–14
- 105. Zamore PD, Tuschl T, Sharp PA, Bartel DP (2000) RNAi: double-stranded RNA directs the ATP-dependent cleavage of mRNA at 21–23 nucleotide intervals. Cell 101:25–33
- 106. Zha W, Peng X, Chen R, Du B, Zhu L, He G (2011) Knockdown of midgut genes by dsRNA-transgenic plant-mediated RNA interference in the hemipteran insect *Nilaparvata lugens*. PLoS One 6:e20504
- 107. Zhang H, Li H-C, Miao X-X (2013) Feasibility, limitation and possible solutions of RNAibased technology for insect pest control. J Insect Sci 20:61–68
- 108. Zhang X, Zhang J, Zhu KY (2010) Chitosan/double-stranded RNA nanoparticle-mediated RNA interference to silence chitin synthase genes through larval feeding in the African malaria mosquito (*Anopheles gambiae*). Insect Mol Biol 19:683–693
- 109. Zhao YY, Yang G, Wang-Pruski G, You MS (2008) *Phyllotreta striolata* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae): arginine kinase cloning and RNAi-based pest control. Eur J Entomol 105:815–822
- 110. Zhou X, Wheeler MM, Oi FM, Scharf ME (2008) RNA interference in the termite *Reticulitermes flavipes* through ingestion of double-stranded RNA. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 38:805–815

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 179–203 DOI: 10.1007/10_2013_211 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Published Online: 2 June 2013

Aphid-Proof Plants: Biotechnology-Based Approaches for Aphid Control

Torsten Will and Andreas Vilcinskas

Abstract Aphids are economically significant agricultural pests that are responsible for large yield losses in many different crops. Because the use of insecticides is restricted in the context of integrated pest management and aphids develop resistance against them rapidly, new biotechnology-based approaches are required for aphid control. These approaches focus on the development of genetically modified aphid-resistant plants that express protease inhibitors, dsRNA, antimicrobial peptides, or repellents, thus addressing different levels of aphid-plant interactions. However, a common goal is to disturb host plant acceptance by aphids and to disrupt their ability to take nutrition from plants. The defense agents negatively affect different fitness-associated parameters such as growth, reproduction, and survival, which therefore reduce the impact of infestations. The results from several different studies suggest that biotechnology-based approaches offer a promising strategy for aphid control.

Keywords Agro-biotechnology · Antimicrobial peptide · Aphid · Pest control · Protease inhibitor · Repellent · RNAi

Abbreviations

AMP	Antimicrobial peptide
BPA	Body plan area
Bt	Bacillus thuringiensis
CaMV	Cauliflower mosaic virus
CC	Companion cell
dsRNA	double stranded RNA
Eβf	E-beta-farnesene
GM	Genetically modified
GUS	β -glucuronidase
PI	Protease inhibitor
RNAi	RNA interference

T. Will (🖂) · A. Vilcinskas

Department of Phytopathology and Applied Zoology, Justus-Liebig-University Giessen, Heinrich-Buff-Ring 26-32, 35392 Giessen, Germany e-mail: Torsten.Will@agrar.uni-giessen.de

SE	Sieve element
siRNA	small interfering RNA
SHP	Sheath protein

Contents

1	Interactions Between Aphids and Plants	180
2	Control of Aphids	182
	2.1 Biotechnology-Based Approaches	182
3	Testing Aphid Resistance in Plants	191
	3.1 Aphid Fitness Parameters for Pest Control	191
	3.2 Observation of Behavior Reveals the Mode of Plant Resistance	192
4	4 Future Perspectives for GM Plants	
Re	References	

1 Interactions Between Aphids and Plants

In angiosperms, sieve tubes within the vascular bundles are conduits for nutrition (e.g. photoassimilates) and long-distance signaling. Sieve tubes are composed of longitudinally arranged modules of sieve elements (SEs) and companion cells (CCs). The SEs are connected to one another by sieve pores, which are modified plasmodesmata located in sieve plates at each end of the cell, embedded in the cell wall. Mass flow in the sieve tubes is created by a turgor difference between the source and sink ends [1, 2]. The phloem is subdivided into three functional zones [3]. In the collection phloem, photoassimilates accumulate in the SE/CC complexes within the minor veins of source leaves and are transported to the sieve tube ends in the release phloem of sink tissues such as fruits. The collection phloem and release phloem are connected by the transport phloem, which has a dual function. In the sieve tubes of the transport phloem, photoassimilates are transported from source to terminal sink, but some photoassimilates are released to support growth and maintenance of axial sinks along the pathway [4, 5].

The high nutritional content of sieve tubes makes them an attractive target for bacterial and fungal pathogens as well as insect pests. Therefore, SEs are equipped with defense mechanisms, including chemical components such as protease inhibitors [6] and physical components that lead to SE occlusion and thus the loss of mass flow. These physical mechanisms represent a special challenge for phloem-feeding insects, such as aphids. Ebbing mass flow in the sieve tubes prevents ingestion [7] because this is driven by the high pressure inside the sieve tubes [8]. In this context, there is increasing evidence that callose deposition onto sieve plates and sieve plate occlusion by phloem proteins (P-proteins) are important defense mechanisms against phloem-feeding pests such as aphids (e.g. [9-11].

Aphids are among the most important insect pests in agriculture. There are approximately 4400 aphid species, among which more than 250 are serious pests. In addition to direct damage caused by aphid feeding and the toxic effects of saliva components, the withdrawal of nutrients is detrimental to plant growth and development. Furthermore, aphids can transmit many plant viruses [12], and their excreted honeydew provides nutrition for sooty mold fungi, which can interfere with photosynthesis and reduce the market value of crops.

Aphids as well as other phloem-feeding hemipterans (e.g. whiteflies) have evolved specialized mouthparts (stylets) that penetrate through plant tissues to the sieve tubes, allowing the direct ingestion of sap. The feeding process begins directly after landing, when the aphid presents its labium (the mouthpart containing the stylets) to the surface. The labium is equipped with mechanoreceptors at its apex [13, 14] that can scan the leaf surface, presumably to detect the location of vascular bundles that often have overlying epidermal cells differing in shape from intervening epidermal cells.

The stylet pathway begins with the penetration of the epidermis and continues with stylet movement through the apoplast of the parenchymal tissue [15]. Gel saliva is secreted continuously during this process [16]. As the stylet advances towards the sieve tubes, they briefly perpetrate cortex and mesophyll cells, probably to orient the stylet inside the plant tissue [17]. Aphids take up a small amount of sap from these punctured cells for analysis by the precibarial sensilla located in the food canal between the base of the stylet and the sucking pump [18–20]. After penetrating an SE and identifying it as a source of nutrition, the aphid secretes watery saliva, which is followed by ingestion [21]. Although this feeding behavior has been described in detail by [22], the roles of the two types of saliva are not well understood but may play a key role in aphid–plant interactions [16].

Gel saliva is secreted onto the leaf surface at the penetration point and continues to be secreted as the stylet advances. It is secreted as a liquid but rapidly forms a solid salivary sheath that envelops the stylet. The most prominent saliva protein, the sheath protein (SHP), may be responsible for sheath hardening due to its high cysteine content. It is assumed that SHPs are solidified (gelled) by oxidation, through the formation of disulfide bonds among cysteine residues [16, 23-25]. Several functions have been proposed for the gel saliva: mechanical support of the stylet, protection of the stylet against molecular plant defenses (e.g. chitinases), lubrication to facilitate stylet movement, and the sealing of stylet penetration sites in the plasma membrane of plant cells [11, 26]. Watery saliva is also secreted during intercellular penetration [27], but in contrast to gel saliva it is secreted when the aphid stylet briefly punctures parenchymal cells and immediately before and during sap ingestion from SEs [28]. Recent proteome studies have identified several proteins (effectors) in watery saliva that potentially interfere with plant cell signaling cascades. Proteases and proteins of unknown function were also detected in the watery saliva, and their roles are the subject of intense research [23, 29].

Several authors have suggested that aphid saliva mediates insect-plant interaction by overcoming plant defenses before and after SE penetration, e.g. [26, 16, 25, 30]. In contrast to the large number of studies involving leaf-chewing insects [31], direct evidence of the role of individual salivary proteins during aphid-plant interaction are rare [23, 29, 32, 33].

2 Control of Aphids

Chemical insecticides such as imidacloprid and dimethoate are used in conventional agriculture to control aphids, whereas azadirachtin from the Neem tree can be used for organic plant production [34]. An alternative approach is the use of beneficial insects (e.g. hoverfly, ladybeetle and brown lacewing) or entomopathogenic fungi [35]. Insecticides remain the most widely used control mechanism for aphids, even though the number of accredited insecticides has declined due to their negative impact on the environment. An additional problem with insecticides is the emergence of resistant aphid populations (http://www.pesticideresistance.com/). In the context of integrated pest management, biotechnology-based approaches offer an appealing alternative.

2.1 Biotechnology-Based Approaches

The use of genetically modified (GM) plants to fight insect pests [36–38] as well as fungal plant pathogens [39] has been established for more than 20 years, with most commercial insect-resistant GM crops expressing *Bacillus thuringiensis* (*B.t.*) toxins. Although these toxins are powerful and specific agents against Coleoptera and Lepidoptera [38], they do not affect phloem-feeding insects such aphids [40]. Therefore, alternative strategies are required for phloem-feeders, including the expression of protease inhibitors, RNA interference (RNAi), antimicrobial peptides, and repellents (Fig. 1). This requires a broad understanding of aphid biology as well as aphid-plant interactions to adapt such approaches to the specific properties of this pest.

2.1.1 Controlling the Expression of Defensive Agents in GM Plants

Effective pest control strategies using molecules expressed in plants must take account of the insect feeding strategy. Insects with chewing mouthparts, such as beetles, take up unspecific plant tissues material, whereas aphids have piercing-sucking mouthparts that are adapted for the withdrawal of sap from the xylem and phloem.

The *Cauliflower mosaic virus* (CaMV) 35S promoter is used to control transgene expression in many transgenic plants because it is regarded as a constitutive promoter, but the expression of a β -glucuronidase (GUS) reporter gene using this promoter indicates different levels of activity in different cell types [41]. High levels of



◄ Fig. 1 Overview of target localization for different defense-related agents—protease inhibitors (PIs), double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), and repellents—used for aphid control in GM plants. Aphids penetrate plant tissue with their stylet (epidermis and cortex) and, after reaching the sieve elements, begin to ingest sieve tube sap. Aphids secrete pulses of saliva, produced in salivary glands and released from the salivary channel into the food channel, where it mixes with ingested sap. (E)-β-farnesene functions as an alarm pheromone and is released by specific glandular trichomes on the plant epidermis. It is perceived by chemoreceptors in the aphid antennae and acts as repellent. Repellents are already released prior to feeding following contact between the aphid and the trichomes. PIs, dsRNA, and AMPs are ingested as components of phloem sap. In the gut, PIs target proteases from the salivar and gut, thus interrupting digestion. Additional PI targets are located in the body cavity. Targets for siRNA, a product of dsRNA cleavage, were identified in the gut and salivary glands. There, siRNA induces the silencing of selected proteins required for aphid–plant interactions. Like PIs and dsRNA, AMPs can cross the gut epithelium and target bacterial endosymbionts that are located in the hemolymph or within bacteriocytes (e.g. *Buchnera aphidicola*), thus reducing aphid fitness

GUS activity were observed in the root pericycle cells and in the parenchymal cells of the xylem and phloem tissues in the stem and leaf. However, there was little or no GUS activity in the procambium, phloem, and cortex cells of the root; in the vascular cambium cells of stems; and in the majority of the cortex cells in the leaf midrib. Intermediate levels of GUS activity were observed in leaf mesophyll cells, certain ground tissue cells in the stem and leaf midrib, and in trichome and epidermal guard cells [41]. The activity of the CaMV 35S promoter is downregulated in older root areas and in syncytial feeding cells of nematodes [42]. Despite this inconsistent activity, the CaMV 35S promoter appears to be suitable for the expression of dsRNA to protect plants against coleopteran [43] and aphid pests [44].

The specific feeding strategy of aphids suggests that phloem-specific promoters would be more useful because they achieve targeted and potentially high-level expression in the phloem. This could increase the level of resistance towards phloem-feeding insects in GM plants by increasing the content of defense compounds in phloem sap while reducing the exposure of nontarget insects to the same compounds. Furthermore, this approach would also reduce the GM-associated resource investment by the plant by avoiding the expression of defense compounds in cells/tissues where they would never encounter the pest. The SUC2 promoter that regulates the CC-specific AtSUC2 sucrose-H⁺ symporter gene is a good candidate because its activity is restricted to the phloem, with no differences between the source and sink tissues [45]. Imlau et al. [46] showed that green fluorescent protein expressed under the control of the SUC2 promoter is transferred from the CCs via plasmodesmata to the SEs and is then transported along the sieve tubes. This provides proof of concept for the control of agents targeting phloem-feeding insect pests in GM plants. In contrast, the SUT1 promoter, which regulates StSUT1 (a sucrose H⁺-cotransporter located in the phloem of potato plants), is active solely in the unloading phloem in sink tissues [47]. Therefore, it is unsuitable for the control of defense compounds because pests also infest source tissues such as mature leaves, and the transport of GM-based defense compounds from sink to source has yet to be demonstrated.

Promoters that are used for expression control of defense compounds and that are continuously active throughout the plant lifecycle can be regarded as inefficient because they produce these in the absence of infestation, and they can encourage the emergence of resistant populations. Therefore, promoters should ideally be inactive prior to infestation and/or wounding. Several promoters are inactive when tissues are intact but are activated by wounding, including the mannopine synthase (*mas*) promoter [48], the potato proteinase inhibitor II (*pin*II) promoter [49], and the *PR1-a* promoter [50]. The inducible *PR1-a* promoter is activated by salicylic acid, a chemical involved in wound-induced signaling in plants [50], and its production is triggered by aphid feeding [51]. The ideal promoter for the control of aphid resistance genes would therefore be chimeric, combining the functional elements of wound-inducible promoters (e.g. *PR1-a*) and phloem-specific promoters (e.g. *SUC2*). This would allow the development of GM plants with defense mechanisms triggered only by phloem-feeding insects such as aphids.

2.1.2 Protease Inhibitors

Protease inhibitors (PIs) are small molecules, peptides, or proteins that reduce or inhibit the activity of proteases by directly or indirectly blocking their active site or an adjacent exocite. PIs regulate the activity of endogenous proteases but can also act defensively against proteases secreted by pests and pathogens. They have been grouped into 48 families based on the sequence of the inhibitory domain [52]. As defense molecules, PIs ingested with phloem sap disrupt the digestion of proteins by insect proteases inside the gut, thus attenuating amino acid assimilation, slowing the growth of insects and reducing damage to the plant. Other targets in insects affected by PIs include water balance, molting, and enzyme regulation [53]. In non-GM plants, PIs are detected in storage organs and can be induced by insect feeding and pathogen infection [54]. The expression of trypsin inhibitors and other PI-like chymotrypsin inhibitors has already been achieved in the phloem of transgenic plants [55, 56].

Rhabé and Febvay [57] tested the toxicity of different proteins against the aphid species *Acyrthosiphon pisum* by artificial feeding *in vitro*. They found that the plant lectin concanavalin A was toxic and inhibited growth, whereas PIs were only effective at relatively high concentrations. A broader study of lectin and PI toxicity against five aphid species (*Aphis gossypii, Aulacortum solani, Macrosiphum euphorbiae, Macrosiphum albifrons* and *Myzus persicae*) revealed a dependence on the lectin/PI combination and aphid species [58]. Corcuera [59] suggested that naturally occurring PIs may defend barley against aphids, indicated by infestation induced accumulation of PIs against chymotrypsin and trypsin [60]. The authors used two aphid species (*Schizaphis graminum* and *Rhopalosiphum padi*) and observed that the amount of PI produced depended on the species and the number of aphids. PI activity was significantly greater in barley infested with *S. graminum*, probably reflecting the impact of each species; for example, *S. graminum* causes chlorosis around the feeding site, whereas *R. padi* does not [61]. Furthermore, PIs

significantly affected the survival of *R. padi* but had only a minor impact on *S. graminum*. PIs may also defend white cabbage cultivars and *Arabidopsis thaliana* against the aphid *Brevicoryne brassicae* [62].

The first GM plant expressing a PI for the control of plant-sucking insects was a tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) plant expressing snowdrop lectin from *Galanthus nivalis* [63]. Tobacco plants are infested with the aphid *M. persicae*, but those feeding on the transgenic plants and on artificial diets containing the lectin showed reduced growth, survival, and reproduction. The insecticidal activity of snowdrop lectin was previously demonstrated against chewing insects in GM plants [64] and for planthoppers *in vitro* [65, 66]. Other PIs expressed in GM plants as defense compounds against aphids include oryzacystatin I in rapeseed [67] and eggplants [68], and a cysteine-PI from barley in *A. thaliana* [69]. These generally demonstrated similar effects to those described previously (i.e. reduced survival, growth, and reproduction), as well as a developmental delay. The use of PIs for aphid control therefore appears to be an effective strategy for pest management [63, 67–69].

Until recently, the target for PIs in aphids was uncertain because of conflicting data concerning the protease activity in the aphid gut [70]. Initially, aphids were considered to be unable to digest proteins in the sieve tube sap, thus relying on free amino acids as a nitrogen source [56]. However, an aminopeptidase and a cathepsin-L-like cysteine protease are thought to be immobilized in the gut of *A. pisum* [58, 71, 72]. Aminopeptidase, which represents 15.6 % of the total gut protein, may be a binding site for lectins [72]. An additional study identified cathepsin-B-like proteases in the *A. pisum* gut [70]. More recent findings indicate that several types of proteases, including metalloproteases, are present in the watery saliva of *A. pisum* [23, 29]. Because watery saliva is secreted into pierced SEs and mixes during nutrition uptake with the phloem sap in the stylet [16], plant-derived PIs target aphid proteases in two different environments, the sieve tubes and the alimentary tract. Additional targets for PIs may be present elsewhere in the aphid body because some PIs, such as oryzacystatin I, can cross the gut epithelium [67].

Despite the positive results achieved using different PIs against aphids, key considerations include the potential for aphids to adapt to PIs and the potential impact of ingested PIs on aphid predators and parasitoids. The overexpression of endogenous proteases could outcompete PIs and the expression of insensitive proteases could circumvent them, as previously seen in caterpillars and beetles [53]. A comparable observation was recently described for *M. persicae*, which upregulates expression of cathepsin B following PI ingestion [73]. Furthermore, oryzacystatin I is not only toxic towards the aphid *M. euphorbiae* but also to its parasitic wasp *Aphidius ervi* [74].

2.1.3 RNA Interference

RNA interference (RNAi) is a posttranslational RNA-mediated gene silencing process controlled by the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). RNAi is the major antiviral defense mechanism in both plants and insects [75, 76]. In insects,

the short interfering RNA (siRNA) pathway is the principal antiviral pathway and is considered to be part of the insect innate immune system [76].

Double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) derived from an exogenous source (e.g. a virus) or an endogenous source (e.g. pre-miRNA) is cleaved inside the cell by a ribonuclease III known as DICER to generate siRNAs or miRNAs 20–23 nucleotides in length with short tails [77, 78]. These are separated into single strands and the guide strand is integrated into the RISC complex [79], whereas the passenger strand is degraded. The siRNA or miRNA-RISC complex binds to its target mRNA resulting in cleavage (siRNA) or translational repression (miRNA) [78]. This process, when mediated by siRNAs, specifically reduces the abundance of target mRNAs [80].

Artificial exogenous sources of dsRNA can be provided by feeding or by the expression of hairpin RNA constructs in transgenic plants. The latter mechanism is termed host-induced gene silencing because the plant host delivers siRNA to the pest or pathogen [81, 82]. It is still unclear how exogenously administered dsRNA and siRNA enters insect cells [83].

Two early studies demonstrated that plants can be engineered to produce dsRNA, offering protection against specific insect pests. Baum et al. [43] transformed corn to produce dsRNA targeting the V-type ATPase A subunit mRNA, significantly reducing feeding damage by Western corn rootworm larvae (*Diabrotica virgifera*). Mao et al. [84] targeted the gut-specific cytochrome P450 gene of the cotton bollworm (*Helicoverpa zea*), which confers resistance to gossypol, a polyphenol defense compound produced by cotton plants. Bollworm larvae were initially fed on transgenic tobacco and *A. thaliana* plants expressing target-specific dsRNA, which made the insects sensitive towards gossypol present in artificial diets. The target specificity of dsRNA coupled with its ability to suppress genes that are critical for insect–host interaction or insect survival, for example, suggests that dsRNAs can be developed as highly specific pesticides, allowing the control of one or more specific insect pests without off-target effects [85].

In aphids, RNAi-mediated gene silencing has been achieved by injecting dsRNA or siRNAs into the hemolymph [86, 87] or by artificial feeding with dsRNA [85, 88]. In these studies, RNAi was used to investigate the function of proteins, such as the uncharacterized salivary gland protein C002 [33, 87] and a gut-specific aquaporin [88]. Jaubert-Possamai et al. [86] demonstrated that a single dose of dsRNA induces temporal silencing in aphids, with peak inhibition of 30–40 % target mRNA levels 5 days after injection, returning to normal 7 days after treatment. In this context, Mutti et al. [87] reported a 50 % reduction in the expression of a salivary gland protein. In *Tribolium castaneum*, a parental effect was observed in which the inhibition of target genes is transmitted to offspring [89], but no comparable studies have yet been carried out in aphids.

The proof of concept for transgenic plants delivering dsRNA to aphids resulted in the specific inhibition of Rack1 (located in the gut) and C002 (located in the salivary gland) in the green peach aphid *M. persicae* [44]. Both tobacco and *A. thaliana* were transformed with the silencing constructs, inducing up to 60 % silencing in the feeding aphids and reducing their fecundity. Surprisingly, silencing



Fig. 2 a *Acyrthosiphon pisum* and **b** *Myzus persicae* are model aphids that have been used in most published studies, reflecting the availability of genomic resources for both species. *Buchnera aphidicola*, the primary bacterial endosymbiont of aphids, is located within bacteriocytes and is transmitted vertically to embryos. **c** *Aphis fabae* embryo bacteriocytes and surrounding tissues. Note the close packing of symbionts. *B Buchnera aphidicola* cell; *CM* cell membrane; *M* mitochondrion; *N* lobed nucleus; *OV* part of ovariole; *SC* sheath cell. (*Buchnera aphidicola* image kindly provided by Tom L. Wilkinson, University College Dublin, Ireland)

C002 did not reduce survival, as previously observed with *A. pisum* after siRNA injection [87]. This may reflect species-dependent differences or the impact of different application methods.

Experiments on aphids as a model for piercing-sucking pests suggests that the most promising RNAi targets are salivary proteins [33, 87] and gut proteins [88]. However, additional promising targets include transporters in the bacteriocyte plasma membrane, which are required for the transport of nutrients between the aphid and its obligate bacterial endosymbionts, such as *Buchnera aphidicola*. Most RNAi studies in aphids have focused on *A. pisum* and *M. persicae* (Fig. 2a, b) because the corresponding genome sequences are available, allowing the identification of RNAi target genes (IAGC [90]. The sequencing of additional species such as *A. gossypii*, *Diuraphis noxia*, *M. euphorbiae*, *M. persicae*, and *S. graminum* is in progress (IAGC [91, 92]; http://arthropodgenomes.org/wiki/i5K) and would broaden the scope of RNAi-based aphid control.

2.1.4 Antimicrobial Peptides

Peptide antibiotics are synthesized ribosomally in all organisms and in addition are produced enzymatically in fungi and bacteria. In eukaryotes, peptide antibiotics are termed antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) and generally comprise 12–50 amino acids. AMPs are active against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria in different ways, according to their structure. Three main structural classes have been described: (1) linear α -helical peptides lacking cysteine residues; (2) peptides adopting a β -sheet globular structure stabilized by intramolecular disulfide bridges; and (3) peptides with an unusual bias for certain amino acids, such as histidine, glycine, proline, or tryptophan [93]. The production of peptides with direct microbicidal activity is considered to be the most ancient mechanism of immunity. The formation of peptide-induced transmembrane pores in bacteria or other peptide-mediated mechanisms of membrane disruption abolishes the maintenance of membrane potential and causes bacterial cell death. Other AMPs have intracellular modes of action, such as the inactivation of bacterial DnaK [94].

AMPs represent the innate immune system, which is the only form of immunity in arthropods [95, 96]. Many insect species produce diverse AMPs [97, 98], but these are not present in aphids, nor do aphids produce components enabling the recognition and signaling of bacterial infection [99, 100]. The lack of an antibacterial defense response may reflect the close relationship between aphids and their endosymbiotic bacteria; for example, B. aphidicola is localized in specialized aphid cells known as bacteriocytes [101]; Fig. 2c). Additional facultative bacterial endosymbionts include different strains of Hamiltonella, Serratia, Rickettsia, and *Regiella* spp. [102]. Facultative endosymbionts may be intracellular and/or free within the hemolymph [103-105]. Applies benefit from symbiotic bacteria because they convert nonessential amino acids in the phloem sap into essential amino acids [90], which are normally present at minimal levels [106]. Facultative symbiotic bacteria also confer resistance to parasitoid wasps [107], pathogenic fungi [108, 109], and heat [110, 111], as well as better performance on different host plants [112, 113]. The reliance of aphids on bacterial endosymbionts makes the latter a useful target for AMPs expressed in plants [114] based on the observation that eliminating different aphid bacterial endosymbionts using antibiotics reduces fecundity and delays aphid development, e.g. [115].

There has been one report thus far describing the influence of AMPs on aphids, using indolicidin as a model [116]. Indolicidin is a cationic AMP present in bovine neutrophils [117]; it shows activity against fungi [118] and bacteria such as *Escherichia coli* [117], which is closely related to *B. aphidicola*. Le-Feuvre et al. [116] demonstrated that the ingestion of indolicidin reduces the number of bacteriocytes in *M. persicae*, disrupts their structure, and reduces the number of bacteria, ultimately reducing the performance, survival, and reproduction of the aphids. Although antibiotic and AMP feeding generate distinct results, perhaps reflecting the secondary effects on gut cells or other internal tissues [116], these findings nevertheless indicate that AMPs produced by GM plants offer a promising experimental approach for pest control. Beyond that, proof of concept has been demonstrated for the control of fungal infections by AMPs expressed in plants, offering a new dimension to the defense system of plants that remain infested with unchallenged pests, e.g. [39, 119].

2.1.5 Repellents

Aphids detect odors via receptors in the primary and secondary rhinaria, which are antennal segments present in the Sternorrhyncha [120–124]. It has been suggested that the detection of plant volatiles is restricted to the primary rhinaria [120, 124, 125]. The overall response of these receptors to odors can be studied by

electroantennography, which measures the average output of antennal nerves to the brain for a tested odor [126]. Plant volatiles are used by aphids for long-range orientation [127] and responses have been recorded in species such as *S. avenae*, *Metopolophium dirhodum* [124, 128], *Aphis fabae* [122], *Megoura viciae* [129, 130], *A. pisum* [125], *B. brassicae*, and *M. persicae* [131]. Like other animals, aphids use pheromones for intraspecific communication, and these are also perceived by the antenna.

Pheromones are chemicals secreted into the environment to induce a social reaction from conspecifics. As well as aggregation and mating pheromones, chemicals such as (E)-7,11-dimethyl-3-methylene-1,6,10-dodecatriene (also known as E- β -farnesene or E β f) function as alarm pheromones in aphids such as *R. padi, M. dirhodum, S. avenae* and *M. persicae* [132] and also in some beetles and wasps. Receptors for alarm pheromones are located in the two primary rhinaria in aphids [133]. The alarm pheromone is secreted by endangered aphids (e.g. in the presence of a predator) and induces others to stop feeding and escape, thus interrupting the feeding cycle and increasing alertness and the time spent walking or dropping off the plant at the expense of resource accumulation [134, 135].

Several plants, including wild potato species, have been shown to synthesize $E\beta$ as a natural aphid repellent [136, 137]. In this context, the volatile is termed an allomone-that is, a substance that induces a reaction in a different species without any benefit to that species. Gibson and Pickett [137] suggested that the allomone is secreted by specific glandular hairs on the leaf surface and demonstrated that aphids remain a distance of 1-3 mm from the leaf surface during choice experiments. Nevertheless, the authors observed that not all aphids treated with air from $E\beta$ f-emitting potato species were disturbed during feeding on susceptible plants. As well as showing alarm responses, groups of aphids react to $E\beta$ f by producing a higher ratio of winged offspring (migratory morphs) after application [138], which has also been demonstrated in the field [139]. These observations suggest that plants producing aphid alarm pheromones benefit from a reduced number of feeding aphids and a higher ratio of winged offspring tending to leave the host plant [138]. The aphid resistance of a recently described melon line may reflect the same phenomenon [140], and it has been suggested as a strategy to produce aphidresistant versions of economically-relevant cultivars [137].

E β f also shows kairomonal effects by attracting Adalia bipunctata [141], Coccinella septempuctata [142], Coleomegilla maculate, Hippodamia convergens, Harmonia axyridis [143], the primary aphid parasitoid wasps Aphidius uzbekistanicus [144] and A. ervi [145], and the hoverfly Episyrphus balteatus [146]. This dual effect as a pest repellent and an attractant for beneficial insects increases the benefits of E β f production by GM plants for aphid control. A recent study indicated that the dispersal of herbivore-induced plant volatiles affects insects to a range of 8 m from the release site [147], corroborating the idea that plant emitted volatiles affect a wide range around the release site.

Only one study has thus far shown the direct benefits of $E\beta$ f produced by GM plants [148]. *A. thaliana* producing $E\beta$ f were created by introducing the *Mentha x piperita* (peppermint) encoding $E\beta$ f synthase under the control of the CaMV 35S

promoter. Aphids showed more frequent alarm responses when exposed to a droplet of hexane containing entrained volatiles from a transgenic plant or to air from the headspace above $E\beta$ f-producing *A. thaliana* plants. Furthermore, the authors showed that the released $E\beta$ f attracted the parasitoid wasp *Diaeretiella rapae*, which spent more time on the transgenic plants than on comparable plants lacking the pheromone. There appeared to be no metabolic costs of $E\beta$ f synthesis because the transgenic plants showed no differences in growth or seed production compared to wild-type controls. Current work at Rothamsted Research (UK) focuses on the production of aphid-resistant wheat based upon the results of Beale et al. [148].

In contrast to Beale et al. [148], Kunert et al. [149] found that transgenic *A*. *thaliana* plants producing $E\beta f$ were not resistant to infestation by *M. persicae*, and did not affect reproduction or the ratio of winged and wingless offspring. The amount of $E\beta f$ produced by the plants was not influenced by aphid infestation [149]. The absence of a repellent effect may have reflected an adaptation to $E\beta f$ due to the continuous release by the transgenic plants. In contrast to the GM plants, wild-type plants release $E\beta f$ via glandular hairs in pulses, mimicking the $E\beta f$ emission of aphids when they are attacked by predators.

3 Testing Aphid Resistance in Plants

Developed GM plants are initially tested using molecular biology tools (e.g. quantitative PCR) to confirm transgene integration and the expression of the corresponding products and to compare plant lines produced by independent transformation experiments. GM pest/pathogen-resistant plants must then be tested for their efficiency against targeted pests/pathogens.

3.1 Aphid Fitness Parameters for Pest Control

Aphid fitness parameters such as development, body size, reproduction, and survival are relevant for plant infestation and thus are used to determine the efficiency of pest resistance. These parameters depend upon access to nutrition and its quality. The key parameter relevant to plant infestation by aphids is the remarkable rate of reproduction. Most aphid species show cyclical parthenogenesis under natural conditions with a switch from asexual to sexual reproduction. Reproduction begins approximately 1 week after birth; thus the development of aphids is rapid compared to similar-sized insects whose development lasts approximately 3 weeks. This reflects the so—called telescoping of generations in which aphid embryos begin to develop in their grandmothers. All these factors lead to a high rate of reproduction and make aphids ideal r-strategists with a total reproduction potential of several millions of progeny per season distributed over several generations.

Fig. 3 Influence of nutrition uptake on different fitnessassociated parameters and their interplay in aphid adults and nymphs



As discussed above, biotechnology-based approaches have a negative impact on parameters such as development and body size (Box 1) by reducing the intake of nutrition and thus the fitness of adults and offspring (Fig. 3). Nymphs with a low birth weight grow slowly and produce smaller nymphs in the next generation. Furthermore, slower growth increases the time to maturity and reproduction starts later in contrast to larger nymphs, reducing the total reproduction time over the lifespan of each aphid [150]. The final body size is also positively correlated with the reproductive weight [151, 152]. Larger and faster-developing nymphs also show higher survival rates and less parasitization by wasps than smaller nymphs [153]. The negative impact of reduced nutrition on reproduction implies that aphid control strategies do not necessarily have to focus on killing. Approaches that reduce infestation below an economically relevant level are also of interest because they follow the concept of integrated pest management.

Box 1: Measuring the body size and development of aphids

Two technical approaches are used to measure the size of adult aphids. Groups of up to 10 aphids can weighed and the mass of a single individual deduced. This is necessary because the small size of aphids of 1–10 mm (species dependent) means individuals weigh less than 1 mg, which makes accurate determination challenging. Alternatively or in addition, it is possible to measure the so-called body plan area (BPA) by taking images of single aphids using a microscope and a connected digital camera. Image analysis software can be used for size determination, which is calculated on the basis of a scale bar [154]. It is also possible to correlate the BPA with the developmental stage (larval stage 1–4 and adult).

3.2 Observation of Behavior Reveals the Mode of Plant Resistance

Aphid behavior provides additional insights into the interaction between host plants and pests, allowing observers to distinguish between aphids that are repelled by a plant, unable to access the plant, or have disrupted nutrition uptake. Three



Fig. 4 Aphid behavior observed using the electrical penetration graph (EPG) technique. By attaching a thin gold wire with conductive silver glue to the dorsal abdomen (**a**), the aphid can be integrated in a direct current electrical circuit (**b**). The plant is integrated by inserting an electrode into the soil. The applied voltage is adjustable (V). The aphid and plant together represent a variable resistor. The input resistor (R_i) of the EPG amplifier has a value of 1 G Ω , about the mean value of the aphid. The measured signal is amplified 50-fold (Amp) and is recorded with a computer. (**c**) A 1-hour overview of an EPG recording. Specific waveforms in the EPG reveal information about stylet movement, salivary secretion, and ingestion, for example

main phases of plant-associated aphid behavior involve plant chemicals. The first phase is host plant identification by color and odor [155, 156]. This behavior can be studied with choice experiments using dual-choice chambers by which intact plants (resistant and susceptible) are offered to aphids [157]. Olfactometers, which can be designed as Y-track or four-arm models, are used as an additional tool to study the influence of plant repellents on aphids and the attraction of parasitoids *in vitro*, e.g. [141, 158].

In the second phase, aphids briefly penetrate epidermal and mesophyll cells and test the suitability of the plant as a potential host by taking a small sample of cell sap [159, 160]. The third phase is comparable to the second, but the ingested solution is sieve tube sap [16]. Varying artificial feeding setups, such as choice chambers [17, 161] or flow-through chambers [7], can be used to study aphid stylet orientation inside the plant as well as the influence of intracellular chemical and physical variations on feeding behavior. The electrical penetration graph (EPG) technique (Fig. 4) integrates the aphid and plant into an AC and/or DC electrical circuit [162, 163, 13, 14, 164], allowing feeding behavior inside the plant to be observed. The aphid and plant represent variable resistance in the electrical circuit that, in accordance with Ohm's law, influences the continuously recorded voltage [165]. Changes in resistance induced by the secretion of saliva or the uptake of

nutrients result in complex wave patterns that have been correlated with different patterns of behavior [21]. The EPG technique is a powerful tool to test the resistance of plants against piercing–sucking insects [166, 167] and to determine the site of resistance in the plant, such as in the epidermis, cortex, or phloem [168].

4 Future Perspectives for GM Plants

The first GM plants produced in 1983 by Fraley et al. [169]. It contained antibiotic resistance genes without any specific use in agriculture, but subsequent development focused on herbicide resistance [170] and pest resistance [171]. Although such first-generation GM crops with altered input traits remain the most widely grown, more recent developments include GM plants modified for output traits, such as β -carotene production in Golden Rice [172], and GM plants producing added-value compounds such as vaccines and antibodies [173]. New approaches in agro-biotechnology include RNAi, the expression of antimicrobial peptides, and the production of repellents for the control of aphids. The basis of this new generation of GM crops is the availability of more biological information and genome sequences from a higher number of pest organisms to facilitate target selection. Because these new approaches address physiological processes and basic modes of intraspecific and interspecific interactions among pests, their symbionts and their hosts, the development of resistant or tolerant pest populations appears unlikely. This is the basis of a new trend towards the development of tailor-made GM crops that can withstand one or several selected prominent pests in a respective habitat.

GM crops are currently grown on 160 million hectares [174], which represents 11.6 % of the total arable land area [175]. The five most important countries for production of GM crops are the USA, Brazil, Argentina, India, and Canada, and the four most prominent crops are soybean, corn, cotton, and rapeseed. The uptake of GM agriculture in developed and developing countries is expected to increase further, following a trend observed since the first GM crops were commercialized [174]. The consumer attitude towards GM agriculture differs between countries, with high acceptance in USA and Asia and a more cautious view in Europe [176]. It can be assumed that next-generation GM crops, developed according to knowledge-based principles, will increase overall acceptance and the economic potential of such crops. However, this will require better communication with the general public [177].

Acknowledgments We would like to thank Henrike Schmidtberg (Department of Phytopathology and Applied Zoology, Justus-Liebig-University Giessen), Gregory Walker (Department of Entomology, University of California, Riverside), and Richard M Twyman for reading and editing the manuscript. We also acknowledge generous funding from the Hessian Ministry of Science and Art via the LOEWE research focus "Insect Biotechnology".

References

- 1. Gould N, Thorpe MR, Koroleva O, Minchin PEH (2005) Phloem hydrostatic pressure relates to solute loading rate: a direct test of the Munch hypothesis. Funct Plant Biol 32:1019–1026
- 2. Münch E (1930) Die Stoffbewegung in der Pflanze. Fischer, Jena
- 3. van Bel AJE (1996) Interaction between sieve element and companion cell and the consequence for photoassimilate distribution. Two structural hardware frames with associated software packages in dicotyledons? J Exp Bot 47:1129–1140
- 4. Hafke JB, van Amerongen J-K, Kelling F, Furch ACU, Gaupels F, van Bel AJE (2005) Thermodynamic battle for photosynthate acquisition between sieve tubes and adjoining parenchyma in transport phloem. Plant Physiol 138:1527–1537
- 5. Minchin PEH, Thorpe MR (1987) Measurement of unloading and reloading of photoassimilate within the stem of bean. J Exp Bot 38:211–220
- 6. Kusnierczyk A, Winge P, Jørstad TS, Troczynska J, Rossiter JT, Bones AM (2008) Towards global understanding of plant defence against aphids—timing and dynamics of early Arabidopsis defence responses to cabbage aphid (*Brevicoryne brassicae*) attack. Plant, Cell Environ 31:1097–1115
- 7. Will T, Hewer A, van Bel AJE (2008) A novel perfusion system shows that aphid feeding behavior is altered by decrease of sieve-tube pressure. Ent Exp Appl 127:237–245
- 8. Tjallingii WF (1995) Regulation of phloem sap feeding by aphids. In: Chapman RF, de Boer G (eds) Regulatory mechanisms in insect feeding. Chapman and Hall, New York
- Furch ACU, Zimmermann MR, Will T, Hafke JB, van Bel ACU (2010) Remote-controlled stop of phloem mass flow by biphasic occlusion in *Cucurbita maxima*. J Exp Bot 61:3697–3708
- Hao P, Liu C, Wang Y, Chen R, Tang M, Du B, Zhu L, He G (2008) Herbivore-induced callose deposition on the sieve plates of rice: an important mechanism for host resistance. Plant Physiol 146:1810–1820
- Will T, van Bel AJE (2006) Physical and chemical interactions between aphids and plants. J Exp Bot 57:729–737
- 12. Ng JCK, Perry KL (2004) Transmission of plant viruses by aphid vectors. Mol Plant Pathol 5:505–511
- Tjallingii WF (1978) Electrical recording of penetration behavior by aphids. Ent Exp Appl 24:521–530
- 14. Tjallingii WF (1978) Mechanoreceptors of the aphid labium. Ent Exp Appl 24:731-737
- Tjallingii WF, Hogen Esch TH (1993) Fine structure of aphid stylet routes in plant tissues in correlation with EPG signals. Physiol Entomol 18:317–328
- Tjallingii WF (2006) Salivary secretions by aphids interacting with proteins of phloem wound responses. J Exp Bot 57:739–745
- 17. Hewer A, Will T, van Bel AJE (2010) Plant cues for aphid navigation in vascular tissues. J Exp Biol 213:4030–4042
- Backus EA (1988) Sensory systems and behaviours which mediate hemipteran plantfeeding: a taxonomic overview. J Insect Physiol 34:151–165
- Backus EA, McLean DL (1985) Behavioral evidence that the precibarial sensilla of leafhoppers are chemosensory and function in host discrimination. Ent Exp Appl 37:219–228
- Wensler RJ, Filshie BK (1969) Gustatory sense organs in the food channel of aphids. J Morphology 129:473–492
- Prado E, Tjallingii WF (1994) Aphid activities during sieve element punctures. Ent Exp Appl 72:157–165
- 22. Powell G, Tosh CR, Hardie J (2006) Host plant selection by aphids: Behavioral, evolutionary, and applied perspectives. Ann Rev Ent 51:309–330

- 23. Carolan JC, Fitzroy CIJ, Ashton PD, Douglas AE, Wilkinson TL (2009) The secreted salivary proteome of the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum* characterised by mass spectrometry. Proteomics 9:2457–2467
- Miles PW (1965) Studies on the salivary physiology of plant-bugs: the salivary secretions of aphids. J Insect Physiol 11:1261–1268
- 25. Will T, Steckbauer K, Hardt M, van Bel AJE (2012) Aphid gel saliva: Sheath structure, protein composition and secretors dependence on stylet-tip milieu. PLoS ONE 7(10):e46903. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046903
- 26. Miles PW (1999) Aphid saliva. Biol Rev 74:41-85
- Moreno A, Garzo E, Fernandez-Mata G, Kassem M, Aranda MA, Fereres A (2011) Aphids secrete watery saliva into plant tissues from the onset of stylet penetration. Ent Exp Appl 139:145–153
- Martin B, Collar JL, Tjallingii WF, Fereres A (1997) Intracellular ingestion and salivation by aphids may cause the acquisition and inoculation of non-persistently transmitted plant viruses. J Gen Virol 78:2701–2705
- Carolan JC, Caragea D, Reardon KT, Mutti NS, Dittmer N, Pappan K, Cui F, Castaneto M, Poulain J, Dossat C, Tagu D, Reese JC, Reeck GR, Wilkinson TL, Edwards OR (2011) J Proteom Res 10:1505–1518
- 30. Will T, Tjallingii WF, Thönnessen A, van Bel AJE (2007) Molecular sabotage of plant defense by aphid saliva. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 104:10536-10541
- 31. Wu J, Baldwin IT (2010) New insights into plant responses to the attack from insect herbivores. Ann Rev Gen 44:1–24
- 32. Bos JIB, Prince D, Pitino M, Maffei ME, Win J, Hogenhout SA (2010) A functional genomics approach identifies candidate effectors from the aphid species *Myzus persicae* (Green peach aphid). PLoS Gen6 (11):e1001216. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1001216
- 33. Mutti NS, Louis J, Pappan LK, Pappan K, Begum K, Chen MS, Park Y, Dittmer N, Marshall J, Reese JC, Reeck GR (2008) A protein from the salivary glands of the pea aphid, *Acyrtosiphon pisum*, is essential in feeding on a host plant. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 105:9965–9969
- 34. Webb SE (2010) Insect management of legumes (beans, peas). University of Florida, Gainsville, IFAS
- 35. Joshi S, Rabindra RJ, Rajendran TP (2010) Biological control of aphids. J Biol Contr 24:185–202
- 36. Estruch JJ, Carozzi NB, Desai N, Duck NB, Warren GW, Koziel MG (1997) Transgenic plants: an emerging approach to pest control. Nature Biotech 15:137–141
- 37. Ferry N, Edwards MG, Gatehouse J, Capell T, Christou P, Gatehouse AMR (2006) Transgenic plants for insect pest control: a forward looking scientific perspective. Transgen Res 15:13–19
- Kumar S, Chandra A, Pandey KC (2008) Bacillus thuringiensis (Bt) transgenic crop: An environment friendly insect-pest management strategy. J Environ Biol 29:641–653
- 39. Rahnamaeian M, Langen G, Imani J, Khalifa W, Altincicek B, von Wettstein D, Kogel K-H, Vilcinskas A (2009) Insect peptide metchnikowin confers on barley a selective capacity for resistance to fungal ascomycetes pathogens. J Exp Bot 60:4105–4114
- 40. Raps A, Kehr J, Gugerli P, Moar WJ, Bigler F, Hilbeck A (2001) Immunological analysis of phloem sap of *Bacillus thuringiensis* corn and of the non-target herbivore *Rhopalosiphum padi* (Homoptera: Aphididae) for the presence of Cry1Ab. Mol Ecol 10:525–533
- Yang N-S, Christou P (1990) Cell type specific expression of a CaMV 35S-Gus gene in transgenic soybean plants. Dev Genet 11:289–293
- 42. Urwin PE, Troth KM, Zubko EI, Atkinson HJ (2001) Effective transgenic resistance to *Globodera pallida* in potato field trials. Mol Breed 8:95–101
- 43. Baum JA, Bogaert T, Clinton W, Heck GR, Feldmann P, Ilagan O, Johnson S, Plaetinck G, Munyikwa T, Pleau M, Vaughn T, Roberts J (2007) Control of coleopteran insect pests through RNA interference. Nat Biotechnol 25:1322–1326

- 44. Pitino M, Coleman AD, Maffei ME, Ridout CJ, Hogenhout SA (2011) Silencing of aphid genes by dsRNA feeding from plants. PLoS ONE 6(10):e25709. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025709
- 45. Truermit E, Sauer N (1995) The promoter of the *Arabidopis thaliana* SUC2 sucrose-H + symporter gene directs expression of β -glucuroniase to the phloem: Evidence for phloem loading and unloading by SUC2. Planta 196:564–570
- 46. Imlau A, Truernit E, Sauer N (1999) Cell-to-cell and long-distance trafficking of the green fluorescent protein in the phloem and symplastic unloading of the protein in sink tissues. Plant Cell 11:309–322
- 47. Kühn C, Hajirezaei MR, Fernie AR, Roessner-Tunali U, Czechowski T, Hierner B (2003) The sucrose transporter StSUT1 localizes to sieve tubes in potato tuber phloem and influences tuber physiology and development. Plant Physiol 131:102–113
- 48. Langridge WHR, Fitzgerald KJ, Koncz C, Schell J, Szalay AA (1989) Dual promoter of Agrobacterium tumefaciens mannopine synthase genes is regulated by plant growth hormones. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 86:3219–3223
- 49. Godard KA, McKay AB, Levasseur C, Plant A, Séguin A, Bohlmann J (2007) Testing of a heterologous, wound- and insect-inducible promoter for functional genomics studies in conifer defense. Plan Cell Rep 26:2083–2090
- 50. Tiwari S, Mishra DK, Chandrasekhar K, Singh PK, Tuli R (2011) Expression of δ endotoxin Cry1EC from an inducible promoter confers insect protection in peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) plants. Pest Management Sci 67:137–145
- Zhu-Salzmann K, Salzmann RA, Ahn J-E, Koiwa H (2004) Transcriptional regulation of sorghum defense determinants against a phloem-feeding aphid. Plant Physiol 134:420–431
- Rawlings ND, Tolle DP, Barrett AJ (2004) Evolutionary families of peptidase inhibitors. J Biochem 378:705–716
- Boulter D (1993) Insect pest control by copying nature using genetically engineered crops. Biochemistry 34:1453–1466
- 54. Ryan CA (1990) Proteinase inhibitors in plants: genes for improving defenses against insects and pathogens. Ann Rev Phytopathol 28:425–449
- Dannenhoffer JM, Suhr RC, Thompson GA (2001) Phloem-specific expression of the pumpkin fruit trypsin inhibitor. Planta 212:155–162
- 56. Kehr J (2006) Phloem sap proteins: their identities and potential roles in the interaction between plants and phloem-feeding insects. J Exp Biol 57:767–774
- 57. Rhabé Y, Febvay G (1993) Protein toxicity to aphids an in vitro test on Acyrtosiphon pisum. Ent Exp Appl 67:149–160
- Rahbé Y, Sauvion N, Febvay G, Peumans WJ, Gatehouse AMR (1995) Toxicity of lectins and processing of ingested proteins in the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum*. Ent Exp Appl 76:143–155
- Corcuera LJ (1993) Biochemical basis for the resistance of barley to aphids. Phytochemistry 33:741–747
- Casaretto JA, Corcuera LJ (1998) Proteinase inhibitor accumulation in aphid infested barley leaves. Phytochemistry 49:2279–2286
- 61. Ryan JD, Morgham AT, Richardson PE, Johnson RC, Mort AJ, Eikenbary R (1990) Greenbugs and wheat: a model system for the study of phytotoxic Homoptera. In: Campbell RK, Eikenbary RD (eds) Aphid-Plant Genotype Interactions. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- 62. Broekgaarden C, Poelman EH, Steenhuis G, Voorrips RE, Dicke M, Vosman B (2008) Responses of *Brassica oleracea* cultivars to infestation by the aphid *Brevicoryne brassicae*: an ecological and molecular approach. Plant Cell Environ 31:1592–1605
- 63. Hilder VA, Powell KS, Gatehouse AMR, Gatehouse JA, Gatehouse LN, Shi Y, Hamilton WO, Merryweather A, Newell CA, Timans JC, Peumans WJ, van Damme E, Boulter D (1995) Expression of snowdrop lectin in transgenic tobacco plants results in added protection against aphids. Transgen Res 4:18–25

- 64. Boulter D, Edwards GA, Gatehouse AMR, Gatehouse JA, Hilder VA (1990) Additive protective effects of different plant-derived insect resistance genes in transgenic tobacco plants. Crop Prot 9:351–354
- 65. Hilder VA, Brough C, Gatehouse AMR, Gatehouse LN, Powell KS, Shi Y, Hamilton WDO (1992) Genes for protecting transgenic crops from chewing and sap sucking insect pests. In: Proceedings of the Brighton Crop Protection Conference: Pests and Diseases Vol. 2. Lavenham Press, Lavenham
- 66. Powell KS, Gatehouse AMR, Hilder VA, Gatehouse JA (1993) Antimetabolic effects of plant lectins and plant and fungal enzymes on the nymphal stages of two important rice pests, *Nilaparva talugens* and *Nephotettix cinciteps*. Ent Exp Appl 66:119–126
- 67. Rhabé Y, Deraison C, Bonadé-Bottino M, Girard C, Nardon C, Jouanin L (2003) Effects of the cysteine protease inhibitor oryzacystatin (OC-I) of different aphids and reduced performance of *Myzus persicae* on OC-I expressing transgenic oilseed rape. Plant Sci 164:441–450
- Ribeiro APO, Pereira EJG, Galvan TL, Picanco MC, Picoli EAT, da Silva DJH, Fári MG, Otoni WC (2006) Effect of eggplant transformed with oryzacystatin gene on *Myzus persicae* and *Macrosiphum euphorbiae*. J Appl Entomol 130:84–90
- 69. Carrillo L, Martinez M, Álvarez-Alfageme F, Castanera P, Smagghe G, Diaz I, Ortego F (2011) A barley cysteine-proteinase inhibitor reduces the performance of two aphid species in artificial diets and transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. Transgen Res 20:305–319
- Rispe C, Kutsukake M, Doublet V, Hudaverdian S, Legeai F, Simon J-C, Tagu D, Fukatsu T (2008) Large gene family expansion and variable selective pressure for cathepsin B in aphids. Mol Biol Evol 25:5–17
- 71. Cristofoletti PT, Ribeiro AF, Deraison C, Rahbé Y, Terra WR (2003) Midgut adaptation and digestive enzyme distribution in a phloem feeding insect, the pea aphid Acyrthosiphon pisum. J Insect Physiol 49:11–24
- 72. Cristofoletti PT, Mendonca de Sousa FA, Rahbé Y, Terra WR (2006) Characterisation of a membrane-bound aminopeptidase purified from *Acyrthosiphon pisum* midgut cells. FEBS J 273:5574–5598
- 73. Silva AC, Bacigalupe LD, Luna-Rudloff M, Figueroa CC (2012) Insecticide resistance mechanisms in the green peach aphid *Myzus persicae* (Hemiptera: Aphididae) II: Costs and benefits. PLoS ONE 7(6):e36810. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0036810
- 74. Azzouz H, Campan EDM, Cherqui A, Saguez J, Couty A, Jouanin L, Giordanengo P, Kaiser L (2005) Potential effects of plant protease inhibitors, oryzacystatin I and soybean Bowman-Birk inhibitor, on the aphid parasitoid *Aphidius ervi* Haliday (Hymenoptera, Braconidae). J Insect Physiol 51:941–951
- 75. Matranga C, Zamore P (2007) Small silencing RNAs. Curr Biol 17:789-793
- van Rij RP, Berezikov E (2009) Small RNAs and the control of transposons and viruses in Drosophila. Trends Microbiol 17:163–171
- 77. Ketting R (2011) The many faces of RNAi. Develop Cell 20:148-161
- Meister G, Tuschl T (2004) Mechanism of gene silencing by double-stranded RNA. Nature 431:343–349
- 79. Winter J, Jung S, Keller S, Gregory RI, Diederichs S (2009) Many roads to maturity: microRNA biogenesis pathways and their regulation. Nature Cell Biol 11:228–234
- Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC (1998) Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Nature 391:806–811
- 81. Eckhardt NA (2004) Small RNA on the move. Plant Cell 16:1951-1954
- Nowara D, Gay A, Lacomme C, Shaw J, Ridout C, Douchkov D, Hensel G, Kumlehn J, Schweizer P (2010) HIGS: Host-induced gene silencing in the obligate biotrophic fungal pathogen *Blumeria graminis*. Plant Cell 22:3130–3141
- Bellés X (2010) Beyond Drosophila: RNAi in vivo and functional genomics in insects. Annu Rev Ent 55:111–128

- 84. Mao Y, Cai W, Wang J, Hong G, Tao X, Wang L, Huang Y, Chen X (2007) Silencing a cotton bollworm P450 monooxygenase gene by plant-mediated RNAi impairs larval tolerance of gossypol. Nat Biotechnol 25:1307–1313
- Whyard S, Singh AD, Wong S (2009) Ingested double-stranded RNAs can act as speciesspecific insecticides. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 39:824–832
- 86. Jaubert-Possamai S, Trionnair GL, Bonhomme J, Christophides GK, Rispe C, Tagu D (2007) Gene knockdown by RNAi in the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum*. BMC Biotechnol 7:63
- 87. Mutti NS, Park Y, Reese JC, Reek GR (2006) RNAi knockdown of a salivary transcript leading to lethality in the pea aphid Acyrtosiphon pisum. J Insect Sci 6:38
- Shakesby AJ, Wallace LS, Isaacs HV, Pritchard J, Roberts DM, Douglas AE (2009) A water-specific aquaporin involved in aphid osmoregulation. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 39:1–10
- Bucher G, Scholten J, Klingler M (2002) Parental RNAi in *Tribolium* (Coleoptera). Curr Biol 12:R85–R86
- The International Aphid Genomics Consortium (2010) Genome sequence of the pea aphid Acyrthosiphon pisum. PLoS Biology 8(2):e1000313. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000313
- Robinson GE, Hackett KJ, Purcell-Miramontes M, Brown SJ, Evans JD, Goldsmith MR, Lawson D, Okamuro J, Robertson HM, Schneider DJ (2011) Creating a buzz about insect genomes. Science 331:1386
- 92. The International Aphid Genomics Consortium (2010b) Aphid Genomics White Paper II: Proposal to complete development of the aphid model
- Wiesner J, Vilcinskas A (2010) Antimicrobial peptides The ancient arm of the human immune system. Virulence 1:440–464
- 94. Kragol G, Lovas S, Varadi G, Condie BA, Hoffmann R, Otvos L Jr (2001) The antibacterial peptide pyrrhocoricin inhibits the ATPase actions of DnaK and prevents chaperone-assisted protein folding. Biochemistry 40:3016–3026
- Hancock REW, Scott MG (2000) The role of antimicrobial peptides in animal defenses. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 97:8856–8861
- Jiravanichpaisal P, Lee BL, Soderhall K (2006) Cell-mediated immunity in arthropos: Hematopoiesis, coagulation, melanization and opsonization. Immunobiology 211:213–236
- 97. Bulet P, Stöcklin R (2005) Insect antimicrobial peptides: structures, properties and gene regulation. Protein Peptide Lett 12:3–11
- Vilcinskas A (2013) Evolutionary plasticity of insect immunity. J Insect Physiol 59:123–129
- Altincicek B, Gross J, Vilcinskas A (2008) Wounding-mediated gene expression and accelerated viviparous reproduction of the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum*. Insect Mol Biol 17:711–716
- 100. Gerardo NM, Altincicek B, Anselme C, Atamian H, Barribeau SM, de Vos M, Duncan EJ, Evans JD, Gabaldón T, Ghanim M, Heddi A, Kaloshian I, Latorre A, Moya A, Nakabachi A, Parker BJ, Pérez-Brocal V, Pignatelli M, Rahbé Y, Ramsey JS, Spragg CJ, Tamames J, Tamarit D, Tamorindeguy C, Vinsent-Monegat C, Vilcinskas A (2010) Immunity and other defenses in pea aphids, Acyrtosiphon pisum. Gen Biol 11:R21. doi: 10.1186/gb-2010-11-2-r21
- 101. Baumann P, Baumann L, Lai C-Y, Rouhbakhsh D (1995) Genetics, physiology, and evolutionary relationships of the genus Buchnera: intracellular symbionts of aphids. Annu Rev Microbiol 49:55–94
- 102. Moran NA, Russell JA, Koga R, Fukatsu T (2005) Evolutionary relationship of three new species of enterobacteriaceae living as symbionts of aphids and other insects. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:3302–3310
- 103. Chen D-Q, Campbell BC, Purcell AH (1996) A new rickettsia from a herbivorous insect, the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum* (Harris). Curr Microbiol 33:123–128

- 104. Koga R, Tsuchida T, Fukatsu T (2003) Changing partners in an obligate symbiosis: a facultative endosymbiont can compensate for loss of the essential endosymbiont Buchnera in an aphid. Proc R Soc Lond B 270:2543–2550
- 105. Tsuchida T, Koga R, Meng X-Y, Matsumoto T, Fukatsu T (2005) Characterization of a facultative endosymbiotic bacterium of the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum*. Microbiol Ecol 49:126–133
- 106. Gündüz EA, Douglas AE (2009) Symbiotic bacteria enable insect to utilize a nutritionallyinadequate diet. Proc R Soc Lond B 276:987–991
- 107. Oliver KM, Russell JA, Moran NA, Hunter MS (2003) Facultative bacterial symbionts in aphids confer resistance to parasitic wasps. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 100:1803–1807
- Lukasik P, van Asch M, Guo H, Ferrari J, Charles H, Godfray J (2012) Unrelated facultative endosymbionts protect aphids against a fungal pathogen. Ecol Lett. doi: 10.1111/ele.12031
- 109. Scarborough CL, Ferrari J, Godfray HCJ (2005) Aphid protected from pathogen by endosymbiont. Science 310:1781
- 110. Montllor CB, Maxmen A, Purcell AH (2002) Facultative bacterial endosymbionts benefit pea aphids *Acyrthosiphon pisum* under heat stress. Ecol Ent 27:189–195
- 111. Russell JA, Moran NA (2006) Costs and benefits of symbiont infection in aphids: variation among symbionts and across temperatures. Proc R Soc Lond B 273:603-610
- 112. McLean AHC, van Asch M, Ferrari J, Godfray HCJ (2011) Effects of bacterial secondary symbionts on host plant use in pea aphids. Proc R Soc Lond B 278:760–766
- 113. Tsuchida T, Koga R, Fukatsu T (2004) Host plant specialization governed by facultative symbiont. Science 303:1989
- 114. Keymanesh K, Soltani S, Sardari S (2009) Application of antimicrobial peptides in agriculture and food industry. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 25:933–944
- 115. Koga R, Tsuchida T, Sakurai M, Fikatsu T (2007) Selective elimination of aphid endosymbionts: effects of antibiotic dose and host genotype, and fitness consequences. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 60:229–239
- 116. Le-Feuvre RR, Ramirez CC, Olea N, Meza-Basso L (2007) Effect of the antimicrobial peptide indolicidin on the green peach aphid *Myzus persicae* (Sulzer). J Appl Ent 131:71–75
- 117. Selsted ME, Novotny MJ, Morris WL, Tang YQ, Smith W, Cullor JS (1992) Indolicidin, a novel bactericidal tridecapeptide amide from neutrophils. J Biol Chem 267:4292–4295
- 118. Ahmad IW, Perkins R, Lupan DM, Selsted ME, Janoff AS (1995) Liposomal entrapment of the neutrophil-derived peptide indolicidin endows it with in vivo antifungal activity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1237:109–114
- 119. Koch A, Khalifa W, Langen G, Vilcinskas A, Kogel K-H, Imani J (2012) The antimicrobial peptide thanatin reduces fungal infections in Arabidopsis. J Phytopathol 160:606–610
- 120. Bromley AK, Anderson M (1982) An electrophysiological study of olfaction in the aphid *Nasanovia ribisnigri*. Ent Exp Appl 32:101–110
- 121. Dawson GW, Griffiths DS, Pichett JA, Wadhams LJ, Woodcock CM (1987) Plant-derived synergists of aphid alarm pheromone from turnip aphid, *Lipaphis* (Hyadaphis) *erysimi* (Homoptera, Aphididae). J Chem Ecol 13:1663–1671
- 122. Hardie J, Visser JH, Piron PGM (1995) Peripheral odour perception by adult aphid forms with the same genotype but different host-plant preferences. J Insect Physiol 41:91–97
- 123. Wadhams LJ (1990) The use of coupled gas chromatography: electrophysiological techniques in the identification of insect pheromones. In: McCaffery AR, Wilson AR (eds) Chromatography and isolation of insect hormones and pheromones. Plenum, New York/London
- 124. Yan F-S, Visser H (1982) Electroantennogram responses of the cereal aphid *Sitobion avenaeto* plant volatile components. In: Visser JH, Minks AK (eds) Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium on Insect-Plant Relationships. Pudoc, Wageningen
- 125. van Giessen WA, Fescemyer HW, Burrows PM, Peterson JK, Barnett OW (1994) Quantification of electroantennogram responses of the primary rhinaria of Acyrthosiphon pisum (Harris) to C4–C8 primary alcohols and aldehydes. J Chem Ecol 20:909–927

- 126. Schneider D (1957) Elektrophysiologische Untersuchungen von Chemo- und Mechanorezeptoren der Antenne des Seidenspinners *Bombyx mori* L. Zeitschift für Vergleichende Physiologie 40:8–41
- 127. Chapman RF, Bernays EA, Simpson SJ (1990) Attraction and repulsion of the aphid, *Cavariella aegopodi*, by plant odours. J Chem Ecol 7:881–888
- 128. Visser JH, Yan F-S (1995) Electroantennogram responses of thegrain aphids Sitobion avenae (F.) and Metopolophium dirhodum (Walk.) (Hom., Aphididae) to plant odour components. J Appl Entomol 119:539–542
- 129. Visser JH, Piron PGM (1994) Perception of plant odour components by the vetch aphid Megoura viciae: shape characteristics of electroantennogram responses. Proc Exp Appl Entomol 5:85–90
- 130. Visser JH, Piron PGM (1995) Olactory antennal responses to plant volatiles in apterous virginoparae of the vetch aphid *Megoura viciae*. Ent Exp Appl 77:37–46
- 131. Visser JH, Piron PGM, Hardie J (1996) The aphid's peripheral perception of plant volatiles. Ent Exp Appl 80:35–38
- 132. Wientjen WH, Lakwijk AC, Vanderma T (1973) Alarm pheromone of grain aphid. Experientia 29:658-660
- 133. Wohlers P, Tjallingii WF (1983) Electroantennogram responses of aphids to the alarm pheromone (E)-b-farnesene. Ent Exp Appl 33:79–82
- 134. Calabrese EJ, Sorensen AJ (1978) Dispersal and recolonization by *Myzus persicae* following aphid alarm pheromone exposure. Ann Entomol Soc Am 71:181–182
- 135. Montgomery ME, Nault LR (1977) Comparative response of aphids to the alarm pheromone, (E)- β -farnesene. Ent Exp Appl 22:236–242
- 136. Avé DA, Gregory P, Tingey WM (1987) Aphid repellent sesquiterpenes in glandular trichomes of *Solanum berthaultii* and *Solanum tuberosum*. Ent Exp Appl 44:131–138
- 137. Gibson RW, Pickett JA (1983) Wild potatoe repels aphids by release of aphid alarm pheromone. Nature 302:608-609
- 138. Kunert G, Otto S, Röse USR, Gershenzon J, Weisser WW (2005) Alarm pheromone mediates production of winged dispersal morphs in aphids. Ecol Lett 8:596–603
- 139. Hatano E, Kunert G, Weisser WW (2010) Aphid wing induction and ecological costs of alarm pheromone emission under field conditions. PLoS ONE 5(6):e11188. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011188
- 140. Sarria E, Palomares-Rius FJ, López-Sesé AI, Heredia A, Gómez-Guillamónt ML (2010) Role of leaf glandular trichomes of melon plants in deterrence of *Aphis gossypii* Glover. Plant Biol 12:503–511
- 141. Francis F, Lognay G, Haubruge E (2004) Olfactory responses to aphid and host plant volatile releases: (E)- β -farnesene an effective kairomone for the predator *Adalia bipunctata*. J Chem Ecol 30:741–755
- 142. Abassi A, Birkett S, Petterson MA, Pickett JA, Wadhams LJ, Woodcock CM (2000) Response of the seven-spot ladybird to an aphid alarm pheromone and an alarm pheromone inhibitor is mediated by paired olfactory cells. J Chem Ecol 26:1765–1771
- 143. Zhu JW, Cosse AA, Obrychi JJ, Boo KS, Baker TC (1999) Olfactory reactions of the twelve-spotted lady beetle, *Coleomegilla maculata* and the green lacewing, *Chrysoperla carnea* to semiochemicals released from their prey and host plant: Electroantennogram and behavioral responses. J Chem Ecol 25:1163–1177
- 144. Micha SG, Wyss U (1996) Aphid alarm pheromone (E)-β-farnesene: a host finding kairomone for the aphid primary parasitoid *Aphidius uzbekistanicus* (Hymenoptera: Aphidiinae). Chemoecology 7:132–139
- 145. Du YJ, Poppy GM, Powell W, Pickett JA, Wadhams LJ, Woodcock CM (1998) Identification of semiochemicals released during aphid feeding that attract parasitoid *Aphidius ervi*. J Chem Ecol 24:1355–1368
- 146. Verheggen FJ, Haubruge E, De Moraes CM, Mescher MC (2009) Social environment influences aphid production of alarm pheromone. Behav Ecol 20:283–288

- 147. Braasch J, Kaplan I (2012) Over what distance are plant volatiles bioactive? Estimating the spatial dimensions of attraction in an arthropod assemblage. Ent Exp Appl 145:115–123
- 148. Beale MH, Birkett MA, Bruce TJA, Chamberlain K, Field LM, Huttly AK, Martin JL, Parker R, Phillips AL, Pickett JA, Prosser IM, Shewry PR, Smart LE, Wadhams LJ, Woodcock CM, Zhang Y (2006) Aphid alarm pheromone produced by transgenic plants affects aphid and parasitoid behavior. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:10509–10513
- 149. Kunert G, Reinhold C, Gershenzon J (2010) Constitutive emission of the aphid alarm pheromone, (E)- β -farnesene, from plants does not serve as a direct defense against aphids. BMC Ecol 10:23
- 150. Dixon AFG (1985) Aphid ecology, 2nd edn. Chapman & Hall, London
- 151. Dixon AFG (1991) Ecological interactions of aphids and their host plants. In: Campbell RK, Eikenbary RD (eds) Aphid-plant genotype interactions. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- 152. Nevo E, Coll M (2001) Effect of Nitrogen Fertilization on *Aphis gossypii* (Homoptera: Aphididae): Variation in Size, Color, and Reproduction. J Econ Entomol 94:27–32
- 153. Mackauer M (1973) Host selection and host suitability in *Aphidius smithi*. In: Lowe AD (ed) Perspectives in aphid biology. Bull Entomol Soc, New Zealand
- 154. Daniels M, Bale JS, Newbury HJ, Lind RJ, Pritchard J (2009) A sublethal dose of thiamethoxam causes a reduction in xylem feeding by the bird cherry-oat aphid (*Rhopalosiphum padi*), which is associated with dehydration and reduced performance. J Insect Physiol 55:758–765
- 155. Bruce TJA, Wadhams LJ, Woodcock CM (2005) Insect host location: a volatile situation. Trends Plant Sci 10:269–274
- 156. Döring TF, Chittka L (2007) Visual ecology of aphids—a critical review on the role of colours in host finding. Arthropod-Plant Interact 1:3–16
- 157. Ingwell LL, Eigenbrode SD, Bosque-Pérez NA (2012) Plant viruses alter insect behavior to enhance their spread. Sci Rep 2:578
- 158. Visser JH, Piron PGM (1998) An open Y-track olfactometer for recording of aphid behavioural responses to plant odours. Proc Exp Appl Entomol 9:41–46
- 159. Miles PW (1987) Feeding process of Aphidoidea in relation to effects on their food plants. In: Minks AK, Harrewijn P (eds) Aphids: their biology, natural enemies and control, Vol. 2A. World Crop Pests. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- 160. Tjallingii WF, Cherqui A (1999) Aphid saliva and aphid–plant interactions. Proc Sect Exp Appl Entomol Neth Entomol Soc NEV Amst 10:169–174
- 161. Hewer A, Becker A, van Bel AJE (2011) An aphid's odyssey—the cortical quest for the vascular bundle. J Exp Biol 214:3868–3879
- McLean DL, Kinsey MG (1964) A technique for electronically recording aphid feeding and salivation. Nature 202:1358–1359
- 163. Schaefers GA (1966) The use of direct current for electronically recording of aphid feeding and salivation. Ann Entomol Soc Am 59:1022–1029
- 164. Backus EA, Bennett WH (2009) The AC-DC correlation monitor: new EPG design with flexible input resistors to detect both R and emf components for any piercing-sucking hemipteran. J Insect Physiol 55:869–884
- 165. Walker GP (2000) A beginner's guide to electronic monitoring of homopteran probing behaviour. In: Walker GP, Backus EA (eds) Principles and applications of electronic monitoring and other techniques in the study of homopteran feeding behavior. Thomas Say Publications in Entomology, Lanham
- 166. Caillaud CM, Di Pietro JP, Chaubet B, Pierre JS (2009) Application of discriminant analysis to electrical penetration graphs of the aphid *Sitobion avenae* feeding on resistant and susceptible wheat. J Appl Ent 119:103–106
- 167. Klingler J, Powell G, Thompson GA, Isaacs R (1998) Phloem specific aphid resistance in *Cucumis melo* line AR 5: effects on feeding behavior and performance of *Aphis gossypii*. Ent Exp Appl 86:79–88
- 168. van Helden M, Tjallingii WF (1993) Tissue localization of lettuce resistance to the aphid Nasonovia ribisnigri using electrical penetration graphs. Ent Exp Appl 68:269–278

- 169. Fraley RT, Rogers SG, Horsch RB, Sanders PR, Flick JS, Adams SP, Bittner ML, Brand LA, Fink CL, Fry JS, Galluppi GR, Goldberg SB, Hoffmann NL, Woo SC (1983) Expression of bacterial genes in plant cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 80:4803–4807
- 170. Mazur BJ, Falco SC (1989) The development of herbicide resistant crops. Ann Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 40:441–470
- 171. Vaeck M, Reynaerts A, Höfte H, Jansens S, De Beuckeleer M, Dean C, Zabeau M, van Montagu M, Leemans J (1987) Nature 328:33–37
- 172. Ye X, Al-Babili S, Klöti A, Zhang J, Lucca P, Beyer P, Potrykus I (2000) Engineering the provitamin A (β -carotene) biosynthetic pathway into (carotenoid-free) rice endosperm. Science 287:303–305
- 173. Ahmad P, Ashraf M, Younis M, Hu X, Kumar A, Akram NA, Al-Qurainy F (2012) Role of transgenic plants in agriculture and biopharming. Biotech Adv 30:624–640
- 174. James C (2011) Global status of commercialized biotech/GM crops. ISAAA Brief No. 43. ISAAA: Ithaca
- 175. Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations (2012) Statistical Yearbook
- 176. Hoban TJ (2004) Public attitudes towards agricultural biotechnology. ESA Working Paper No. 04–09. Agricultural and Development Economics Division. Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations
- 177. Lynas M (2012) Rothamsted's aphid-resistant wheat—a turning point for GMOs? Agric Food Sec 1:17

Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol (2013) 136: 205–209 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-39902-2 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

Index

A

4-Acetyl-guaiacol (apocynin), 118 β -N-Acetylhexosaminidases, 22 Acromyrmex echinatior, 12 Acyrthosiphon pisum, 23, 172, 185 Adalia bipunctata, 190 Adaptation, 137 ADP-ribosylation, 150 Aegeriamyo paeformis, 114 Agro-biotechnology, 179 Aldrin, 138 Allosamidin, 32 Alphitobius diaperinus, 3 Alternaria alternata, 40 Ambrosia beetles, 1 Amylases, 1, 3, 6 Anastrepha ludens, 124 Anastrepha suspensa, 123, 125 Anopheles gambiae, 23, 25, 57, 125 Anopheles stephensi, 35 Anoplophora chinensis, 12 Anoplophora glabripennis, 10 Antheraea eucalypti, 67 Antheraea pernyi NPV (ApNPV), 36 Antimicrobial peptides/proteins (AMPs), 65, 179, 188 Aphidius ervi, 190 Aphidius uzbekistanicus, 190 Aphids, 179 behavior, plant resistance, 192 plant resistance, 191 Aphis fabae, 190 Aphis gossypii, 185 Apis mellifera, 23, 56, 103, 115 Apriona germari, 10 Argadin, 32

Argifin, 32 Artificial neural networks (ANN), 76 Aspergillus fumigatus, 34 Aspergillus niger, 5, 60 Atta colombica, 12 Attenuated total reflectance (ATR) probes, 76 Autographa californica multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus (AcMNPV), 28, 36, 69 Azocasein assay, 5

B

Bacillus sphaericus, 142 Bacillus thuringiensis (Bt), 37, 135, 140, 148, 165.182 Bacterial toxin complexes (Tcs), 150 Bactrocera cucurbitae, 124 Baculoviruses, 36, 69 biopesticides, 35 expression vector system (BEVS), 65, 69, 88 Beetles, 1, 3 Behavior-based biosensors, 115 Benzene hexachloride, 138 Biodegradation, 21 BioFETs, 114 Biofuels. 51 Biomimetic sensors, 117 Biopesticides, 19, 38 Biosensors, 101 behavior-based, 115 insect odorant receptors, 117 Bombyx mori, 23, 118 NPV (BmNPV), 36 Botrytis cinerea, 40 Brassica napus, 40

Brevicoryne brassicae, 186 Brush border membrane vesicles (BBMVs), 141 Buchnera aphidicola, 188 Buthus martensii (BmkIT), 40

С

C2-dicaffeine, 33 Caldicellulosiruptor spp., 54 Candida lipolytica, 7 *Caprica papaya*, 40 Carbohydrate binding module, 19 Carbon dioxide, 79 Carboxylesterases, 10 Carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC), 9, 58 Carene, 118 Caribfly (Anastrepha suspensa), 123 Catechols, 14 Cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV), 182 CBM14, 19 Cecropin, 72 Celiac disease, 4 Cell cultures, 88 Cellobiohydrolases, 60 Cellobiose, 9 Cellulases, 8, 51, 53 endogenous, 54 genes, 55 insect sources. 54 microbial sources, 53 synergism, 53 Cellulolysis, 51 Cellulose, 1, 8, 51, 58, 151 Cellulosic ethanol, 52 Ceratitis capitata, 124 Chironomus tentans, 34 Chitin, 19 binding domain, 19 Chitin synthase, 20 2 (DvvCHS2), 151 Chitinases, 19, 22 antibodies, 35 crop protection, 39 inhibitors, 32 recombinant, 35 transgenic plants, 39 Chitolectins, 22 Chitooligosaccharides, 22, 39 Chitosan, 21 Chlordane, 138

Choristoneura fumiferana, 30, 37 Chrysomelidae, 135 Chymotrypsin, 3 cathespsin G protease, 141 Clostridium perfringens, 149 Coccinella septempunctata, 115, 190 Coleomegilla maculate, 190 Coleoptera, 3, 51, 54, 56, 136, 141, 148, 164, 168, 182, 184 Colorado potato beetle (Leptinotarsa decemlineata), 115, 142, 172 Conditioning/conditioned response, 116 Coptotermes formosanus, 10 Corn rootworm, 135 Cry protein/toxin, 37, 135, 140 Cryptophlebia leucotreta granulovirus (ClCV), 36 Cuticle proteins analogous to peritrophins (CPAPs), 27 Cyclodiene resistance, 138 Cyclopentapeptides, 34 Cytophaga hutchinsonii, 54

D

Danaus plexippus, 57 Defense molecules, 2 Diabrotica barberi, 138 Diabrotica virgifera, 135, 187 Diaeretiella rapae, 191 Diatraea saccharalis, 144 Dictyoptera, 51 Dielectric spectroscopy, 86 Digestome, 60 Dimethyl-3-methylene-1,6,10-dodecatriene, 190 Disparlure, 103 (E,Z)-7,9-Dodecadienylacetate, 113 Dominant temperature sensitive (DTS) mutations, 125 Drosophila melanogaster, 23, 69 Drosophila S2, 65 Dysdercus peruvianus, 38

E

Electrical penetration graph (EPG) technique, 193 Electroantennography (EAG), 101, 105 Endocellullases, 53 Endoglucanases, 10, 151

Index

ENGases (endo-β-N-acetylglucosaminidases), 22
Entomopathogenic fungi, 38
Enzymes, endo-splitting, 19
insect-derived, 1
oxidative, 13
Ephestia kuehniella, 38
Epiphyas postvittana, 168
NPV (EpNPV), 36
Episyrphus balteatus, 190
Ethanol, 51
Eurygaster integriceps, 3
Exocellulases, 53
Expression systems, 69
Exuvia, 31

F

Family 18 glycoside hydrolase, 19
Females, eradication, 123
Fenneropenaeus chinensis, 30
Fibrobacter succinogenes, 54
Field-effect transistors (FETs), 114
Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS), 58
Fluorescent embryos, 127
Fluorescent proteins, 125
Fluorometry, 77
Focused beam reflectance measurement (FBRM), 65, 84
Fusarium solani, 10

G

Galleria mellonella, 65, 67, 72 Gas chromatograph-electroantennographic detection (GC-EAD), 107 Gas sensor-based biomimetics, 117 GC-MS, mobile, 101 EAD. 101 Genetic sexing strains (GSS), 125 Germline transformation, 130 GH18 domain, 19 Gliocladium, 34 Glossina austeni, 124 Glossina morsitans, 32 Gloverins, 65, 72 Glucanases, 1, 9 Glucosamine, 21 β -Glucosidases, 1, 8, 10, 57 Glucuronidase (GUS), 182 Glutamine, 5

Gluten, 1, 4 Glutenin-specific serine peptidase (GHP), 6 *Glycoside* hydrolase families/superfamily (GHF), 11, 19 Glycosyl hydrolases, 54 β -Glycosyltransferase, 20 Grain pests, 1, 3 Granuloviruses, 36 Green fluorescent protein, 72 Gylcosidases, 3

H

Haemaphysalis longicornis, 38
Harmonia axyridis, 172, 190
Heat-shock protein 90 (HSP90), 171
Heliconius melpomene, 57
Helicoverpa armigera, 3, 171

single capsid NPV (HaSNPV), 36
Helicothis virescens, 39, 115, 144
Hemicellulases, 8
Hemicelluloses, 8
Heptachlor, 138
Hippodamia convergens, 190
Hodotermopsis sjostedti, 57
Hydrolases, 1, 3
20-Hydroxyecdysone (20HE), 30

I

Imaginal disc growth factors (IDGFs), 22 Impedance spectroscopy, 86 In situ microscopy (ISM), 81 In situ monitoring, 65 Infrared spectroscopy, 76 Insect cell cultures, 88 Insect chitinase, 19 Insect metalloproteinase inhibitor (IMPI), 72 Insect pest management, 123 Insect resistance management, 143 Integrated pest management (IPM), 124 Invasiveness, 137 Isoamylases, 7

L

Lacanobia olerace, 39 Laccases, 8, 13, 14, 151 Laminaribiose, 9 Leishmania, 32, 38 Leishmaniasis, 39 Leptinotarsa decemlineata, 115, 142, 172 Leucania separata, 32 Lignin peroxidases, 8 Lignocelluloses, 8, 52 Lipases, 1, 7 Lobesia botrana, 103 Locusta migratoria, 167 Lucilia cuprina, 34 Lutzomyia longipalpis, 38 Lymantria dispar, 70, 103 Lymantria monacha, 103

М

Maize, transgenic, 135, 141 Mamestra brassicae, 32 Mannanases, 8 Megoura viciae, 190 Melanophila acuminata, 118 Mentha x piperita (peppermint), 190 Metalloprotease enhancin, 36 Metarhizium anisopliae, 38 2-Methoxy-4-methylphenol (creosol), 118 2-Methoxy-phenol (guaiacol), 118 4-Methylumbelliferyl-3-cellobiose, 58 Metopolophium dirhodum, 190 Microplitis croceipes, 115 Mid-infrared (MIR) spectroscopy, 76 Molting, 28, 31, 42, 185 Monochamus alternatus, 14 Multiplicity of infection (MOI), 72 Myzus persicae, 32, 34, 185, 188

N

NADH/NAD(P)H, 78 Nasutitermes corniger, 13 Nasutitermes takasagoensis, 9 Near infrared (NIR) spectroscopy, 76 Needle-trap device, 101 Neotermis koshunensis, 9 Nucleopolyhedroviruses, 36

0

Odorant binding proteins (OBPs), 103 Odorant receptors (ORs), 101, 105 Olfactory receptor neurons, 109 Online monitoring, 74 Optical CO₂ sensors, 80
Optical oxygen sensors, 80
Optical pH sensors, 81
Optodes, 79
Orgyia pseudotsugata multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus (OpMNPV), 36, 70
Orthoptera, 51
Oryzaephilus surinamensis, 3
Ostrinia furnacalis, 38
Ostrinia nubilalis, 41, 44
Oxygen, 79

P

Panicum virgatum, 52 Pectin esterases, 12 Pectin lvases, 12 Pectin methylesterase, 7 Pectinases, 8, 12 Pectinophora gossypiella, 144 Peptidases, 1, 3 Peptide antibiotics, 188 Periplaneta americana, 115 Peritrophic matrices (PMs), 20 Peritrophins, 27 Peroxidases, 8, 13 Pest control, 19, 164, 179 pH, 79 Phlebotomus papatasi, 32 Pichia pastoris, 9, 39 α -Pinene, 118 Pinus sylvestris, 118 Plodia interpunctella, 3 Plutella maculipenis, 40 Plutella xylostella, 146 PM proteins (PMPs), 27 Polyubiquitin promoter, 123 Principal component analysis (PCA), 76 Principal component regression (PCR), 76 Prolamins, 5 Prostephanus truncatus, 4 Protease inhibitors, 179, 185 Protein production, insect-based, 65 Psacotea hilaris, 10 Pseudosugars, 32 Pseudotrisaccharides, 32 Pyramiding, 145

Q

Quinones, 14

Index

R

Raman spectroscopy, 79 Recombinant proteins, production, 67 Red flour beetle (Tribolium castaneum), 3, 164, 169, 187 Refuge, 135 Repellents, 179, 189 Resistance management, 135 Reticulitermes flavipes, 9 Reticulitermes speratus, 54 Rhizopertha dominica, 3 Rhodnius prolixus, 7 Rhopalosiphum padi, 185 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp), 151 RNAi, 41, 135, 150, 164, 186 screens, high-throughput, 169 Rootworm, 135, 164, 187

S

Saccharification, 1, 51 Scale up, 65 Sceliphon spirifex, 105 Schizaphis graminum, 185 Scorpion insect toxin, 40 Secreted insecticidal protein (Sip1A), 149 Sensilla, 103, 109, 113, 181 Serine/threonine-rich linker regions (STL), 28 Serine peptidases, 6 Serratia marcescens, 36, 37 Sexing, 123 Short interfering RNAs (siRNAs), 166, 187 Single-sensillum recording (SSR), 108, 113 Sitophilus granarius, 3 Sitophilus oryzae, 7 Soybean, 136 Spodoptera frugiperda, 38, 68 Spodoptera littoralis, 37, 115 Spodoptera litura, 168 multicapsid NPVs (SIMNPVs), 36 Stabilin-1 interacting chitinase-like proteins (SI-CLPs), 22 Sterile insect technique (SIT), 123, 124 Sternorrhyncha, 189 Syringaldazine, 14

Т

Tachycitin, 27 Tachypleus tridentatus, 27 Target genes, 164 Temperature-sensitive lethal (tsl) mutation, 125 Tenebrio molitor, 3, 30 Tephritid fruit flies, 123 Termites, 1, 9, 54, 55, 59, 60 Tetranychus cinnabarius, 40 Thermal asymmetric interlaced (TAIL) polymerase chain reaction (PCR), 126 Ticks, control, 39 Time of harvest (TOH), 75 Time of infection (TOI), 75 Tineola bisselliella, 32 Transcriptome analysis, 60 Transgenic plants, 164 Transgenic sexing systems, 125 Transmembrane dopamine D4 receptor, 71 Tribolium castaneum, 3, 23, 28, 56, 57, 151, 164, 169, 187 Trichoderma konigii, 38 Trichoderma reesei, 12, 60 Trichoplusia ni, 36, 69 Triglycerides, 7

V

Vanillin, 118
Vascular cell adhesion protein (VCAM), 71
VOCs, detection, 101
quantification, 101

W

Western corn rootworm, 135 Wood pests, 9

Х

Xylanases, 8 Xyloglycans, 12

Y

Y chromosome, 123, 126 Yersinia, 150

Z

Zea mays, 110, 135, 140, 168 Zootermopsis angusticollis, 13